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- Good financial performance

~ Continued growth from US businesses £13 ,765m

- Implementation of UK Defence Industrial Sales for 2006
Strategy underway

88,600

Number of employees,
including share of employees

of equity accounted investments

CustomegSolltions)
& Spert

integratedfSystems!
RIPantnerships!

HOlandfothedbusinesses)

Provides partnered, through-life
support and capabllity solutions to the
UK MoD and manages the businesses
in Saudi Arabia and Australia.

A portfolio of high-technology defence
systems businesses comprising the
wholly-owned Integrated System
Technelogies and Underwater Systems
businesses, together with a 37.5%
interest in the pan-European MBDA
joint venture, a 20.5% interest in Saab
of Sweden and a 50% interest in the
Gripen International Joint venture.
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UK/Europe, Middle East, Australia UK/Europe

£3,180m
22%

£1,748m
12%

- Tornado ATTAC agreement signed - European portfolio restructuring

in the UK complete

- Kingdom of Saudl Arabia - Major Insyte communication system
modernlsation programme underway wins in UK

- Investment in Kingdom of Saudi - MBDA programme milestones
Arabla continues achieved

- Saab’s acqulsition of Erlcsson
Microwave Systems complete

- Australian Hawk support
contract secured

Comprises the regional aircraft asset
management and support activities,
head office and UK shared services
activity, including research centres
and property management.

UK

£295m
2%

- Aerostructures sale completed
- UK pension funding deficit addressed

Principal
operations

Main operating
locations

Major markets

Share of 2006
Group sales

{before elimination
of intra-group sales)

Key points
from 2006




BAE Systems is the premier global defence and
aerospace company delivering a full range of products
and services for air, land and naval forces as well

as advanced electronics, information technology

solutions and customer support services.

Etectronicsy
Intelligencel&ISupport

FandI&YATmaments!

Provides a variety of military
communtcatlons, electronic
identification, navigation and guidance
systems, network-centric warfare
solutlons and a broad range of
support solutions, including major
ship repalr activities for the US Navy.

Principal
operations

Main operating

SRS e
locations v ~ N 5

Major markets Us, Glabal

Share of 2006

Group sales
{before elimination
of intra-group sales)

- Strong demand for electronic
warfare systems

- Key support solutions business wins

- Group-wide capabilities combine
to win FastTrack contract

- Key Federal information technology
solutions awards

Key points
from 2006

Provides design, development,
production and through-life support
and upgrade of armoured combat
vehicles, naval guns, missile
launchers, artillery systems and
intelligent munitions.
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US, UK, Sweden, South Africa

£2,115m
15%

~ Benefiting from high volume of reset
and upgrade activity

- Good progress in next-generation
technology programmes

~ Accelerated rationalisation in the
UK business

-~ Wheeled armoured vehlicle successes

Comprises the Group's air systems,
naval ships and submarines activities,
with the UK Mob its principal customer.

UK, Glohal

//\\ £2,527m
N

- Good schedule and cost adherence

- Programmes transitioning from
development to production

- Hawk and Nimrod production
orders secured

- UAVY technology agreements secured




~ -
o
hT—r s PR

8

Cover image: BAE Systems,

with its partners, is delivering the
Type 45 anti-air warfare destroyer.
The Group has responsibility

for the design, development

and delivery for the class. The
through-ife support arrangements
are now under discussion, with
initial packages on contract.
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- Good financial performance

- Continued growth from US businesses

- Implementation of UK Defence Industrial Strategy underway
- European business portfolio restructuring completed

- UK pension funding deficit addressed

- Airbus sale completed

- Underlying earnings® per share up 29.3% at 23.8p

- Dividend increased 9.7% to 11.3p per share for the year

Looking forward to 2007 we anticipate a further year of good growth led by our
US businesses, in particular from the Land & Armaments sector, and from further
progress in the Programmes business.

We anticipate good operating cash flow again in 2007.

2 BAE Systems Annual Report 2006




Results in brief

Restated®
Results from continuing operations 2006 2005

Sales £13,765m £12,581m
EBITA? £1,207m £909m
Operating profit £1,054m £761m
Underlying earnings® per share . 23.8p _18.4p
Basic earnings per share* 19.9p 13.9p
Order book® £31.7bn  £30.8bn

Other results including discontinued operations _

Dividend per share _ 11.3p 10.3p
Cash inflow from operating activities £778m  £2,099m
Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group £435m  £(1,277)m

1 including share of equity accounted investments

earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 eamings excluding amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, noncash finance movements on pensions and financial denvatives, and uplift on acquired inventories
{see note 10 to the Group accounts)

basic eamings per share in accordance with International Accounting Standard 33

including share of equity accounted investments' order books and after the elimination of intragroup orders of £0.8bn (20056 £0.9bn}

restated following the sale of Airbus SAS

%]

(eI B
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2006: a successiul year
for BAE Systems

Good operational performance
and effective implementation

of a well-defined, soundly based
strategy are combining to deliver
real performance.

Dick Clver
Chairman

4 BAE Systems Annua! Report 2006



Good operational performance and effective
implementation of a well-defined, soundly
based strategy are combining to deliver
real performance.

The focus of the Group’'s strategy in recent
years has seen a drive to improve returns
and eliminate excessive risk in the UK-
based operations, alongside the expansion
of the Group’s presence in the US. This
twin approach is transforming the Group's
performance in the UK market and has
established BAE Systems as one of the
major US defence companies.

Notable achievements in 2006 included

the resolution of the approach to funding the
deficit on the Group's pension schemes, the
completion of the sale of our 20% interest in
Airbus and good progress towards securing
further significant business in Saudi Arabia.
Underlying these individual achievements
has been a broad-based improvement in
performance across the Group.

In addition to continuing to pursue the
development of the Group in its two largest
defence and aerospace markets, the UK
and the US, the Group's strategy recognhises
opportunities in the other home markets

in which BAE Systems has a local presence
and capability; Australia, Saudi Arabia,
South Africa and Sweden.

Alongside the development of the Group

in these six home markets, BAE Systems
will continue to nurture a high performance
culture. The delivery of continuous
performance improvement remains key to
the twin objectives of delivering cost-effective
capability to our customers and maximising
returns for our shareholders.

The Group’s strategy is reviewed regularly as
part of the Greup's annual business planning
process. This review tests the continued
relevance of the current strategy. The
adaptations made to the strategy are set

out on page 11 and reflect the progress
made over the past 12 months.

With the transition of the Group from
recovery to sustained performance growth,

we have looked hard at the composition
of the Board to ensure it continues to
provide the most effective leadership
of the Group's development.

BAE Systems has a Board with a wealth

of collective experience. That experience
inctudes not just defence and aerospace
domain know!edge but brings learning from
other international contracting businesses
and finance backgrounds. In addition to the
three new non-executive directors appointed
in 2005, we welcomed Sir Nigel Rudd to
the Board on 10 September 2006. Michael
Lester and Mark Ronald retired from the
Board on 31 December 2006. Both have
made major contributions to the Group

and this industry, throughout long careers.

At the start of 2007 | was pleased to
weicome to the Board Walt Havenstein, as
Chief Operating Officer, with responsibility for
our US-led operations, and lan King, as
Chief Operating Officer, with responsibility for
the Rest of World, including UK, businesses.

In February we agreed retirement dates for
Sue Birley and Ulrich Cartellieri. They have
afforded the Group great service through

their contribution to both the Board and its
committees. The Group has benefited from
their wise counsel and we thank them for this.

The Board now comprises approximately
60% non-executive directors.

The changes in the composition of the
Board have enabled us to strengthen the
Board committees that provide oversight to
executive remuneration, succession planning,
audit and corporate responsibility.

BAE Systems has a highly skilled and
dedicated workforce. Our people have
demonstrated that they can rise 1o the
challenge of delivering performance in

a challenging technological industry and

| am grateful to them for their contribution
to the Group’s progress.

In December 20086, a decision was reached
by the Serious Fraud Office to conclude
its investigation related to the activities

of the Group in Saudi Arabia. Gur policies
for conducting ethical business are clear
and unambiguous, with established
processes to ensure compliance.

[Chairmanstietted

The underlying UK company law provisions
concerning narrative reporting have changed
since our last annual report. The matters
required to be reported as part of the new
business review requirements are dealt with
on pages 2 to 40 of this report and cover
the Group's activities during the year and
likely future developments. Best practice

in narrative reporting will continue to evolve
and we will strive to remain at the forefront
of developments in this area.

The Group's corporate responsibility
performance is summarised on pages 35
to 40 and also detailed in an important
separately published repert. Like all high
performance companies, our policies

are kept constantly under review, ang

we are committed to take action wherever
necessary to maintain the highest standard
of corporate governance.

The Board is recommending an increased
final dividend of 6.9p per share, making
a total of 11.3p for the year. At this leved,
having taken account of the sale of Airbus,
the annual dividend is covered 2.1 times
by underlying earnings from continuing
operations {2005 1.8 times}. Subject to
sharehclder approval at the 2007 Annual
General Meeting, the dividend will be paid
on 1 June 2007 to holders of ordinary
shares registered on 20 April 2007.

>

Dick Olver
Chairman

21 February 2007

Dividend {pence per share)

02 | 9.2
03 | 9.2
05 | 10.3
T T T NS
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2 strong platiorm
ﬁ for future performance

: 7 BAE Systems delivered another

5 \ year of good financial performance,

§ N\ underpinned by programme schedule
5 - e by and cost adherence across the Group.
E s

Mike Turner
Chief Executive
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Year in review

BAE Systems delivered another year of
good financial performance, underpinned

by programme schedule and cost adherence
across the Group and reflecting the benefits
now flowing from our world-class Lifecycle
Management and Performance Centred
Leadership processes.

The performance of the US businesses
has again been excellent with the Group's
expansion in the US market over recent
years generating good returns. Good
progress has continued in the UK
businesses with programmes on track
and meeting their key milestones.

A number of export opportunities have also
progressed, most notably in the Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia where, under an agreement
between the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and
the UK government, the Group is working to
modernise the Saudi armed forces including
progressing towards a contract for 72
Typhoon aircraft.

We have continued to divest those businesses
that were non-core to our strategy. In May
the Group initiated the sale of its 20%
shareholding in Airbus. The decision to
sell the Airbus stake was consistent with
our strategy of maximising value from
that business. recognising it was facing
an increasing number of challenges. The
sale was completed in October following
shareholder approval. The proceeds will
be directed to developing the core business
and a repurchase of up to £500m of the
Group's shares is underway.

The sale of the Aerostructures business
was completed in March and the sale of
Atlas Elektronik was completed in August.

A big concern for the Group in recent years

has been the funding of its pension schemes.

Agreements were concluded during 2006

to address funding deficits. The revised
funding plan in the UK schemes includes a
combination of higher company and employee

contribution rates, reductions in future
benefits for employees and one-off cash and
asset contributions by the Group. This shared
approach has achieved a good outcome for
all parties. The Board is in consultation with
the trustees of the Group's pension schemes
to consider the implication of the Airbus sale
on pension scheme funding.

US businesses

In the US, the integration of the former
United Defense activities into BAE Systems
has been completed successfully. The land,
armaments and ship repair activities that
comprised the acquired United Defense
business are performing well.

The Electronics, Intelligence & Support
business continued to achieve growth
ahead of the addressable US Department
of Defense (DoD) budget, with like-for-like
sales up 6%. Contributing to this growth
was strong demand for electronic protection
systems. The business continues to lay the
foundations for sustained performance with
new business wins, including substantial
contracts for Common Missile Warning
Systems to protect aircraft.

A number of significant new support
business wins include the award of a prime
contract to provide software development
and management support services to

the Department of Homeland Security.

BAE Systems continues to look for
opportunities to grow its US business

by acquisition following the successful
additions to the Group over recent years.
Progress has been slowed by sustained
high valuations of businesses that would
align with the Group's strategy. Further
acquisitions will have to continug to meet
our strict value creation criteria. In the
meantime, organic growth in the US
husinesses continues.

The focus on current operations in
Afghanistan and Iraq is generating a high
level of armoured vehicle reset activity such

Performance Centred Leadership (PCL)
The Group's PCL framework was
designed and developed using best
practice from around the globe. It drives
business success by linking individual
goals with the wider goals of the
organisation. enabling employees

to understand how their own success
contributes to the success of the

whole business.

as the return of Bradley vehicles to "as
new' condition. Substantial funding for such
reset activities has been available through
supplemental budgets in support of current
military operations. Supplemental spending
is expected to continue in the near term
but the Group’s business plans are hased
on more prudent longer-term assumptions.

BAE Systems is a leader in electronic
warfare technology including etectronic
protection systems. Such advanced
protection systems are expected to
continue to be a funding priority.

Equipment modernisation is also expected
to continue and the Group is actively
involved in current and new generation
land systems, including Future Combat
System variants. In addition, the digitised,
A3, version of the Bradley is a core element
of the modernisation and modularisation

of US forces.

BAE Systems is a high technology
business and a major participant in force
transformation activities including new
generation Intelligence, Surveiliance and
Reconnaissance programmes.

As a result of strong positions in these priority
areas, and notwithstanding expectations for a
flattening of growth in overall defence spend,
organic growth in the US businesses is
expected to continue at a level above the
underlying DoD addressable budget growth.

UK businesses

The performance on large complex weapon
system programmes in the UK has been
good and is expected to continue to progress
as more programmes move to production.

Deliveries of Typhoon continue to schedule.
113 aircraft have been delivered to the four
partner nations including 38 now in service
with the UK’s Royal Air Force (RAF).

Flight development of the Nimrod MRA4
programme continues and the formal

Support Council

A support council has been created
to share best practice and co-ordinate
support activities and processes
across the Group with the objective

of optimising through-life support, not
only for in-service equipment, but also
for platferms under development.

www. Daesystems.com 7
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production contract was received in July

for nine aircraft together with an option for
the conversion of the three aircraft currently
in flight development to production standard,

In Qctober, a production order for 28 Hawk
MKk128 aircraft for the RAF was secured.

Foliowing the launch of the first of class
Type 45 destroyer, outfitting is progressing
to programme. The second ship was
launched on 23 January 2007 and major
steed sections are also well underway for
the third and fourth ships. The planned build
efficiencies from one ship to the next are
being met or exceeded. Following successful
risk reduction, a small amount of profit has
been recognised on the programme.

Both of the Landing Ship Dock (Auxiliary)
ships originally contracted to BAE Systems
for the UK’s Royal Fleet Auxiliary were
completed. The Group was asked to
assist with completion of the fourth

ship in addition to taking over lead

yard responsibility for the ship class.

Development and assembly of the first of
class Astute submarine progressed well.
A key 2006 milestone, electrical power

to switchbeards, was achieved enabling
COMMISSIONINg activity on the boat 1o
commence. Work on the second boat,
Ambush, is also proceeding well with
major milestones, such as the closure

of the reacter compartment, demonstrating
significant schedule advance compared with
the first boat. Pricing discussions on boats
two and three, together with the initial
pchase of boat four, are wel! advanced.

In addition to UK weapon sysiem
procurement programmes, the development
of the suppoert business continues,

BAE Systems (s delivering a reduction in the
UK Ministry of Defence's (MoD) in-service
cost, improving equipment availability and
consequently front-line capability for the
armed forces, Further opportunities for
valuable support business growth remain.

Pioneering work that BAE Systems previously
undertock through a series of small pilot
support programmes, in partnership with the
UK Defence Logistics Organisation, is now
being applied across the MoD's fixed wing
aircraft fleet. In December the Group signed
a ten-year availability-based partnership
agreement providing all support up 1o the
front-line for the UK's Tornado aircraft,

Within the land sector, the successful
introduction of the armoured fighting vehicle
partnering arrangement is underway with
the in-service date achieved, on schedule,
for the upgraded FV430 Bulldog armoured
fighting vehicle. In addition, progress
continues towards the transfoermaticn of
arrangements for the supply of munitions.

At the end of 2005 the UK government
published its Defence Industrial Strategy
(DIS). BIS is a very significant change
programme for both industry and the UK
MoD. It will help determine the future level of
BAE Systems’ involvement in the UK defence
industrial base as it is implemented.

It is intended that long-term partnering
agreements, currently being discussed

with the UK MoD in ail three air, land and
sea sectors, will form the basis for much of
the implementation of DIS. These long-term
partnering agreements will specify the future
capabilities and requirements for each
sector, enabling both the UK MoD and
industry to make long-term investment
decisions with a greater degree of certainty
than has been possible previously.

The UK MoD has committed to a complex
weapon long-term partnering agreement that
will preserve capabilities and business within
the MBDA guided weapons joint venture.

An integral part of DIS is the identification of
those technologies that are likely 1o remain
key to the future capability of the UK armed
forces and that need 1o be retained on-shore.
A good early example was the launch of an
Unmanned Combat Air Vehicle technology
demonstrator programme in December.

At the heart of this strategic framework

is the recognition that industry has to
demonstrate and deliver value for money

and through-life capability for the UK armed
farces, whilst also generating appropriate
returns for shareholders. BAE Systems is weil
positioned to address these requirements.

In response 10 encouragement from DIS,
BAE Systems has been considering
opportunities for a more integrated UK naval
capability. Such considerations included
discussions with VT Group regarding the
possibility of & bid for Bahcock. These
initial discussions were not taken forward
but opportunities for consolidation of the
UK naval industry continue to be explored,
and, in December, the Group announced
discussions with VT Group with a view to
integrating the naval surface ship activities.

Other markets

In addition to its strong positions in the
UK and US markets, BAE Systems has a
significant presence in the other important
markets of Australia, Saudi Arabia, South
Africa and Sweden.

In all six countries, BAE Systems is
recognised as an important on-shore
defence and aerospace supplier. The
Group continues to look for opportunities
to strengthen its positien as part of the
defence industrial base of those countries.

A major growth opportunity is the Group's
role in supporting the partnership between
the UK government and the Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia to update the capability of
the Kingdom's armed forces. A key feature
of this agreement is also to assist the
Kingdom in developing its defence industrial
base and the training of its workforce.

BAE Systems has been pursuing a strategy
to transition its Saudi business from

a UK-centric operation to a major
in-Kingdom presence. Consistent with
this strategy BAE Systems continues

to invest in the Kingdom.

Nimrod under ice

Nimrod MRA4 undertook its first transatlantic
flight in September to Eglin Air Force Base,
Florida, where the development aircraft,

PAZ2, underwent a series of successful
environmental trials to demonstrate the
maturity and reliability of the aircraft at
extreme temperatures, from -40°C to +44°C.

Lifecycle Management {LCM)
The delivery of the Group's strategy is
dependent upon the successful winning
and execution of projects. The application
of our world-class LCM process is critical
to our capability to deliver these projects
to schedule and cost. LCM is a powerful
and flexible process which promotes the
application of best practice programme
execution and facilitates continuous
improvement across the Group.

BAE Systems Annual Report 2006




Recognising that the security and welfare
of the 4,600 employees and their
dependants in Saudi Arabia is paramount,
a major construction programme is well
underway 10 create two new residential
and workplace facilities.

These investments establish a significant
industrial footprint in Saudi Arabia with

a growing in-Kingdom technical capability.
This will enable the Group to satisfy
many of its Saudi customer's needs

from on-shore companies.

Industrialisation is a key feature of

the modernisation programme and the
commitment to Typhoon will allow us to
huild on the established Tornado support
activity. Opportunities for new business in
other areas of the Kingdom's armed forces
are also being considered.

As in the UK, Typhoon and Tornado are
expected 1o operate side by side for many
years and these in-country investments
are expected to generate returns for
shareholders over many decades.

In summary, BAE Systems is progressing
well. The Group’s strategy is delivering

a focused, high performing, defence and
aerospace business with good positions in
key markets around the globe. As a result,
the Group has a robust plan to deliver
profitable growth for cur shareholders.

N o
SN—

Mike Turner
Chief Executive

21 February 2007

Executive Committee 2007 Top Ten objectives:

In support of the Group’s strategy, the Executive Commitiee has agreed the top ten objectives

for 2007.

1. Financial targets
Meet our 2007 financial targets and
through the rolling five year Integrated
Business Planning process set
business plans that are both realistic
and challenging

2. Application of mandated business
processes
Ensure application of the mandated
business processes

3. Programme execution
Further increase management focus
on meeting our centracted schedule
and ¢ost commitments

4. US businesses
Continue to grow our US businesses

5. UK businesses
Continue to implement DIS with focus on
throughtlife capability management in the
air, land and sea domains to deliver cost

and capability benefits to our customers and

acceptable profit levels te our shareholders

6. Kingdom of Saudi Arabla
Progress the business strategy with
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

7. Exports
Focus on key export opportunities

8. Partnering
Demonstrate a commitment to
partnering across the business to
maximise business-winning opportunities

9. Develop existing and new home markets
Maximise development and growth in
existing and new home markets

10. Leadership
Demonstrate leadership at all levels
towards achieving a world-class high-
performance culture that helps deliver
the strategy and objectives

Bawi Practices n .
- O Maion Sutcontracts

Managing Major Subcontractors

Successful relationships with our partners
and subcontractors across the supply chain are
hey to our performance. We have distilled best
practice from within the Group and other world
class organisations into a ‘Gold Standard for
Managing Major Subcontracts’. Roll-out of this
best practice across the Group will accelerate
out learning and improve performance in this
strategically important capability.

www.baesystems.com
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Delivering on our strategy

ARG TLTY O

Our Group strategy is ‘to deliver sustainable growth in shareholder value by being the
premier global defence and aerospace company’. We deliver this through our Group
strategic objectives, business portfolio actions and integrated business plans. The five
Group strategic objectives are owned by the Executive Committee and apply across
the Group. The business portfolio actions are championed by the relevant Executive
Committee members and are delivered by the businesses either separately or jointly.

Group strategy

To deliver sustainable growth in shareholder value by being
the premier global defence and aerospace company

|

Group strategic objectives

Continue to embed a high-performance culture across the Company
Further enhance our programme execution capabilities
Increase sharing of expertise, technology and best practice between our global businesses
Develop a partnership approach to meet our customer requirements
Develop our capabilities in emerging growth markets

ﬂ

H

Business pertfolio actions

Establish in the
UK sustainably

Grow our business
in the United States

Implement the home
markel strategy and

Grow our global land
systems business

Grow our expart
business from our

prafitable through-lite home markets
businesses in

Air, Land and Sea

grow in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia

both organically
and via acquisitions

Grow our gichal
support, solutions
and services
businesses

[ Integrated business plans

Financial metrics detailed on page 25 of sales. order intake and order book are used by the Board in measuring business growth.

Return on sales, underlying EBITA and operating business cash flow are used to measure performance of the business.

These metrics directly underpin the Group strategic objectives and business portfolio actions above.

10 BAE Systems Annual Report 2008




Group strategy

The significant progress made in 2006

has been reflected by the evolution of our
Group strategy. We have refocused cur
strategy to be 'to deliver sustainable growth
in shareholder value by being the premier
global defence and aerospace company’
where previously the emphasis was just
transatiantic. This recognises the renewed
emphasis on growing our six home markets
(UK, US, Australia, Saudi Arabia. South
Africa and Sweden) and on generating
exports from these established home
markets. We will also now consider
opportunities in new high-growth markets.

We have reviewed and updated the Group
strategic objectives. We have also made a
number of changes to the business portfolio
actions to reflect recent progress.

Customers’ requiremenis increasingly
demand the ability to offer "through-life’
and “capability” solutions. We now identify
portfolic actions that, consistent with

our customers' requirements, will support
the delivery of our strategy. Increasingly
businesses must find ways to work together
across traditional business boundaries

to deliver these actions. As a result

our businesses may now sSupport more
than one portfolic action. The updated
actions also reflect the Group's revised
arganisational structure,

Business portfolio actions

The drive to buitd sustainable, profitable,
through-life businesses in the air, land and
sea sectors of the UK market continues,
building on the good progress last year.

We continue to seek growth in the US
through continuing to target above-market
organic growth from the Group’s estabtished
business activities, and by looking for value-
enhancing acquisitions.

Following Qur success in recent years in
establishing a global land systems business
we continue 1o pursue growth opportunities
in this market sector.

The Group will continue to target growth

in suppert, solutions and services activity in
our global markets, reflecting the increasing
focus of customers to procure capability

on a throughlife basis.

The sale of the Group's 20% interest in
Airbus successfully delivered the action of
maximising the value from our Airbus stake
and that action has now been removed.

Good progress made in 2006 to address
non-core activities within the Group through
husiness disposals has enabled this action
1o be removed.

Working with the customer

BAE Systems worked closely with the UK
MeoD to develop Hawk, a highly capable
ativanced jet tratner, to train pllots for
next generation combat aircraft such as
Typhoon and the F-35 Lightning Il The
Hawk has the very latest navigation and
avionics systems enabling future combat
pilots to experience features previously
only available on front-line aircraft,

Two new actions have been introduced.

Building on a relationship that spans several
decades we will pursue opportunities to
grow our business in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arahia. Qur focus will be the transition

of the relationship from one of an export
market to the implementation of a home
market strategy.

Export sales are an important source of
growth for the Group and we look to generate
export business from our home markets.

Type 45

The new-generation Type 45 destroyer will
deliver leading-edge capability whilst cutting
operating costs by 37%. Daring was launched
on 1 February 2006 and Dauntless’ launch
followed in January 2007,

www.baesystems.com i1
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Our global markets

The defence industry in the UK and US has

i 1 H consolidated over recent years resulting in
Glopal df,-fence procur_ement expenditure® continued fowor, largor, defence companies. The rature
to rise with a 7% real increase among the 15 largest of the defence industry today is such that

e . N . . f th indust tit t

military nations. With customers in over 100 countries 0. ot mors and partnors a6 wel
and strong positions in the UK, US, Australia, as competitors.
Saudi Arabia, South Africa and Sweden, BAE Systems S:éfgjtfﬁpfn?enseaﬁdt?se wor 'g];so'rfsdi"g
is well placed for further growth in both new and four comparies with global defence sales
established defence markets in excess of $20bn. It is Eurcpe's largest

defence company and ranks number seven
within the US defence industry.

BAE Systems is reliant upon the levels

of funding committed by the domestic
governments of the countries in which the
Group’s operations are based and those
to which the Group exports.

United States

The Group's US business now delivers over
US$9bn (£5bn) of annual sales and employs
approximately 40,000 people in 36 states.

BAE Systems is both a prime contractor

1o the US government and a supplier of
major sub-systems to the other large prime
contractors. The Group is a market leader in
the provision of electronic warfare systems,
many of which have application on airborne
programmes. BAE Systems has & substantial

Il BAE Systems home markets husiness supporting network systems and
IT for US government agencies and provides
1 fast available data 2005 technical support services 1o the US Nawy,

US Army, NASA and the FAA. In land systems,
the Group is one of the two largest suppliers

Global defence spend Global equipment market BAE Systems’ market position
Forecast defence expenditure by major region 2007 forecast defence procurement, Top 10 defence companies in 2006
{US$ billions at conitanl 2097 grices)_ o {US$ biHiansﬁat constant 2007 prices} {Defence revenue US$ billion)

1.200

lmg I 40
1,000
BOO . [ li apesarz: [59]
Eapnapls
boa Rest of World {accessible) [:1-] 20
00 S
200 2 including supplemental budget, excluding . . . -
T 1 T2 3z 2 s 6 7 &8 8 0

01 0z 03 & 05 068 D7 OB 09 10 Reseach Technology Development & Engineering 3 | 10

The US represents around 45% The US accounts for over 45% of 1. Lockheed Martin 6. General Dynamics
of the total forecast global defence farecast total global procurement 2. Boeing 7. EADS

spend (including equipment, in 2007. 3. Northrop Grumman 8. L3

personnel and operating costs) 4, BAE Systems 9. Thales

te 2010. 5. Raytheon 10. Halliburton
Source: BAE Systems internal analysis Source: BAE Systems internal analysis Source: Defense News
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of armoured vehicles in the US and the
wider accessible global market.

[The US defence market accounts for over
45% of global defence spending and

offering programme scale and high levels
of investment in research and development.
US defence spending has increased

hudgets from which the defence industry
derives much of its business, This high
level of funding is expected to sustain
further growth in the near term, but with
a levelling out anticipated towards the end
of the decade.

hudget allocations to fund overseas
operations. This supplemental spend

use. BAE Systems has benefited from this
funding, which is expected to continue in
the near term but then reduce as current
overseas deployments of armed forces
decrease. Although growth in US defence
spending is expected to slow, the Group is
well placed to support the US Department
of Defense’s likely continued emphasis on
force sustainment and readiness.

United Kingdom

BAE Systems is the largest defence prime
contractor in the UK with strong positions
in the design, development. manufacture
and support of air, land and sea systems.
The Group also provides command and

weapon system programmes, subject to

UK government regulation.

UK government of its Defence Industrial
Strategy {DIS) was significant in shaping

remains one of BAE Systems’ key markets,

substantially over recent years, including the
Procurement and Research and Development.

In addition to the underlying defence spend,
the US market has seen large supptemental

includes the cost of resetting equipment to
combat readiness following heavy operational

communications infrastructure. Business is
generated in other defence markets around
the giobe through the export of UK-derived

The publication in December 2005 by the

the future UK defence market. A key element

of the industrial strategy is the formation

of long-term partnering agreements between

industry and the UK Ministry of Defence
{MoD). A good start has been made in
implementing such agreements and other
elements of DIS.

BAE Systems now has a well-established,

growing and successful through-life capability
business in the air sector working closely with
the UK MaD and the Royal Air Force. Progress

has atso been made in the land systems
sector with the development of a similar
armoured vehicle through-life partnership.

Despite a substantial forward programme
of new equipment requirements, the UK
defence procurement budget has been

pacing inflation with only limited real growth.

BAE Systems has successfully grown its
participation in UK defence support activity
which has, in turn, generated savings for the
customer that are being passed through

1o enhance egquipment procurement.

For some years the UK government has
encouraged compelition in the detence
market from off-shore suppliers and, despite
the Group's strong presence in the UK,
the market remains highly competitive.

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia has been an important market
for BAE Systems for many decades and
there are significant new opportunities

to both continue, and strengthen, this
relationship into the future.

A key growth opportunity is the Group's role
in supporting the partnership between the

governments of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

and the UK in updating the capability of the
Kingdom’s armed forces. We are committed
to assisting the Kingdom in developing its
defence industrial base and the training
and up-skilling of its workforce.

BAE Systems is pursuing a strategy to
transition our Saudi business from a UK-

centric export sales operation to a significant

in-Kingdom presence. In line with this

Sharing between our global businesses
The 57mm Mk 110 Mod O Naval Gun
System has currently been selected
tor both versions of the US Navy's
Littoral Combat Ship and as the main
armament to go aboard the US Coast
Guard's National Security Cutter. The
system is currently manufactured in
Sweden, but plans are underway to
transfer assembly 1o a US facility.

Investing in Australia

BAE Systems is developing strategic
capabilities to enhance its support of
the Australian Detence Force by investing
in fast jet support and autonomous
systems capabilities. C5&S Australia

is responsible for delivering effective
through-life support to the Royal
Australian Air Force's Hawk Lead-In
Fighter and the F/A-18 Hornet.

strategy, we continue to make substantial
investments in the Kingdom, establishing

a major industrial footprint with a growing
in-Kingdom technical capability enabling

the Group to satisfy many of our Saudi
customer's needs from on-shore companies.

Industrialisation is a key feature in this
market and the commitment to Typhoon will
allow us to build on the established Tornado
support activity. We also see opportunities
for new business in other areas.

Rest of World

In addition to its strong positions in the UK,
US and Kingdom of Saudi Arabia markets,
BAE Systems has a significant presence

in the other important markets of Australia,
South Africa and Sweden.

BAE Systems' Australian business continues
to secure contracts and strengthen its
position as a through-life capability partner
to the Australian Defence Force. South Africa
is another market that continues to offer
opportunity, while our businesses in Sweden
continue to perform well both in home
markets and in securing export opportunities.

We continue 10 evaluate ways to develop
in-country presence in markets which are
forecast to have significant and growing
defence expenditure and which want to
develop a significant local defence industry.
We have focused on a small group of
countries, including India, which meet
these criteria.

Delivering next-generation products

The RG33 series was developed to

meet the growing requirement fer highly
survivable, flexible mine-protected wheeled
vehicles. BAE Systems” design teams in
South Africa and the US applied the latest
in collaborative design systems and tools
to rapidly prototype and produce the first
RG33 family vehicle in a 6x6 configuration.

www.baesystems.com 13
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The Electronics, Intelligence & Support business
group, with 31,700 employees® and headquartered
in the US, is a provider of defence and aerospace
systems, sub-systems and services. It comprises two
operating groups: Electronics & Integrated Solutions
and Customer Solutions.

Financial highlights

- Organic sales growth of 6% over 2005

- Return on sales improved to 9.2% (excluding one-off accounting gain)

- Good conversion of EBITA? to operating cash flow

2006 2005 2004
Sales® £4,007Tm £3,697m £3,063m
EBITA? £429m £324m £256m
Return on sales 10.7% 8.8% 8.4%
Cash inflow* £273m £323m £190m
Order intake! £4.311m £3,659m £3310m
Order book® £3.4bn £3.5bn £3.1bn

Key points

- Strong demand for electronic warfare systems

- Key support solutions business wins

- Group-wide capabilities combined to win FastTrack contract
- Key Federal information technology solutions awards

Looking forward

Defence spending in the US continues to be robust for the near term, however fiscal pressures
may make the budget environment more challenging in subsequent years. Customers will need
to balance priorities to equip effectively the current fighting force, whilst developing capabilities
to transform the future force.

BAE Systems will continue to focus on offering tailored, mission-enabling support solutions
and iifecycle services to the US defence, intelligence, Federal and civilian markets.

The business is positioned to capitalise on recent organisational and integration actions
to reduce costs. Reducing costs will make the business maore competitive and enable further
investment in new business opportunities to drive top-line growth.

During 2006, Electronics, Intelligence &
Support achieved EBITA? of £429m (2005
£324m) on sales! of £4,007m (2005
£3,697m) and generated an operating
cash inflow® of £273m {2005 £323m).

2006 EBITA? includes a £61m accounting
gain relating to a revision to pension
benefits arising from changes to the
calculation of final pensionable salaries.

A one-off cash contribution of $100m
{£54m) was made to the principal US
pension fund at the end of the year.

The Ship Repair business of United
Defense, acquired in June 2005, contributed
full year sales® of £316m (2005 £164m)}
and EBITA? of £23m (2005 £15m).

Electronics & Integrated Solutions (E&IS)
E&IS designs, develops and produces
electronic systems and sub-systems for

a wide range of military and commercial
applications. The business focuses on
five primary capabilities: electronic warfare
(EW), including information operations;
communications, with emphasis on
integrated C4ISR® and tactical networking;
avionics, flight and engine controls; sensor
systems, providing remote sensing
technology, mission sub-systems and
missile seekers; and intelligence systems.

E&IS delivered the first EW system for the
Joint Strike Fighter F-35 Lightning Il aircraft
and received funding for the system's Low
Rate initial Production. E&IS alsc delivered
the first production digital EW system for
the US Air Force F-22A Raptor. Current
production guantities are for 183 aircraft,
taking F-22A production through to 2011.,

The National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency
selected E&IS to lead the team to develop

a web-based surveillance and targeting
system, Global Net-Centric Surveillance

and Targeting, which will rapidly identify
battiefield targets to speed decision-making
by intelligence analysts and military personnel.

Share of Group sales* Share of Group EBITA2S

28% 32%

s

including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible
assetis, finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure {net} and financial investment, and dividends
from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses

6 Command, Cantral, Communications and Computing,

Intelligence, Surveillance and Recannaissance
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BAE Systems continues to hold a leadership
position in the development of Advanced
Threat Infrared Countermeasure {(ATIRCM)
systems. In 2006, E&IS began phase three
of a Department of Homeland Security
programme tc develop a commercial version
of the ATIRCM system. JETEYE™, which
seeks 1o defeat the threat of shoulderfired
anti-aircraft missiles.

BAE Systems was selected to develop the
active inceptor system for the US Army's
UH-60M Black Hawk helicopter programme.
The Black Hawk will be the first production
helicopter to combine active inceptor
technology with a fiy-by-wire system that
saves weight and provides pilots with
intuitive tactile cues for easier aircraft
handling and reduced workload.

BAE Systems is the world's leading supplier
of hybrid propulsion systems for urban transit
buses. New orders received in 2006 totalied
415 HybriDrive® propulsion systems.,

E&IS is a supplier of state-ofthe-art infrared,
millimetre-wave, and laser technologies

for missile seekers, guided munitions and
target designators. Using a BAE Systems’
seeker, the THAAD (Terminal High Altitude
Area Defense) missile system successfully
detected and intercepted an incoming
ballistic missile target. This demonstration
of “a bullet hitting a bullet’ was a key
milestone in the development of this
defence against missite-borne weapons

of mass destruction.

The US Army fully funded the Thermal
Weapon Sight (TWS) at $285m (£146m)

with full production to produce and deliver
29,600 units by mig-2008. In 2006, more
than 4,500 TWS units were delivered on time
or ahead of schedule to meet criticai fielding.

To increase focus on through-ife product
and logistics support, E&IS opened its first
Readiness & Sustainment centre adjacent to
Robins Air Force Base, Georgia. E&IS also
signed partnership agreemenis with the US

Army’s Tobyhanna Depot in Pennsylvania

to enhance communications and electronics
lifecycle management and with the US Air
Force's Open Air Logistics Center, Utah,

to support aircraft sustainment.

Customer Solutions
Customer Solutions comprises three
businesses:

— BAE Systems Information Technology (IT)
— Technology Solutions and Services (TSS)
— BAE Systems Ship Repair

BAE Systems IT capabilities include
enterprise-wide managed IT operations,
mission-critical application development
and lifegycle support information analysis
and assured delivery. TSS provides services
including system engineering and technical
assistance, system and sub-system
integration, operations and maintenance.
Ship Repair is the US's leading non-nuclear
ship repair company and also provides
conversion and modernisation services,
principally in the home ports of the US Nawvy.

Customer Solutions integrates
communications systems, builds and
maintains precision tracking radars, and
is one of the largest service providers to
the US Navy. The business is also a leader
in air and missile defence systems and is
one of the world's largest manufacturers
of explosives.

During 2006, significant contract wins were
secured, underpinning the future growth in
the Customer Solutions business.

BAE Systems was awarded a prime contract,
worth approximately $250m (£128m),

from the Department of Homeland Security
to improve efficiency and reduce IT costs.
The business also received an estimated
$250m {£128m) award from the US Army
under the Information Technology Enterprise
Solution — 2 Services contract. This contract
provides IT services to support the Army's
enterprise information infrastructure

-
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Terminal High Altitude Area Defence (THAAD)
BAE Systems is responsible for the
development of the infrared seeker head
on the THAAD missile system. The THAAD
missile system is designed to defend
against attacks from short and medium-
range ballistic missiles. Here assemblers

at BAE Systems in Nashua, New Hampshire,
install a THAAD seeker forward ring
assembly into a vibration test fixture.

Common Missile Warning System (CMWS)
Under a CMWS contract, potentially
worth $1.4bn (£0.7bn), the US Army has
the flexibility to order at various times
any number of systems, E&IS increased
production from 30 to 50 systems

a month to outfit all US Army helicopters
in Afghanistan and Iraq.

requirements and goals. BAE Systems IT
was also successful in 100% of its
recompetes in 2006.

TS5 won the US Air Force Space Command's
potential 1.2-year, $509m (£260m) contract
for operation and maintenance of the Solid
State Phased Array Radar Systems at five
radar sites worldwide. The US Army Space
and Missile Defense Command’s Future
Warfare Center signed an agreement with
BAE Systems worth up to $482m (£246m)
under the Concepts and Operations for
Space and Missile Defense Integration
Capabilities contract.

BAE Systems Ship Repair provides a full
array of ship repair services in support of
US Navy vessels. In 2006, the Ship Repair
husiness was awarded a service contract
for guided missile cruiser class ships home
ported in Norfolk, Virginia, potentially valued
at $169m (£86m). A second multi-ship,
multi-option contract was awarded for repair
and maintenance of all US Navy surface
ships home ported in Hawaii, potentially
valued at $270m (£138m).

Transatlantic partnership delivers on a FastTrack
By leveraging its experience and expertise
found around the world, the BAE Systems
FastTrack team demonstrated speed, agility
and Group-wide collaboration to win a new
contract with the US Navy valued at up

to $450m (£230m} over seven years.

Under this contact, BAE Systems wilt
reengineer and remanufacture aircraft parts
to optimise the US military’s ageing aircraft.
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Land & Armaments business group, with 11,600
employees* and headquartered in the US, is a leader
in the design, development, production and through-life
support and upgrade of armoured combat vehicles,
naval guns, missile launchers, artillery systems and
intelligent munitions.

Enaisidnalcsauisr)

Financial highlights

- Sales of £1.4bn from acquired United Defense business
- Improvements in UK business performance
- Order book growth

2006 2005 2004
Salest £2115m £1,270m £482m
EBITAZ £168m £42m £(8)m
Return on sales 7.9% 3.3% (1.7)%
Cash inflow® £137Tm £168m £60m
Order intake! £2964m £1,541m £869m
Order book ! £4.9bn £4.4bn £2.2bn

Key points

- Benefiting from high volume of reset and upgrade activity
- Good progress in next-generation technology programmes
- Accelerated rationalisation in the UK business

-~ Wheeled armoured vehicle successes

Looking forward

In the near term, US Land & Armaments operations are expected to continue to benefit from
operational requirements in Iraq and Afghanistan. In the longer term, the business may be
impacted by increased pressure on defence budgets.

UK operations will continue their emphasis on perfermance improvements, securing a leadership
role on the Future Rapid Effect System (FRES) programme and on reaching resolution on
a mutually beneficial, sustainable munitions ¢ontract with the UK MoD,

The businesses in Sweden and South Africa aim to deliver growth through both new domestic
government business and building on their track record of securing export opportunities,

During 2006, Land & Armaments achieved
EBITA? of £168m (2005 £42m) on sales?

of £2,115m (2005 £1.270m) and generated
an operating cash inflow? of £137m

(2005 £168m).

The United Defense Land & Armaments
business, acquired in June 2005,
contributed full year sales? of £1,354m
{2005 £625m) and EBITA? of £1486m
(2005 £45m).

Following rationalisation activity in 2005
and further announcements in 2006,
the UK-managed business returned to
profit a year ahead of plan.

United States

The US business has substantial US

Army contracts for the refurbishment and
upgrade of Bradley, M88 Hercules improved
recovery vehicles and M113 fighting
vehicles. These contracts involve restoring
current systems to combat-ready condition
following extensive operational use and
upgrading them to more advanced
configurations.

Following the final US FY(7 Defense
Appropriations Bill, Land & Armaments
reached agreement with the US Army

in November 2006 for contracts for

810 reset/upgraded Bradley vehicles,
113 M88 Hercules vehicles and upgrade
of 447 M113 fighting vehicles at a tota!
value of $1.6bn (£0.8bn).

in May 2006, BAE Systems was awarded
its first wheeled vehicle contract in the US
to manufacture the Iragi Light Armoured
Vehicle, designed to protect Iragi armed
forces against roadside bombs and mine
blasts. Under this $187m (£96m} contract,
Land & Armaments will supply an initial
378 vehicles for lragi forces. If all contract
options are exercised, delivery orders could
total 1,050 vehicles.

Progress on the Future Combat Systems
programme continues with the successful

Share of Group sales* Share of Group EBITA*®

15% 12%

[y

inctuding share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 netcash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure (net) and financial investment, and dividends
from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses
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completion of preliminary design and
commencement of system functional reviews
and critical design reviews on manned
ground and armed robaotic vehicles.

Integration of the first Non-Line of
Sight-Cannon (NLOS-C) prototype system
commenced with the mission module
testing using tactical software in
Minneapolis, Minnesota, and chassis
fabrication in York, Pennsylvania. The
NLOS-C firing platform was unveiled during
ceremonies in September. The platform was
delivered to the US Army’s Yuma Proving
Ground ahead of schedule and successfully
fired its first live test round in October,
beginning two years of live fire testing.

The US Army has ordered two additional
prototypes for a total of eight to be
delivered by early 2009,

Development of the 155mm Advanced

Gun System (AGS) and the Long Range
Land Attack Projectile (LRLAP) for the

US Navy's new destroyer, DDG-1000,
continues. In live fire testing, the AGS
achieved a sustained firing rate of ten
rounds per minute at ranges of up to

63 nautical miles with accuracy well within
US Navy requirements. In September 2008,
Land & Armaments received a $251m
(£128m) contract for LRLAP In addition,
Land & Armaments is designing and testing
a new Vertical Launching System that will
enable the DDG-1000 ship to launch a wide
range of missiles,

In the medium-calibre naval gun system
arena, the BAE Systems 57mm gun has
been selected for the DDG-1000, the US
Nawy’s Littoral Combat Ship and the Coast
Guard's Deepwater programme.

United Kingdom

initial production deliveries of the M777
Lightweight Artiliery System to the US Army
and Marine Corps have been completed, and
full rate production has begun. The M777
system has also been ordered by Canada
and fielded in Afghanistan.

Engineering Tank Systems deliveries continue
on schedule with 17 bridge-laying Titan
vehicles and 17 Trojan obstacleclearing
vehicles delivered to the British Army.

During 2006, the British Army identified
urgent operational requirements for Fv430
Bulldog armoured persennel carriers to
support requirements in lrag. n total, Land
& Armaments received orders for FV430
vehicles valued at £36m.

A Framework Partnering Agreement is the
current basis for the supply of munitions

to the UK MoD. BAE Systemis and the UK
MoD are evaluating a follow-on Munitions
Acquisiticn Supply Solution in order to build
a sustainable munitions business and
provide long-term savings to the customer.

The Land & Armaments businesses in the
UK and Sweden are co-cperating to establish
a strong position to develop the FRES
programme. The Swedish Modular Armoured
Tactica! Vehicle Programme (SEP) is the basis
of one of the proposals from BAE Systems.

Sweden

During 2008, the Land & Armaments
Swedish businesses (Hagglunds and Bofors)
were combined under one newly created
company called BAE Systems AB. This wili
leverage strengths of the individual
businesses in engineering and production,
while atso allowing BAE Systems to become
a more effective solutions provider.

BAE Systems AB was awarded a £19m
contract for an additicnal 52 Bv2{(6S
armoured all terrain vehicles from the Swedish
government. The company has manufactured
more than 11,000 Bv206 vehicles, which have
been sold to nearly 4C countries, including
customers in France, Germany, Sweden,
Netherlands, UK, Italy and Spain.

In the area of intelligent munitions for
artillery and maortar systems, the US Army
has declared Excalibur ready for formal
testing prior to accelerated fielding to US
and Canadian forces in lrag and Afghanistan

early in 2007. A major milestone was
achieved when a guided firing of the 155mm
Excalibur from an Archer self-propelied

artillery platform was successfully completed.

Through December 2008, deliveries of
155mm BONUS Mk 2 munitions to the
Swedish government continued to schedule.
BONUS is also being evaluated by the

US and UK governments.

South Africa

The growing international need for mine-
protected vehicles has continued to
generate new orders for the four-wheeled
RG-31 and RG-32 from the business in
South Africa. In October, Land & Armaments
successfully unveiled the RG-33L Mine
Protected Vehicle at the Association of
United States Army trade show. A seven-
month coliaborative effort between
operations in the US and South Africa
produced the RG-33L mine-protected vehicle
that has the potential to meet urgent mine
protection needs of US, UK and coalition
forces in Afghanistan and Iraq.

Business¥erouplieviews!

LAY win

In May, BAE Systems received an initiaf
order for 378 Iragi Light Armoured Vehicles
(ILAV). The 4x4 LAV leverages proven designs
and includes a V-shaped hull designed to
deflect the force of explosions away from
passengers. The first ILAVs were delivered
to lrag 90 days after contract award.

Meeting the customers needs

Bradley combat vehicles have been playing
a crucial role in Iraq, providing outstanding
survivability, mobility and lethality in all types
of combat. BAE Systems has joined forces
with the US Army to create a first-of-its-kind,
national level reset programme to help
remanufacture and upgrade the vehicles.

Swedish future ground systems

The Swedish Modular Armoured Tactical
Vehicle Programme (SEP) is the latest
in the line of innovative products from
BAE Systems AB in Sweden which
includes the CV20, Bv206 and Bv510.
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The Programmes business group, with 17,900
employees' and based in the UK, comprises the Group's
air systems, naval ships and submarines activities,

with the UK Ministry of Defence its principal customer.

Swainoildnozslssaursng

Financial highlights

- Sales growth of 4% aover 2005
- Margin further improved

- EBITA? up 26%

- Good cash performance

2006 2005 2004
Sales? £2927m £2,819m £2,219m
EBITA? £167m £133m £10m
Return on sales 57% 4.7% 0.5%
Cash inflow? £173m £285m £442m
Order intake! £2772m £2,101m £5,264m
Order book?! £121bn  £12.3bn  £13.0bn

Key points

- Good schedule and cost adherence

- Programmes transitioning from development to production
- Hawk and Nimrod production orders secured

- UAV technology agreements secured

Looking forward

The future of Programmes is closely linked to UK MoD funding both to meet future
requirements of the UK's armed forces and to subsequently generate export business.

For Air Systems, growth in the short term is dependent upen anticipated higher activity,
as UK development programmes maove to production, and on potential Hawk and Typhoon
export sales,

Naval Ships expects to be involved in the implementation of the Defence Industrial Strategy
in the maritime sector. Growth prospects include the UK's Future Carrier (CVF) programme
and the MARS (Military Afloat Reach and Sustainability) programme.

The Submarines business is expected to grow with increased activity on the Astute programme
and the anticipated build of a major block of the Future Carrier. Completion of pricing of boats
2 and 3 and securing orders for Astute boats 4 to 7 is key in retaining the necessary skill base
in order to design and build the next-generation nuclear deterrent submarine.

During 2006, Programmes achieved EBITA?
of £167m (2005 £133m) on sales® of
£2,927m (2005 £2.819m) and generated
an operating cash inflow® of £173m

{2005 £285m).

Ajr Systems

The Air Systems group is responsible for
delivering five major programmes: Fyphoon,
Nimrod MRA4, Hawk, F-35 Lightning Il (1SF)
and Autonomous Systems & Future
Capability (Air).

Deliveries of Typhoon aircraft to the air
forces of the four partner nations continued
with a further 40 aircraft delivered in the
year. BAE Systems continues to provide
support to the UK's Royal Air Force (RAF)
training and operational build up, with aircraft
operating in three squadrons in the UK.
Negotiations to establish ongoing integrated
logistics support contracts continue. In
addition, the UK MoD has awarded an initial
contract combining scheduled maintenance
wark with upgrade activity.

Final assembly of the first of 236 Tranche 2
aircraft is underway, in addition to the first
of 18 aircraft for Austria.

Further export possibilities are being
pursued, including the suppiy of Typhoon
aircraft to Saudi Arabia.

During the year the UK MoD awarded the
Nimrod MRA4 production contract, signalling
renewed confidence in the programme and
in the capability the aircraft will deliver.

The design and development programme

is on target to achieve the product maturity
contained within the production bid
assumptions. Activities are now ¢concentrated
in devetoping, jointly with the customer. an
innovative support solution for the first five
years of service.

Development of the UK's Hawk Advanced Jet
Trainer proceeded to plan and helped secure
the production order for 28 Hawk Mk128
aircraft from the UK MoD. Hawk is well

Share of Group sales? Share of Group EBITA?S

21% 13%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible
assels, finance costs and taxation expense

3 netcash inflow from operating activities after capital

expenditure (net) and financial investment. and dividends

from equity accounted investments

before elimination of intra-group sales

S excluding HQ and other businesses

£
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positioned to meet continued market
demand for iraining aircraft, including
existing Hawk customers who wish 1o
upgrade their fleet.

All six Hawk aircraft for Bahrain were
delivered on time, the India contract is
proceeding to plan, with the first flight of
an Indian Hawk achieved in December,
and 15 aircraft have been delivered

to South Africa.

BAE Systems is partnered with Lockheed
Martin and Northrop Grumman on the JSF
programme, having responsibility for the
design and manufacture of the rear fuselage
and empennage and for the supply of
certain air vehicle systems.

The first flight of the System Development
and Demaonstration aircraft was achieved
in December.

2007 will see the substantial completion
of the detailed design for each of the
F-35 variants and the acceleration of the
manufacture and delivery of major units
for the remaining devefopment aircraft in
the System Development and Demonstration
phase of the programme. Low rate initial
production is expected to commence in
2007. Discussicns between the UK and
US governments on appropriate levels of
technology sharing on the JSF programme
progressed during the year.

The medium-altitude long-endurance
Unmanned Air Vehicle {(UAV) system {HERTI}
was unveiled in 2006 and the ASTRAEA
programme was launched — a multi-faceted
UK programme working towards creating
the right conditions for operating unmanned
aircraft in UK airspace.

Risk reduction activities were completed

for the Strategic Unmanned Air Vehicle
(Experiment) (SUAV(E)) project with the UK
MoD and, in December, a follow-on technology
demonstration programme, Taranis, to support
MoD evaluation of unmanned air combat
vehicle technologies, was secured.

The business is focused on working with the
UK MoD to deliver the SUAV(E) and Taranis
demonstration contracts to establish the
role of UAVs/UCAVs in the future force mix
and transitioning the HERTI demonstration
system into a production programme.

Naval Ships

The second of the originally contracted
Landing Ship Dock (Auxiliary) ships, RFA
Cardigan Bay, was handed over in August.
The contract was expanded as the UK MoD
contracted to Naval Ships the responsibility
for comptetion of the final vessel, Lyme Bay,
together with class design and warranty
authority.

With four Type 45 ships in various slages
of production, a high level of activity

and resource load has been reached.

To meet this demand, over 500 new staff
jeined the business in 20086, largely in
production areas.

Whilst the major focus remains on the
setting-to-work and commissioning of the
Type 45 first of class, Daring. in readiness
for sea trials in the second half of 2007,
excellent progress was made on the second
and third ships. with build efficiency targets
met or exceeded.

Milestone achievements continue to plan
and these, combined with successful risk-
reducing system integration work in the
Maritime Integration Support Centre, have
enabled initial profit recognition on the
programme in 2006.

The Group is currently working with the
customer to restructure the existing contract
around a new six ship proposal to provide a
cost-effective solution that ensures timely
delivery of agreed capability across the
class under a jointly managed risk profile,
This is expected to conclude in mid-2007.

The Carrier Alliance has established a set
of contracts with the various alliance
partners for the demanstration phase of the
CVF programme. One of the key components

e

to this work has been to prepare full cost,
schedule and programme inputs in
support of the UK MoD Main Gate Review
for the approval of the whole programme.
BAE Systems, holding significant
responsibilities across the total CVF
scope of work, is committed to working
with the other alliance partners to secure
a successful cutcome.

The arbitration process over the acceptance
of the three offshore patrol vessels for

Brunei continues.

A letter of intent was signed with the
government of Malaysia for two frigates.
Negotiations continue to convert this
agreement into a contract.

Submarines

The construction of the first of class boat,
Astute, is largely completed with the test
and commissioning activities now the
major focus.

[BusinessYerouplreviews)

The Astute programme continued its
improved performance with nine of its ten
key milestones achieved in the year, eight
being achieved ahead of plan and one
behind plan. The remaining milestone was
achieved early in 2007. The launch of
Astute has been brought forward by three
months to June 2007.

Productivity improvements are being
addressed through innovative build
strategies. These include increased use

of modular assembly and vertical outfitting
of full secticns, in addition to investment

in facilities, simplification of processes.
systems and design to reduce cost. These
measures are aimed at reducing the cost of
production following the first of class boat.

 Typhooo development programme

The Typhoon development programme
continued through the year with a series
of releases of UK Paveway || Laser Guided
Bombs, demonstrating its ability to perform
the air-to-ground role - a step towards
ensuring that Typhoon provides the
cornerstone of NATO's defence capability
for the next 30 years.

Astute class submarine - reducing costs

BAE Systems is actively looking at ways

to work in partnesship with its supply
chain. The Submarines business has set

up a ‘suppliers club’ which, together with
innovative build strategies. is helping to
drive down costs on the Astute programme,

Unmanned Air Vehicle {UAV) capability

The UK Detence Industrial Strategy
highlighted the importance of developing
UAV capability within the UK industrial base.
BAE Systems has developed, built and flight
tested UAV demonstration systems in as
little as six months, only a quarter of the
time usually needed.
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The Customer Solutions & Support (CS&S) business
group, with 14,600 employees?, provides partnered,
through-life support solutions and capability to the UK
MoD and manages the Group’s business in Saudi Arabia

and Australia.

Financial highlights

- Sales growth of 9% over 2005

- Return on sales maintained at ¢.15%
- Cash flow includes £130m incurred on Saudi infrastructure

2006 2005 2004
Sales? £3,180m £2923m £2,856m
EBITA? £477m £419m £497m
Return on sales 15.0% 14.3% 17.4%
Cash inflow? £289m £850m £1,102m

Order intake!

£4,367m £3,280m £3,543m

Order book?

£6.0bn £5.0bn £4.6bn

Key points

- Tornado ATTAC agreement signed in the UK

- Kingdom of Saudi Arabia modernisation programme underway
- Investment in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia continues

- Australian Hawk support contract secured

Looking forward

CS&S will continue to seek to sustain its long-term presence in Saudi Arabia through developing
new business and delivering on current support commitments.

CS&S will continue to work with the UK customer to provide smarter, more integrated support
and capability solutions on customer bases. Development of these solutions will be underpinned
by the migration of the Availability Transformation: Tornado Aircraft Contract (ATTAC) model to

other future UK platforms.

During 2006, CS&S achieved EBITA?
of £477m (2005 £419m) on sales!
of £3,180m {2005 £2,923m) and
generated an operating cash inflow?
of £289m (2005 £850m).

Saudi Arabia

BAE Systems has a major presence in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia where it acts as
prime contractor for the UK governmentto-
government defence agreement. Over the
last two decades the programme has
included the provision of aircraft, associated
hardware, support, infrastructure and
manpower training for the Royal Saudi

Air Force (RSAF). On 21 December 2005
the UK and Saudi Arabian governments
signed an Understanding Document
outlining plans to modernise the Saudi
armed forces. Modernisation activities are
now underway. Under the terms of the
signed document, Typhoon aircraft wilt
replace Tornado Air Defence Variant aircraft
and others currently in service with the
RSAF. Detailed negotiations are continuing
to progress the Understanding Document
towards a contract for the delivery of
Typhoon aircraft.

Around 4,600 people are employed by

the Group in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
of whom more than half are Saudi nationals.
The business is continuing to develop its
presence in Saudi Arabia and is helping to
develop a greater indigenous capability in
the Kingdom. The security of employees

is the highest priority and progress on new
residential and office facilities as well as
increased security measures continues.
Occupation of the first new residential
compound and new office facilities began
on schedule in late 2006,

Performance on the Saudi support
programme in 2006 has progressed well.
Margins have stabilised following increased
indigenous Saudi content in repair and
overhaul work.

Share of Group sales®

Share of Group EBITA%®

22%

35%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 netcash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure {net) and financial investment, and dividends
trom equity accounted investments

4 before eliminaticn of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses
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United Kingdom

In the UK, CS&S continued 1o develop its
successful partnering arrangement with the
UK MoD’s Defence Logistics Organisation
focusing on through-life capability management
and value for money in line with the UK's
Defence Industrial Strategy (DIS).

A key message from DIS is the need for
investment in supply chain skitis, capabilities
and technologies. BAE Systems has
established a supply chain capability project
to further develop its suite of high-guality
support processes across the business.

In air support. performance under the
TJornado Combined Maintenance and
Upgrade contract remains strong with
11 aircraft returned to front-ling service
since contract award in December 2005,

In December, the Tornado ATTAC contract
was signed, The contract offers a full
Tornado availability service for the next

ten years with an initial value of £947m.
ATTAC will deliver reduced costs and
increased operational efficiencies with
improved aircraft availability to the front-line.

Experience of the ATTAC bid is being used
to progress a similar availability contract

for the Harrier aircrafi, with negotiations

on an initial risk reduction package we!l
advanced. The Harrier Joint Upgrade and
Maintenance Programme at RAF Cottesmore
is already helping 10 meet urgent operational
reguirements for the front-line in Afghanistan
while at the same time maintaining the GR2
upgrade programme.

In September, the in-service date for the
Harrier GR9 upgrade was achieved on
schedute. The GR9 upgrade is carried out in
a partnered arrangement with the UK MoD
based at RAF Cottesmore. The programme
has delivered cost savings and reduced
aircraft ‘downtime’ from 52 to 35 weeks
during the upgrade.

The ATTAC model should also provide the
blueprint for future support arrangements
on Typhoon.

In support of the Hawk programme a bid
was submitted to provide availability support
to the RAF's TMK1 aircraft.

An extension to the existing Nimrod Integrated
Support contract was received in June.

Naval

In the naval domain, the reactivation of
three ex-Royal Navy frigates for the Chilean
Navy is progressing. The handover and
commissioning of Almirante Cochrane on
22 November was a significant milestone in
the programme. The first of a series of
Memoranda of Understanding with the
customer with respect to delivering a
support solution for the vessels was signed
in October.

The naval joint ventures performed well.
BAE Systems has 50% interests in Fleet
Support Limited (FSL) and Flagship Training
Limited (FTL). In parallel with the naval base
review announced by the UK Secretary of
State for Defence in September 2006, FSL
has been involved in a number of cost-
saving initiatives.

In October, FSL signed a Memorandum of
Understanding (McU) between FSL, DML and
Babcock and the Minister of Defence
Procurement in support of the Surface Ship
Support Alliance. This activity will develop
throughout 2007 to jointly identify a more
effective model for the support of surface
ships with projected savings of £90m

per year.

The results of the UK MoD naval base
review are expected in 2007.

The delivery of high-quality training solutions
continues, primarily through FTL which,
building on the strong partnering
relationship with the Royal Navy, was
awarded a £45m contract for the planning
and delivery of a number of courses for
existing and future naval personnel.

FTL formed part of the MC3 Training bid for
the Defence Training Review programme.
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Ship reactivation

BAE Systems is prime contractor for
the reactivation of former Royal Navy
warships tor overseas customers
including preparation of the vessels
and training of crews.

However, in January 2007, it was announced
that this programme was to be awarded to
the competing consortium led by QinetiQ.

The business was unsuccessful in its bid
for an integrated through-life support
contract to support the Victoria Class
submarines in Canada.

Australia

CS&S Australia performed well in 2006
securing a number of contracts and
strengthening its position as a through-life
capability partner to the Australian
Befence Force.

Negotiations for a five-year A$343m
{£138m} support contract for the
Australian Hawk Lead-In Fighter aircraft
were successfully completed, and the
business is also a key supplier in providing
a new airborne early warning system to
South Korea.

Tornado ATTAC

BAE Systems is to provide availability
support to the Tornado platform tor the
Royal Air Force (RAF), known as ATTAC
(Availabitity Transformation: Tornado
Aircraft Contract). ATTAC will see

BAE Systems partnering with the UK
MoD and the RAF, reflecting the aims
and objectives of the UK's Defence
industrial Strategy.

Saudi Arabia

BAE Systems’ home market strategy in
Saudi Arabia is focused on the
development of indigenous industrial
capabilities in-country to strengthen the
Group’s long-term presence in an
important and successful market.
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The Integrated Systems & Partnerships business group, with 10,500
employees?, is a portfolio of high-technology defence systems

businesses comprising the wholly-owned Integrated System

Technologies and Underwater Systems, together with a 37.5% interest
in the pan-European MBDA joint venture, a 20.5% interest in Saab of
Sweden and a 50% interest in the Gripen International joint venture.

Financial highlights

- Results reflect further portfolio restructuring in the year
- Margin further improved to 6.5%

2006 2005 2004
Sales! £14.748m £1,834m  £2,022m
EBITA? £113m £109m £95m
Return on sales 6.5% 5.9% 4.7%
Cash inflow® £158m £17m £59m
Order intake! £1655m £f£1516m £1,756m
COrder book! £5.8bn £5.9bn £7.0bn

Key points

- European portfolio restructuring complete

- Major Insyte communication systems wins in UK

- MBDA programme milestones achieved

- Saab’s acquisition of Ericsson Microwave Systems complete

Looking forward

Implementation of the UK's Defence Industrial Strategy (DIS) is matetial to the UK activities
of the Integrated Systems & Partnerships business group.

Growth is anticipated from the Insyte business, building on the UK naval systems market
position and recent success in land systems.

For Underwater Systems, the follow-on activities from DIS will play an important role in shaping
the future position of the business.

The announcement in 2006 by the UK MoD of the creation of ‘Team CW’' {Complex Weapons)
led by MBDA represented a significant step forward in the implementation of DIS in this sector.

During 2008, Integrated Systems

& Partnerships achieved EBITA? of £113m
(2005 £109m) on sales! of £1,748m {2005
£1,834m) and generated an operating cash
inflow* of £158m (2005 £17m). This result
follows the significant restructuring of the
Group's portfolio of European defence
businesses in 2005.

In August the Group disposed of its wholly-
awned Atlas Elektronik business for €149m
(£103m), generating a profit on disposal

of £3m.

In addition to its main businesses, the
results of which are explained in more

detail below, the Group has a 25% interest
in Selex Sensors and Airborne Systems SpA.
This is subject to a put option at an agreed
value of £268m exercisable by BAE Systems
in the three-month period from the beginning
of June 2007 and a call option by
Finmeccanica at any time to August 2007.

Integrated System Technolegies {Insyte)

The Insytle busingss completed its first full
year of trading as a wholly-owned subsidiary.
Order book grew primarily on receipt of the
FALCON Increment A contract (£267m).
FALCON will provide the British armed forces
with a new mobile, high-capacity, secure
information system infrastructure at the
operational and tactical levels of command.

The business secured its first significant
national security contract in 2006 and
was contracted as the mission system
prime contractor on the CVF programme
and was also awarded the T93 Radar
Replacement contract to support the UK
Air Defence Systems.

The business has a number of key
programmes. Sampson radar, the Command
Management System and Long Range Radar
Development and Production contracts for the
Type 45 destroyers, and the Seawolf Midlife
Upgrade for Type 22 and 23 destroyers all
achieved their key milestones in the year.

Share of Group sales* Share of Group EBITA2S

12% 8%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangikle
assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 netcash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure (net) and financial investment, and dividends
from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intra-group sales

& excluding HQ and other businesses
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Underwater Systems

The Sting Ray lightweight torpedo main
production order for the UK MoD is
progressing on schedule with the second
batch of torpedoes being accepted in
December 2006.

The Archerfish product was selected as
the Common Mine Clearance Neutraliser
for the US Navy and is to be used on three
different programmes.

Talisman, which is a Group-funded
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle, achieved
what is believed to be a world first by
launching and controlling ancther weapon
while itself operating at a distance from
the mother ship. This successful test was
observed by potential customers.

The business continues discussions with
the UK MoD on a long-term partnering
agreement to sustain capability for the
longer term.

MBDA (37.5%)

MBDA performed we!l with increases in
hoth sales and EBITA? as 4,000 missiles
were produced and delivered, including

the Storm Shadow and Scalp airborne
cruise missiles, Mica airto-air weapon,
Exocet anti-ship missile, and the Taurus
cruise missile. The new Customer Service
& Support division also reported successful
sales and orders in the year.

A number of export crders were secured

in the year, including a €450m (£303m)
order from the UAE (Exocet Blocks 2 and 3),
a contract from Saudi Arabia for the Mistrai
air defence system, an order from India for
the ATAM missile system for the new ALH
helicopter, as well as orders from Chile for
the new Seawolf Block 2 naval missile and
Exocet. Domestic orders remained strong
underpinned by the Aster/PAAMS
programme, a contract from France for the
new Scalp Naval cruise missile and an order
from Germany for the Pars 3 next-generation
anti-armour weapon for the Tiger helicopter.

MBDA has been selected by the UK Mol
to lead the UK's Complex Weapons sector
under the Defence Industrial Strategy,
working with the UK MoD to develop

a Strategic Partnering Agreement which
will underpin the sovereign UK capabhility
in complex weapons technologies, design,
development and manufacturing for the
future. It is anticipated that 2007 will see
this work brought to fruition.

Important progress has been made

during the year on MBDA's development
programmes. Significant milestones included
the successful airlaunched demonstration
firings of the new Meteor beyond visual
range airto-air missile, the first system
qualification of the Franco-ltalian
Aster/PAAMS (E) naval air defence system
and gualification firings of the SAMP/T
land-based system. In addition, the PAAMS
programme for the Royal Navy's Type 45
destroyer is now progressing through
integration and testing following deliveries
of the Sampson radar. MBDA also achieved
development successes with the first firing
of the new Exocet Block 3 coastal attack
missile, completion of development of the
Marte Mk2/S helicopter-launched anti-ship
weapon and Milan ER anti-armour missile.

The acquisition of the German missile
company LFK was completed in March
2006, with integration well advanced.
Financial perfcrmance of the acquired
business has exceeded expectations

to date.

Saab (20.5%)

Sales rose by 9% to SEK21bn (£1.55bn),
of which 65% is attributable to sales
outside Sweden. Operating income rose
to SEK1,745m (£129m), producing an
operating margin after restructuring costs
of 8.3%. Order intake is substantially
improved compared with 2005, mainly
attributable to the SEK5.5bn (£411m} order
from Pakistan for an airborne surveillance
system together with a SEK1bn (£75m)

Technology delivered to the battlefield
FALCON is a mobile, high-capacity
information infrastructure that brings

the latest all-internet protocol technology

to the battlefield. It is a rapidly deployable,
truck-mounted system that allows troops
and battlefield commanders to communicate
quickly, securely and reliably with each
other and with other levels of command.

order from the Swedish government for the
continued development of the Gripen system.

The acquisition of Ericsson Microwave
Systems for SEK3.75bn {(£280m) was
completed on 1 September. This acquisition
added radar and sensor operations 1o
Saab's existing portfolio in the areas of
defence, aviation, space and civil security.

Saab’s order book at the end of the year
was SEK51bn {£3.8bn).

Gripen International (50%}

The first Gripen test aircraft arrived in Scuth
Africa and has commenced the integration
and development test programme. Deliveries
of aircraft to Hungary commenced in the
year and the contractual offset obligations
to both Hungary and the Czech Republic

are being met.

Talisman launches a world first

Talisman, the BAE Systems’ developed
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle (UUV), has
achieved its latest capability breakthrough,
by becoming the first UUV to successfully
fire and control weapons at sea during trials.
Talisman is an example of BAE Systems’
approach to rapid prototyping, with
concurrent design, development and testing.

T S S e ———
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HQ and other businesses, with 2,300 employees?,
comprises the regional aircraft asset management
and support activities, head office and UK shared
services activity, including research centres and
property management.
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Financial highlights and key points

- Total Regional Aircraft loss of £114m

- Cash outflow from Regional Aircraft of £66m
- Aerostructures sale completed

- UK pension funding deficit addressed

Restated* Restated?

2006 2005 2004

Salest £295m £471m £464m
EBITA? E(147)m £(118)m £(50m
Cash (outflow)/inflow? E£(225)m £(79)m £57m
Order intake* £267m £398m £264m
Order book! £0.3bn £0.6bn £0.5bn

Looking forward

The regional aircraft leasing market remains challenging with new markets likely to be

dominated by higher risk customers, Support revenues are dependent on maintaining aircraft
in service and conversion of new customers to managed services such as power-by-the-hour
contracts. Losses are expected to continue in this difficult market, albeit at levels lower than

in the preceding two years.

Curing 2006, HQ and other businesses
reported a loss of £147m (2005 £118m)
and had an operating cash outflow® of
£225m (2005 £79m). Of this, the reported
loss for Regional Aircraft was £114m
(2005 £95m), and operating cash outflow
was £66m (2005 £73m).

Regional Aircraft

The regionat aircraft leasing market continued
to be impacted by high oil prices and over
supply of aircraft. The leasing team was
successful in securing extensions in 2006
to existing leases with both large established
operators in Eurcpe as well as new business
in India, Nepal and the Middle East. Leases
were also secured for a number of aircraft
converted to freighter configuration with
further demand expected. Other leasing
opportunities continue to emerge although
markets remain highly competitive.

Support revenues grew with a number of
orders secured during the year for power-by-
the-hour contracts and aircraft modifications.

The majority of the leasing business is
underpinned by the Group's Financial Risk
Insurance Programme (FRIP} which makes
good shortfalls in actual lease income
against originally estimated future income.
These insurance arrangements are discussed
in more detail in ¢ritical accounting policies
on page 30 and in the risks and uncertainties
section on page 32.

The Regional Aircraft results for the
year include £37m for costs incurred

in managing the leased aircraft portfolio
and supporting the fleet, and £77m for
provisions taken.

Aerostructures

In March 20086, the sale of the UK
Aerostructures business to Spitit AeroSystems
Inc. was ¢completed, for a cash consideration
of £80m. This disposal generated a profit

of £11m arising from the resultant reduction
of pension liabilities.

=

including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash (outflow)/ inflow from operating activities after
capital expenditure {net) and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 restated following the sale of Airbus SAS
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The Board uses a range of financial and non-financial
performance indicators, reported on a periodic basis,
to measure the Group’s performance over time.

These include:

Financial metrics:

To measure growth of the business:

— QOrder intake represents the value of
funded orders received from customers
in the period;

— Order book represents the balance of
unexecuted, funded orders received from
custemers; and

- Sales represents the amounts derived
from the provision of goods and services,
and includes the Group's share of equity
accounted investments’ sales.

To measure performance of the business:
— Underlying EBITA! is used by the Group
for internal performance analysis as
a measure of operating profitability

comparable over time;

— Return an sales represents underlying
EBITA! divided by sales, expressed as
a percentage; and

- Operating business cash flow represents
net cash flow from operating activities
after capital expenditure {net) and financial
investment and dividends from equity
accounted investments.

Further explanation of these Group financial
KPls for the years ending 31 December

- 2006 and 2005 are included on pages 26
to 30 within the financial review. in addition,
individual business groug financial KPls are
included within the business group reviews
on pages 14 to 24.

In addition to the above, long-term contracts
are managed through the application

of mandated business processes at

the operational level, These processes
include the reporting of consistent metrics
related to matters such as schedule and
cost performance, risk mitigation and
customer satisfaction. These metrics

are consistently used by the Board and
operational management in the review

of contract performance.

Non-financial metrics:

The Board recognises its responsibilities

to the Group's shareholders, employees,
customers and suppliers, the wider community
and 1o the environment. The following
indicators are used by the Board and the
Corporate Responsibility Committee to monitor
the application of mandated policies and
procedures with the chjective of meeting the
Group's responsibilities in these areas:

- Health and safety management {injuries
and lost days): 1o minimise risk across
our operations and drive continual
performance improvement (see page 36);

- Environment {energy and water
consumption, waste generation and
greenhouse gas emissions): toc ensure
operational efficlency, regulatory
compliance and minimising envircnmental
impact (see page 36);

— Ethics (number of issues raised and
investigated): to demonstrate that

employees are aware of our ethical
standards, and issues or concerns are
being raised and addressed. Aiso, to
measure how successful our ethics
training is in ensuring that all employees
are aware of the Group's ethical standards
and policies {see page 36); and

— Workplace {employee opinion surveys and
demographic information}: to monitor the
opinions of our employees as part of the
development of a high performance culture
across the Group and to increase diversity
and broaden the culture to drive innovation
and performance (see page 36).

The Board continues to adopt a progressivie
approach in the development of appropriate
Groupwide metrics such that performance
is monitored in a comparable and
transparent way.

Order intake and order book (£bn)*

Sales and return on sales (£bn and %)°

a0 14 16.0°
13 9.5

30 12 9.0

20 . u 85
10 8.0

10 g 7.5

ca 05 06 04 05 06
=amm order intake esss order baok - Sales = return on sales

Underlying EBITA (£m)*?

Qperating business cash flow (£m)*

17300 2.500
1,200
1,100 2400
1.000 1,500
$00
300 1000
04 0% 06 04 05 08

1 Since the adoption of IFRS the directors have
calculated underlying earnings before amortisation
and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs
and taxation expense {underlying EBITA) to eliminate
the Impact of an acquisition acceunting entry required
to remove the profit in acquired inventory. This allows
the contribution from acquired businesses to be
assessed on a consistent basis from the date of
acquisition. This adjustment did not impact the
results for 2006 (2005 £44m).

2 On a continuing basis.

Further historical financial information is presented
on pages 124 and 125.
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A year of

continued growh

Summary income statement - continuing operations

Restated* §

Year to 31 December 2006  Year to 31 December 2005

£m £m

Sales! 13,765 12,581
EBITA? 1,207 909
Amortisation (105) (77)
Impairment (34) (49)
Net finance costs? (174) (196)
Taxation expense? (248) (147)
Profit for the year 646 444
Basic earnings per share 19.9p 13.9p
Underlying earnings® per share 23.8p 18.4p
Dividend per share 11.3p 10.3p

Business group summary 2006 2005
Cash Cash

inflow/ Order inflow/ Order

Salest EBTA’  (outflow)’ book? Salest EBITA7  {outfiow)" bookt

£m £m £m £bn £m £m £m £bn

Electronics, Intelligence & Support 4,007 429 273 34 3.697 324 323 35
Land & Armaments 2,115 168 137 49 1,270 42 168 4.4
Programmes 2,927 167 173 121 2,819 133 285 12.3
Customer Solutions & Support 3,180 477 289 6.0 2,923 419 850 5.0
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 1,748 113 168 58 1.834 109 17 59
HQ and other businesses 295 (147) (225) 0.3 471 (118) {79) 0.6
Less intra-group (507) - - (0.8) (433) - - (0.9)
Discontinued businesses - - (23) - - - 373 -
13,765 1,207 782 317 12581 09 1,937 30.8

1 inclugding share of equity accounted investments

w N

and financial derivatives, and uplift on acquired inventories

edrmings betore amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
earnings excluding amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, non-cash finance movements on pensions

4 net cash inflow/{outflow) from operating activities after capital expenditure {net) and financial investment, and

divigends from equity accounted investments
5 restated following the sale of Airbus SAS
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Results for the year -
continuing operations

Sales® increased 9% from £12.581m to
£13.765m. Organic growih was 5%. Sales
in the full year from the former United
Defense activities, acquired in June 2005,
were £1.670m (2005 £789m).

EBITA? increased 33% 1o £1,207m (2005
£909m). The growth includes the benefit

of a full year's trading from the former United
Defense activities, acquired in June 2005,
which contributed EBITA? of £169m (2005
£60m) in the year. As reported at the half
year, included within EBITA? is a £61m
one-off accounting gain in the Electronics,
Intelligence & Support business group
arising from a reduction in the net pension
liabitity following the changes to the
calculation of final US pensionable salaries.
Losses at Regional Aircraft amounted to
£114m, these are reported within HQ and
other businesses.

Return on sales (EBITA? adjusted for uplift

on acquired inventories expressed as a
percentage of sales) for the Group increased
from 7.6% to 8.8%. Return on sales excluding
the one-off pensicn gain referred 1o above
was 8.3%.

Order book! increased to £31.7bn, primarily
on US awards in the Land & Armamenis
business and on securing the Tornado
ATTAC contract in CS&S.

Finance costs

Finance costs. including the Group’s share
of the finance costs of equity accounted
investments, were £174m (2005 £196m).
The underlying interest charge of £157m
{2005 £191m) was increased by a net
charge of £17m (2005 £5m) arising from
pension accounting, marked-to-market
revaluation of financial instruments and
foreign currency movements.

Underlying inlerest cover based on EBITA?
increased from 4.8 times to 7.7 times.

Taxation

The Group's effective tax rate for continuing
operations for the year was 26% (2005 22%).
The increase in the rale arises principally
due to recognition in 2005 of an Australian
deferred tax assel previously unrecognised.

Earnings per share

Underlying earnings® per share from
continuing operaticns for 2008 increased
by 29% to 23.8p compared with 2005,

Basic earnings per share, in accordance with
tAS 33 Earnings per Share, from continuing
operations, increased by 43% to 19.9p
(2005 13.9p).

Basic earnings per share in respect of
discontinued operations amounted to 30.8p.
primarily arising from the gain made on the
disposal of the Group's 20% interest in Airbus
to EADS (see note 10 to the Group accounts).

Dividend

The Board is recommending a final dividend
of 6.9p per share {2005 6.3p). bringing the
total dividend for the year to 11.3p per share
{2005 10.3p). an increase of 9.7%.

The proposed dividend is covered 2.1 times
by earnings® from continuing operations
{2005 1.8 times) which is consistent with
the policy of growing the dividend whilst
maintaining a long-term sustainable earnings
cover of approximately two times,

Discontinued operations

The results for discontinued operations are
disclosed in note 9 to the Group accounts
and relale to the disposal of the Group's
sharehalding in Airbus.

Capital structure

The Group funds its operations through

a mixture of shareholders” funds and
borrowing facilities, including bank and
capital market borrowings, All the Group's
material borrowings are arranged by the
central treasury function and funds raised
are lent onward to operating subsidiaries

as required. The Group's cbjective is to
ensure the continuity of competitively priced
funding through borrowing irom a range

of markets and at varied maturities.

Details of the Group’s debt are included

in note 20 to the Group accounts. During
2006, the Exchangeable £676m 3.75% Bond
matured and was repaid, and the Exchange
Property, represented by the Group’s holding
in the ordinary share capital in Vodafone
Group Plc. was sold (see note 15 to the
Group accounts). The US$500m floating rate
note was repaid in the year with no new long
or medium-term debt raised. it remains the
Group’s intention to ensure the business

is funded conservatively and to be proactive
in accessing the bank and capital markets

in achieving this aim.

Liquidity

At 31 December 2006, the Group had gross
borrowings of £3.1bn (2005 £4.46bn). The
decrease in level of gross borrowings in the
year was predominantly as a result of the
repayment of the Exchangeable £676m 3.75%
Bend and the US$500m floating rate note.

In addition to its gross borrowings, the
Group has a committed revolving credit
facility (RCF) of £1.5bn, which is syndicated
amongst the Group’s core relationship
banks, that is available to meet any general
corgorate funding requirement and supports
the Group's commercial paper programme.
The RCF was originally contracted for five
years until 2010. However, it has been
extended by the agreement of two one-year
extensions until 2012, although the
available amount for the final year has been
reduced from £1.5bn to £1.3bn. The RCF
remained undrawn throughout the year.

The Group had cash. short-term investments
and non-current term deposits of £3,607m
(2005 £3.215m) and cash on customers’
account of £62m (2005 £53m) giving

net cash of £435m (2005 net debt of

Sales - continuing operations (£bn)*

10.7

EBITA - continuing operations (£Em)*

Exchange rates
The principal exchange rates impacting the
Group are as follows:

2006 2005
£/€ - average 1.467 1.462
£/% - average 1.844 1.819
£/€ - year end 1.484 1.455
£/% - year end 1.957 1.718
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£1.277m). Generally, excluding the impact
of acquisition or disposal financing, the net
debt of the Group is driven by operational
performance. the level of receipts on the
major contracts and the performance of the
equity accounted investments. Historically,
the net debt/cash position of the Group is
usually at its best at the haif and full year.

Cash flows

Cash inflow from operating activities was
£778m (2005 £2,099m), which includes
£441m one-off contributions into the UK
pension schemes, representing cash of
£199m and proceeds from the sale of
property of £242m. A one-off contribution
of $100m (£54m) was also made into the
US pension schemes in December 2006.

Good conversion of EBITA? to operating
business cash flow was delivered across
the Group.

There was an outflow from net capital
expenditure and financial investment of
£141m (2005 £250m). This includes the
receipt of £242m from the disposal of Group
property ta fund the additional contributions
made to the UK pension funds {see note 22
to the Group accounts). Excluding this item,
the underlying net capital expenditure and
financial investment cash outflow was
£383m (2005 £250m).

The resulting operating business cash
inflow of £782m (2005 £1,937m) gave
rise to free cash inflow, after interest,
preference dividends and taxation, of
£490m (2005 £1.758m).

The net cash inflow from acquisitions and
disposals was £1,330m including the receipt
of net proceeds of £1.212m from the October
disposal of the Airbus shareholding.

Net cash of the Group at 31 December 2006
was £435m, a net inflow of £1,712m from
the net debt position of £1,277m at the
start of the year.

insurance

The Group operates a policy of partial self-
insurance, with a majority of cover placed

in the external market. The Group continues
to monitor its insurance arrangements to
ensure the quality and adequacy of cover.

Credit rating

The Group subscribes to Moody, Standard &
Poor's, and Fitch investors’ service for

its official publicised credit ratings. As at

31 December 2006, the Group's long-term

Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities to net cash/{debt)

Excluding
one-off One-otf
pansion pension
funding tunding 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m
Cash ftow from operating activities 1,273 {495) 778 2,089
Capital expenditure (net) and
financial investment (383} 242 (141) (250)
Dividends received from equity
accounted investments 145 - 145 88
Operating business cash flow 1,035 (253) 782 1,937
Interest and preference dividends (207) (152)
Taxation (85) 27
Free cash flow 490 1.758
Equity dividends paid (346) {315)
Acquisitions and disposals 1,330 (1,836)
Other non-cash movements (3) {52)
{Purchase)/issue of equity shares (71) 373
Foreign exchange 323 (219)
Movement in cash on customers’ account® (%) (35)
1,712 (326)
Opening net debt as defined by the Group 1,277) (668)
Adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 - (283)
Closing net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group 435 (1.277}
Analysed as:
Term depasits — non-current 4 -
Other investments - current 503 634
Cash and cash equivatents 3,100 2,581
Loans - non-current (2,776) (3,534)
Loans - current (308) (815),
Overdrafts — current (26) (90) |
Loans and overdrafts - current (334) (905)
Cash on customers’ account®
(included within trade and other payables) (62) (53}
Closing net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group 435 (1.277)

credit ratings provided by these agencies
were as follows:

Rating agency Rating Quitlock Category

Moody Baa2 Stable Investment
grade

Standard BEBB Stable Investment

& Poor's grade

Fitch BBB Stabie  Investment
grade

During the year the Group's outlook

assigned by these agencies improved o
stable, a positive development from the
‘negative’ outlook held at 31 December

2005 whichk was predominantly attributable

to the increased gearing following the United
Defense acquisition.

The Board continues to view the maintenance
of an investment grade credit rating as
important to the efficient operation of the
Group's activities,

Underlying earnings?® per share from
continuing operations {pence per share)’

6 cash on customers’ account is the unexpended cash
received from customers in advance of delivery which
is subject to advance payment guarantees unrelated
to Group performance

7 underlying earnings per share has been restated
to exclude the results of Airbus SAS

28 BAE Systems Annual Repcrt 2006




Retirement benefit obligations

The movement in retirement benefit obligations during the year is as follows:

m

Deficit in defined pension plans at 1 January 2006

(5,308)

Decrease in liabilities due to changes in assumptions 473
Actuat return on assets above expected returns 521
One-off contributions 733
Recurring contributions over service cost 131
Curtailment gains 113
Acquisitions/disposals 66
Other movements 102
Deficit in defined benefit pension plans at 31 December 2006 (3,167)
US healthcare plans {35}
Total IAS 19 defigit (3,202)
Allocated 1o equity accounted investments and other participating employers 774
Group's share of 1AS 19 deficit (2,428)

In June 20086, the Group announced it had
agreed a programme of measures to address
the funding deficit in its principal UK pension
schemes. The measures included one-off
contributions and agreed changes to the
members’ benefits to reduce future liahilities.

Foliowing one-off contributions of £733m,
comprising cash of £253m, property and
deferred cash assets of £480m, higher
than expected investment returns and an
increase in real discount rates, the Group's
share of the pension deficit decreased

to £2,428m after allocation to equity
accounted investments and other
participating employers.

A net deferred tax asset of £778m is
disclosed in note 8 to the Group accounts
relating to the above deficit.

Further disclosure on the above is given
in note 22 to the Group accounts,

Critical accounting policies

The Group's significant accounting policies
are outlined in note 1 to the Group accounts
{page 76). Not all of these significant
accounting policies require management

to make difficult, subjective or complex
Jjudgements or estimates.

The following is intended to provide an
understanding of those policies that
management considers critical because

of the level of complexity, judgement or
estimation involved in their application and
their impact on the conselidated financial

statements. These judgements involve
assumptions or estimates in respect of
future events, which can vary from what is
anticipated. However, the directors believe
that the consoclidated financial statements
reflect appropriate judgements and
estimations and provide a true and fair
view of our financial performance and
position over the relevant period.

Retirement benefit plans

The Group accounts for post-retirement
pension and healthcare plans in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 19
Employee Benefits (IAS 19).

For defined benefit retirement plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined
periodically by independent actuaries and
charged to the income statement in the
period in which those benefits are earned
by the employees. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised in full in the period
in which they occur and are recognised in
the statement of recognised income and
expense. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent the benefits are
already vested, or otherwise is amortised
on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligations
recognised in the balance sheet represent
the present value of the defined benefit
obligation as adjusted for unrecognised
past service cost and as reduced by the
fair value of plan assets.

The main assumptions made in accounting
for the Group's postretirement plans relate

to the expected return on investments within
the Group’s plans, the rate of increase in
pensicnable salaries, the rate of increase

in the retail price index, the mortality rate of
plan members and the discount rate applied
in discounting liabilities. For each of these
assumptions there is a range of possible
values and, in consultation with our
actuaries, management decides the point
within that range that most appropriately
reflects the Groug's circumstances. Small
changes in these assumptions can have a
significant impact on the size of the deficit
calculated under 1AS 19.

The reported [AS 19 net pension deficit,
including healthcare plans, at 31 December
2006 is £2.4bn (2005 £4.1bn). Liabilities
decreased due to one-off company
centributions of cash and assets of
£733m, together with a reduction in pension
liahilities from revised retirement henefits.
The remainder of the decrease was primarily
attributable to an increase in discount rates
and higher than expected return an assets.

The Group has allocated an appropriate share
of the pension deficit to the equity accounted
investments and other participating
employers using a consistent and reasonable
method of allocation which represents, based
on current circumstances, the directors’ best
estimate of the proportion of the deficit
anticipated to be funded by these entities.
The Group's share of the pension deficit
allocated o the equity accounted investments
is included on the balance sheet within equity
accounted investments.

The valuing of assets and liabilities

at a peint in time rather than matching
expectations of assets and liabilities over
time has no impact on short-term ¢ash
contributions to the pension plans. These
funding requirements are derived from
separate independent actuarial valuations.

Additiona) details concerning the Group's
retirement benefit plans are given in note 1
and note 22 to the Group accounts.

Contract revenue and profit recognition
The majority of the Group's gefence
activities are conducted under long-term
contract arrangements and are accounted
for in accordance with 1AS 11 Censtruction
Contracts. Revenue is recognised on

such contracts based on the achievement
of performance milestones. No profit is
recognised on contracts until the outcome
of the contract can be reliably estimated.
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Prafit is calculated by reference to reliable
estimates of contract revenue and forecast
cosis after making suitable allowance

for technical and other risks related to
performance milestones yet to be achieved.

Owing to the complexity of many of the
contracts undertaken by the Group the

cost estimation process requires significant
judgement and is based upon the knowledge
and experience of the Group's engineers,
project managers, finance and commercial
professicnals and using the Group's contract
management processes. Factors that are
considered in estimating the cost of work

to be completed and ultimate profitability

of the contract include the availability

and productivity of labour, the nature and
complexity of the work to be performed, the
effect of change orders, the availability of
materials, performance of subcontractors
and availability and access to government-
furnished equipment.

Cost and revenue estimates and judgements
are reviewed and updated at least quarterly
and more frequently as determined by
events or circumstances. When it is
probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected
loss is recognised immediately as an
expense. Contract costs comprise directly
attributable costs including an allocation

of direct overheads. Indirect overheads are
only regarded as contract costs when their
recovery is explicitly allowed for under the
terms of the contract. Indirect costs are
otherwise treated as a period cost and are
expensed as incurred. Material changes in
one ar more of these estimates, whilst not
anticipated, would affect the profitability

of individual contracts.
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Where goods are supplied under arrangements
not considered to represent construction
coniracts. sales are recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred and the related revenue
and costs can be measured reliably.

Where services are rendered, sales are
recognised when the stage of completion
of the services and the related revenue
and costs can be measured reliably.

Additional details concerning the Group's
revenue recognition policy are in note 1
to the Group accounts.

Intangible assets

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations {IFRS 3}. goodwill arising

on acqguisition of subsidiaries is capitalised

and included in intangible assets. Goodwill
on acquisitions of joint ventures and
associates is included in equity accounted
investments. IFRS 3 also requires the
identification of other acquired intangible
assets. The techniques used to value
these intangible assets are in line with
internationally used models but do require
the use of estimates which may differ
from actual outcomes. Future results

are impacted by the amortisation period
adopted for these items and. potentially,
any differences between estimated and
actual circumstances related to individual
intangible assets.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested
annually for impairment and carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The impairment review calculations require
the use of estimates related to the future
profitability and cash-generating ability of
the acquired business. Additional details
concerning the Group's treatment of
intangible assets and impairment reviews
are given in note 1 to the Group accounts.

Regional Aircraft valuations

The Group holds a number of regional
aircraft on its balance sheet, These aircraft
are teased to airline operators, In addition,
the Group has provided residuat value
guarantees {RVGs} in respect of certain
regional aircraft sold. The aircraft held

on balance sheet are subject to regular
impairment testing comparing their carrying
value with estimates of the future net rental
inflows. To the extent that rental income is
not contracted, estimates of future income
levels are made.

Provisions related to the RVGs are measured

as the difference between amounts payable
to customers and the estimated fair value

of the aircraft. The fair value of these aircraft
is determined through independent appraisal
valuations using specific data such as aircraft

model, age and condition, and the market
conditions for specific aircraft and similar
models. These valuations inherently require
a number of judgements and assumpticns
to be made.

The Group hotds insurance cover through
the Financial Risk Insurance Programme
(FRIP) contracted for in 1998 that makes
good shortfalls in actual income against
estimated future income used for the
valuation of the majority of the on-balance
sheet aircraft and a number of the aircraft
where residual value guarantees have been

granted. The value of this cover to the
Group takes account of the actual net
incoeme generated by these aircraft, over
a significant peried of time. Accordingly,
the Group is required to make estimates
of the future net income for these aircraft
to assess the value of this cover,

The assumptions and judgements used to
determine the vatues of these aircraft and
any related impairment charges, adjustments
to provision levels and the assessed value
of the FRIP cover reflect the hest estimate
of the current circumstances.

The Group has granted residual value
guarantees in respect of aircraft sold of
which £191m remains outstanding (2005
£460m). After taking account of the FRIP

and independent appraisal valuations it is
considered that the Group's net exposure to
these guarantees is covered by the provisions
held, on a net present value basis, and the
residual values of the related aircraft.

Additional details concerning the Group's
aircraft financing contingent liabilities are
given in note 24 to the Group accounts.
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This section addresses the principal risks to which
the Group is exposed, which could adversely affect
the business, results of operations, cash flow, financial
condition, turnover, profits, assets, liquidity and capital

resources of the Group.

The Group is dependent on defence spending
and any reductions in such spending could
adversely affect the Group.

The Group's core businesses are primarily
defence-related, selling products and services
directly and indirectly primarily to the US, the
UK and Saudi Arabian governments. In any
single market, defence spending depends

cn a complex mix of political considerations.
budgetary constraints and the ability of the
armed forces to meet specific threats and
perform certain missions. Because of these
factors, defence spending may be subject

to significant fluctuations from year to year. In
addition, downturns in broad economic trends
in the markets in which the Group operates
may result in decreases in defence purchases
by the Group's major customers.

Certain parts of the Group’s business

are dependent on a small number of

large contracts.

A significant proportion of the Group's
revenue comes from a small number of
large contracts. These contracts individually
are typically worth or potentially worth £1bn
or more including, but not limited to, those
contracts in the Programmes business
group. The loss, expiration, suspension,
cancellation or termination of any one of
these contracts, for any reason, could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s future
results of operations and financial condition.

The Group has fixed-price contracts.

A significant portion of the Group’s revenues
are derived from fixed-price contracts,
although the Group has reduced its exposure
to fixed-priced design and development
activity which is in general more risk
intensive than fixed-price production activity.
An inherent risk in these fixed-price contracts
is that actual performance costs may exceed
the projected costs on which the fixed
contract prices were based. The Group’s
failure to anticipate technical problems,
estimate costs accurately or controt costs

during performance of a fixed-priced contract
may reduce the profitability of a fixed-price
contract or cause a loss.

To mitigate contract-related risks and
uncertainties, contracts are managed through
the application of the Group’s mandated
Lifecycle Management business process

at the operaticnal level and the consistent
application of metrics is used to support the
review of individual contract performance.

The Group's largest customer contracts

are government contracts.

The governments of the United Kingdom,
the United States and the Kingdom of

Saudi Arabia are the Group’s three largest
end customers. Any significant disruption or
deterioration in the relationship with these
governments and a corresponding reduction
in government contracts would significantly
reduce the Group’s revenues. Moreover,
companies engaged in the supply of
defence-related equipment and services

to government agencies are subject to
certain business risks particular to the
defence industry. These governments could
unilateratly cancel, suspend or amend their
contractors’ funding under existing contracts
or eligibility for new contracts potentially at
short notice. In addition, the Group, as a
government contractor, is subject to financial
audits and other reviews by some of its
governmental customers with respect to
the performance of, and the accounting and
general practices relating to, government
contracts. As a result of these audits and
reviews, costs and prices under these
contracts may be subject to adjustment.

The US government usually appropriates
funds for a given programme on an annual
basis, even though contract performance
may take mare than one year. Consequently,
at the outset of a major programme, the
contract is usually only partially funded and
additional monies are normally committed

to the contract by the procuring agency

as apprepriations are made by the US
government for future fiscal years. The
termination of one or more of the contracts
for the Group's programmes by the US
government, or the failure of the relevant
agencies to obtain expected appropriations
for the Group's programmes, could have a
material adverse effect on the Group's future
results of operations and financial condition.

The timing of contracts could materially
affect the Group's future results of
operations and financial condition.

The Group's operating performance and
cash flows are dependent, to a significant
extent, upon the timing and amounts of
defence contracts and the work performed
thereunder. Because the amounts payable
under these contracts can be substantial,
the award or completion of one or more
contracts, the timing for manufacturing and
delivery of products under these contracts
or the failure to receive anticipated orders
could materially affect the Group's operating
results and cash flow for the periods affected.

The Group is exposed to risks inherent

tn operating in a global market.

BAE Systems is a global company which
conducts business in @ number of regions,
inciuding the Middle East, and, as a result,
assumes certain risks associated with
husinesses with a broad geographical reach.
In some countries these risks include, and
are not limited to, the following: government
regulations and administrative policies
could change quickly and restraints on the
movement of capital could be imposed;
governments could expropriate the Group’s
assets; burdensome taxes or tariffs could
be introduced; political changes could lead
to changes in the business environment in
which the Group operates; and economic
downturns, political instability and civil
disturbances could disrupt the Group's
business activities. The occurrence of
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any such events could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s future results
of operations and financial condition.

Addressing this expasure the Group has

a balanced portfolio with six home markets
and we are considering opportunities in new
high-growth markets.

The Group is subject to export controls

and other restrictions.

A portion of the Group's sales is derived
from the export of its products. Many

of the products the Group designs and
manufactures for military or dual use are
considered to be of national strategic
interest. The export of such products
outside of the jurisdictions in which they are
produced may be subject 1o licensing and
export controls and other restrictions where
many of the Group's activities are located.
No assurance can be given that the export
controls to which the Group is subject will
not become more restrictive, that new
generations of the Group's products will not
also be subject to similar or more stringent
controls, or that political factors or changing
international circumstances will not result in
the Group being unable to obtain necessary
export licences. Reduced access to export
markets could have a material adverse effect
on the Group's future results of operations
and financial condition,

Addressing this exposure the Group has
farmal systems and policies in place to
ensure adherence to regulatory requirements
and to identify any restrictions that could
adversely impact the Group’s future activities.

The Group’s business is subject to

significant competition.

Most of the Group's businesses are focused
on the defence industry and subject to
competition from muiltinational firms with
substantial resources and capital and many
contracts are obtained through a competitive
bidding process. The Group’s ability to
compete for contracts depends to a large
extent on the effectiveness and innovation of
its research and development programmes, its
ability to offer better programme performance
than its competitors at a lower cost to its
customers, and the readiness of its facilities,
equipment and personnel to undertake the
programmes for which it competes.

Additionally, in some instances, governments
direct to a single supplier all work for a

particular programme, commonly known as a
sole-source programme. Atthough governments
have histeorically awarded certain programmes

to the Group on a sole-source basis. they
may in the future determine to open such
programmes to 8 competitive bidding process.

Government contracts for defence-related
products ¢an, in certain ¢countries, be
awarded on the basis of home country
preference, Therefore, other defence
companies may have an advantage over the
Group for some defence-related contracts on
the basis of the jurisdiction in which they are
organised, where the majority of their assets
are tocated or where their officers or
directers are located.

Although the Group expects growth in

US defence spending to slow. the Group
believes it is well placed to support the US
Cepartment of Defense’s likely emphasis

on force sustainment and affordable
transformation. The UK defence equipment
budget is expected to continue to be
constrained, having potential implications
for the sustainability of long-term funding for
future defence technologies and engineering
capabilities in the UK.

In the event that the Group is unable
adequately to compete in the markets in which
it operates, the Group’s business and results
of operations may be adversely affected.

The Group’s strong globai market pesitioning,
balanced portfolio, jeading capabilities and
performance continue t¢ address this risk.

The Group is involved in consortia, joint
ventures and equity holdings where it

does not have control.

The Group participates in various consortia,
joint ventures and equity holdings, exercising
varying and evolving degrees of control.

While the Group seeks to participate only in
ventures in which its interests are aligned with
thase of its partners, the risk of disagreement
is inherent in any jointly controlled entity, and
particularly in those entities that require the
unanimous consent of all members with
regard to major decisions, and that specify
restricted rights.

The Group is exposed to funding risks in
relation to the defined benefits under its
pension schemes.

The Group operates certain defined benefit
pension schemes. At present, in aggregate,
there is an actuarial deficit between the value
of projected liahitities of these schemes and
the value of the assets they hold. The Group
is making contributions towards deficits

in tine with agreements reached with the
respective scheme trustees based on the
recommendations of actuaries. The amount

of the deficits may be further affected by

a number of factors including declines in
investment returns and changes in interest
rates. which may require the Group to
increase the amount of cash contributions
to these schemes, thereby reducing cash
available to meet the Group's other
obligations or business needs.

The Group has experienced growth

through acquisitions. Anticipated benefits
of acquisitions may not be realised.

The Group has experienced growth through
acquisitions and continues to pursue
acquisitions in order to meet its strategic
objectives. Integrating the operations and
personnel of acquired businesses is a
complex process. The Group may not be
able to integrate the operations of acquired
businesses with its operations rapidly

or without encountering difficulties. The
diversion of the attention of management
to the integration effort and any difficulties
encountered in combining operations could
adversely affect the Group's business. The
failure to manage such growth, while at the
same time maintaining adequate focus on
the existing assets of the Group, could have
a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, future resuits of aperations or
finangial condition.

Addressing this exposure the Group has an
established methodology in place to deliver
the effective integration of acquisitions.

The Group holds a number of regional
aircraft on its balance sheet and has
provided residual value guarantees in
respect of certain aircraft sold.

The Group holds a number of regional
aircraft on its balance sheet. These aircraft
are leased to airline operators. In addition,
the Group has provided residual value
guarantees {(RVGs) in respect of certain
regional aircraft sold.

Values of regional aircraft are impacted by

a wide range of factors including the financial
strength of regional aircraft operators, market
demands for regional aircraft and the impact of
economic factors on aircraft operating costs.

Reductions in the valuations of these aircraft
could result in impairment charges against
the on-balance sheet aircraft or additional
provisions against the guarantees given.

The Group holds insurance cover through the
Financial Risk Insurance Programme (FRIP)
contracted for in 1998 that makes good
shortfalls in actual income against estimated
future income used for the valuation of the
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majority of the on-balance sheet aircraft and
a number of the aircraft where RVGs have
been granted.

At the end of 2006, the anticipated income
from the FRIP was £250m on a net present
value basis. This may increase further if
outstanding residual value guarantees are
exercised by the airlines or if there are
further reductions in market lease rates.

In 20086, some FRIP reinsurers asserted
claims that they were entitled either to
terminate, or to be discharged from., liability
under their reinsurance contracts. Having
raised formal arbitration proceedings,
reinsurers subsequently decided, in January
2007, that they would not pursue these
claims, Arbitration proceedings are however
angoing in relation to various other claims
advanced by reinsurers. These claims will
be vigorously defended.

The Group is subject to risk from a failure
to comply with laws and regulations.

The Group’s operations are subject to
numerous domestic and international

laws, regulations and restrictions, and
noncomptiance with these laws, regulations
and restrictions could expose the Group

to fines. penalties, suspension or debarment,
which could have a material adverse effect.

The Group has contracts and operations in
many parts of the world and operates in a
highly regulated environment. The Group is
subject to numerous UK, US and other laws
and regulations, including, without limitation,
regulations relating to import-export controls,
money-laundering, false accounting, anti-
bribery and anti-boycott provisions. From time
to time, the Group is subject to government
investigations relating to its operations.

Failure by the Group or its sales
representatives, marketing advisers or
others acting on its behalf to comply with
these laws and regulations could result
in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities
and couid result in significant fines

and penalties and could result in the
suspension or debarment of the Group
from government contracts for some
period of time or suspension of the
Group’s export privileges.

Addressing this expasure the Group has
mandated policies and procedures to help
ensure that employees act with the highest
ethical standards and comply with relevant
laws and regulations. In particular, all dealing

with sales representatives and marketing
adwisers are governed by detailed compliance
procedures, the application of which is
monitored by a dedicated compliance function.

In 2004 the UK Serious Fraud Office and
Ministry of Defence Police commenced an
investigation into suspected false accounting
and corruption. The investigation is wide
ranging and concerns a number of jurisdictions
and contractual arrangements.

In December 20086, the Serious Fraud Office

discontinued the investigation in so far as it

related to Saudi Arabia. The Group continues
to co-operate fully with the investigation.

The Group is exposed to volatility in currency
exchange rates,

The global nature of the Group's business
means it is exposed te volatility in currency
exchange rates in respect of foreign currency
denominated transactions, the translation

of net assets and the translation of income
statements of foreign subsidiaries and equity
accounted investments. The Group is
exposed to a number of foreign currencies,
the most significant being the US dollar.

In order to protect itself against currency
fluctuations, the Group's policy is to hedge ail
material firm transactional exposures as well
as to manage anticipated economic cash
flow exposures over the medium term. The
Group aims, where possible, to apply hedge
accounting treatment for all derivatives that
hedge material foreign currency exposures.

The Group does not hedge the translation
effect of exchange rate movements on
the income statement or balance sheet
of overseas subsidiaries and equity
accounted investments it regards as long-
term investments. Hedges are, however,
undertaken in respect of investments that
are not considered long-term or core to
the Group.

The Group's gross debt. after the impact
of foreign currency swaps, was 52% (2005
58%) denominated in sterling and 48%
(2005 42%) denominated in US dollars.

Additional risks and uncertainties currently
unknown to the Group, or which the Group

currently deems immaterial, may also have
an adverse effect on the financial condition
or business of the Group.

Further information en how the Group
manages risk through the activities of the
Audit Committee is included on page 48.

www.baesystems.com 33

Risks and uncertainties




S32Jnosay

The principal resources the Group uses to
achieve its strategic objectives are its people,
relationships with customers, intellectual
property and capital. The Group's capital
structure is explained on page 27 of the
financial review and people, relationships
with customers and intellectual property

are discussed below.

People

The Group employs 72,000 people in
its subsidiaries with a further 10,000
employed in joint ventures.

The workforce encompasses a broad range
of skills and experience delivering a full
range of products and services for air, land
and naval forces as well as advanced
electronics, information technology solutions
and customer support services,

The Group aims to get the best from its
employees by treating them with respect,
creating a supportive and diverse workplace
and giving them opportunities for
development. This helps the Group attract and
retain highly talented people who can deliver
the products and services customers need.

Performance Centred Leadership (PCL) is
the Group's performance management and
leadership development framework, founded
on world-class methodologies that focus

on delivering performance through effective
leadership behaviours and competencies.
The process was applied to 600 leaders at
its launch in 2000 and is now deployed to
over 6,000 executives globally across all of
the Group's home markets. It ensures that
the Group's strategic chjectives are realised
through a clear flow-down of objectives and
a strong link between achievement of an
individual's personal objectives and reward.

Further details on the approach to employee
engagement and development are detailed
on pages 35 to 40 in the Corporate
Responsibility section of this report.

Relationship with customers

The Group regards the relationship with

its customers as a key discriminator in a
competitive industry. The Group’s customers
primarily comprise government agencies and
armed forces of countries around the world
together with other defence and aerospace
prime contractors. In many cases these
relationships extend over decades and span
the full product and service lifecycle from the
initial concept definition, through the system
development phase, into production and then
on to support for the system in service.

Throughout this lifecycle the Group engages
extensively with its customers and
undertakes customer satisfaction surveys as
part of its drive for continuous performance
improvement.

Increasingly contracts are being awarded for
the delivery of a capability, rather than just
a product. Refiecting this new approach,
traditional customer relationships are
evolving into long-term partnerships with
governments and their armed forces.

Intellectual property

Intellectual property is created every day, in
every part of the Group, and can take many
forms, not only tangible products but also
‘know how' developed over the years. The
Group protects this inteltectual property,

so that full benefit is retained and returns
made from the investment in research and
devetlopment, and technological innovation
are protected.

The Group files patent applications covering
more than 100 new inventions each year in
support of its global businesses, and has

a total portfolio of patents and patent
applications covering more than 1,500
inventions worldwide.
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BAE Systems recognises its responsibilities to its
shareholders, the people it employs, its customers and
suppliers, the wider community and the environment.

Highlights of our progress and performance
across all areas of our social, ethical and
environmental responsibilities during 2006
are detailed below. Further information
and supporting data can be found in

our Corporate Responsibility Report or

on our website www.baesystems.com.

Strategy and direction

Corporate Responsibility (CR} in BAE Systems
is based on good business practice and
continual improvement. Qur CR framework
has been developed through analysis of
potential risk to our business, key stakeholder
interest and feedback, and the extension

and evaiuation of existing practices.

Over the last four years we have progressed
from communicating existing policies and
practices 1o the use of the external reporting
process and stakeholder feedback so as to
evaluate the effectiveness and subsequent
development of those processes.

A sustainable CR agenda musi be based
upon both the communication and effective
deployment of our policies and practices as
a means of challenging the Group to ensure
we are delivering on our commitment to high
performance and continual improvement,
consistent with Group strategy, which is

to be the premier global defence and
aerospace company.

The implication of this global agenda on
our CR strategy is to broaden the number
of companies against which we benchmark
our performance and to look wider than
local impacts to develop our position on
global issues.

Key development areas for 2007 concern
ethics, safety and environment and their
impact on our reputation. This will include
our response to climate change and a more
formal approach to product stewardship.
The UK defence sector is evolving from
being product orientated to a through-life

capability mode! and this, in conjunction
with our glohal aspirations, will reguire
us to align both culture and capabitities
1o take the Group forward.

Governance of CR

The board of directors has overall
responsibility for the governance of

CR matters within the Group. Specific
responsibility has been assigned 1o the
CR Committee of the Board. All members
of this Committee are non-executive
directors and comprise Peter Weinberg,
Professor Sue Birley, Sir Nigel Rudd and
Phil Carroll.

Reputation is vital to the long-term
sustainability of all companies. The CR
Committee is central to the Board's oversight
of the critical nonfinancial issues that are
fundamental to the Group's reputation.

The Commiittee is responsible for reviewing
and monitoring the processes the Group
uses to manage social, environmental and
ethical risk, as well as supporting the Board
in the approval of strategy and policy in

this area.

The Committee is supported by the Group
Legal Director, Audit Directar, Group HR
Director and Director of Corporate
Responsibility.

Non-financial metrics

The Board recognises its responsibilities

to the Group’s shareholders, employees,
customers and suppliers, the wider community
and the environment. The indicators on page
36 are used by the Board to monitor the
application of mandated policies and
procedures with the objective of meeting

the Group’s responsibilities in these areas.

Commentary on progress against these
indicators is summarised on pages 37 to 39
and a full analysis of the data is included

in our Corporate Responsibility Report.

Monitoring our performance

We manitor our CR performance through
sector benchmarking. In 2006 BAE Systems
maintained its position in both the Bow
Jones Sustainability World Index and the
pan-European Dow Jones STOXX
Sustainability Index.

Our total score for 2006 was 77%, this
being the highest score reached in our
specific industry sector and considerably
higher than the sector average of 47%.

The total score is an average of three
dimension scores (see below).

Economic Dimension 69%

i! PR [HoN
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With the continued growth of our US business
we also monitor our performance within

the Pacific Sustainability Index, which
analyses and ranks the environmental and
sustainability reperting of all the companies
in the aerospace and defence sector listed
on the Fortune Global 500 and Fortune 1000
list. BAE Systems was ranked third of the

18 companies in that sector.

Roberts Environmental Center - Pacific
Sustainability Index

BAE Systems Industry

score average

% score %

Environmental Intent 80 46
Environmenial Reporting 69 31
Ervironmental Perfarmance 19 8
Sacial Intent 89 43
Social Reporting 65 31
Social Performance 41 11
Overall Score 67 32
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Key performance indicators (KPIs)
We use a range of non-financial performance indicators
to measure the Group's performance over time.

2006 2005 2004 2003
Health and safety* (per 100,000 employees)
Major accidents 47 55 61 56
Days lost to work-related injuries 10,204 8,774 9,126 12,658
Total injuries to BAE Systems’ employees 4,788 6,009 7,969 11,181
Environment'?
Energy use (Gwh) 1,742 1,767 1,321 1,279
CO, emissions (million tonnes) 0.57 0.58 0.49 0.4
Waste (‘000 tonnes) 105 57 345 540
Waste recycled (‘000 tonnes) 66 37 67 437
Volatile organic compound emissions (tonnes) 742 610 241 341
Water use (million m?) 40 36 48 72
Ethics
Ethics enquiries 410 367 616 206
Diversity
Gender diversity: Male employees 80% 81% 80% B81%
Female employees 20% 19% 20% 19%
Ethnic diversity: White 87% 88% 92% 92%
Non-white 13% 12% 8% 8%
Age diversity®; under 25 6.6% 6.6% 5.9% 7.5%
26 to 35 18.2% 18.4% 14.7% 16.2%
36 to 49 42.6% 43.3% 40.8% 37.6%
50 to 59 25.9% 25.3% 20.8% 19.0%
60+ 6.7% 6.4% 5.2% 4.6%

1 the increases shown for 2006 reflect the expansion of our business in the US in 2005 to include the former United
Defense and Ship Repair businesses (2006 is the first full reporting year). This particularly affects the safety risk profile
and use of resources, We will be aiming to reduce the impact of each individual business year on year.

2 recalculated to include 2005 acguisitions

3 2003 and 2004 figures do not include data for Saudi Arabia

Employee opinion survey

Pasitive changes {top 4} % Change
favourabie from
Question 2006 2004
I have access to the training | need to be productive in my current position 68 10
| have confidence in the job being done by the senior management of BAE Systems 52 9
I would recommend BAE Systems to others as a good place to wark 68 6
| understand how my job contributes to my Business Unit/Line of business
in achieving its business plan 84 <]
Negative changes (worst 4) % Change
favaurable from
Question 2006 2004
Poor individual performance issues are addressed effectively where [ work 33 -3
| am supported and encouraged to make my own decisions 74 -3
In my team we get regular feedback on how satisfied customers are with the wark we perform 54 2
My immediate manager/team leader lets me know how | am coing on an ongoing basis 56 2
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Workplace

The Group employs 79,000 people in

its wholly owned businesses across five
continents, the majority being based in the
UK and the US, with a significant presence
in Australia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa

and Sweden.

To defiver the products and services our
customers require we need to attract and
retain a highly talented workforce. We do
this with a focus on a high perfermance
culture which, in addition to setting out
goals and objectives, also defines the
behaviours we expect of our employees.

2006 Objectives

In 2006 two workplace-related ohjectives
were set as part of the leadership objectives
for the Group’s senior executives (cther CR-
related teadership objectives are discussed
in context in subseguent sections).

- Reftect gender diversity on leading university
courses in our choice of graduate trainees
through a focused recruitment plan.

- Resolve 75% of employee grievances in
the UK at local level (i.e. drive solutions
to employee issues through effective
local management).

Progress

Diversity

We met our target to recruit at least an
equal proportion of female graduates to that
seeking a career in engineering. Over the
year, 12% of our UK and 20% of our US
engineering graduate recruits were women.

Our Group MR Director, Alastair Imrie, is
our senior Gender Chamgpion with a remit
to raise awareness of potential barriers to
the career progress of women in the Group
and to identify ways to address those
potential barriers.

Recognising that the Group's senior
leadership plays a significant role in
influencing behaviours, a number of our

senior female managers represented the
Group at events such as the International
Women of Excellence and the International
Women's Forum. Junior female employees
also attended these events as participants.
An outcome of this representation was the
initiative to establish a women’s network at
our Submarines site at Barrow in the UK as
a pilot to assess the potential to develop
further network groups elsewhere across
the business.

A workshop was held with senior female
managers from the UK Ministry of Defence to
discuss parriers to gender progression within
the respective organisations and to explore
mutual areas to address.

The Group sponsors science education events
targeted at young women including the UK
2006 Women Into Science and Engineering
{WISE) event for 13-14 year-old girls.

Respect at work

Q7% of employee grievances in the UK
were resolved at a local level during 20086.
Only one complaint required a corporate
level investigation under the Group's Respect
at Work policy. This indicated improved
management and resolution of issues at

a local level. In the UK, we have continued
to work closely with the DTI and AMICUS on
the Dignity At Work partnership. This year
the partnership launched research inlo

the impact of bullying in the workplace and
hosted several high-profile events 1o raise
awareness of this important issue.

Employee recognition

The Group rewards employee excellence
and innovation through the Chairman'’s
Awards Scheme. Over 3,000 nominations
were received for 2006, recognising over
17,000 employees from around the world.
From those. 6 Gold, 54 Silver and over
100 Bronze awards were awarded across
the three categories of Innovation,
Transferring Best Practice, and Enhancing
Customer Performance.

Insyte participated in the Women Into
Science and Engineering (WISE) scheme.
The scheme aims to promote science,
engineering, technology (SET) and
construction as suitable career choices
for girls and women.

Training and development

In the UK employees completed 38,000
e-learning courses {(equating to 24,000
hours of online training time). Many courses
are run in partnership with colleges and
universities. In the US we have invested

in employee development and recent
executive appointments from within our
leadership ranks demonstrate career growth
opportunities. Two new CEO-sponsored
leadership pragrammes were introduced

in 2006 and were delivered to more than
600 executives in the US and UK.

Employee engagement

In 2006, more than 45,000 employees
took part in our hi-annual globat Employee
Opinion Survey (EOS). Overall the results
were encouraging with clear improvement
reported against 2004 performance.

The greatest areas of improvement were

in career development and rewards, trust

in leadership and engagement. The most
negative score related to employee
perceptions as to how ‘poor performers’

are managed. While this reflects the high
standards our employees expect. it is an
issue of concern which the Group's Executive
Committee has committed to improve in
2007 (see table on page 36).

2007 Objectives

The specific CR objectives agreed by the
Board for the Chief Executive and Group's
Executive Committee for 2007 are:

- In each of the home markets, move
towards establishing a workforce reflective
of the national average in terms of gender
mix and ethnic diversity, taking into account
variations by region and industrial sector.

— 85% of employee grievances under the
UK ‘Respect at Work' policy to be resolved
through local discussion without escalation
to the corporate investigation process.

Naval Ships held Learning at Work Days
at our Filton and Govan sites where
employees were given health advice,
learned new skills and were encouraged
to take up new hobbies.

They also launched an Everyday Skills
programme which offers courses on
basle IT, communication, literacy and
numeracy.
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Ethics

We are commitied to meeting the highest
ethical standards in our relationships

with others. We wili not tolerate unethicat
behaviour or attempts to improperly influence
the decisions of customers or suppliers.
Unethical behaviour is wrong, could lead

to loss of business, seriously damage our
reputation and leave the Group and its
employees open to criminal sanction.

2006 Objectives

In 2006 two objectives specifically
relating to ethics were set within the
leadership objectives.

- Meet the standards defined in our internal
assurance statement (for ethical issues,
the minimum acceptable score within
our assurance process is confirmation
of compliance with all applicable laws
and standards).

— Develop, pilot and roll out ethics training
to all employees in the UK and Australia.

Progress

Meeting our standards

The Group has training and awareness
programmes to ensure employees understand
our policies and the standards expected

of them.

We provide training on our anti-bribery
programme to managers from marketing,
commercial, procurement, finance, customer
support and other functions. On completing
the training, employees are required to sign
a statement confirming they will compty with
our policies and will report any issues of
concern. This training is mandatory for all
senior employees and for those employees
involved in dealings with marketing advisers.

Awareness and training

A survey of UK employees undertaken in
2005 showed that although our employees
regard the Group as ethical, awareness of
our ethical standards and helpline was low.
In 2006 we introduced new online training for

all UK employees covering: What is Business
Ethics and Why is it Important to Me?.

Why Following the Law is not Enough, and
Examples of Ethics in the Workplace.

Employees must complete a test at the

end of the course to measure understanding
of the issues raised during the training.

A DVD and classroom training package

was used for employees who did not have
ready access to a computer. Both training
packages were introduced and endeorsed

by our Chief Executive.

By the end of 2006 80% of UK employees
had successfully completed the training.
Plans are in place to ensure the remaining
20% complete the training early in 2007. We
missed our target to also train ali employees
in Australia during 2006 but intend to roll out
the training to all employees in Australia.
Saudi Arabia, South Africa and Sweden
during 2007.

In the US, all employees completed refresher
training on our workplace harassment, ethics
policies, and ethical decision making. All
employees receive annual training on ethics-
retated topics. This year all employees
viewed a new ethics video called Playing With
Fire: Abuse and Intimidation in the Workplace.

We held our annual conference for

BAE Systems Ethics Officers in Baltimeore,
tJS. More than 50 participants from the US,
the UK and Sweden were joined by speakers
from the US Department of Defense and the
Ethics Resource Center. Experts led training
sessions on ethics investigations and
regulations on harassment and viclence

In the workplace.

During 2006 we also held ethics training

for the Board and Executive Committee,
debating and agreeing the role of leadership
in ensuring high ethical standards throughout
the Group.

Monitoring and compliance
In 20086, 62 enquiries were made to our UK
ethics helpline and worldwide e-mail address.

These covered a variety of topics, but
primarily concerned workplace issues and
acceptable IT Use policy. In the US, there
were 348 formal enquiries (including 186
requiring formal investigation) to ethics
officers via our belpline, post, e-mail or
visits to the ethics office.

50 employees were dismissed for reasons
relating to unethical behaviour during 2006.
Reasons for dismissal included misuse of
company IT, fraud and threatening behaviour.

Working with others

In July 2006 BAE Systems and other UK
defence companies established the UK
Defence Industry Anti-corruption Forum,

to share geod practice on ethics and
anti-corruption programmes. Members of
the Forum met twice in 2006 and heard fram
a range of speakers including the Institute
of Business Ethics, ICC {(UK), Transparency
International (UK) and law firms, Linklaters
and Bryan Cave LLP.

In the US we are a signatory to the Defense
Industry initiative on Ethics and Business
Conduct, and a sponsoring partner of the
Ethics and Compliance Officers Association.

2007 Objectives

The specific CR objectives agreed by the
Board for the Chief Executive and Group's
Executive Committee for 2007 are:

- Initial ethics awareness training to be
completed by new employees within one
month of joining the Group.

— Initial ethics awareness training to be
implemented for all employees within three
months of the completion date of any
acquisition.

— A survey to be undertaken to evaluate
effectiveness of the 2006 UK Ethics
training package with implementation
of agreed corrective actions.

Qur ethical principles are:

Accountability; We are personally answerable for our conduct and actions

Honesty: There is no substitute for the truth

Integrity: We say what we do, we do what we say

Openness: When guestions are asked, we will be frank and straightforward in our answers

Respect: We value and treat each individual with dignity and thoughtfulness
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Safety, health and environment

The health and safety of our employees.
contractors and engagement with the
communities around our facilities is of
primary importance (o BAE Systems.

We recognise the risks associated with the
variety of operations we conduct and aim to
minimise these as far as possible. All sites
are required to comply with our safety, health
and environment policy and to demonstrate
continual improvement in performance
though the setting of targets. Performance
is reviewed through our business assurance
processes and overseen by the Executive
Committee and the CR Committee on behalf
of the board of directors.

Our environment policy and framework

is focused on preventing or controlling
emnvironmental impacts and minimising waste
{or consumption when related to energy and
water). All our major manufacturing sites are
certified to the international environmental
management standard 1SO 14001.

2006 Objectives

We recognise the role ot leadership in
driving high standards of safety, health and
environment performance and, accordingly,
a number of leadership objectives in 2006
related to this area.

- Meet our safety, health and environment
targets (performance improvement criteria
appropriate to risk established for each
individual business).

- Exceed the safety performance
commitments made to the UK Health
and Safety Executive {HSE).

Progress

Targets were set against individual business
issues and all businesses included safety,
health and environment in their quarierly
husiness reviews. The overall performance
on safety reflects the good performance
against those targets.

Our Customer Solutions & Support
business group this year achieved the
international health and safety standard
OHSAS 18001 for all its UK businesses.
New safety, health and environment (SHE}
‘passport’ training was introduced for
all employees, as well as SHE training
specifically for senior executives, A
distance learning health and safety
course was also put in place for our
Saudi employees.

Compared with 2005 both the overall
number of accidents and the number of
serious accidents decreased in 2006.

The majority of our businesses continue to
demonstrate improvements (i.e. reductions)
in the days lost to work-related injuries
indicating both a reduction in the number
of accidents and length of time for
rehabilitation hack into the workplace. The
increase indicated in the table on page 36
reflects the inclusion of a full year of data for
our US Ship Repair business and does not
therefore indicate a significant detericration.

The commitments made as part of the UK
government's ‘Revitalising Health & Safety’
initiative have been exceeded; we have
already met targets for performance.

Partnership with the UK HSE

We continued our partnership project with the
UK HSE and other large UK manufacturers.
The project, named Large Organisation
Partnership Pilot (LOPPs), aims to raise
safety standards in UK manufacturing sites.

tn 2006 a joint team of BAE Systems’
managers, trade union safety representatives
and the HSE developed key performance
indicators {KPls) in six areas: work at height;
control of contractors; hand-arm vibration;
work in confined spaces: slips and trips;

and manual handling.

The KPIs are used by our businesses to
menitor and improve performance through
an audit programme. Eight of our UK sites
were audited against the relevant topic
standard during 2006. Only one audit failed.
Improvement actions were put in place and
a follow-up audit confirmed that corrective
actions had been implemented.

We are communicating the output of these
audits to all UK businesses through news
bulletins, office and workshop talks and a
training DVD. Employees can also access the
information on our LOPPs website. We will
continue 1o use the audit programme as part
of our drive for high performance across all
areas of safety. health and environment.

Electronics & Integrated Systems is
working with the US Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) to develop
hydrogen fuel cell technology for city
buses, Fuel cells generate electricity
cleanly and quietly. like a battery.
Fuelled by hydrogen, their only by-
products are water and heat, so they
do not contribute to climate change.

Environment

The environment data shown on page 36
reflects the numerous changes to our
business and activity over the last four
years. We moniior trends at an individual
site level and continue to see reductions
in both water and energy consumption.

The overall data now includes the former
United Defense businesses and these
account for the increases in consumption.
Whilst the use of natural resources is driven
by the growth of our business we remain
committed to delivering ongoing operational
efficiencies and improvements in this area.
Further breakdown and explanation of our
envirpnmental data for our main operating
regions are provided in our full CR Report.

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
{WEEE) Directive

The WEEE Directive became effective in
January 2007 requiring producers of certain
electronic equipment to account for end of
life disposal. During 2006 we conducted
reviews 1o assess the impact of this
Directive and put in place measures to
monitor and manage the issue going forward.

2007 Objectives

The specific CR objectives agreed by the
Board for the Chief Executive and Group's
Executive Commitiee for 2007 are:

— To achieve an improved position relative
to 20086.

- Establish, where practical, appropriate
industry benchmarks for each line of
business to monitor performance and
estahlish targets to move towards best
in class.

— Group performance (lost days metric) to
be better than relevant industry average.

— Continue to achieve an improvement
year on year in injuries/tost working time.
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Education and community

Education, specifically in the fields of science
and engineering, is extremely important to
the future sustainability of our business.

The number of students enrolling in
engineering and technology courses has
fallen considerably in recent years. We are
concerned that in the future there will be tco
few candidates with the skills our business,
and the engineering sector in general, needs.
We therefore invest worldwide in a range of
proegrammes which support and encourage
young people into science and engineering.

We also have a structured programme

for support to charities and encourage our
employees to support their local communities
through fundraising and volunteering,

Education

In Australia, Saudi Arabia, the UK and
the US we run an education programme
to encourage young people at all stages
of their education to take an interest in
science and technology.

United Kingdom

Over 350 employees (known as ambassadors)
visit schools to help with engineering projects
and to give careers advice.

Our schools road show is designed to
encourage children to think about a career

in engineering before making subject choices
at 14. The 20086 road show visited 100
schools, involving 10,000 children aged 9

to 13 in performances and workshops. In
2006 our education programme was awarded
a Business in the Community ‘Big Tick'
Award and was a finalist in the Opportunity
Now Awards.

We participated in Enterprise Week 2006
delivering a schools road show performance
at an Enterprise in Education conference.

We have strategic partnerships with
20 colleges and universities to support
research and improve graduate recruitment.

BAE Systems has made a commitment to
be one of the ‘corporate champions' behind
the British Council's UK India Education &
Research Initiative. The Initiative, which was
launched last year by the Prime Minister,

is designed to strengthen education and
business links between the UK and India.
As part of our commitment we will be
supporting links between schools in Brough
in the UK with Bangalore in India, an
exchange of best practice in vocational
training and an innovative research project
on Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles linking
Leicester University with the Indian Institute
of Science at Bangalore.

United States

We sponsor a number of programmes to
support science and technology across
the US. Our scholarships to colleges and
universities have enabled hundreds of
students to take technical courses.

In 2006 this support included: providing
project challenges and mentors to Penn
State’s Learning Factory — an innovative and
nationally recognised programme that has
multi-disciplinary student teams working on
industry-sponsored projects; sponsorship
of Science and Technology Way at Maryland
Day — an open house showcase held at the
University of Maryland; and the sponsorship
of the annual Rube Goldberg Machine
Contest held at Purdue University.

Saudi Arabia

BAE Systems’ long association with
academia from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
has continued with the funding of research
carried out by Saudi lecturers in the UK.

Following completion of the fouryear

Saudi government campaign to establish
national vocational skill standards, backed
by BAE Systems, the Group sponsored a
conference on the next round of challenges
facing those in the vocational training
establishment in meeting the needs of

the Saudi tabour market.

The Saudi-British sports co-operation

programme, which began in 1987, had

its most active year to date in 2008. This
AE Systems managed project is geared to

the raising of standards and the introduction

of new sports, and takes as a main aim

the education of administrators, medical

practitioners, coaches and others who will

stimulate the development of the sector.

Australia

In Australia, BAE Systems supports a wide
range of school and university programmes,
offering sponsorship and mentoring
programmes, with the aim of inspiring young
people to become involved in engineering.
These projects included sponsorship of
South Australia’s Engineering Week and
Super Science Sunday, involvement with
the Doxa Youth Foundation mentoring
programme; and the support for the
Young Achievement Australia Business
Skills Programme.

Community

Employee involvement

In the 18 months to September 2006, our
global employee fundraising scheme, Charity
Challenge, raised £8m. This was donated
primarily to the Stroke Association in the UK,
the National Heart Foundation in Australia
and The American Cancer Society in the

US. Over the same period, employees
volunteered 10,500 days of their own time.
Qur partner charities for the next 18 month
campaign will be Macmitlan Cancer Support
in the UK, the Australian Cancer Council

and the Alzheimer's Association in the US.

Company giving

In 2006 our totat global community
investment was £8,223,160. This figure
includes cash and in-kind donations as
well as our direct support for education.

We are a member of the London
Benchmarking Group (LBG) and use their
agreed methodology to evaluate our annual
community contributions.

Many remote communities in the
Peruvian Amazon have no access to
medical services. Five years ago. Naval
Ships employees converted a former
Royal Navy boat into the Amazon Hope,
a floating hospital, which extended a
liteline 1o these communities. In 20086,
Submarines employees helped create

a sister medical vessel for the region.

Platform Solutions is helping to prepare
young people for life after school by
partnering with the Medway Education
Business Partnership (MEBP), a charity
working to improve the links between
schools and businesses. Our employees
donate money and time and this year
11 employees mentored students

from schools.
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Chairman

1. Dick Oiver FREng **

Appointed Chairman on 1 July 2004.

A civil engineer, Dick Olver joined BP

in 1973 where he held a variety of senior
positions culminating in his appointment to
the board of BP p.l.c. as CEQ of Exploraticn
and Production in 1998. He was subsequently
appointed deputy group chief executive

of BP in 2003, stepping down from that
position when he assumed the chairmanship
of BAE Systems. Dick Olver chairs the
Board's Neminations Committee and the
Non-Executive Directors’ Fees Committee.
He is a non-executive director of Reuters
Group plc. a Fellow of the Royal Academy

of Engineering and a member of the Royal
Academy and the Trilateral Commission.
Appointed: 2004 Age: 60

1 member of the Audit Committee
2 member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee
3 member of the Nominations Committee
4 member of the Non-Executive Directors’
Fees Committee
5 member of the Remuneration Commitiee

Executive directors

2. Mike Turner CBE ¢

Chief Executive

Appointed Chief Executive in 2002, having
been a Chief Operating Officer since 1999,
He is a non-executive director of Lazard
Limited and a former non-executive director
of Babcock International Group Plc and The
Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation
Company (P&0).

Appointed: 1994 Age: 58

3. Chris Geoghegan

Group Executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 2002 as a Chief
Operating Officer he is now Group Executive
Director responsible for Businesses. He was
formerly responsible for the Group’s Airbus
operations and, in 2000, was appointed
Group Managing Director of the Avionics
business. He is President of the Society

of British Aerospace Companies.
Appointed: 2002 Age: 52

4, Walt Havenstein *

Chief Operating Officer, US

Appointed te the Board on 2 january 2007,
he is President and CEQ of BAE Systems,
Inc. He was previously President of the
Company's US-based Etectronics & Integrated
Solutions business. He was President of the
Sanders defence electronics business prior
to it being acquired by the Company from
Lockheed Martin in 2001. A graduate of

the US Naval Academy, he served 12 years
in the US Marine Corps.

Appointed: 2007 Age: 57

5. lan King

Chief Operating Officer, UK and Rest of World
Appointed to the Board on 1 January 2007,
he was previously Group Managing Director
of the Company’s CS&S business and, pricr
to that, Group Strategy and Planning Director.
Immediately prior to the BAe/MES merger
he was Chief Executive of Alenia Marconi
Systems, having previously served as
Finance Director of Marconi Electronic
Systems and of Marconi Defence Systems.
He is a non-executive director of Rotork ple.
Appointed: 2007 Age: 50

6. Steve Mogford

Group Executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 2000 as a Chief
Operating Officer he is now Group Executive
Director responsible for leading the
Company's drive for the restructuring of the
Naval Ships and Submarines industry in line
with the Defence Industrial Strategy. He has
held a number of senior positions within the
Group. He is a non-executive director of
Carillion plc.

Appointed: 2000 Age: 50

7. George Rose

Group Finance Director

Appointed Group Finance Director in 1998,
Prior to joining the Company in 1992, he held
senior positions in the Rover Group and Leyland
DAF. He is a nonexecutive director of Saaty AB
and National Grid Transco plc, and a member
of the Financial Reporting Review Panel.
Appointed: 1998 Age: 54
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Non-executive directors

8. Professor Sue Birley >

Formerly Professor of Entrepreneurship

at Imperial College, University of London,

and has held a number of academic posts

at INSEAD, London Business School and
Cranfield Institute of Technology. She was
formerly a non-executive director of National
Westminster Bank plc. Professor Birley chairs
the Board's Remuneration Committee.
Appointed: 2000 Age: 63

9. Phil Carroll 22

Appointed to the Board in 2005, Phii Carroli
is a former chairman and chief executive

of Fluor Corporation and a former president
and chief executive of Shell Qil Company Inc,
He was appointed by the US Department

of Defense in 2003 to serve as the first
Senior Adviser to the tragi Ministry of Qil.
He is a former non-executive director of
Scottish Power plc.

Appointed: 2005 Age: 69

10. Dr Ulrich Cartellieri *

Ulrich Cartellieri served as a member

of the Managing and subsequently the
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Bank AG
for over 20 years until 2004, He was also
a member of the International Advisory
Committee of the Federal Reserve Bank

of New York. He is currently a director of
Robert Bosch GmbH and is a past chairman
of Karstadt AG and a past deputy chairman
of Siemens AG.

Appointed: 1999 Age: 69

11. Michael Hartnall 1

Formerly finance director of Rexam plc,
prior to which he held senior positions
with a number of manufacturing companies.
He is alsc a non-executive director of
Lonmin plc and a former non-executive
director of Elementis plc. Michael Hartnall
chairs the Board's Audit Committee.

He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.
Appointed: 2003 Age: 64

12. Sir Peter Mason KBE 7

Norn-executive chairman of Thames Water
and a non-executive director of Acergy S.A.
Formerly chief executive of AMEC plc,
executive director of BICC plc, chairman

and chief executive of Balfour Beatty Limited
and chief executive of Norwest Holst Group
PLC. Sir Peter Mason has been nominated
the Board's Senior Independent Directar,
Appointed: 2003 Age: 60

13. Roberto Quarta *°

Appointed to the Board in 2005, Roberto
Quarta is a partner in the private equity
firm Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, in connection
with which he serves as chairman of
Rexel SA and ltaltel. He was previously
chairman and chief executive of BBA Group,
an executive director of BTR plc and a
non-executive director of PowerGen plc
and Equant NV,

Appointed: 2005 Age: 57

14. Sir Nigel Rudd *°

Appointed to the Board on 10 September
2006. Currently chairman of Atliance Boots
Group PLC and Pendragon pi¢ and deputy
chairman of Barclays PLC. Until recently,
he was chairman of Pilkington plc.

He also holds a number of other public
appointments including chairman of the
CBl's Boardroom Issues Group. He is

a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.
Appointed: 2006 Age: 60

15. Peter Weinberg **°

Appointed to the Board in 2005, Peter
Weinberg is a partner at Peretta Weinberg
Partners, a financial services firm. He was
previously chief executive officer of Goldman
Sachs International and co-head of the
Partnership Committee, and prior to that
was ¢o-head of the Global Investment
Banking Division. He joined Goldman Sachs
in 1988 and became a partner in 1992,
Peter Weinberg chairs the Board's Corporate
Responsibility Committee.

Appointed: 2005 Age: 49

Each of the eight non-executive directors
listed above is considered to be independent
for the purposes of the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance.

Company Secretary
David Parkes

13 14 15

www.Daesysiems.com 43

Board of directors




o
=]
=
h-l
[=]
=
Y]
=
1
e
<
[}
=
=
o
=1
[x]
&

Our governance framework

As Chairman my principal duty

is to ensure that BAE Systems

is headed by an effective board
that is accountable to shareholders
for the Company’s performance.

Dick Qlver
Chairman

In this section of the Annual Report, | and my
fellow directors report on how we discharge
our duties, both individually and collectively,
for the good governance of the Company.

I will begin by drawing together some of the
highlights and important themes of the work
undertaken by the Board in the last year.

In 2006 we continued to push forward

in developing the work that the Board
undertakes and one of our priorities for the
year was senior management succession
planning. This is a fundamental task for

all large company boards and one that is
widely seen as being critical to the long-term
success of a company. Last year | reported
to shareholders that we had reviewed our
succession planning tools and work had
been undertaken to understand the “critical
competencies’ that we require in our senior
executives. From this work we developed

an externally facilitated programme for 50
of our most senior executives. The results
from this were presented to the Nominations
Committee, together with information

from other executive performance review
processes. This gave the committee the
information it required to make informed
decisions about the overall strength of our
management resource, the depth of talent
available against the key management
positions and to make recommendations on
individual appointments. This was of great
assistance in agreeing the appointment of
two new executive directors.

During 2006 the Nominations Committee
agreed that the Board would benefit from the
knowledge and experience of an additional
non-executive director with large UK company
experience. | am therefore very pleased that
we were able to appoint Sir Nigel Rudd to
the Board in September. He brings a wealth
of industrial management and boardroom
experience which complement the skill

and knowledge that our other non-executives
bring to the Board. Following his appaintment,
there are eight non-executive directors
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(excluding myself) and six executive directors
lon the Board.

he Board is responsible for setting goals and
objectives for the Company and monitoring
nerformance against these. | reported last

ear on the fermation of the Centre for
Performance Excellence (CfPE), a small
strategic team reporting to the Chief Executive
and helping to drive performance improvement
across the Company. The suite of performance
metrics devetoped by the CfPE was used to
inform the Board about performance during
the year and we are encouraged by the
progress made in this area.

It is important that we have clear alignment
between executive pay and the Company’s
performance during the year. To help
ensure that we achieve this alignment the
Remuneration Committee and | have been
working with the Chief Executive on refining
the process we use for setting and measuring
performance against the non-financial
measures used to determine the level

of annual bonus payable to the executive
directors. These nonfinancial measures
account for 25% of the maximum bonus.

We have just completed our third formal
performance evaluation as required by the
Combined Code - all of which have been
facilitated externally. As Chairman, | find

the evaluation process a very powerful tool

in helping me do my job of overseeing the
development of the Board and looking at how
we can do things better. | meet with directors
on & one-to-one basis and use feedback from
the evaluation to inferm them of their own
performance and to discuss any areas for
improvement. Similarly, each year | receive
feedback from our Senicr Independent
Director, Sir Peter Mason, on my own
performance &s Chairman.

One of the objectives we set ourselves
following last year's evaluation was to
conduct in-depth succession planning as
well as developing senior leadership bench
strength. As reported, | think we have made
great strides in this area. We also wanted
10 broaden the scope of director training and
development and in 2006 we focused on
long-term contract accounting and aiso the
cultural and political backgreund 1o certain
overseas markets, Finally, in line with our
commitment to provide ethics training to

all employees, the whole board participated
in an gthics awareness session.

Last year we agreed that we should refine
how the Board helps to develop and agree

Board performance evaluation - changes for 2006

2006 Achievements

- Conducted indepth succession planning
and reviewed bench strength among senior
management leading to the appointment
of two new executive directors.

- Broadened the scope of director
development to include ethics and
long-term contract accounting training.

- Continued the Board's involvement in
strategy development and increased
focus on longerterm strategic challenges
and opportunities.

Looking ahead in 2007

— Continue the work started in 2006 on
succession planning, with a focus on
the support and development of the next
generation of senior executives and also
the identification and enhancement of
the Group's management bench strength.

- Develop further the work the Board has
initiated on financial performance
monitoring, and looking at project and
programme KPIs in more detail.

— Build on current nonfinancial performance
monitoring, including the Corporate
Responsibility Committee’s focus on
corporate reputation issues.

- Provide additional opportunities for non-
executive directors to meet to discuss issues
independently and with the Chief Executive.

the Company’s strategy. We have further
evolved the process during the year and

| believe we have a sound basis for the
development of Group strategy that is
facilitated by a central team. draws on the
knowledge of senior management across the
Company and is subject to robust analysis
and challenge by the Board. A sound
understanding of our capabilities, our markets
and the dynamics of these markets is the
essential bedrock on which the Board can
make decisions — time taken in this work
pays dividends when important strategic
decisions need to be taken.

Involvement in the development of strategy and
the prosecution of strategy through merger and
acquisition activity is the high tempao. and for
many the most interesting, part of a board’s
work. However, it is important that a balance
is matntained between this work and the
equally important role a board has in
overseeing the effectiveness of controls

and ensuring that risks to the business are
understood and managed. This work has

a lower tempo but @ more regular beat. The
Board and its committees have an annual
programme of work dealing with supervisory
matters. | recognise that it is my job to ensure
we get the balance right between the various
elements that a board needs to cover.

Last year Sir Christopher Hogg, in his capacity
as Chairman of the Financia! Reporting
Council {the body charged with overseeing
the UK's Combined Code on Corporate
Governance), met with a large number of UK

company chairmen, myself included. He was
interested to hear our views on corporate
governance matters and the Combined Code
in particular, | welcomed this opportunity and
agreed with the overall findings as reported by
Sir Christopher, which included the following:

“...Chairs were adamant that the Code had
not been too detrimental to their Boards’
focus on strategy. It had increased the
amount of time required from non-executive
directors, but it had simply raised the bar
of their job specification...”

| agree wholeheartedly with this and
recognise the challenge in ensuring the
BAE Systems Board meets the demanding
performance reguirements set by
shareholders and ourselves. | believe
that the bar has been raised for all listed
company boards and that we must be
diligent in ensuring that we measure up to
the governance obligations and expectations
of our shareholders and other stakeholders.
3
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Dick Olver
Chairman

21 February 2007
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Applying the Principles of the Combined
Code on Corporate Governance

The Board has structured its activities so
as to incorporate the main and supporting
principles in the UK's Combined Code,
recognising these 1o be a sound statement
on accepted good practice for a company
such as BAE Systems. The core activities
of the Beard and its committees are
documented and planned on an annual basis
forming the basic structure within which the
Board operates. The directors are required
to provide entrepreneurial leadership for the
Company relying on the business skills and
judgement that each director possesses.
The governance structure recognises this
essential human element and the role of
the Chairman in ensuring that decisions are
made by the directors within a framework
of prudent and effective controls.

The Board has adopted a document,

the Board Charter, which states certain
principles to guide the activities of the
Board and details of the roles of the
Chairman, Chief Executive and the Senior
Independent Director. The Charter also
contains a statement of the matters
reserved for the Board and the terms

of reference of the Board's committees.
The governance principles reflect the main
and supporting principles contained in the
Combined Code and cover the following:

— Strategy - reviewing and agreeing strategy.

— Performance - monitoring the performance
of the Group and evaluating the Board's
performance.

- Standards and Values — setting values and
standards to guide the affairs of the Group.

— Oversight - ensuring that an effective
system of internal controls is in place,
that the Board receives timely and accurate
information on the performance of the
Group and that the Board’s authority is
properly delegated where necessary.

- People - ensuring that appointments to the
Board are managed effectively and that the
Group has the necessary depth and guality
of management resource.

A copy of the Board Charter can be found on
the Company’s website, or alternatively, can
be obtained from the Company Secretary,

Compliance with the Provisions of the
Combined Code

Compliance statement

The Board was compliant with the
provisions of the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance throughout 2006
and up to the date of this report.

The Beard

The Board comprises a non-executive
chairman, eight non-executive directors
and six executive directors. In addition to
his appointment as Chairman, Dick Olver
is also a non-executive director of Reuters
Group plc. Up until 30 September 2006
he was also a non-executive director and
deputy chairman of TNK-BP

Two non-executive directors will be retiring

in 2007. Ulrich Cartellieri will be retiring
from the Board on 26 September and

Sue Birley will be retiring immediately after
the Company’s Annual General Meeting on

9 May 2007. The Nominations Committee
has initiated a search for suitable candidates
with a view to ensuring that the composition
of the Board continues to comprise eight
non-executive directors.

The Board considers all of the non-executive
directors, with the exception of the Chairman,
{0 be independent for the purposes of the
Combined Code. Each of these directors

has been identified on pages 42 to 43

of this report.

Peter Weinberg was appeinted to the Board
in 2005 and at the time was a senior director
of Goldman Sachs Inc., an investment bank
that provides services 1o BAE Systems.

The attendance by individual directors at meetings of the Board and its committees in 2006

was as follows:

The Beard addressed the issue of his
independence prior to his appointment in
light of provision A.3.1 of the Combined
Code concerning the possible existence of

a ‘'material business relationship’ between
the director and the company or between the
company and a party with which the director is
a major shareholder, senior employee, partner
or director. The Nominations Committee and
the Board have reviewed Mr Weinberg's
independence and continue to believe that
he is independent for the purposes of the
Combined Code, notwithstanding the past
relationship with Goldman Sachs. The
reasens for reaching this conclusion remain
as previcusly stated, that is:

— Goldman Sachs is a large organisation
with many clients. BAE Systems is
therefore just one of many clients it has
worldwide and the fees earned from its
relationship with the Company represented
a very smail part of its total revenues.

As a consequence, the Board believes

that the relationship between the Company
and Goldman Sachs does not represent

‘a material business relationship’.

~ Prior to his appointment to the Board
Mr Weinberg had had no involvement with
BAE Systems and none of the executive
directors or the Chairman had had any
business dealings with him.

Mr Weinberg ceased to be associated with
Goldman Sachs in 2006.

In 2006 the Board was scheduled to meet
seven times and in addition spent one day
reviewing strategy. Additional Board meetings

Corporate NonExecutive
Audit Responsibility Nominations Remuneration Directors’ Fees
Director Board Committee Comrmittee Commitiee Committee Committee
Prof S Birley 8({8) 3(3) - 7{7) -
Mr P Carrofl 8(8) 3(3) 6 (6) - -
Dr U Cartellieri 8 (8) 5 (5) - - - -1
Mr M J Hartnall 8 (8) 5 (5) - - - -
Mr C ¥V Geoghegan 8 (8) - - - -
Mr M Lester 8 (8) - - - 1(1)
Sir Peter Mason 8 (8) 5(5) - 6 (6) - -
Mr S L Mogford 8(8) - - - -
Mr R L Qlver 8(8) - 6 (6) - 1(1)
Rt Hon M Portillo! 3(3) 1(1) - - - -
Mr R Quarta 8 (8) 0y - - 7(7) -
Mr M H Ronald 8 (8) - - - 1{1)
Mr G W Rose 8 (8) - - - -
Sir Nigel Rudd?® 1(2) 0(1) - o) -
Mr M J Turner 8 (8) - - - 1{1)
Mr P Weinberg 8 (8) 3 (3} - 6 (7} -

Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meetings that coukt have been attended.

1 retired from the Beard on 4 May 2006
2 appointed to the Board on 10 September 2006

3 in attendance at four additional meetings when nct a member of the Committee
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are called as required and in total the
Board met eight times in 2006. For 2007
eight meetings have been scheduled.

The Board has appointed Sir Peter Mason
a5 the Senior Independent Director.

The Company's Articles of Association
require that all new directors seek re-election
to the Board at the following Annual General
Meeting (AGM). In addition, all directors are
required to stand down and seek re-election
to the Board at least once every three years.

The Board has set out in the Notice of
Annual General Meeting (enclosed with
this report) their reasens for supporting
the re-election of those directars seeking
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Internal Control

The Board has conducted a review of

the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and
risk management systems, in accordance
with the Turnbull guidance.

BAE Systems has developed a system
of internal control. which has been in
place throughout 2006 and to the date of
this report, that encompasses, amongst
other things, the policies, processes and
behaviours that, taken together, seek to:

- facilitate the effective and efficient
operation of the Company by enabling
it to respond appropriately to significant
operational, financial, compliance and
other risks that it faces in carrying out
its business;

— assist in ensuring that internal and
external reporting is accurate and timely
and based on the maintenance of proper
records supported by robust information
gathering processes; and

— assist in ensuring that the Company
complies with applicable laws and
regulations at all times and also internal
policies in respect of the standards
of behaviour and conduct mandated
by the Board.

Reporting within the Company is structured
50 that key issues are escalated through the
management team ultimately to the Board
if appropriate. The Operational Framework
provides a commen framework across

the Company for operational and financial
controls. The business processes detailed
within the Operational Framework draw on
global best practice and their application is
mandated across the organisation. Lifecycle
Management (LCM) is such a process and
promotes the application of best practice
programme execution and facilitates
continuous improvement across the Group.
It considers the whole life of projects

from inception to delivery into service

and eventual disposal, and its application
is critical to our capability to deliver these
projects to schedule and cost.

Further key processes are Integrated
Business Planning (IBP). Quarterly Business
Reviews (QBR) and Performance Centred
Leadership (PCL). The IBF approved annually
by the Board, results in an agreed long-term
strategy for each business group, together
with detailed nearterm budgets. The QBRs,
chaired by the Chief Gperating Officers,
evaluate progress against the IBP and
business performance against objectives,
measures and milestones. PCL drives
husiness success by linking individual goals
with the wider goals of the organisation,
enabling employees to understand how their
own success contributes to the success

of the whole business.

Whilst the guality of the control processes
is fundamental to the overall control
environment, the consistent application
of these processes is equally important.
The consistent application of world-class
control processes will remain one of
management’s prime objectives and,
likewise, the monitoring of performance
in this area will continue to be a key
responsibility for the Audit Committee
and the Board.

The Company is committed to the protection
of its assets, which include human, property
and financial resources. through an effective
risk management process. underpinned,
where appropriate, by insurance.

The Internal Audit team independently reviews
the risk identification procedures and control
processes implemented by management.

It provides objective assurance as to the
operation and validity of the systems of
internal control through a programme of
cyclical reviews, making recommendations
for business and control improvements

as required.

The Board has delegated to the Audit
Committee responsibility for reviewing in
detail the effectiveness of the Company's
system of internal controls. Having
undertaken such reviews, the Committee
reports to the Board on its findings so
that the Board as a whole can take a view
on this matter. In order to assist the Audit
Committee and the Board in this review, the
Company has developed the Operational
Assurance Statement (OAS) process. This
has been subject to regular review over

a number of years. which has resuited in
a number of refinements being made.

The OAS requires that each part of the
business completes a formal review of

its compliance against the Operational
Framework, including operational and
financial controls and risk management
processes. The review is signed off by the
managing director of every line of business
and relevant functional directors. The OAS
is completed every half year and includes
a formal assessment of business risk.

The overall responsibility for the system

of internal control within BAE Systems

rests with the directors of the Company.
Responsibility for establishing and operating
detailed control procedures lies with the
managing director of each operating businegss.

In line with any system of internal

control, the policies and processes that
are mandated in the Operational Framework
are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The responsihility for internal control
procedures with joint ventures and other
collaborations rests, on the whale, with the
senior management of those operations. The
Company monitors its investments and exerts
influence through Beard representation.

Going Concern

After making due enquiries. the directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue
operational existence for the foreseeable
future. For this reason they continue to
adopt the going concern hasis in preparing
the accounts.

Relations with shareholders

The Company has a well developed investor
relations programme managed by the Chief
Executive and Finance Director. In addition,
the Chairman is in regular contact with
major shareholders and looks to keep
them informed of progress on corporate
governance, In order to assist in developing
an understanding of the views of major
shareholders, the Company commissions
each year a survey of investors undertaken
by external consultants. The results of

the survey are presented to the Board.

Corporate governance

The Company maintains a comprehensive
Investor Relations wehsite that provides,
amongst other things, information on
investing in BAE Systems and copies of
the presentation materials used for key
shareholder presentations. This can be
accessed via the Company’s website,
www.baesystems.com.

The AGM provides all shareholders with the
opportunity to develop their understanding
of the Company and ask questions on the
matters put to the meeting including this
report and accounts. All shareholders are
entitled to vote on the resolutions put

to the AGM and, to ensure that all votes
are counted, the Company’s Articles of
Association requires that a poll is taken on
all the resolutions in the Notice of Meeting.
The results of the votes on the resolutions
will be published on the Company's website.
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Audit Committee Report

Michael Hartnalt
Audit Committee
Chairrman

Members:

Michael Hartnall (Chairman)
Dr Ulrich Cartellieri

Sir Peter Mason

Roherto Quarta, a non-executive director.
attends all meetings of the Committee.,
However, he is not a member of the
Committee as the provisicns of the
Company’s Articles of Association reguire
that a majority of the members of all Board
committees are British nationals. This
requirement would not be met if Mr Quarta
and Dr Cartellieri, both non-UK nationals,
were members. Michael Portillo was a
member of the Committee from the start
of the year until his retirement from the
Board on 4 May 20086,

Responsibilities

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's flnancial reporting, internal
control policies and procedures for the
identification, assessment and reporting
of risk.

- Monitoring the role and effectiveness
of the Internal Audit function including
approving the appointment or removal
of the Head of Internal Audit.

- Considering and making
recommendations to the Board on
the appointment of the Auditors.

- Keeping the relationship with the
Auditors under review, including the
terms of their engagement and fees,
their independence and their expertise,
resources and quallfications.

~ Monitoring the integrity of the
Company's financial statements.

- Reviewing significant financial
reporting issues and judgements.

The full terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be found on the Company’s
website or can be obtained from the
Company Secretary.

Governance

The Board has established an Audit
Committee the terms of reference of

which comply with the requirements of the
Combined Code. The Committee is chaired
by Michael Hartnall who is a chartered
accountant and has recent experience of
serving as a finance director of a major UK
listed company. All members of the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive
directors. The Committee normally asks the
Company's Chief Executive, Finance Director,
Internal Audit Director and Auditors to attend
its meetings. However, during the year

the Committee did meet with no executive
directors present and has also met with
just the Audit Director present and just the
Auditors present.

The Committee met five times in 2006. The
Committee has agreed an annual programme
of matters to be covered and has asked that
at least one of the scheduled meetings be
hosted by one of the Company’s businesses
to allow the Committee to meet local
management and discuss audit risk and
control processes.

Activities

Since the beginning of 2006 the Audit
Committee has undertaken the following
in order to discharge its responsibilities:

— revigwed the financial statements in the
2005 and 2006 report and accounts and
the interim report issued in September
2006. As part of this work the Committee
received a report from the Auditors on their
audit of the annual reports and accounts
and review of the interim report;

- reviewed the cutput from the Group-wide
process used to identify, evaluate and
mitigate risks;

— reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's
internal conirols and disclosures made
in the annual report and accounts on
this matter;

- reviewed and agreed the approach and
scope of the audit work to be undertaken
by the Auditors;

- considered a report from the Auditors on
their review of the effectiveness of controls
across the Company and received a report

on management action taken in response
to work undertaken by the Auditors in 2006;

- agreed the fees 10 be paid to the Auditors
for their audit work in 2006;

— undertook an evaluation of the performance
of the Internal Audit function;

- undertook an evaluation of the performance
of the Auditors;

- agreed a programme of work for the
Company's Internal Audit function;

- received a report from the Internal Audit
Director on the work undertaken by Internal
Audit and management responses to
proposals made in the audit reports issued
by the function during the year:

- received presentations on the Company's
tax affairs;

— reviewed proposals concerning the contents
of the 2006 report and accounts;

- reviewed the circular sent to shareholders
concerning the proposed disposal of the
Company’s interest in Airbus;

- received a presentation on changes to the
law concerning the disclosure of information
to auditors and agreed processes aimed at
ensuring compliance with these regulations;
and

- reviewed the Committee’s terms of reference.

The Committee recognises that one of its key
respeonsibilities is reviewing the risks to the
Company’s performance and the security of
its assets. Twice a year the Committee
reviews the output from the group process
that is used to identify and evaluate risk, this
process also reports on the elimination or
mitigation of risk and the relative level of risk
within the Group. This information is verified
by the Internal Audit function and made
available to the Auditors.

The Committee has formally reviewed whether
there are any factors that may prejudice the
independence of the Auditors. Part of this
review invoived the receipt of a letter from
KPMG Audit Plc confirming that they believed
they remained independent within the
meaning of the regulations on this matter and
their professional standards. The Committee
recognises that in addition to the statutory
audit work undertaken by the Company's
Auditors there will be certain work of a non-
audit nature that is best undertaken by the
Auditors, It believes that, provided suitable
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controis are in place, doing this work does
not compromise the independence of the
Auditors. The Commitiee has agreed the
following rules to control the nature and
guantity of non-audit work undertaken by
the Auditors:

— any non-audit work to be undertaken by the
Auditors for fees in excess of £250,000
requires the authority of both the Group
Finance Director and the Chairman of the
Audit Committee;

- no partner/director of the Auditor's
worldwide audit team is to be employed
by the Company within two years of the
conclusion of a relevant audit;

- no qualified member of the worldwide
audit team at manager level or below is to
be employed by the Company without the
approval of the Group Finance Director; and

- no partner/director of the Auditors not
associated with the audit is to be employed
by the Company without the approval of the
Group Finance Director and the Chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The Committee believes that it is not
appropriate to manage the level of non-audit
fees by reference 1o a specific ratio of audit
to nor-audit fees but rather it logks 10 ensure
that any non-audit work is subject to robust
procurement processes and awarded subject
to the guidelines detailed above.

The Committee has adopted & programme of
undertaking a major review of the Company's
Auditors every three years and in the years in
petween undertaking a review to monitor their
performance. A major review was completed
at the beginning of 2006 and a review has
been undertaken recently to monitor ongoing
performance. On the basis of this work, the
Committee recommended to the Board that it
support the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc
as the Company's Auditors. The Board agreed
with this recommendation and consequently
a resolution to this effect will be put to
shareholders at the Company's AGM.

The Chairman of the Cemmittee reports to the
Board on the proceedings of all Committee
meetings and the minutes of all meetings
are made available to Board members.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Michael Hartnall
Audit Committee Chairman

21 February 2007

Nominations Committee Report

Dick Clver
Nominations
Committee
Chairman

Members:

Dick Olver (Chairman)
Phil Carroll

Sir Peter Mason

Responsibilities

- Reviewing regularly the structure,
size and composition of the Board
and making recommendations to
the Board on any changes desirable.

Identifying and nominating for the
Board's approval suitable candidates
to fill vacancies for non-executive
and, with the assistance of the
Chief Executive, executive directors.

t

Plan for the orderly succession

of new directors to the Board by
regularly reviewing the Company’s
management resources and key
executive succession plans.

Recommending to the Board the
membership and chairmanship of the
Audit and Remuneration committees.

The full terms of reference of the
Nominations Committee can be found
on the Company’s website or can be
obtained from the Company Secretary.

Governance

The Board has established a Nominations
Committee that is chaired by the Chairman
of the Company, Dick Clver. Whilst he is not
deemed to be independent, the other two
members of the Committee are independent
non-executive directors. The Committee met
six times in 2006.

Activities

The Committee’s key objective is to ensure
that the Board comprises individuals with the
requisite skills, knowledge and experience

to ensure that it'is effective in discharging
its responsibilities.

Work was initiated in 2005 aimed at
ensuring that the Committee had quality
information on which to draw conclusions
about the strength of the Company’s
management resource and to assist

in agreeing succession plans for senior
managers. As reported on page 45, this
work provided the Committee with good-
quality information on management
resources and enabled it to complete an
in-depth review of succession plans for
the mast senior positions in the Company.
This comprehensive review of the Group's
management resource was externally
facilitated and provided in-depth analysis
of over fifty senior executives and individual
competencies for key roles.

Combined with other performance
management processes, this work was
used to develop and validate the detailed
succession plans that have been developed
for the Group’s senior executive positions.
In addition, the succession planning work
overseen by the Committee provided useful
information on the quality and depth of

the Group's management resources. The
Committee will continue to review succession
plans on z regular basis, infarmed by the
output from the rigorous processes that

are in place.

Following the conclusion of the executive
management processes in September 2006,
the Board made two Chief Operating Officer
appointments, with Walt Havenstein being
appointed to lead the US businesses and
lan King to lead the rest of the business,
including the UK.

Having agreed that the Board would benefit
frorn additional large UK company experience
the Committee engaged externat search
consultants to assist in identifying suitable
candidates. As a result, Sir Nigel Rudd

was identified as an excellent fit for the
agreed candidate profile and in due course
was nominated by the Committee to join

the Board.

Corporate governance

Folfowing Sir Nigel's appeintment, the
Committee nominated him to join the
Remuneration Committee. This was agreed
by the Board.

On behsalf of the Nominations Committee

Dick Olver
Nominations Committee Chairman

21 February 2007
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Corporate Responsibility Committee Report

Peter Weinberg
Corporate
Responsibility
Commitiee
Chairman

Members:

Peter Weinberg (Chairman)
Professor Sue Birley

Phil Carroll

Sir Nigel Rudd

Responsibilities

- Assist the Board in overseeing the
development of strategy and policy on
social, environmental and ethical matters.

Monitor and review the Company's
performance in managing social,
environmental, ethical and reputational
risk. Specifically, the Committee shall
review whether appropriate policies,
systems and metrics are in place
relating to workplace, community,
environment and marketplace issues.
These shail include, but shall not
necessarily be restricted to, health and
safety, workplace policies, responsible
supply chain management,
environmental impact, business ethics
and compliance with law and regulation.

Review the Company's Corporate
Responsibility Report, prior to
approval of the report by the Board.

Oversee and support key stakeholder
engagement on social, environmental
and ethical issues.

The Committee Chairman is required to
report to the Board on the proceedings
of the Committee on a regular basis.

The full terms of reference of the Corporate
Responsibility Committee can be found on
the Company’s website or can be obtained
from the Company Secretary,

Governance
The Board established the Corporate
Responsibility Commitiee in 2005 and it

is chaired by Peter Weinberg, an independent
non-executive director. All of the members

of the Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Company's Group
Legal Director, Group HR Director, Director

of Corporate Responsibility and Audit
Director attend meetings at the request

of the Committee. The Committee met

three times in 2006.

Activities
The Committee undertook the following
activities in 2006:

- reviewed significant social, environmental
and ethical risks as identified by the
Company's risk management processes and
actions being taken to mitigate those risks;

received reports on corporate responsibility
matters including, amongst other things,
engagement with shareholders and safety,
health and environment performance;

- reviewed the effectiveness of the
Company's Ethics Hotline and received a
summary of the nature of the issues raised
and details of action taken. The Coempany
established this hotline to provide
employees with a means by which they can
raise concerns about any matters that they
kelieve may be unlawful, dishonest, harmful
to others, against Company policy, improper
business conduct or unacceptable
behaviour. To help ensure that employees
have faith in this arrangement it is provided
by a third party who passes details of calls
or e-mails received to the Audit Director.
Details of matters reported to the Ethics
Hotline are monitared by a committee
chaired by the head of the Company's
Internal Audit function;

received reports from the Internal
Audit function on audits undertaken
on ethical and environmental matters;

— provided input on appropriate nonfinancial
objectives for the Chief Executive and
other executive directors; and

— commissioned a report on various
carporate responsibility matters and
looking at best practice in these areas.

On behalf of the Corporate
Responsibility Committee

Peter Weinberg
Corporate Responsibility
Committee Chairman

21 February 2007
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The Board has delegated authority for
remuneration policy and determining the
specific packages for the Chairman and
executive directors to the Remuneration
Committee, and has delegated authority
to agree fees payable to the non-executive
directors to the Non-Executive Directors’
Fees Committee. The reports from both
these Committees are incorporated into
this Remuneration report, together with a
report en the remuneration or fees paid to
directors and the policy underpinning this.

The Remuneration report is structured
as follows:

- Remuneration Committee report

— Non-Executive Directors’ Fees
Committee report

- Remuneration reporting
- Remuneration policy and service
contracts for executive directors
— Chairman’s appointment, term and fees
— Non-executive directors’ appointment,
term and fees

— Tabular information on directors’
shareholdings, emoluments, pensions
and share-based incentives

Remuneration Committee Report

Sue Birley
Remuneration
Committee
Chairman

Members:

Professor Sue Birley (Chairman)
Sir Nigel Rudd

Roberto Quarta

Peter Weinberg

Responsibiiities

The Board has delegated the following
responsibilities to the Remuneration
Committee:

- Agreeing a policy for the remuneration
of the Chairman and executlve directors.

- Within the agreed policy, determining
individual remuneration packages for
the Chairman and executive directors.

- Agreeing the terms and conditions to
be included in service agreements for
executive directors.

- Approving any employee share-based
incentive schemes and any performance
conditions to be used for such schemes.

- Determining any share scheme
performance targets.

The fuill terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee, which conform
with the requirements of the Combined
Code, can be found on the Company’s
website or can be obtained from the
Company Secretary.

Governance

The Committee is chaired by Professor

Sue Birley and all of its members are
independent non-executive directors, The
Comparny's Chairman and Chief Executive
attend commitiee meetings by invitation only.
They do not attend where their individual
remuneration is discussed and no director

is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

in 2006 the Committee met seven times and
details of attendance at these meetings are

provided in the Corporate Governance Report
on page 46.

During the year Dick Olver and Mike Turner, in
their respective capacities as Chairman and
Chief Executive. provided advice that was of
material assistance to the Commitiee. The
Committee also received material assistance
and advice on remuneration policy from the
Company's Group Human Resources Director,
Alastair Imrie, and from the Human
Resources Director, Remuneration and
Benefits, Graham Middleton. In addition, the
Committee received advice and services
from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) in
respect of the design and competitive
positioning of senior executive remuneration
{including a review of the share plan
perfarmance conditions) and senior executive
pension arrangements; from New Bridge
Street Consultants (NBSC) in respect of the
operation of share plans and the new share
plans approved by shareholders in 2006;
and from Linklaters in respect of legal
advice. NBSC was appointed by the
Committee, whilst PwC and Linklaters were
appointed by the Company and, during the
year, provided consulting services (PwC) and
legal services {Linklaters) to the Company.
The Committee is satisfied that the services
provided to it by PwC and Linklaters were of
a technical nature and did not create any
conflict of interest. If a conflict of interest
were to arise in the future, the Committee
would appoint separate consultants or legal
advisers from those used by the Company.

Activities

During the year the Committee has
discharged its responsibilities by reviewing
and agreeing;

— performance targets for the year and
progress against those targets;

Remuneration report

- the operation of the long-term incentive
plans and policy for executive share scheme
granis including the leve! of individual grants
and performance conditions:

— policy for the operation of the all-employee
share schemes;

- the award of bonuses based on the prior
year's performance;

- the basis for the annual review of executive
directors’ remuneration, including the
composition of the comparator groups
and the positioning of the remuneration
packages for the two new incoming
Chief Operating Officers.
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— the levels and structure of remuneration
payable to senior executives:

— the discretionary elements of the executive
share plans; and

— pension arrangements for senior executives.
In addition, the Committee has:
— reviewed the Remuneration Report; and

- consulted with major shareholders over
aspects of remuneration policy.

The Committee’s remuneration strategy
is to provide a remuneration package that:

- helps attract, retain and motivate the
highest calibre executives;

—ts aligned to shareholders’ interests
1o create sustainable long-term
shareholder value;

— is competitive against the appropriate
market, providing median reward for
median performance and upper quartile
reward for upper quartile performance;

- encourages and supports a high
performance culture whilst providing
a batance hetween fixed and variable
reward; and

— is fair and transparent and can be applied
consistently throughout the Group.

Details of executive remuneration are
set out on pages 52 to 65 of this
Remuneration Report.

Professor Sue Birley
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

21 February 2007

Non-Executive Directors’ Fees
Committee Report

Remuneration policy and service contracts
for executive directors

Dick Olver
Non-Executive
Directors’ Fees
Committee
Chairman

Members:

Dick Olver (Chairman)
Philip Bramwelt

Walt Havenstein

Mike Turner

Responsibilities

- Reviewing the fees payable to non-
executive directors (excluding the
Chairman) and making changes to
such fees as deemed appropriate.

Governance

The Non-Executive Directors’ Fees Committee
has delegated authority from the Board to
agree fees payable to non-executive directors
on its behalf. During the year Michael Lester
and Mark Ronatd also served as members
of this Committee until their retirement from
the Board on 31 December 2006. Walt
Havenstein and the Group Legal Director,
Phitip Bramwell, joined the Committee in
January 2007.

Activities

The Board has approved the following
guidelines to he used by the Committee
when discharging its responsibilities:

- fees shall be sufficient to attract and
retain individuals with the necessary skills,
experience and knowledge required to
ensure that the Board is able to discharge
its duties effectively;

- in setting fees the Committee shall have
regard to the amount of time individual non-
executive directors are required to devote
to their duties and also the scale and
complexity and international nature of the
business and the responsibility invelved;

- fees payable to non-executive directors
shall be paid in cash and shall not be
performance related; and

— non-executive directors shall not participate
in the Company's share-based incentive
schemes or pension scheme.

In 2006 the Committee held one meeting,
attended by all members, at which it agreed
the structure of non-executive directors’ fees
detailed on page 64 of this report,

Dick Olver
Chairman of the Non-Executive Directors'
Fees Committee

21 February 2007

This section of the report explains the
ongoing remuneration policy for executive
directors, the individual components of their
remuneration and details of their service
contracts, as required by legislation.

The Remuneration Committee’s (the
Committee) executive remuneration policy
continues to be to set basic salaries at median
competitive levels whilst seeking to reward
upper guartile performance with potential
upper quartile remuneration through the use

of bonus schemes and share-based incentives.
The Committee intends to continue with the
executive remuneration policy as detailed in
this report in 2007 and subsegueni years,

and will continue to consult on material
changes with principal sharehclders.

Remuneration of executive directors consists
typically of basic salary. a honus hased

on annual performance, participation in
employee share schemes and retirement
henefits. The Committee reviews the split
between basic salary and the performance-
related elements of remuneration each year
in order to incentivise properly executive
directors, and believes that a significant
proportion of remuneration should be
based on schemes that encourage them

to perform at the highest level. Through
this arrangement, it is possible for those
individuals who contribute to sustained high
levels of company performance to receive at
least a similar level of reward from variable
compensation to that received from fixed
compensation. At median performance,
variable remuneration represents
approximately 50% of the remuneration
package as shown in the chart below:

Target Performance {median)

B saary 34%
"] Pension 17%
[ sarus 17%
[ Long:term

incentive rewards 32%

The package of the Chief Executive is more highly
geared with atmost 60% of the remuneration being
performance related.

At upper quartite performance variable
remuneration represents significantly more
than 50% of the total package.

The principles of the remuneration strategy
are applied consistently across the Group
taking account of seniority and local
market practice.
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Base salary

Executive directors’ base salaries are
reviewed each year by the Committee and
adjusted to reflect performance and the
competitiveness of salaries relative to
the market. Information on the market
for comparable management positions is
ohtained from independent sources and
is provided to the Committee so that it
can form a view as t0 where 10 position
basic salaries and benefits relative to
comparable companies.

The methodology used is to construct
appropriate comparator groups for the
individual positions taking account of
company size, scale of operations and
breadth of role. The median and upper
quartile positions are then analysed for
base salary, total cash reward {base salary
plus annual bonus), total direct reward (total
cash reward plus long-term incentives) and
total reward including pension. This gives

the Committee a view on the competitiveness
of the individual elements of the package
as well as the package as a whole. The
Committee also reviews the trends in the
elements of remuneration to ensure that the
structure of the package stays in line with
market practice, and also takes account

of the performance of the individual, the
Company as a whole and the pay and
conditions of Group employees.

A number of changes were made to the
Company’s executive management structure
towards the end of 2006 to reflect the
evolving nature of the organisation and this
impacted an the way in which the base salary
structure for the executive directors has been
determined for 2007.

For the Chief Executive and Group Finance
Director a comparator group was constructed
consisting of the 19 FTSE 50 companies
{excluding financial institutions) with turnover
closest to BAE Systems (nine larger and ten
smaller), the turncver figure for BAE Systems
being £12bn which excludes turnover frem
joint ventures. The Committee also reviewed
remuneraticn data for aerospace and
defence companies within the FTSE 100.

For the incoming Chief Operating Officer,

UK and RoW, as there were no similar

sized roles in the comparator group, the
Committee benchmarked this new role using
regression analysis for main board directors
of UK companies with responsibility for an
international portfolio of businesses that
have a turnover of £6bn.

Following the change in roles for the two
Group Executive Directors, the Committee
reviewed data relating to the expected salary
trends for FTSE 50 directors in 2007 and,
taking account of their performance and
contribution, awarded a salary increase

in line with the expected trend.

For the incoming US Chief Operating Officer,
regression analysis was used on US

aerospace, defence and general industry
sector data to produce appropriate market
figures consistent with the size and scale of
the US business, adjusting where necessary
to reflect the extra responsibility for the plg
hoard role. The remuneration package of the
new appointee was positioned competitively,
but materially below that of the retiring US
Chief Operating Officer in recognition of the
fact that the incoming US Chief Operating
Officer is new 10 the role. In view of the
requirement for the role to be based in the
Washington DC area, the package includes
relocation expenses in line with the
Company's standard US policy.

As a result of this review, the Committee
determined the base salaries of the executive
directors with effect from January 2007 to
he as foliows:

Mike Turner £945,000
Chief Executive

George Rose £560,000
Group Finance Director

Chris Geoghegan £490,000
Group Executive Director

Walt Havenstein' $750,000
Chief Operating Officer — US

lan King? £530.000

Chief Operating Officer — UK and RoW

Steve Mogford £490,000
Group Executive Director

1 Appointed to the Board with effect from 2 January 2007
2 Appointed to the Board with effect from 1 January 2007

Annual Bonus Plan

The executive directors and other senior
executives participate in a cash bonus
plan that rewards those individuals if pre-
determined targets are met. The targets
are derived from the Integrated Business
Plan {IBP}, which is agreed by the Board and

which implements corporate strategy on a
groupwide basis by ensuring that business
plans which support the strategy are
integrated across all businesses. The IBP
is used to set the objectives for senior
management including the base and stretch
targets for the financial measures used

for the executive directars in the Annual
Bonus Plan.

The setting of non-financial targets is
initiated by the Chairman of the Board who,
after consultation with the Chief Executive,
discusses the matter with the Committee.
The Committee approves the Chief
Executive’s objectives and those for the
Executive Committee as a whole. The Chief
Executive then makes proposals to the
Committee regarding individual non-financial
objectives for each of the executive directors
and the other members of the Executive
Committee for approval by the Committee.

2006 was another very successful year,
building on the excellent performances in
2004 and 2005. All the major business
groupings achieved their stretch targets

on profit and cash and, as a result, all the
financial targets within the 2006 Annual
Bonus Plan for executive directors were met
at the stretch level. In addition, excellent
progress was made against all the key non-
financial objectives and, accordingly, bonus
payments for 2006 which are set out in
Table E on page 64 range from 95% to
100% of the maximum bonus.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and agreed bonus targets for 2007 for the
executive directers and believes that both
the financial and non-financial targets are
stretching but achievable and are aligned
to the Group’s overall objectives.

Remuneration report

As a result of its annual review of the
performance related part of the remuneration

The structure of the Annual Bonus Plan for executive directors in 2007 (expressed as

percentages of base salary) is as follows:

Corporate roles Mike Turner Ség\é?gzl%%g;d

Base Stretch Base Stretch
Bonus element target target target target
EPS targets 28.125%  56.25% 18.75% 37.5%
Group cash targets 28.125% 56.25% 18.75% 37.5%
Nonfinancial objectives up to 37.5% up to 25%
Operating roles Chrisla%e;il‘éegan Walt Havenstegin

Base Stretch Base Stretch
Bonus element target target target target
EPS targets 9.375% 18.75% 14.0825% 28.125%
Group cash targets 9.375% 18.75% 14.0625% 28.125%
Business group EBITA! target 9.375%  18.75% 14.0625% 28.125%
Business group cash target 9.375%  18.75% 14.0625% 28.125%
Non-financial cbjectives up to 25% up to 37.5%

1 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
Intermediate payments are payable for performance against these targets,
The Chairman and non-executive directars do not participate in the Annual Bonus Plan.
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package, the Committee has determined that
the maximum bonus potential for 2007 will
remain unchanged from 2006 at 100% of
hase salary (150% for the UShased executive
director and the Chief Executive, with at least
one-third of the Chief Executive's bonus being
compulsorily deferred into the Share Matching
Plan in 2007).

In determining the performance measures for
the Annual Bonus Plan, the Committee took
the view that the Company's major mvestors
believed earnings per share (EPS) and cash
targets (and, where appropriate, EBITA),

to be key indicators of longterm financial
performance and value creation. These,
coupled with the non-financial measures,
align the executive directors’ objectives

with corporate strategy and targeted
business performance.

The EPS figure used for the bonus plan (and
the Executive Share QOption Plan) is based on
underlying EPS (as reported in the report and
accounts) but may be adjusted {up or down)
if necessary to ensure that the figures for
individual years are broadly comparable.

Share option plans and long-term

incentive plans

Policy

The Coemmittee seeks to align the
interests of executive directors (and

other senior executives) with those of other
shareholders through the use of share-based
incentive schemes. The Company operates
a combination of options and share awards
for senior executives within the framework
detailed below. This is broadly in line

with similar plans operated by other

FTSE 50 companies.

In 2005, effective from 20086, the Committee
revised its policy in relation to the provision
of share-based incentive plans by awarding
share-based long-term incentives which are
settled in shares rather than cash to those US
senior executives who qualify as “Accredited
Investars”, thus enhancing the alignment with
shareholders’ interests. In order to operate
within existing dilution limits, the remuneration
strategy for senior managers globally below
the senior executive population has been
reviewed with share-based rewards being
replaced by a cash-based long-term incentive
plan linked to earnings performance. The
Committee believes that this will promote

a consistent global approach and will derive
enhanced value for money from the executive
reward programmes.

The Committee also decided to settle in
shares rather than cash unvested awards
of share options and performance shares
for those US executives who qualify as
accredited investors. This further enhances
their alignment with shareholders’ interests
and reduces the volatility of the income
statement charges arising on these awards.

In 2006 the Committee reviewed the
Company's share-based long-term incentive

plans, taking account of continuing changes
in market practice and investors’ comments
following the shareholder consultation
exercise in early 2006 on changes to
executive remuneration policy. In considering
the variety of ways in which companies
reward performance in terms of plan design.
performance measures and different
weightings of shortterm and long-term
rewards, the review concluded that there
was no standard approach with companies
tailoring their corporate approach to suit
their own sectoral or specific needs. The
Committee believes that the Company's
approach provides a good balance of
short-term and long-term reward, potentially
more weighted towards long-term rewards
than a number of other companies, but
consequently aligned to and consistent

with the long-term nature of the Company’s
business. The Committee has therefore
retained the current longterm

incentive arrangements.

As part of the review, the Committee
considered the performance conditions for
the various share-based incentive plans,
benchmarking the performance conditions
against market practice. The Committee's
conclusions are as follows:

— Performance Share Plan The Committee
has concluded that the current comparator
group and vesting scheduie remain
appropriate and suitably stretching.

— Share Option Plan Until last year, share
options awards had failed to meet the
associated performance condition for a
number of years. In addition, the awards
made in 2001 and 2002 have lapsed as
a result of failing to meet the required
performance target. Furthermore, almost
half of the executives receiving share awards
are US executives for whom a performance
condition on share options is still rare.

The Committee is also aware that the
anticipated dilutive effect of the sale of
the Company’'s stake in Airbus, which
shareholders approved last year, has
made the existing performance cenditions
potentially more stretching. The Committee
has decided that the existing EPS
performance conditions on share options
will not be rebased but instead management
will be expected to generate sufficient
growth not only to meet the required targets
but aiso to recoup the anticipated dilutive
effect of the Airbus transaction.

The Committee accordingly concluded that
to change the performance condition at this
time was unnecessary and would act as a
disincentive until executives had experience
of share options meeting required
performance conditions, and has therefore
decided to retain the existing EPS growth
condition for awards in 2007 of real EPS
growth of 5% per annum for full vesting.
This will be kept under review.

— Share Matching Plan The new Share
Matching Plan, which shareholders
approved last year, replaces the Restricted
Share Plan for awards in 2007 and
introduces an EPS performance condition
on the award of matching shares aligned to
that used for share options. The Committee
believes that this remains appropriate.

Plan provisions

Performance conditions for grants of options
or awards to be made under the Executive
Share Option Plan, the Performance Share
Plan and the Share Matching Plan in 2007
are detailed below. Performance conditions
for earlier grants under the Executive Share
Option Plan are shown as notes to Table C.
Performance conditions for grants of awards
under the Perfermance Share Plan made
between 2003 and 2006 are the same

as for awards to be made in 2007 as
detailed below.

Executive Share Option Plan

Options granted under the Executive Share
Option Plan are normally exercisable between
the third and tenth anniversary of their grant.
Options may only be exercised during this
period as follows:

- 33.33% of each option grant is exercisable
if the Company achieves on average real
EPS growth per annum of 3% but less than
4% over the three-year performance period;

- 66.67% of each option grant is exercisable
if the Company achieves on average real
EPS growth per annum of 4% but less than
5% over the three-year performance period;

— 100% of each option grant is exercisable if
the Company achieves on average real EPS
growth per annum of 5% or more over the
three-year performance period.

In determining the performance measure

for the Executive Share Option Plan (and for
the Matching Shares in the Share Matching
Plan described below), the Committee took
the view that the Company’s major investors
believed EPS to be a key indicator of long-
term financial performance and value creation.

Option grants under the Executive Share
Option Plan will continue to be set at a
maximum of 1.5 times base salary {2.25
times base salary for the Chief Executive)
in 2007 and there will be no retesting after
the three-year performance period.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

Conditional awards of shares are made
under the Performance Share Plan which
are contingent on meeting pre-determined
performance criteria. Under the PSP, awards
may ke made up to 2 times base salary.
Awards in 2007 to executive directors will
be granted at a value equal to 1 times base
salary (1.5 times base salary for the Chief
Executive). The propartion of the award which
is capable of exercise is determined by the
Company's Total Shareholder Return {share
price growth plus dividends} ranking relative
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to a comparator group of 18 other defence and
aerospace companies operating internationally,
and by a secondary financial measure.

Performance for the 2007 awards will be
measured as follows:

{i) Total shareholder return (TSR}

100% of the conditional shares are awarded
to directors if the Company’s TSR over a
three-year period is in the top 20% of TSRs
achieved by the sectaral comparator group,
with 25% vesting if the TSR is in the top 50%.
Intermediate positions will be calculated on
a straight-line pro-rata basis. No awards will
be made if the Company's performance is
outside the top 50%. Awards will be made
in three equal instalments at the end of
years three, four and five,

(ii) Underlying financial performance

As a secondary measure the Committee
will consider whether there has been a
sustained improvement in the Company's
underlying financial performance and
whether it is appropriate to release some
or all of the awards. In taking a view of

a sustained improvement in underlying
financial performance, the Committee may
consider {but not exclusively) the following
financial metrics: net debt/cash; EBITA;
order book; turnover; risk and underlying
project performance.

A sectoral peer group will continue to be used
in 2007 as the principal performance measure
due to its imponrtance to the Company's
shareholders as an indication of both earmnings
and capital growth relative to major global
defence and aerospace companies. A relative
measure is considered important as it rewards
management if they outperform against major
companies in the sector rather than success
possibly being determined solely by growth

in stock markets. The second measure was
included to ensure that awards will only vest

if there has been a clear improvement in the
Company’s underlying performance over the
relevant period.

The compesition of the TSR sectoral peer
group for awards 10 be made in 2007 is
the same as that in 2006 and comprises:

Boeing Cobham
Dassault Aviation EADS
Embraer PN Finmeccanica
General Dynamics GKN
Goodrich Honeywell International
Lockheed Martin Northrop Grumman
Raythecn Rockwel! Collins
Rolls-Royce Smiths Group
Thales United Technologies

As agreed by shareholders at the 2006 AGM,
for PSP participants other than executive
directors. the Committee has the flexibility

to agree that up to half of any award can be
based on appropriately stretching internal

measures {with the rest based on TSR) to
create improved incentive and alignment with
the individual's own business performance.

Share Matching Plan (SMP}

Following shareholder approval at the 2006

AGM, the new Share Matching Plan replaces
the previous Restricted Share Plan in 2007,

The SMP is a stand-alone share investment
plan with the maximum investment linked to
the honus awarded under the Annual Bonus
Plan. Participants will be invited to acquire
shares up to an amount not exceeding the
net amount of any discretionary annual
bonus the individual received for the previous
financial year {Investment Shares). As stated
above, the Chief Executive is reguired to
defer at least one-third of his bonus into the
SMP. The participant will be granted a
conditional award of Matching Shares under
the SMP against the gross bonus invested;
for executive directors the match will be in
the ratio of 1:1.

The performance condition that will apply to
the Matching Shares under the SMP in
2007, and the rationale for its use, is the
same as that which has been applied to
options granted under the Company's
executive share option plans as set out on
page b4,

The Matching Shares will attract dividends
during the three-year deferral period which
will be released at the same time as the
vesting of any Matching Shares.

Restricted Share Plan

The Restricted Share Plan (RSP), which
operated for the final time in 20086,
historically acted as a share-based
extension of the Annual Bonus Plan in that
executive directors who participated in the
Annual Bonus Plan could be given the option
of taking any net cash bonus paid partly or
wholly in shares through the RSP, If an
election was made 1o take shares through
the Plan, they were held in trust for a period
of three years after which the Company
awarded the individual an equal number of
shares (Matching Shares) provided the
individual normally remained in the
Company's employment at the vesting date.
Where executive directors have elected to
use such bonuses through the RSP, details
of the shares held are set out in Table B on
page 60. None of the executive directors
who served during 2006 participated in the
2006 operation of the RSP .

The matching award of shares was
historically not subject te any performance
criteria and has now been superseded by
the Share Matching Plan which is subject
to perfermance criteria.

Share Incentive Plan

During 2006 the UK executive directors were
eligible to participate in the allemployee free
shares element of the Share Incentive Plan.

As a result of the Company’s perfermance in
2008, all eligible employees (including the UK
executive directors) will be entitled to receive
shares worth £420. A similar arrangement
operates for non-UK employees on a cash

or shares basis depending on focal tax and
security laws.

The Company operates a share purchase
arrangement (Partnership Shares) under
the Share Incentive Plan which replaced the
SAYE Share Option Scheme in 2005. Under
this arrangement, UK-based employees
{including executive directors) may purchase
ordinary shares in BAE Systems by either
monthly investments of between £10 and
£125 a menth, or lump sum investments
of between £10 and £1,500 in a tax year,
both limited to 10% of salary if less.

Dividends paid in respect of the shares in the
Share Incentive Plan for UK-based employees
are reinvested as Dividend Shares.

With effect from December 20086 the
Commitiee agreed the introduction of
Matching Shares into the Share Incentive
Plan Partnership Shares arrangement on the
basis of one free Matching Share for every
two Partnership Shares purchased by the
employee up to a maximum monthly
Partnership Share investment of £30.

The plan is an alt-employee plan and
in accordance with legislatian the
Matching Shares are not subject

to performance conditions.

Dilution of share capital

The Committee has agreed that, in respect
of new issue or treasury shares, shares
representing no more than 1% of the
Company’s issued share capital will be used
in any cne financial year for the grant of
share options under all-employee share
schemes. The table below sets out the
available dilution capacity for the Company’s
employee share schemes based on the
limits set out in the rules of those schemes.

2006
Total issued share capital as

at 31 December 2006 3,246m
All schemes:

10% in any consecutive 10 years 324.6m
Remaining headroom 193.3m
Executive schemes;

5% in any consecutive 10 years 162.3m
Remaining headroom 92.9m

The number of ordinary shares in issue at
31 December 2006 was 3,246,232,539 and
the number of shares granted under option
during 2006 totalled 6,082,429 (0.19%

of the 1otal shares in issue). In addition, a
decision was taken in 2006 to settle awards
over 8,641,212 executive share options
{granted as Stock Appreciation Rights) in
equity, rather than in cash, for US executives
satisfying the accredited investor rules.
These are included in the dilution figures.
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Personal shareholding policy

The Committee has agreed a policy
whereby all executive directors are required
o establish and maintain a minimum
personal shareholding equal to 200% of
base salary. As a minimum, a holding equal
to 100% of base salary must he achieved
as quickly as possible using shares vesting
or options exercised through the executive
share option schemes or longterm incentive
schemes, by using 50% of the shares

that vest or 50% of the options which are
exercised on each occasion. Thereafter,
executive directors are required 1o increase
their personal shareholding gradually, on
each occasion using 25% of the shares
that vest or 25% of the options exercised
each year, until a persona! shareholding
equal to 200% of annual base salary is
achieved and maintained. These limits

are reviewed periodically.

Details of the directors’ perscnal
sharehotdings are shown in Table A,

Post-retirement benefits

UK pension benefits

As a result of the recently introduced age
discrimination legislation, UK executive
directors’ default retirement age will be 65
bui they will retain any previgus rights they
had to retire and draw their pensions without
actuarial reduction for early payment at

an earlier age.

Following the consultations with employees
last year, a number of changes were made to
the pension schemes in respect of benefits
accruing from 6 April 2006 as a means

of funding the deficits disclosed in the
schemes. These changes apply to executive
directors in the same way as to other
employees and include the introduction of the
Longevity Adjustment Factor, a reduction in
the maximum level of pension increases and
a change in the definition of Pensionable Pay.

The UK-based executive directors with

the exception of lan King (see below) are
members of the BAE Systems Pension
Scheme (the Main Scheme) and the

BAE Systems Executive Pension Scheme
(the ExPS). The ExPS tops up the benefits
from the Main Scheme and. for executive
directors, is designed to produce a target
pension payable from age 60 of two-thirds

of Final Pensionable Pay (FPP) if potential
service is 20 or more years. FPP is defined
as basic salary averaged over the last

12 months prior to leaving service in respect
of service accrued to 5 April 20086 and

36 months prior to leaving in respect of
service from 6 April 2006. These schemes
also provide a lump sum death-in-service
benefit equal to four times basic salary

at date of death, and a spouse’s death-in-
service pension equal to twothirds of the
prospective pension at normal retirement
age. Children’s allowances are also payable.
usually up to the age of 18. Spouses’
pensions and children's allowances are also
payable upon death in retirement and death
after leaving the Company’s employment with
a deferred pension. Pensions are increased
annually by the rise in the Retail Prices Index
subject to a maximum increase of 5% per
year in respect of pre 6 April 2006 service

and 2.5% per year in respect of service from
6 April 2006. Birectors pay contributions

at the same rate as all other employees
participating in schemes.

Michael Lester, who retired from the Board
at the end of 2006, had a normal retirement
age of 62 and was already in receipt of

his pension.

lan King is 2 member of the BAE Systems
2000 Pension Plan (the 2000 Plan)
applicable to former employees of Marconi
Electronic Systems (MES) and a member of
the ExPS. The 2000 Plan provides a pension
of 1/50th of Final Pensionable Earnings
(FPE) for each year of pensionable service,
payable from a normal retirement age of 65.
FPE under the 2000 Plan is the best three-
year average of base salary and bonus in the
ten Plan Years prior to leaving, less an offset
for State pensions. The Company decided
last year to limit pensionable bonuses in the
2000 Plan in the 2006/07 Plan Year to 20%
of base salary and this will reduce to 10% of
base salary for the Plan Year commencing on
6 April 2007. However, there is a guarantee
that the FPE figure for benefits service prior
to 6 April 2007 will not be less than the

FPE figure at 5 April 2007 to ensure that
employees do not lose the benefit of
contributions paid on past bonuses. lan

King joined the ExPS in 1999 following the
BAe/MES merger. The ExPS tops up the
2000 Plan henefits to provide a target
benefit payable from age 62 of 1/30th of
Final Pensionable Pay for each year of ExPS
pensionable service (subject to a maximum
of two-thirds). Final Pensionable Pay for the

Value at 31 December 2006 of £100
investment at 31 December 2001

Value at 31 December 2006 of £100 investment

£200 £450
E£180 £360
£120 £270
£80 £180
£40 £90
31Dec01 31Dec02 31Dec03 31 Dec04 31 Dec05 31 Dec 06 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
=mm BAE Systems = FTSE 100 e AE Systemns = Aerospace & Defence Comparator Group
- FTSE 100 wma UK Executive Pay Review Comparator Group

This graph shows the value, by 31 December 2006, of £100 invested in

BAE Systems on 31 December 2001 compared with the value of £100 invested in
the FTSE 100 Index. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial
year ends,

The graph, which has been produced in accordance with the requiremenis of
Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985, shows the total shareholder return for
a helding in the Company's ordinary shares for the period 2001-2006 relative to
a holding of shares representing the FTSE 100. The FTSE 100 is considered to be
an appropriate comparatot for this purpose as it is a broad equity market index.
As BAE Systems is a constituent member of the FTSE 100, it was deemed to be
the most appropriate general UK equity index.

The graph above shows the value sharehotders have achieved by their investment

in BAE Systems over recent years as compared to (i) the FTSE 100 Index; (il} the
companies forming the sectoral peer group for the BAE Systems Performance Share
Plan; and (jii) the companies forming the comparator group for the 2006 executive
pay review. The graph depicts the value for BAE Systems and the comparators at the
end of 2006 of a single £100 investment made at the beginning of each of the last
five years.
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purposes of this top up is calculated by
reference to base salary only, averaged over
12 months and 36 months as described
above. Therefore lan King's total pension is
the sum of his 2000 Plan benefits plus the
top up from the ExPS,

Following the changes made last year to take
account of the Pensions Stmplification tax
changes which came into effect from April
2006, UK executives reaching the Lifetime
Allowance (LTA) are given a number of
choices as set out in last year's
remuneration repori. These are:

- remain in the pension scheme and pay any
additional tax charge; or

- opt out of the pension scheme (and

s0 eamn no further pension benefits in
respect of future service) and instead
receive a taxahle salary supplement. This
supplement will be 30% of salary and 20%
of salary for those senior executives with
a two-thirds salary target after at least 20
years and 30 years service respectively; or

— restrict scheme benefits to the value of
the LTA with the remainder being provided
directly from the Company as an unfunded
promise. At retirement, the unfunded
Company benefits can be either taken
as pension or can be commuted in full
for a taxable lump sum.

The Committee reviewed these arrangements
at the beginning of 2007 in the light of
developing market practice and believes

they remain appropriate as they provide
executives with choices which may better
suit their needs whilst being broadly cost
neutral to the Company, are in line with
market practice, and do not compensate
executives for changes in taxation.

UK executives, including the UK executive
directors, affected or likely to be affected

by the Lifetime Allowance before April 2009
were provided with independent financial
advice paid for by the Company. Mike Turner
and Chris Geoghegan elected to opt out of
the pension schemes in April 2006 in return
for a cash supplement of 30% of base
salary. Steve Mogford and lan King elected
1o have their scheme benefits restricted in
return for a Company unfunded promise.

George Rose was affected by the previously
applicable Intand Revenue earnings cap on
approved pensions and has an unapproved
{i.e. non-tax qualified) pension arrangement
to top up his benefits from the approved
schemes. This was designed so that the
total pension from all sources would be
broadly in fine with the pension he would
have received from the group pension
schemes had he not been subject to the
earnings cap. The Pension Simplification tax
changes have allowed the flexibility to remove
the eamings cap for George Rose in respect of
service from April 2006, although some of his
benefits will remain to be provided by means

of an unfunded promise from the Company.
Ng further contributions will be paid into hig
funded unapproved top up arrangement.
Further information on the amounts paid by
the Company in respect of these arrangements
is included in the notes to Table F.

US Executives

Mark Ronald retired from the Board at the
end of 2006 and was already in receipt of
his pension.

Walt Havenstein is a member of the

BAE Systems Employees’ Retirement Plan
which provides a pension from age 60 for
gach year of pensionabie service of 1.25%
on his Final Average Pay (FAP) up to Social
Security Covered Compensatien (circa
$70.000) plus 1.5% on his FAP in excess of
Social Security Covered Compensation. FAP
is currently the highest three-year average
of base salary plus bonus but the averaging

Executive directors’' service contracts

period will increase by one year each year
beginning in 2009 and reaching a ten-year
average in 2015, Directors pay contributions
at the same rates as other employees in

the plan. The pension does not carry any
Spouse’s pension or pension increases. Walt
Havenstein also receives a 50% match on
his contributions to his 401(k} plan up to

a maximum contribution of 8% of earnings.

Details of postretirement benefits for
each of the executive directors who served
during 2006 are shown in Table F on

page 65 and are calculated in accordance
with the requirements of Schedule 7A

of the Companies Act 1985.

Other benefits

Other benefits provided to the executive
directors include a car allowance, the taxable
benefit of any private use of a chauffeur, and
a cash allowance for medical examination.

It is the Committee’'s policy that executive directors should normally have service contracts
that provide for the Company to give the individuat 12 months’ notice of termination. This
policy has been chosen because it provides a reasonable balance between the need to retain
the services of key individuals and the need to limit the liabilities of the Company in the event
of the termination of a contract. The executive directors have service contracts with Group
companies; details of these contracts are as follows:

Date of contract

Unexpired term Notice period

Chris Geoghegan 10 July 2002 12 months 12 months either party
{amended 15 January 2004
and 13 October 2005) L
Wait Havenstein 1 December 2006 3 months 3 months either party
lan King 31 January 2007 12 months 12 months either party
Steve Mogford 6 April 2000 12 months 12 months either party
(amended 15 tanuary 2004
and 28 Cctober 2005)
George Rose 16 November 1998 12 months 12 months from the
(amended 3 December 1999 Company, & months
15 January 2004 from the individual
and 17 October 2005}
Mike Turner 22 February 1994 12 months 12 months from the

(amended 30 May 1995
3 December 1999

8 May 2002

15 January 2004

Company, 6 months
from the individual

and 14 October 2005)

In the event of the termination of an
executive director’s contract it is the
Committee’s policy to seek to limit any
payment made in lieu of notice to a
payment equal to the amount of one vear's
basic salary. The service contracts for all
of the executive directors contain specific
provisions to the effect that the Company
has the right, and in Walt Havenstein's
case, generally has the obligation, to pay a
sum equivalent to 12 months’ salary {(plus
the continuation of 18 months™ medical
benefits in Walt Havenstein's case) in the
event of the Company terminating their
contracts for reasons other than gross
misconduct. No executive director has

provisions in his service contract that
relate to a change of control of the
Company {and neither does the Chairman
nor the non-executive directors in their
respective letters of appointment).

Michael Lester and Mark Ronald, who
retired as directors on 31 December 20086,
also had service contracts. The service
contract for Michael Lester was dated

26 November 1999 and had been renewed
on a rolling one year basis since 2002
when he reached his normal retirement
age of 62. The service contract came to
an end when he retired from the Board

on 31 December 2006.
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The service contract for Mark Ronald was
dated 17 April 2002 and had been renewed
on a rolling one year basis since 2003 when
he reached his normal retirement age of 62.
The service contract came to an end when
Mark Ronald retired from the BAE Systems
plc Beoard and as President and Chief
Executive of BAE Systems, In¢. on

31 December 2006, As disclosed previously,
the terms of Mark Ronald's contract
contained an entitlement to a lump sum
equal to 12 months” salary and the
continuance of medical benefits for 18
manths if his contract was terminated by
BAE Systems, Inc., his directorship of the
parent company ceased. or if his contract
was not renewed at the end of its one year
rolling term. Details of this contractual
payment are included in Table E on page 64.

In order for the Company to benefit from
his considerable experience of the US
defence market, Mark Ronald has been
appointed as non-executive Chairman

of BAE Systems, Inc. with effect from

15 January 2007 and will also provide
advisory services. Fees payable to him in
his non-executive capacity are consistent
with those paid to other non-executive
directors of BAE Systems, Inc. These
arrangements will automatically cease
on 31 December 2007 unless he and
BAE Systems, Inc. mutually agree to
extend them for a further year.

Pelicy on external board appointments

The long-standing policy of allowing executive
directors to hold external non-BAE Systems
related nonexecutive directorships with the
prior approval of the Committee will continue.
The Committee considers that external
directorships provide the Company's senior
executives with valuable experience that is of
benefit to BAE Systems. It is also considered
appropriate for BAE Systems to contribute to
the pool of nonexecutive expertise available
far the benefit of the wider business
community, thereby reciprocating the benefit
which it in tum has received from other
organisations which have permitted members
of their senior management teams to serve
on the BAE Systems Board. The Committee
helieves that it is reasonable for the
individual executive director to retain any fees
received from such appointments given the
additional personal responsibility that this
entails. Such fees retained by the executive
directors who served in 2006 were as
follows: Michael Lester: £16,135; Steve
Mogford: £13,016; George Rose: £65,000:
and Mike Turner: £43,756 plus grants of
Deferred Stock Units to the value of £42,118.

Chairman’s appeointment, term and fees

Dick Olver was appointed Chairman on

1 luly 2004. His appointment is for an
initial fixed three year term with effect

from 17 May 2004 {the date that he was
appointed to the Board as a non-executive
director) unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the Company's Articles

of Association, or by either party giving the
other not less than six months’ prior written
notice. His appointment is documented in a
letter of appointment which is not a contract
of employment and he is required to devote
no fewer than two days a week to his duties
as Chairman. The Nominations Committee
wilt review his appointment prior to the end
of the three-year term and will, if appropriate
(and subject to the agreement of Mr Qlver},
recommend to the Board that he be invited
to serve for an additional period. His
appointment as Chairman will automatically
terminate if he ceases to be a director of
the Company. His fee, which has been set
by the Committee at £500,000 per annum,
will not be subject to review during the initial
three-year term.

Non-executive directors’ appointment, term
and fees

The non-executive directors do not have
service contracts but do have letters of
appointment detailing the basis of their
appointment. The dates of their original
appointment were as follows:

Nonexecutive Date of Expiry of
director appointment current term*
Sue Birley 22.11.2000 09.05.2007
Phil Carrolf 07.09.2005 06.09.2008

01.12.1999 26.02.2007
10.06.2003 09.06.2009
22.01.2003 21.01.2009
07.09.2005 06.09.2008
10.09.2006 09.09.2009
16.06.2005 15.06.2008

Ulrich Cartellieri
Michael Hartnall
Sir Peter Mason
Roberte Quarta
Sir Nigel Rudd
Peter Weinberg

* subject to re-election at the AGM following their
appointment and subsequently at intervals of no more
than three years in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association

The non-executive direciors are normally
appointed for two consecutive three-year
terms subject to review after the end of the
first three-year period and with any third term
of three years being subject to rigorous
review and taking into account the need
progressively 1o refresh the Beard, They do
not have periods of notice and the Company
has no obligation to pay compensation when
their appointment terminates. They are

subject 1o re-election at the AGM following
their appointment and subsequently at
intervals of no more than three years,

Michael Portillo retired from the Board at
the conclusion of the 2006 AGM on 4 May
2006, having originally been appointed

to the Board on 11 September 2002,

The letters of appointment for nan-executive
directors detail the amount of time it is
anticipated that the individual will need to
devote 1o his or her duties as a director.
Non-executive directors are proposed by the
Nominations Committee and are appointed
by the Board on the basis of their experience
to provide independent judgement on issues
of strategy, performance, resources and
standards of conduct. The level of their

fees is set after reviewing practice in

cther comparable companies.

Details of the non-executive directors’ fees
in 2006 are shown in Table E on page 64.

Fees payable to the non-executive directors
are agreed by the Non-Executive Directors’
Fees Committee. Non-executive directors are
paid a fee reflecting the time commitment
required of the director, The fee level for

the chairmen of the Audit, Corporate
Responsibility, and Remuneration Committees,
and for the Senior Independent Director,
reflects their additiona! responsibilities and
workload. In addition, a transatlantic meeting
allowance of £4,000C per board meeting is
payable t¢ nonexecutive directors; this takes
into account the additional time commitment
required by the European-based non-executive
directors to attend board meetings in the US
and simitarly the commitment of US-based
nor-executive directors to attend board
meetings in Europe.

The fees payable to the non-executive
directors were reviewed in February 2007
and the following fee structure was

agreed for 2007 to reflect the various
responsibilities of the individual directors: a
fee of £77,500 for the chairman of the Audit
Committee; a fee of £72,500 for each of the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
the chairman of the Carporate Responsibility
Committee, and the Senior Independent
Director; and a fee of £57.500 for each

of the other non-executive directors.

By order of the Board

Dick Olver
Chairman

21 February 2007

58 BAE Systems Annua! Report 2006




Table A

As at 31 December 2006. the directors of the Company and their families had the following beneficial and non-beneficial interests in the

Company's securities. There have been no changes in the interests of the current directors listed in the table below between 31 December

2006 and 21 February 2007 with the exception of:

(i) the share interests of Steve Mogford who has acquired an additional 63 ordinary shares since 31 December 2006 under the partnership
and matching shares elements of the Share Incentive Plan so that his beneficial shareholding at the date of this report stood at 149.,003;
and

(i) the option figures for Chris Geoghegan, Steve Mogford, George Rose and Mike Turner which have reduced on account of the lapse of share
options in February 2007 so that their option figures as at the date of this report were as follows: Chris Geoghegan: 1,201.873;

Steve Mogford: 1,235,703: George Rose: 1,400,520: and Mike Turner: 2,169,697,

The interests of the two directors appointed since 31 December 2006, as at the date of approval of this report, are stated in a footnote to
the table betow.

Directors’ interests

As at 1 January 2006* As at 31 December 2006**

Ordinary Restricted  Performance Ordinary 7 Restricted  Performance

shares Options Share Plan Share Plan shares Options Share Plan Share Plan
Prof S Birley 2,925 - - - 2925 - - -
P J Carroll - - - - - - - -
Dr U Cartellieri - - - - - - - -
C V Geoghegan 141,016 1,363,186 42,764 613,003 143,150 1,411,363 42,764 722,231
M J Hartnall 23,000 - - - 20,000 - - -
M Lester! 616,553 1,931,908 87,937 753.691 618,702 1,843,973 87.937 886,284
Sir Peter Mason 25,000 - - - 25283 - - -
S L Mogford 127.869 1,572,757 - 613,003 148,940 1,469,136 - 722231
R L Olver 40,000 - - 40,000 - - -
Rt Hon M Portillo? - - - - - - - -
R Quarta - - - = - - - -
M H Ronald* 255,587 1.618,677 81,928 659,808 255,587 1,262,461 81,928 708,308
G W Rose 354.831 1.728860 33971 679986 354,950 1,660,221 33,971 803,817
Sir Niget Rudd?® - - - - - - - -
M J Turner 419,646 2,262,728 137,924 1,058.656 435880 2.446,712 137,924 1,363,562
P A Weinberg - - - - - - - -

*  Or upon appeintment

** gr upon ceasing to be a director of the Company
1 retired as a director on 31 December 2006

2 retired as a director on 4 May 2006

3 appointed on 10 September 2006

Remuneration report

As at 31 December 2006 Michael Lester held a non-beneficial interest in 200,000 (2005 200,000) ordinary shares.

The executive directors., in common with all employees of the Company, have an interest in the unallocated shares held in employee share ownership trusts. As at 31 December 2008,
no (2005 702,481) such shares were heid in the ESOP trust, 90,394 (2005 80,111} (91,250 as at the date of this report) shares in the Profit Sharing Scheme trust. and 152,742
(2005 102,158) (150,771 as at the date of this report) shares in the Share Incentive Plan trust.

It is the Company's policy not to seek to exercise voting rights on shares held in the employee trusts other than on the direction of the underlying beneficiaries.
The interests of the two directors appointed since the year end. as at the date of approval of this repor, were as follows:

W P Havenstein: Ordinary shares 57 924: Options 466,586; Restricted Share Plan 25,624, and Performance Share Plan 278,788,

| G King: Ordinary shares 164,066; Options 1.096,725: Restricted Share Ptan 75.627: and Performance Share Plan 638.707.
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Information subject to audit
The Auditors are required to report on the information contained in Tables B, C, D, E and F on pages 60 to 65.

The Company's register of directors’ interests (which is open to inspection) contains full details of directors’ share interests. Details of
directors’ interests in the share option schemes and long-term incentive plans are shown in Tables B, C and D. The figures in the tables that
form part of this report have been calculated by reference to a mid-market price for the Company's ordinary shares at 31 December 2006

of 425.75p (2005 381.75p). The range during 2006 was 329p to 449.75p.

Table B

Long-term incentive plans
Restricted Share Plan

1 January Awarded during Vested durng 31 December

2006 the year the year 2006

C V Geoghegan 42,764 - - 42,764
M Lester 87.937 - - 87,937
S L Mogford - - - -
M H Ronald* 81,928 - - 81,928
G W Rose 33,971 - - 33.971
M J Turner 137,924 - - 137.924

1 retired as a director on 31 December 2006

No awards were granted to or vested in respect of directors who served during 2006,

Table C

Directors’ Share Options
Executive Share Cption Plan

1 January Granted during Exercised during Lapsed during 31 December

2008 the year the year the year 2006

C V Geoghegan 1,360,721 163.843 - 113,636 1,410,928
M Lester* 1,929,878 188,890 - 284,795 1,843,973
S L Mogford 1,571,545 163,843 54,556 211,696 1,469,136
M H Ronald? 1,618,677 200,944 384,583 172,577 1,262,461
G W Rose 1,728,425 185,747 - 254,386 1,659,786
M J Turner 2,259,199 457,359 - 271,345 2,445213

1 retired as a director on 31 December 2008
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The BAE Systems Executive Share Option Plan has been used to grant options to the executive directors since 2001. The performance conditions applying to the grants of options made
in 2001-2004 are the same as for grants 1o be made in 2007, as set out on page 54 of this report, with the exception of the retesting provision: for grants made between 2001-2003,
where the original three-year performance is nol met, performance is re-tested at the end of years four and five against the full period from grant; for grants made in 2004, where the
original performance target is not met. performance is re-tested at the end of year five against the full period from grant, In all these cases the option will lapse in year five if the targets
have not been achieved, The performance conditions applying to the grants of options made in 2005 and 2006 are the same as for grants to be made in 2007, as set cut on page 54
of this report; there is ne re-testing of performance for grants made in 2005 and beyond,

On completion of the BAe/MES merger in 1999, options were granted to executive directors under the predecessor Executive Share Option Scheme. Options granted o Michael Lester
and Mark Ronald in 1899 could enly be exercised if the pre-exceptional EPS for any threeyear period exceeded the sum of inflation for that period and a real growth requirement of 9%
was achieved and these options vested in full in February 2006. Options granted 1o the other executive directors in 1699 (which partially vested in 2004) were conditional on the
satisfaction of a special performance condition based on the achievernent of cost savings of The merger integration process over the three year performance period commencing on

1 January 2000.

In addition, Mark Ronald has a cash-settled Stock Appreciation Right (SAR) over 115,675 ordinary shares granted on 3 May 2000 at a SAR price of £3.98, exercisable from 3 May
2003. The potential payment on exercise is the difference between the SAR price and the share price on the date of exercise. The right is exercisable until 31 December 2007 and
was subject to the performance condition retating to options granted in 2000 (i.¢. exercisable only if growth in pre-exceptional EPS for any threeyear period over the ten-year life
exceeded the sum of inflation for that period and a real growth requirement of 9%) which has been met.

A breakdown of options held by executive directors under the Executive Share Option Plan is given overleaf.
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The breakdown of the options held by executive directors under the Executive Share Option Plan is as follows:

Granted Exercised Lapsed Exercise Date of Date
1 January during the during the during the 31 December price Date of exercise from which Expiry
2006 year year year 2006 £ grant or lapse exercisable date
€ V Geoghegan 118,090 - - - 118,080 3.98 03.05.00 - 03.05.03* 03.05.10
113.636 - - 113,636 - 3.30 23.05.01 23.02.06 23.05.04 23.05.11
89,552 - - - 89,552 3.35 03.04.02 - 03.04.05° 03.04.12
119,938 - - - 119,938 3.26 22.10.02 - 221005 2210.12
351,218 - - - 351,218 1.72 30.09.03 - 30.09.08' 30.09.13
315,447 - - - 315,447 2.01 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14
252,840 - - -~ 252,840 2.64 24.03.05 - 24.03.08 24.03.15
- 163,843 - - 163,843 4,28 12.04.06 - 12.04.09* 12.04.16
Total 1,360,721 163,843 - 113,636 1,410,928
M Lester* 223,800 - - - 223,800 421 2012.99 - 20.12.02' 20.12.09
284,795 - - 284,795 - 3.42 04.05.01 23.02.06 04.0504 040511
290,746 - - - 290,746 3.35 03.04.02 — 03.04.05* 03.04.12
437,451 - - - 437,451 1.72 30.09.03 - 30.09.06' 30.09.13
386,268 - - - 386,268 2.01 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14
306,818 - - - 306,818 264 24.03.05 - 24.03.08® 24.03.15
~ 198,890 - - 198,880 4,28 12.04.06 - 12.04.09° 12.04.16
Total 1929878 198.890 - 284,795 1843973
S L Mogford 54,556 - 54,556 - - 275 021096 28.02.06 02.10.99* 02.10.06
64,415 - - - 64,415 421 201299 - 20.12.02* 20.12.09
87,940 - - - 87,940 3.98 03.05.00 - 03.05.03* 03.05.10
211,696 - - 211,696 - 3.42 04.05.01 23.02.06 040504 04.05.11
233,433 - - —- 233,433 3.35 03.04.02 - 03.04.057 03.04.12
351,218 - - - 351,218 1.72  30.09.03 - 30.09.06" 30.09.13
315,447 - - - 315,447 201 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14
252,840 - - - 252,840 2.64 24.03.05 - 24.03.08° 24.03.15
- 163,843 - - 163,843 4,28 12.04.06 - 12.04.09* 12.04.16
Total 1,571,545 163,843 54,556 211,696 1,469,136
M H Ronald* 159,952 - - - 159,952 4,21 2012.99 - 201202 20.12.09 5
172,577 - - 1725677 - 330 23.05.01 230206 230504 230511 @
296,435 - - - 296,435 3.35 03.04.02 - 03.04.05* 03.04.12 8
384,583 — 384,583 — - 1.72 30.09.03 21.12.06 30.09.06' 30.09.13 g
325,632 - - - 325,632 2.01 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14 s
255,531 - — - 2555631 264 240305 - 24.03.08® 24.03.15 nﬂ:EJ
23,967 - - - 23,967 3.56 221205 - 221208 221215
- 200,944 - - 200,944 4.28 12.04.06 - 12.04.09° 12.04.16
Total 1,618,677 200,944 384,583 172577 1,262,461
G W Rose 79,233 - - - 79.233 3.29 06.10.98 - 06.10.01* 06.10.08
115,125 - - - 115,125 421 20.12.99 - 20.12.02* 20.142.09
254,386 - - 254,386 - 3.42 04.05.01 23.02.06 04.05.04 04.05.11
259,701 - - - 259,701 3.35 03.04.02 - 03.04.05* 03.04.12
390,741 - - - 390,741 1.72 30.09.03 —  30.09.06* 30.09.13
345,149 - - - 345,149 2.01 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14
284,090 - - - 284,090 264 24.03.05 - 24.03.08° 24.03.15
- 185,747 - -~ 185,747 4.28 12.04.06 - 12.04.09* 12.04.16
Total 1,728,425 185,747 - 254,386 1,659,786
M J Turner 122,855 — - - 122,855 421 20.12.99 - 2012.02' 20.12.09
271,345 - - 271,345 - 3.42 04.05.01 230206 04.05.04 040511
277,015 - - - 277,015 3.35 03.04.02 - 03.04.05* 03.04.12
588,663 - - - 588,663 1.72 30.09.03 - 30.00.06* 30.09.13
544,776 - - - BAa4,776 2.01 30.03.04 - 30.03.07* 30.03.14
454,545 - - - 454,545 2.64 24.03.05 - 24.03.08° 24.03.15
- 457,359 - - 457,359 4,28 12.04.08 - 12.04.09% 12.04.16
Total 2,259,199 457,359 - 271,345 2,445,213
1 subject to & performance condition which has been met 2 lapsed February 2007 (the infermation above is stated as at 31 December 2006)
3 subject to a performance condition that is yet 1o be tested 4 retired as a director on 31 December 2006

The maximum duration for the grant of an option under the Executive Share Option Plan is ten years.
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Table E

Directors’ remuneration

2006 2005

Basic Basic

salary Fees Bonus Benefits Other pay Total salary Fees Bonus Benefits Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Chairman
R L Olver - 500 - 6 - 506 - 500 - 5 505
Executive directors
C V Geoghegan 468 - 444 31 105 1,048 445 - 423 25 893
M Lester! 568 - 556 27 - 1,151 540 - 529 31 1,100
S L Mogford 468 - 463 25 - 956 445 - 441 24 9o
M H Ronald! 542 - 773 31 643 1,989 495 - 744 32 1,271
G W Rose 530 - 519 27 - 1,076 500 - 495 27 1,022
M J Turner 870 - 1,305 31 196 2,402 800 - 792 45 1,638
Non-executive directors
Prof S Birley - 73 - - - 73 - 63 - - 63
P J Carroll - 70 - - - 70 - 18 - - 18
Dr U Cartellieri - 58 - - - 58 - 53 - - 53
M J Hartnail - 78 - - - 78 - 73 - - 73
Lord Hesketh? n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a - 16 - - 15
Sir Peter Mason - 73 - - - 73 - 63 - - 63
Rt Hon M Portiltot - 17 - - - 17 - 53 - - 53
R Quarta - 58 - - - 58 - 18 - - 18
Sir Nigel Rudd? - 15 - - - 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
P A Weinberg - 77 - - - 77 ~ 34 - - 34

3,446 1,019 4,060 178 944 9,647 3,225 891 3,424 190 7,730

1 retired during or at the end of 2006
2 appointed during 2006
3 retired in 2005

All emoluments and compensation paid to the directors during the year are shown above. Where the individual was appointed during the year the amount shown is for the period from
appointment,

The ather pay received by Mark Ronald. the US-hased executive director, is in relation to salary in lieu of unused holiday ($185,000) and his contractual termination payment of $1m
(as previously disclosed and detailed on page 57), which relates to the 2006 financial year but will be later paid in 2007 in accordance with US law.

The ather pay received by Chris Geoghegan and Mike Turner is in respect of a cash supplement payahle from opting out of future accrual under the Company pension schemes.

The benefits received by the UK-based executive directors include, where appliceble. the provision of a car and the taxable benefit of any private use of a chauffeur, altendance
at corporate events, support in refation to relocation/second residence and independent financial planning for pension advice. The benefit received by Dick Olver was the taxable
benefit relating te the private use of a chauffeur. The benefits Mark Ronald received include a cash allowance for a car, medical examination, dental benefits, and insured life and
disability benefits.
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The fees payable to the non-executive directors during 2006 comprised £70.000 for the chairman of the Audit Committee: a fee of £66,000 for the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, the chairman of the Corporate Respensibility Committee, and the Senior Independent Director; and a fee of £50,000 for each of the other non-executive directors. In
addition, a transatlantic meeting allowance of £4,000 per meeting was paid to European-based non-executive directors attending board meetings in the US and to US-based nen-
executive directors attending board meetings in Europe.

Sir Charles Masefield retired a5 a director on 28 February 2003 and remains employed by the Company on a part-ime basis in an overseas representational role. In 2006 his
remuneration was £316,600 (2005 £302,500) and comprised a salary and a cash allowance for a car. Sir Richard Evans retired as a director and chairman on 30 June 2004 and
remains employed by the Company in a part-time customer relationship role. In 2008 his remuneration was £317,350 (2005 £303,000) and comprised salary and a cash allowance
for a car.

There were no other payments to former directors during the year other than the payment to Richard Lapthorne referred to in the notes to Table F on page 65.
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Table F

Post-retirement benefits

Change in
Accrued accrued Transfer Transfer Increase in
pension at Increase pension value at value at transfer value
31 December in accrued after allowing 1 January 31 December Director's less director's
2006 berefits for inflation 2006* 2006 contributions contributions
Age NRA* £ per annum £ per annum £ per annum £ £ £ £
C V Geoghegan® 52 60 246,934 5,891 (517) 2,947,733 3,381,361 10,816 422,812
S L Mogford 50 60 235,563 19,282 13,633 2,374,257 2,813,722 43,263 396,202
G W Rose? 54 60 262,985 29,651 23,448 3,243,501 3,944,663 40,762 660,400
M J Turner? 58 60 574,406 51,070 37,159 8,723,438 10,546,221 20,164 1,802.619

* Normal Retirement Age

1 Transfer velues have been calculated in accordance with GN11 issued by the actuarial profession. For UK-based directors the assumgtions are the same as those used in the
calculation of cash equivalents from the Group's UK pension schemes. The amount of the increase in transfer value arising from the change in assumptions is:

Chris Geoghegan £61,658: Steve Mogford £39,874; George Rose £43,042: Mike Turner £53,331,

2 As a result of the changes to taxation of pensions introduced in April 2006, Mike Turner and Chris Geoghegan elected to opt out of their pension schemes and since April 2006
have been receiving a taxable salary supplement of 30% of their basic salaries.

3 George Rose’s unapproved retirement arrangement is partly funded ang partly unfunged. The Company’s pension contribution to the funded unapproved retirement arrangement
for George Rose in 2006 was £336,657 (2005 £569.378). Of this amount, approximately £100,507 (2005 £377.328) relates to the cost of benefits accruing during the year
and approximately £236,150 relates to fully funding the unapproved arrangement for pensionable service up to 6 April 2006.

Actual pension

in payment at
31 December Iricrease/ Transfer Transfer Change in
2006 {decrease) value at value at Change in  transfer value
{exciuding in pension in 1 january 31 December transfer value less director's
AVC pension} payment 2006 2006 over the year contributions
Age £ per annum £ per annum £ £ £
M Lester 66 252,940 5,928 5,016,071 5,100,989 84,918 84,918
M H Ronatd® 65 361,511 (48,502) 3,623,981 3,016,352 (607,629) (607.629)

4 Under the rules of the UK schemes, Michael Lester commenced his pension in 2002 having reached normal retirerment age. There has been no further benefit accrual since retiring
other than pension increases awarded to all pensioner members of the relevant pension schemes, Michael Lester retired from the Board on 31 December 2006.
5 Under the rules of his pensicon arrangements. the majority of Mark Ronald’s pension commenced in January 2004 when he reached normal retirement age. The pensien in payment
includes an accrued pension of $47,914 ($44.83% at 31 December 2005) from the BAE Systems North America Qualified Plan that commenced when he retired from the Board
on 31 December 2006. The Qualified Plan is a contributory arrangement. Of the pension in payment, $406,322 is payable up to when he reaches age 72 and $253,242 has
a contingent 50% spouse's pension. Mark Ronald participated in a Section 401(k} defined contribution arrangement set up for US employees in which the Company matched
employee contributions up to a limit. In 2006 the Compary paid contributions of $5.293 (2005 $5.465) into Mark Ronald’s 4Q1(k) arrangement. Mark Renald’s pension is paid
in US dotlars. Of the change in pension £(50.292) is due 16 currency movements and £1.790 is due to increases in his accrued pension, in accordance with the plan’s standard
terms the Company will match any contributions made by Mark Ronald in 2007 into his 401(k} arrangement relating to eligible earnings earned in respect of service up to
31 December 2006 up to the federal limit in each year (currently $15,000).

Richard Lapthorne, a former director, has an unfunded pension arrangement. In 2006 the Company paid Richard Lapthorne £90,078 (2005 £87,805) in respect of this arrangement.
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The directors of BAE Systems plc present their
report, together with the financial statements,
for the year ended 31 December 2006,

Principal activities

BAE Systems is a group delivering, through
its wholly owned subsidiaries and equity
accounted investments, a full range of
products and services for air, land and naval
forces, as well as advanced electronics,
information technology solutions and
customer support services. Further details
of the principal activities of the Group and
likely future developments in the business
are set out in the operating and financial
review on pages 2 to 40.

Prior to the sale of its equity accounted
investment in Airbus on 13 October 2006
the Group was involved in the design and
manufacture of commercial aircraft.

Business Review

The information provided in the operating and
financial review on pages 2 to 40 reports on
the activities during the year, post balance
sheet evenis and likely future developments.
The information in this review constitutes
the business review required under the
Companies Act and forms part of this
Directors' Report.

Research and development

The Group is engaged in a significant
programme of research and development

in support of the platforms, systems and
services that it provides to its customers.
The programme covers a wide range of
work and includes performance innovations,
improvements to manufacturing technigues,
and technology to improve the through-life
support of products. A particular priority is
research and development into systems
integrating both platforms and other systems
and also the horizontal integration of
systems. The development and demonstration
of capabilities in networked systems, and
enabling interoperability, is an important area
of focus in both the UK and US. Longterm
research is undertaken through partnerships
with the academic sector and in the Company’s
Advanced Technology Centre and Systems
Engineering Innovation Centre. Application
of this research is managed by the Group’s
business units through business focused
research and development programmes.
Customers fund directly much of the near-
term product development work undertaken
by the Company. Note 4 to the Group
accounts details the amounts spent on
research and development in 2006.

Office of Fair Trading undertakings

As a consequence of the merger between
British Aerospace and the former GEC-
Marconi Electronics Systems businesses
in 1999, the Company is required to comply
with undertakings given to the Secretary of
State for Trade and Industry. Compliance
with the undertakings is monitored by an
independent compliance officer. Further
information regarding the undertakings
and the contact detaits of the compliance
officer may be obtained through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s registered office.

Corporate governance

Disclosures on the application of the principles
and compliance with the provisions of the
UR's Cambined Code can be found on
pages 44 to 47.

Treasury policy

The Group's treasury activities are overseen
by the Treasury Review Management
Committee (TRMC). Two executive directars are
members of the TRMC, including the Group
Finance Director who chairs the committee.
The TRMC also has representatives with
legal and taxation expertise.

The Group operates a centralised treasury
department that is accountable to the TRMC
for managing treasury activities in accordance
with the framework of treasury policies and
guidelines approved by the Board. An
overriding policy is that trading in financial
instruments for the purpose of profit
generation is prohibited, with all financial
instruments being used solely for risk
management purposes.

Other key policies are:

- to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use
of borrowings with a range of maturities,
currencies and fixed/floating rates of
interest reflecting the Group risk profile;

- 10 maintain adequate undrawn committed
borrowing facilities:

- to mitigate the exposure to interest rate
fluctuations on borrowings and deposits by
utilising interest rate swaps, interest rate
options and forward rate agreements; and

— to hedge all material firm transactional
exposures as well as to manage anticipated
economic cash flows over the medium term.
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Within this policy framework the treasury
department’s principal responsibilities are:

- to manage the Group’s core funding
and liguidity:

—to manage exposure to interest rate
movements;

—to manage exposure to foreign currency
movements;

- to control and monitor bank credit risk
and credit capacity utilisation; and

— to manage the Group's relationship with
debt capital market investors, banks and
rating agencies.

The treasury department transacts with an
extensive range of counterparty banks and
financial institutions, and adopts a systematic
approach to the contrel and monitoring of
counterparty credit risk. A credit limit is
allocated to each counterparty with reference
{0 its relevant credit rating. For internal credit
risk purposes, all transactions are marked-to-
market and the resultant exposure is
allocated against the credit limit.

The Company, through its internal audit
department, monitors compliance against
the principal policies and guidelines
{including the utilisation of credit) and any
exceptions found are reported to the TRMC.
Further disclosure on financial instruments
is set out In note 32 to the Group accounts.

Supplier payment policy

It is Group policy that each business unit is

in compliance with local best practice in the
country of operation in respect of supplier
payment policies. Agreed payment schedules
are maintained provided that the supplier
complies with all relevant terms and conditions.
[t is Group policy that changes to the agreed
payment schedule are only made with the
prior agreement of the supplier,

The average number of days credit provided
in 2006 by suppliers was 37 days (2005
38 days),




Employment

The Group has a programme in place to assist
employees to achieve their full potential and
to develop the skills necessary to meet the
current and future expectations of our
customers. The programme focuses on both
personal and technological development. All
employment policies include a commitment to
equal opportunities regardless of sex, race,
colour, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, age
or disability, subject only to considerations
of national security. The Group's policy is

to provide, wherever possible, employment
opportunities for disabled people and to
ensure that disabled people joining the Group
and employees who become disabled whilst
in our employment benefit from training and
career development opportunities. The Group
has put into place a number of ways of
consulting with employees and providing
them with information on the performance
of the Group and other matters that affect
them. The effectiveness of the communication
process is assessed regularly with the aim
of ensuring continual improvement so as to
provide employees with the information they
want by the most effective means.

Employees are actively encouraged to
hecome shareholders in the Company by
way of employee share schemes.

Honours

In the UK, the following individuals were
honoured in Her Majesty the Queen’s 2006
Birthday Honoues and 2007 New Year
Honours lists:

MBE: David Armstrong

Philip Jones
Alan Smith
Dr Trevor Taylor

Bernard Waldron

Share capital

As at 21 February 2007, the Company had
been advised of the following significant
interests in the issued ordinary share capital
of the Company:

Barclays PLC: 3.98%
Capital Group Companies, Inc.: 5.9462%
FMR Corp and

Fidelity International Limited: 3.96%
Franklin Resources. Inc.

and affitiates: 4.9246%
Legal and General Group Plc: 3.45%

The Company’s Articles of Association contain
provisions to the effect that no foreign
person, or foreign persons acting in concert,
can have an interest in more than 15% of
the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.

At the Annual General Meeting {AGM) held
on 4 May 2006 the Company was given
authority to purchase up to 321,987,720 of
its ordinary shares. The authority will expire
at the AGM held in 2007. in connection with
the disposal of its interest in Airbus, the
Company had stated its intention to return
up to £500m to ordinary shareholders by way
of on-market purchases of ordinary shares
using authorities granted at the 2006 AGM
and to hold the repurchased shares initially
in Treasury. The Company commenced this
buyback programme on 26 October 2006
and, as at the date of this report, had
repurchased 41,695,000 of its ordinary
shares. A special resolution will be put to
shareholders at this year's AGM to renew
the authority to make market purchases of
the Company's shares up to a maximum of
10% of the share capital of the Company.

Results and dividends

Profit for the year was £1,639m (2005
£555m). The directors progose a final dividend
of 6.9p per ordinary share, amounting to
£224m (2005 £203m), which together with
the interim dividend, amounts to a total
annual dividend of 11.3p per ordinary

share (2005 10.3p).

Charitable donations

During 20086, the amount donated for
charitahle purposes in the UK was £1m
{2005 £1.2m). Further details of the
Company's charitable activities are set
out on page 40.

Political donations
Na political donations were made in 2006.

Directors
The names of the current directors appear
on pages 42 to 43.

All of the current directors served as
directors of the Company throughout the year
ended 31 December 2006 with the exception
of Sir Nige! Rudd who was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on
10 September 2006, lan King who was
appointed as a director on 1 January 2007
and Walt Havenstein who was appointed as a
director on 2 January 2007. Michael Portillo
served as a director during the peried up to
his retirement at the conclusion of the AGM
held on 4 May 2006. In addition, Michael
Lester and Mark Ronald served as directors
throughout the year, and both retired as
directors on 31 December 2006.

The remuneration report is set out on
pages 51 1o 65.

Beneficial and non-beneficial interests,
including family interests, in the share capital
of the Company for those persons who were
directors at the end of the financial year are
detailed on page 59. There have been no
changes in such interesis in the period from
the year end to 21 February 2007 except
as declared on page 59.

The Board is not aware of any contract of
significance {other than service contracts or
as disclosed in the remuneration report) in
relation to the Campany or its subsidiaries
in which any director has, or has had, any
material interest.

Directors' indemnities

The Company has entered into deeds of
indemnity with all its current directors, which
are qualifying third-party indemnity provisions
for the purpose of the Companies Act 1985,
A similar indemnity has been provided to
Sir Richard Evans, a former director who
retired from the Board on 30 June 2004
but remains an employee of the Company
in a part-time customer relationship role.

Annual General Meeting

The Company's Annual General Meeting

wili be held on 9 May 2007. The Notice of
Annual General Meeting is enclosed with this
annual report and details the resolutions to
be proposed at the meeting. These include
special resolutions for the disapplication of
pre-emption rights pursuant to section 89 of
the Companies Act 1985 and for amendments
1o the Articles of Association to incorporate
provisions concerning electronic
comimunications with shareholders.

Auditors

KPMG Audit Plc, the auditors for the
Company, have indicated their willingness to
continue in office and a resolution proposing
their re-appointment will be put to the Annual
General Meeting.

Directors™ report

The directors who held office at the date

of approval of this Directors' Repart confirm
that, so far as they are each aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the
Company's auditors are unaware; and each
director has taken all the steps that he/she
ought to have taken to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit infermation and
to establish that the Company’s auditors

are aware of that information.

By order of the Board

David Parkes
Company Secretary

21 February 2007
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of the annual report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the group and parent
company financial statements, in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to
prepare group and parent company financial
statements for each financial year. Under
that law the directors are required to prepare
the group financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and
have elected to prepare the parent company
financial statements in accordance with UK
Accounting Standards.

The group financial statements are required
by taw and IFRSs as adopted by the EU

to present fairly the financial position and
performance of the group: the Companies Act
1985 provides in relation to such financial
statements that references in the relevant
part of that Act to financial statements giving
a true and fair view are references to their
achieving a fair presentation.

The parent company financial statements are
required by law to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the parent company.

In preparing each of the group and parent
company financial statements, the directors
are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;

— make judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent:

- for the group financial statements,
state whether they have been prepared
in accordance with tFRSs as adopted
by the EU;

— for the parent company financial statements,
state whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the parent company financial
statements; and

— prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the group
and the parent company will continue
in business.

The directors are respensible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent company and enable
them to ensure that its financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985.

They have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open 1o

them to safeguard the assets of the

group and to prevent and detect fraud

and other irregularities,

Under applicable law and regulations,
the directors are also responsible for
preparing a Directors’ Report. Directors’
Remuneration Report and Corporate
Governance Statement that comply
with that law and those regulations.
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We have audited the group and parent company financial statements
{the ‘financial statements’) of BAE Systems plc for the year ended
31 December 2006 which comprise the Consolidated Income
Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets,
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement
of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information

in the Directors’ Remuneration Repont that is described as having
been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’'s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Qur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
{0 anyone other than the company and the company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and
the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the EU. and for preparing the parent company financial
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance
with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities on page 68.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland),

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
treen properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the

IAS Regulation, We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report
includes that specific infarmation presented in the Operating and
Financial Review that is cross referred from the Business Review
section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration

and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the board’'s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures

or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and

the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be audited. It
also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
o the group's and company's circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of infermation in the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Repaort to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

— the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of
the group's affairs as at 31 December 2006 and of its profit
for the year then ended;

— the group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Articte 4 of the
IAS Regulation; .

— the parent company financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at
31 December 2006;

- the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors” Remuneration Report 1o be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

— the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the financial statements.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
London

21 February 2007
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Restated" Restated’
Total Tatal
2006 2008 2005 2005
Notes £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Combined sales of Group and equity accounted investments 3 13,765 12,681
Less: share of equity accounted investments 3 (1,432) {1,562}
Revenue 3 12333 11,019
Operating costs 4 {11,763) (10,579)
Other income 5 371 247
Group operating profit excluding amortisation and impairment
of intangible assets 1,080 809
Amortisation 11 (105) (77)
impairment 11 (34) (45)
Group operating profit 941 687
Share of results of equity accounted investments excluding finance costs
and taxation expense 127 100
Financial income of equity accounted investments 21 8
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments (35) (34)
Share of results of equity accounted investments 14 113 74
Earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets,
finance costs and taxation expense (EBITA) 1,207 909
Amortisation (105) (77)
Impairment (34) (45)
Financial income of equity accounted investrnents 21 8
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments {(35) (34)
Operating profit 3 1,054 761
Finance costs 6
Financial income 1,330 1,224
Financial expense {1,525) (1,428)
(195) (204}
Profit before taxation 859 557
Taxation expense ) 8
UK taxation (97) (37)
Overseas taxation {116) (76)
(213) {113)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 646 444
Profit for the year from discontinued operatlons 9 293 111
Profit for the year 1,639 555
Attributable to:
BAE Systems shareholders 1,636 553
Minority interests 3 2
1,639 555
Earnings per share 10
Centinuing operations:
Basic earnings per share 19.9p 13.9p
Diluted earnings per share 19.8p 14.1p
Discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share 30.8p 3.5p
Diluted earnings per share 29.4p 3.3p
Total:
Basic eamnings per share 50.7p 17.4p
Diluted eamings per share 49.2p 17.4p

1 restated following the sale of Airbus SAS (note 9)
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2006 2005

Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 7,595 8,217
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,746 1,704
Investment property 13 123 218
Equity accounted investments 14 671 1,721
Other investments 15 11 9
QOther receivables 16 569 912
Other financial assets 17 51 65
Deferred tax assets 8 1077 1,331
11843 14,177
Current assets
Inventories 18 395 485
Trade and other receivables including amounts due from customers for contract work 16 2,253 1,877
Current tax 3 20
Other investments 15 503 634
Other financial assets 17 50 54
Cash and cash equivalents . 3.100 2,581
6,304 5,651
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 19 - 407
6,304 6,058
Total assets 3 18,147 20,235
Non-current liabilities
Loans ’ 20 {2,776) {3.534)
Trade and other payables 21 (465) (432)
Retirement benefit obligations 22 (2,499) (4.101)
Cther financial liabilities 17 (45) (45}
Deferred tax liahilities 8 (15) 23)
Provisions 23 (271) (375)
{6,071) (8,510)
Current liabilities
Loans and cverdrafts . 20 (334) (905)
Trade and other payables 21 (6,717) (7,0006)
Other financial liabilities 17 {(b0) (81)
Current tax {417) {(316)
Provisions 23 (424) {(343)
(7,942) (8,651)
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 19 - {(270)
(7,942) (8,921)
Total liabilities 3 {14,013) (17.431)
Net assets 4,134 2,804
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 25, 27 81 80
Share premium 27 841 782
Equity option of convertible preference shares 27 76 78
Other reserves 27 4,330 4,720
Retained earnings 27 (1,211) (2,872)
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 4117 2,788
Minority interests 27 17 16
Total equity 4,134 2,804

Approved by the Board on 21 February 2007 and signed on its behalf by:
M J Turner G W Rose
Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Restated*

2006 2005
Notes Em £m
Profit for the year
Continuing operations 646 444
Discontinued operations 993 111
1,639 555
Taxation expense {includes £4m (2005 £1m} from discontinued operations) 217 114
Share of results of equity accounted investments (includes £70m (2005 £139m) from
discontinued operations) (183) (213)
Net finance costs (includes income £2m (2005 expense £3m) from discontinued operations) 193 207
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 422 524
(Gain)/loss on disposa! of property, plant and equipment 4.5 (60) 2
Gain on disposal of investment property 5 (84) (43)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of business — continuing operations 4,5 (13) 4
(Gain)/loss on disposal of business - discontinued operations 9 (925) 8
Impairment of other investments 15 2 2
Cost of equity-settled employee share schemes 21 16
Movements in provisions 47 99
Decrease in liabilities for retirement benefit obligations (834) (98}
Decrease/(increase) in working capital:
Inventories 28 54
Trade and other receivables {187) {4}
Trade and other payables 495 872
Cash inflow from operating activities 778 2,099
Interest paid (315) {(213)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (11) (17)
Taxation paid (85) (27)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 367 1,842
Dividends received from equity accounted investments (inciuding £88m (2005 £64m) from
discontinued operations) 145 88
Interest received 139 99
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (419) {318)
Capital expenditure on investment property - (12)
Purchases of intangible assets 27 17
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and eguipment 135 30
Proceeds from sale of investment property 174 54
Proceeds from sale of non-current gther investments 1 30
Purchase of non-current other investments 15 (5) (17)
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 31 (12) {2,262)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undentakings - 128
Purchase of equity accounted investments (4) -
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary undertakings 174 460
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of with subsidiary undertakings (40) 1
Proceeds from sale of equity accounted investments 9 1,212 125
Proceeds from sale of Exchange Property 15 557 -
Net proceeds from (purchase)/sale of other deposits/securities (468) 45
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 1,562 (1,566)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (45) (89)
Proceeds from issue of share capital 27 53 373
Purchase of treasury shares 27 (112) -
Purchase of own shares by ESOP 27 (12) -
Equity dividends paid 30 {346) {315)
Dividends paid on preference shares (20) {21)
Cash inflow from loans 66 1,005
Cash outflow from repayment cof loans (921) {357)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (1,337) 586
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 592 872
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2,491 1,650
Effect of foreign exchange rate ¢changes on cash and cash equivalents (9) {31)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3,074 2,491
Comprising: Cash and cash equivalents 3,100 2,581
Overdrafts (26) (90)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3,074 2,491

1 restated following the safe of Airbus SAS (note 9)
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2006 2005

Notes £m m
Currency translation on foreign currency net investments:
Subsidiaries (162) 53
Equity accounted investments 14 (26) 23)
Amounts credited/(charged) to hedging reserve 221 (688)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes: .
Subsidiaries 692 (652)
Equity accounted investments 72 . (72)
Current tax on items taken directly to equity 8 21 (3)
Deferred tax on items taken directly to equity:
Subsidiaries 8 (227 193
Equity accounted investments (92) 276
Recycling of cumulative currency translation on disposal:
Continuing operations 3 -
Discontinued operations 9 11 -
Recycling of cumulative net hedging reserve on disposal — discontinued operations 9 (448) -
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 65 (916)
Profit for the year 1,639 555
Total recognised income and expense 1,704 (361)
Adoption of IAS 32 and I1AS 39 - 422
1,704 51
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders 1,701 (363)
Minarity interests ) 3 2
1,704 (361}
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1. Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
gtherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of BAE Systems plc have
been prepared in accordance with EU endorsed International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee imterpretations (IFRICS)

and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds
sterling and, unless stated otherwise, rounded to the nearest million.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets

and financial assets and financiaf liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of centain critica! accounting estimates and
judgements. An analysis and explanation of the critical accounting
estimates and judgements used in producing this set of financial
statements is made in the Operating and Financial Review on
pages 29 and 30.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the Group consaolidate the results of the
Company and its subsidiary entities, and include its share of its joint
ventures’ and associates’ results accounted for under the equity
methed, all of which are prepared to 31 December.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries include the special
purpose entities that the Group transacted through for the provision
of guarantees in respect of residual values and head lease and
finance payments on certain regional aircraft sold.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of the acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. The results of such subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition,
up to the date of disposal.

An entity is regarded as a joint venture if the Group has joint control
over its operating and financial policies. An entity is regarded as an
associate if the Group has significant influence, but not control, over
its operating and financial policies. Joint ventures and associates
are accounted for under the equity method where the Group's
income statement includes its share of their profit and losses and
the Group's halance sheet includes its share of their net assets.

Where the Group contributes a business, or other non-monetary
assets for an interest in a subsidiary, joint venture or associate,
such transactions are recorded 50 that the reduction in ownership
of the business being contributed is accounted for as a disposal
while the increased interest in the enlarged Group or new interest
in the business contributed by other parties to the transaction are
accounted for as an acquisition. Fair values are applied to those
operations which are subject to the exchange and which have not
previously been held within the Group. Any loss or realised gain

resulting from the transaction is recerded in the income statement
while any unrealised gain is eliminated against the investment.

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible
assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of joint ventures and associates
is included in the carrying value of equity accounted investments.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwilt is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing,

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to
IFRS {1 January 2004} has been retained at the previous UK GAAP
amounts, as any amounts related to intangible assets that would
have been recorded in the acquired entity if it had applied IAS 38
Intangible Assets at the date it was acquired by the Group were
considered immaterial, after being tested for impairment at that
date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998
has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any
subsequent profit or toss on disposal.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment as required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (IAS 36).

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. For intangible assets that are not vet available for use,
and goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance
sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

The recoverable amount of assets carried at amortised cost is
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at appropriate pre-tax discount rates. Receivables with
a short-term duration are not discounted,

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair
vaiue less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate.

These calculations use cash flow projections based on the Group's
Integrated Business Plan and include a terminal value based on
the projections for the final year of that plan. This is considered
appropriate due to the long-term nature of the defence industry.

A pretax discount rate of 8.11% has been used in discounting the
projected pre-tax cash flows,

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss in respect of assets, other than goodwili,
carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase

in recoverable amount can be related objectively ta an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. An impairment
loss in respect of an equity investment classified as available for
sale is not reversed through profit or loss. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed. An impairment loss in respect of
other assets is reversed if there has been a change in the estimate
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or ameortisation, if no impairment loss had

heen recognised.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue and profit recognition

Sales include the Group's net share of sales of joint ventures and
associates. Revenue represents sales made by the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings, excluding the Group's share of sales of joint
ventures and associates.

Long-term contracts

Sales are recognised as soon as the Group can reliably estimate
the outcome of a long-term contract and has obtained the right to
consideration in exchange for its performance. This is usually when
titte passes or a separately identifiable phase (milestone) of a
contract or development has been completed and accepted by

the customer.

No profit is recognised on contracts until the outcome of the
contract can be reliably estimated. Profit is calculated by reference
to reliable estimates of contract revenue and forecast costs after
making suitable allowances for technical and other risks related to
performance milestones yet to be achieved. The amount of profit
attributable to the stage of completion of a long-term contract is
arrived at by reference to the estimated overall profitability of the
contract. When it is probable that total centract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised immediately
as an expense.

Goods sold and services rendered

Sales of goods and the provision of services not under a long-term
contract are recognised in the income statement when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer
and revenue and costs can be reliably measured.

Profit is recognised at the time of sale. Sales and profits on
intercompany trading are generally determined on an arm’s
length basis.

Lease income
Rental income from aircraft operating leases is recognised
in revenue on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. These exchange
differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement
unless they qualify for hedge accounting treatment, in which case
the effective portion is recognised directly in a separate compenent
of equity.

For consolidation purposes the assets and liabilities of overseas
subsidiary entities, joint ventures and associates are translated

at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date. Income
statements of such entities are translated at average rates

of exchange during the year. All resulting exchange differences
including exchange differences arising from the translation of
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges

of such investments are recognised directly in a separate component
of equity.

Transiation differences that arose before the transition date to

IFRS (1 January 2004} are presented in equity but not as a separate
component. When a foreign operation is sold, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised since 1 January 2004 are
recognised in the income statement as part of the profit or loss

on sale.

Research and development
The Group undertakes research and development activities either
on its own behalf or on behalf of customers.

Group funded expenditure on research activities is written off as
ingurred and charged to the income statement.

Group funded expenditure on development activities applied to a
plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved
products and processes, is capitalised as an internally generated
intangible asset if certain conditions are met. The expenditure
capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and related
overheads. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost
tess accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Capitalised
development expenditure is amortised over the expected life of

the product.

Where the research and devetopment activity is performed for
customers, the revenue arising is recognised in accordance with
the Group's revenue recognition policy above.

Other intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences for use within the Group are
capitalised as an intangible asset on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable
and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will
probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one
year, are recognised as intangible assets. Capitalised software
development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated
amertisation and impairment losses. Group funded expenditure
associated with enhancing or maintaining computer software
programmes for sale is recognised as an expense as incurred.

Trademarks and licences are stated at historical cost. Trademarks
and licences have definite useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Intangible assets arising from a business combination are amortised
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Acquired computer software licences
Capitalised software development

2 to 5 years
2to 5 years

Trademarks and licences
Other intangibtes

up to 20 years
up to 10 years

Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property. plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Depreciation is provided, normally on a straight-line basis, to
write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives to any estimated residual value, using the
following rates:

Buildings up 1o 50 years, or the lease
term if shorter

Research equipment 8 years

Computing equipment, 3to 5years

motor vehicles and short life
works equipment

Aircraft

up to 15 years, or the lease
term if shorter

10 to 15 years, or the project
life if shorter

Other equipment

In the Group's North American businesses, depreciation is normally
provided on a basis consistent with cost reimbursement profiles under
US government contracts. Typically this provides for a faster rate

of depreciation than would otherwise arise on a straight-ine basis.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets in the
course of construction.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. Where appficable, useful lives reflect the component
accounting principle.

Assets obtained under finance leases are included in property, plant
and equipment and stated at an amount equal to the lower of the
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments

at inception of the lease, less accumuiated depreciation and
impairment losses.

investiment propetty

Land and buildings that are leased to non-group entities are
classified as investment property. The Group measures investment
property at its cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided, normally on a straight-ine basis, to write
off the cost of investment property over its estimated useful life
of up to 50 years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Other investments

The Group determines the classification of its other investments

at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which the

investments were acquired. The Group classifies its other

investments as follows:

(a}loans and receivables: term deposits, principally comprising funds
held with banks and other financial institutions are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method;

(b) at fair value through profit or loss: financial instruments held for
trading or designated by management on initial recognition. They
are held at fair value and included in non-current assets unless
management intends to dispose of the investment within
12 months of the balance sheet date;

{c) held to maturity: non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group's
management has the positive intention and ahility to hold to
maturity. During the year, the Group did not hold any investments
in this category;

(d)available-for-sale: investments other than interests in joint
ventures and associates and term deposits. They are held at fair
value and included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance shest date.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised at the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes ir
the fair value of the investments classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are included in finance costs in the income statement
in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair vatue of investments classified as available-
for-sale are recognised in equity, When investments classified as
available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and
losses from investment securities within finance costs.

The fair values of guoted investments are based on bid prices at the
baiance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less
impairment losses.

Amounts due from custormers for contract work include long-term
contract balances less attributable progress payments.

Longterm contract balances are stated at cost less provision for any
anticipated losses. Appropriate provisions for any losses are made
in the year in which they are first foreseen.

Progress payments are amounts received from customers in
accordance with the terms of contracts which specify payments in
advance of delivery and are credited, as progress payments, against
any expenditure incurred for the particular contract. Any unexpended
balance in respect of progress payments is held in trade and other
payables as customer stage payments or, if the amounts are subject
to advance payment guarantees unrelated to company performance,
as cash received on customers’ account.

Cash received on customers' account is excluded from net debt as
defined by the Group.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, including all relevant
overhead expenditure, and net realisable value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, call deposits
and other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value. For the purpose of the cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents also includes bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as assets held
for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
cosis 1o sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and expected to be completed within a year from the
classification. In addition, the asset (or disposal group) is to be
available for immediate sale in its present condition and is actively
being marketed at a price that is reasonahle in relation to its current
fair value.

Loans and overdrafts

Loans and overdrafts are recognised initially at fair value, less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and overdrafts are stated at amortised cost or fair value where
hedge accounting has been adopted, with any difference between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs in connection with the acquisition or construction
of items of praperty, plant and eguipment, investment property and
inventories are not capitalised.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

Leases

Assets obtained under finance leases are included in property, plant
and equipment at cost and are depreciated over their useful lives, or
the tease term, whichever is the shorter. Future instalments under
such ieases, net of financing costs, are included within loans. Rental
payments are apportioned between the finance element, which is
included in finance costs, and the capital element, which reduces
the outstanding obligation for future instalments, so as to give a
constant charge on the outstanding obligation.

Payments, including any incentives, made under operating leases are
recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Assets held for leasing out under operating leases are included in
property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Rental income is recognised in
revenue on a straight-line basis.

Assets leased out under finance leases cease to be recognised in
the balance sheet after the inception of the lease. Instead, a finance
lease receivable, representing the discounted future lease payments
to be received from the lessee plus any discounted unguaranteed
residual value, is recorded as long-term financial assets. Interest
income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, taking
into account the effective yield on the asset.

Financial instruments

The global nature of the Group's business means it is exposed to
volatility in currency exchange rates. in order to protect itself against
currency fluctuations, the Group's policy is to hedge all material firm
transactional exposures as well as to manage anticipated economic
cash flow exposures over the medium term. The Group also uses
interest rate derivative instruments to manage the Group’s exposure
to interest rate fluctuations on its borrowings and deposits by varying
the proportion of fixed rate debt relative to floating rate debt over the
forward time horizon. The Group aims to achieve hedge accounting
treatment for all derivatives that hedge material foreign currency
exposures and those interest rate exposures where hedge
accounting can be achieved.

In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However,
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for
as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost.
Subsequent to initial recognition, such instruments are stated at fair
value at the balance sheet date. Where a derivative financial
instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows
associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable
forecast transaction {income or expense), the effective portion of any
change in the fair value of the instrument is recognised directly in
reserves. Amounts recognised in reserves are recycled from reserves
and recognised in the income statement when the underlying
transaction affects profit or loss. The ineffective portion of any
change in the fair value of the instrument is recognised in the
income statement immediately. Where a derivative financial
instrument is designated as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair
value of the underlying asset or liability, and gains and losses on the
derivative instrument, are recognised in the income statement for
the period. Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
statement for the period.

Tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly

in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payabie in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used

for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not
provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable
future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the halance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to
pay the related dividend.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probahle that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. If
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at an appropriate pre-tax discount rate.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products
and services are sold. The provision is based on historical warranty
data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their
associated probabilities.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group
has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and
the restructuring has either commenced or has been publicly
announced. Future operating costs are not provided for,

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected
benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.

Provisions for losses on contracts are recorded when it becomes
probable that total estimated contract costs wiil exceed total
contract revenues. Such provisions are recorded as write downs

of work in progress for that portion of the work which has already
heen completed, and as liability provisions for the remainder. Losses
are determined on the basis of estimated results on completion of
contracts and are updated regularly.

Financial statements

Employee benefits:

Pension obligations
Group companies operate various pension plans. The Group has
both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans
are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

www.baesystems.com 79




I
5
o
3
=8
=
%]
n
&
2
[1-]
3
]
E
4

1. Accounting policies (continued)

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is
determined periodically by independent actuaries and charged to the
income statement in the period in which those benefits are earned
by the employges. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in
the period in which they occur, and are recognised in the statement
of recognised income and expense. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent the benefits are already vested, or
otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations as
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost and as reduced by the

fair value of scheme assets.

Long-term service benefits:

Equity and equity-retated compensation benefits

The Group issues equity-settled and cash-settled share options to
employees. In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-
based Payments (IFRS 2}, the Group has applied IFRS 2 to all equity-
settled share options granted after 7 November 2002 that were
unvested as of 1 January 2005 and a!l cash-settled options
outstanding at the balance sheet date.

As explained in note 26, equity-settled share options are measured
at fair value at the date of grant using an option pricing model.

The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares that
will actually vest.

Cash-settled share options are measured at fair value at the balance
sheet date using an option pricing model. The Group recognises

a liability at the balance sheet date based on these fair values,

and taking into account the estimated number of the options that
will actually vest and the relative completion of the vesting period.
Changes in the value of this liability are recognised in the income
statement for the year.

Preference share capital

The Group has in issue 7.75p (net} cumulative redeemable
preference shares of 25p each that are convertible into the Group's
ordinary shares of 2.5p each at the option of the holder on 31 May
in any of the years up to 2007, on the basis of 0.47904 ordinary
shares for every preference share. As a result of the share
repurchases during 2008. the conversion rate has decreased to
0.47554 ordinary shares for every preference share at 31 December
2006. In accordance with the Articles of Association the preference
share conversion rate will be adjusted further as a result of share
repurchases made after 31 December 20086. From 4 July 2007 to

1 January 2010, the Group may redeem any outstanding shares at
100p per share, together with any arrears and accruals of dividends,

In accordance with IAS 32 the preference shares are considered

a compound financial instrument and accordingly, have been split
inte an underlying debt instrument, classified within foans and
overdrafts, and an equity conversion option, classified within equity.

The underlying debt instrument is presented on an amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion ar maturity of the
preference shares. -

The equity conversion option is presented at its historic fair

value, based on the date of original issue of the preference shares.
On conversion of a preference share into ordinary shares, the
attributable amount of the equity component is reclassified to share
capital and share premium, From 1 July 2007, the option ta convert
into ordinary shares is extinguished, and accordingly the remaining
balance on the equity conversion option will be transferred to the
retained earnings reserve.

Dividends thereon are recognised in the income statement as
finance costs.

Dividends
Equity dividends on ordinary share capital are recognised as
a fiabilty in the period in which they are declared,

2. Changes in accounting policies

Wwith effect from 1 January 2008 the Group has adopted IFRIC 4,
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. However
the interpretation does not have a significant impact on the Group.

Amendments to published standards effective in 2006

The Group early adopted the following amendments (effective for

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006} in the

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005:

- Amendment to IAS 19, Employee Benefits - Actuarial gains and
losses, group plans and disclosure;

- Amendment to IAS 21. The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates;

— Amendment to IAS 39, Cash flow hedge accounting for forecast
intra-group transactions; and

- Amendment to IAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - the fair value option.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to

published standards are effective for accounting periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2006:

— IFRS 6. Exptoration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources;

— IFRIC 5. Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds; and

— {FRIC &, Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market —
Waste electrical and electronic equipment.

None of these have any significant impact on the Group's accounts.

New standards and interpretations to existing standards that are not

" yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards have been published, are relevant to the Group's
operations and are mangatory for the Group's accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but have not been
early adopted by the Group:

- Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —
capital disclosures (effective for 2007). This introduces new
requirements for capital disclosures and as such will have no
impact on the consolidated income statement or balance sheet.

- IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective for 2007). This
introduces new disclosures for financial instruments and as such
will have no impact on the income statement or balance sheet.

- IFRS 8, Operating Segments {effective for 2009). This requires
that entities adopt the ‘management approach’ to reporting the
financial performance of its operating segments. The impact
on the Group's accounts is under review in light of the recent
announcements about the revised group structure from 1 January
2007, but the standard is concerned with disclosure only and
as such will have no impact on the income statement or balance
sheet,

- IFRIC 7, Applying the restatement approach under I1AS 29, IFRIC 8,
Scope of IFRS 2, IFRIC 2. Reassessment of embedded derivatives
and IFRIC 10, iInterim financial reporting and impairment, are all
effective for 2007. They are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Groug's accounts.

- IFRIC 11, IFRS 2, Group and treasury share transactions and
IFRIC 12. Service concession arrangements. are both effective
for 2008. They are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's accounts.
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3. Segmental analysis

nalysis by business group

Combined sales of Less: Add:
Group and equity sales by equity sales to equity
accounted accounted accounted

investments investments investments Revenue
Restated Restated Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 4,007 3,697 {10) (16} - - 3997 3681
Land & Armaments 2115 1,270 {4) {5} 1 1 2112 1,266
Programmes 2,927 2,819 (1,202) (1,241) 1202 1,242 2927 2,820
Customer Solutions & Support 3180 2,923 (416) (420) 53 18 2,817 2,521
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 1,748 1,834 (1,225) (1,271) 97 71 620 634
HQ and other businesses 295 471 (8) (7) - - 287 464
14,272 13,014 (2,865) (2.960) 1,363 1,332 12,760 11,386
Intra-busingss group sales/revenue (507) (433) - - 80 66 (427) (367)
13,765 12,581 (2,865) (2.960) 1433 1,398 12,333 11.019

Intra-business
group revenus

Revenue from
external customers

Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 92 103 3,905 3578
Land & Armaments 14 19 2,098 1,247
Programmes 151 84 2776 2,736
Customer Solutions & Support 108 97 2,709 2,424
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 41 40 579 594
HQ and other businesses 21 24 266 44Q
427 367 12,333 11.019

Amoartisation of Impairment of Business

EBITA! intangible assets intangible assets group result’?
Restated Restated Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 429 324 {14) (10) (2) (12) 413 302
Land & Armaments 168 42 {66) 43) - - 102 (1}
Programmes 167 133 (6} (5) - - 161 128
Customer Solutions & Support 477 419 (6) (9 - (7) 471 403
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 113 109 (12) (9 - - 101 100
HQ and other businesses 147y (118) (1) {1) (32) (26) (180) (145)
) 1,207 209 (105) (77} {34) {45) 1,068 787
Financial income of equity accounted investments 21 8
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments {35) {34)
Operating profit 1,054 761
Finance costs (195) {204)
Profit before taxation 859 557
Taxation expense (213) (113)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 646 444

1 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
2 the analysis by business group of the share of results of equity accounted investments is provided in note 14
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3. Segmental analysis (continued)

Assets excluding
intangibie assets

and equity
accounted Equity accounted
investments Intangible assets investments Total assets Total liabilities
Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m Em £m £Em £m Em £m
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 1,360 1,449 4591 4,797 13 14 5964 6,260 (1,117) (1,141)
Land & Armaments 697 611 2,208 2,543 1 3y 2906 3151 (787) (733)
Programmes 887 684 202 138 3 3 1,092 825 (2,577) (2,274)
Customer Solutions & Support 848 661 71 177 89 53 1,008 891 (1,741) (1,694
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 120 151 489 497 565 481 1174 1,129 (272) (308)
HQ and other businesses 1241 1,748 34 65 - - 1,245 1,813 (1,416) (2,079
Discontinued operations! - - - - - 1,173 - 1,173 - -
5123 5,304 7,695 87217 671 1,721 13,389 15,242 (7,910) (8,229)
Disposal groups held for sale - 407 - (270j
Tax 1,080 1,351 (432) (339
Retirement benefit obligations 71 20 (2,499} (4,101)
Cash/(debt) as defined by the Group (note 29} 3,607 3,215 {3,172) (4,492)
Consolidated total assets/(liabilities) 18,147 20,235 (14,013)(17.431)
Depreciation
Capital expenditure®*  and amortisation?
Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005
Em m Em £m
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 107 88 89 80
Land & Armaments 47 33 94 64
Programmes 63 42 59 69
Customer Solutions & Support 181 36 17 24
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 16 15 27 26
HQ and other businesses 124 128 49 64
Discontinued operations* - 5 - 6
538 347 335 333
Analysis by geographical location
Customer location Asset location
Carrying value of
Sales® Revenue segment assets Capital expenditure®
Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 20086 2005
£Em £m £m £m £m £m Em £m
United Kingdom 2,802 2849 2580 2,545 3544 4,022 165 190
Rest of Europe 2704 2892 1806 1,973 1197 2,725 66 32
‘%1' Middle East 1,993 1,658 1,827 1,526 470 145 169 15
a United States and Canada 5402 4,339 5372 4,301 7987 8,238 131 102
E Asia and Pacific 595 632 532 481 104 68 4 7
g Africa, Central and South America 269 211 216 193 87 44 3 1
3 13,765 12,581 12,333 11,019 13,389 15,242 538 347
3
frs

discontinued operations represents Airbus, sold during the year {note 9)

includes intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property
combined sales of Group and equity accounted investments

discontinued cperations represents the Avionics business sold in 2006

W N

Analysis of revenue by category

2006 2005

£m £m

Sale of goods 3,775 3,466
Construction contracts 65568 6,173
Services 1921 1,288
Lease income 66 75
Royalty income 13 17

12,333 11,019
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4. Operating costs

2006 2005
£m £m
Raw materials and other bought in items 4169 3,894
Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 153 264
Cost of inventories expensed 4,322 4,158
Staff costs (note 7) 3,868 3,554
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 422 518
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 2
Loss on disposal of businesses 1 12
Other operating charges 3,149 2,335
11,763 10,579
Included within the analysis of operating costs are the following expenses:
Lease and sublease payments:
Minimum lease payments 84 82
Contingent rents 1 1
85 83
Research and development expense including amounts funded under contract 1,248 1,449
Impairment losses recognised in the period on receivables - 19
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates included in operating costs
2006 2005
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£000 £000 £000  £000  £000 £'000
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts* 1,023 - 1023 1,110 - 1,110
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for other services
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation* 2,000 2,430 4,430 1,894 2445 4339
Other services pursuant to legislation:
Interim Review 500 - 500 355 - 355
Other including shareholder circular related work 563 22 585 893 2 895
Further assurance services
Advice on accounting matters 52 - 52 813 58 871
Internal controls 125 - 125 81 - 81
Due diligence 116 354 470 1,355 168 1,523
Tax services
Compliance 301 773 1,074 150 855 1,005
Advisory 687 349 1,036 674 BA5 1,269
Other services 46 62 108 - 70 70
Total fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates 5413 3990 9403 7,325 4,193 11,518
* Total fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for audit services 5,453 5,449
Tax services include tax compliance support and services in relation to the Group's expatriate employees based around the world.
The maijority of services provided outside the UK were provided in the US,
Significant one-off costs included in operating costs
2006 2005
£m £m
Rationalisation programmes 51 89
2006 2005
£m im
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 14 27
Land & Armaments 17 24
Programmes - -
Customer Solutions & Support 21
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 15 14
HOQ and other businesses 2 3
51 89
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5. Other income

2006 2005
£m m
Rental income from operating leases 43 43
Profit on disposal of investment property 84 43
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 61 -
Profit on disposal of businesses 14 8
Management recharges to equity accounted investments 13 22
Amounts recoverable from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that were impaired - 99
Pension curtailment gains (note 22) 99 -
Other 57 32
371 247
6. Finance costs
2006 2005
£m £m
Interest income 143 123
Net present value adjustments 39 23
Expected return on pension scheme assets 739 632
Net gain on remeasurement of financial instruments 259 159
Net gain on remeasurement of embedded derivatives 3 59
Foreign exchange gains 147 228
Financial income 1,330 1,224
Interest expense:
On bank loans and overdrafts (9 (13)
On finance leases (11) (1"
On bonds and other financial instruments (277)  {253)
On preference debt 28) 27
(325) (310)
Facility fees (4) (10)
Net present value adjustments (31 (25)
Interest charge on pension scheme liabilities (694) (633)
Net loss on remeasurement of investments at fair value through profit or loss (42) (75)
Net loss on remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (172) (217)
Foreign exchange losses (257) {158)
Financial expense {1,525) (1,428)
Net finance costs (195) (204)
Additional analysis of finance costs
Restated
2006 2005
£m £m
Finance costs — Group (195) (204)
Finance costs — share of equity accounted investments 21 8
(174)  (196)
Analysed as:
Net interest: .
Interest income 143 123
Interest expense (325) (310)
Facility fees 4 (10}
Net present value adjustments 8 (2)
Share of equity accounted investments 21 8
(157) (191)
Other finance costs — Group (17) {5)
(174) (196)
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7. Employees and directors

The weekly average and year end numbers of employees, excluding those in equity accounted investments, were as follows:

Weekly average At year end

Restated Restated
2006 2005 2006 2005
Number Number Number Number

‘000 000 ‘000 Q00
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 32 30 32 33
Land & Armaments 11 8 12 11
Programmes 17 16 17 16
Customer Solutions & Support 12 i2 12 12
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 5 4 4 6
HQ and other businesses 2 3 2 2
Discontinued operations - 1 - -
79 74 79 8O

The aggregate staff costs of Group employees, excluding employees of equity accounted investments, were;
' 2006 2005
£m £m
Wages and salanes 3274 2,989
Social security costs 271 253
Share options granted to directors and employees — equity-settled 21 16
Share options granted to directors and employees - cash-settled 47 61
Pension costs — defined contribution ptans 57 41
Pension costs — defined benefit plans 196 192
US healthcare plans 2 2
3,868 3,554

The Group considers key management personnel as defined under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to be the members of the Group's
Executive Committee and the Company's non-executive directors. Fuller disclosures on directors’ remuneration are set out in the
Remuneration Report on pages 51 to 65. Total emoluments for directars and other key management personnel are £23,095,000
(2005 £16,354,000}.

8. Tax
Taxation expense
2006 2005
Em £m
Current taxation expense
UK corporation tax
Current tax (91) (105
Double tax relief 35 14
Adjustment in respect of prior years {93) 33
{149) (58)
Overseas tax charges g
Current year (91) (21) 5
Adjustment in respect of prior years 15 18 k<]
(76) (713 W
(225)  (131) [
Deferred taxation expense £
UK
Qrigination and reversal of temporary differences 25 (22)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 27 43
Overseas
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (49) 4
Adjustment in respect of prior years . 5 (28)
Attributable to recoverable deferred tax assets® 4 21
12 18
Taxation expense {213) (113)

1 The recoverable deferred tax asset of £4m (2005 £21m) arises in Australia primarily in respect of tax losses previously unrecognised, but which have now been recognised to the
extent it is probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset 10 be recovered.
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8. Tax {continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation from the theoretical income tax expense, using the UK corporation tax rate, to the reported tax
expense. The reconciling items represent, besides the impact of tax rate differentials and changes, non-taxable benefits or non<leductible
expenses arising from differences between the local tax base and the reported financial statements.

Restated
2006 2005
£m Em
Profit before tax 859 557
UK corporation tax rate 30.0% 30.0%
Expected income tax expense (258} (167)
Expenses not tax effected {50) {(73)
Income not subject to tax 69 49
Research and development tax credits 34 39
Goodwill (9 (15)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (20) (7}
Chargeable gains - {96)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - 101
Recoverable deferred tax asset previously unrecognised 4 21
Current year losses not tax effected (9) (13)
Adjustments in respect of prior years {46) 66
Adjustments in respect of equity accounted investments 34 22
Other 38 (40)
Taxation expense (213} (113)
Current tax taken in equity
2006 2005
£m £m
Relating to financial instruments (8] (3)
Relating to pensions 22 -
21 (3)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Deferred Deferred Net balance
tax assets tax liabilities at 31 December
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 1 2] (68) (74) (67) {66)
Intangible assets - - (143) (180) (143) (180)
Provisions 261 239 (1) - 280 239
Goodwill - 11 (17) - 17 11
Pension/retirement plans:
~ deficits 793 1,313 (15) - 778 1,313
— additional contributions 158 - - - 158 -
Share-based payments 82 59 - - 82 59
Financial instruments 25 - - - 25 -
Other items 19 7 (47) (64) (28) (57
Rolled over capital gains - - (19) {24) (19) (24)
Capital losses carried forward 19 24 - - 19 24
Unremitted overseas earnings - - (1) (27} {1) 2n
Trading losses carried forward 15 16 - - 15 16
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 1373 1677 (311) (369} 1,062 1,308
Set off of tax (296) (346) 296 346 - -
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 1077 1,331 (15) (23) 1,062 1,308
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8. Tax (continued)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

Al
1Janua¢yl Exchange Other Recognised Recognised Deoerrtul?eir
2006 movements movements  in income in equity 2006
im £fm £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment (66) 3 1 (9) - (67)
Intangible assets (180) 15 (8) 30 - (143)
Provisions 239 {21) 4 38 - 260
Goodwill 11 - - (28) - a7
Pension/retirement plans:
- deficits . 1,313 (29) & (130) (382) 778
- additional contributions - - - i8 140 158
Share-based payments 59 (3) (3) 21 8 82
Financial instruments - - - 18 7 25
Other items (57) (1) 7 23 - (28}
Relled over capital gains (24) - - 5 - {19
Capital losses carried forward 24 - - (5) - 19
Unremitted overseas dividends (27) - - 26 - (1)
Trading losses carried forward 16 (1) {1) 1 - 15
1,308 {37) 6 12 (227) 1,062
At AL 31
1 January  Exchange Other Recognised Recognised December
2005 movements movements  in income in equity 2005
£m £m £m im im £m
Property, plant and equipment (49) (1) {28) 12 - {66}
Intangible assets {44) (8} {(1486) 18 - {180}
Provisions 172 i8 16 33 - 239
Goodwill 16 2 28 (3% - 11
Pension/retirement plans 1,010 27 118 (24) 182 1,313
Share-based payments (5] - - 30 23 59
Other items {35 2 17 5 (12) (57}
Rolled over capital gains {(29) - (1) G - {24)
Capital losses carried forward 29 - 1 {6) - 24
Unremitted overseas dividends - - - (27) - (27)
Trading losses carried forward - - 10 6 - 16
1,078 40 (19) 18 193 1,308
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:
2006 2005
£Em £m
Deductible temporary differences 28 13
Capital losses carried forward 60 29 @
Trading and other losses carried forward 130 148 g
218 120 .g
2
These assets have not been recognised as the precise incidence of future profits in the relevant countries and legal entities cannot be g
sufficiently accurately predicted at this time. §
The aggregate temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint ventures for which deferred “
tax liabilities have not been recognised is £500m (2005 £414m).
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9. Disposals

Discontinued operations

On 4 Qctober 2006. the Group's shareholders approved the resolution to dispose of the Group's shareholding in Airbus SAS to EADS for
€2.75bn (£1.8bn) in cash. The sale was completed on 13 October 2006. The results of Airbus SAS have been classified as a discontinued
operation and the 2005 consolidated income statement has been restated accordingly.

The results from discontinued operations, which have been included in the consalidated income statement, are derived as below. The results
for the year ended 31 December 2005 include the results of the Avionics business which was disposed of on 29 April 2005,

Restated
2006 2005
£Em £m
Revenue - 111
Expenses - (127)
EBITA! - {16)
Share of results of equity accounted investments excluding finance costs and taxation expense 144 273
Finance costs of equity accounted investments (25} {19)
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments {49} (1i5)
Share of results of equity accounted investments 70 139
Financial income/(expense), net 2 (3)
Profit hefore taxation 72 120
Taxation expense : (4) (1)
Profit for the year 68 119
Profit/(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations 925 (8)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 993 111
The Group's share of the assets and liabilities of Airbus SAS at the date of disposal were as follows:
£m
Non-current assets 1,650
Current assets 2,896
Non-current liabilities (2,388)
Current liabilities (1,919)
Share of net assets 239
Goodwill 1,063
Net assets disposed of 1,302
Total consideration 1,846
Transaction costs - paid (9)
Transaction costs — accrued (4)
Net assets disposed of (1,302)
Liabilities retained {(43)
Cumulative net hedging gain 448
Cumulative currency translation loss (11)
Profit on disposal 925

Proceeds from the sale of equity accounted investments in the consolidated cash flow statement of £1,212m comprise total consideration
{£1,848m), less transaction costs paid {£9m) and cash deposits from Airbus SAS held by the Group {£625m).

Continuing operations

fn March 2006 the Group sold its UK Aerostructures business for £80m in cash. The disposal generated a profit of £41m arising from the
resuitant reduction of pension liabilities.

The sale of the previously wholly-owned Atlas Elektronik GmbH to EADS and ThyssenKrupp for €149m (£103m) was completed on 3 August 2006.
The disposal generated a profit of £3m.

Proceeds from the sale of subsidiary undertakings in the consolidated cash flow statement of £174m comprise the disposals of Aerostructures
(£80m), Atlas Elektronik (£103m) and Atlanta Purchasing Group (£2m), less transaction costs (£11m).

1 earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
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10. Earnings per share

Restated
2006 2005
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
pence per pence per pence per pence per
£m share £m share £m share £m share
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 1,636 1,636 553 553
Interest on the debt instrument of the convertible preference
shares - 28 - 27
Profit for the year after adjusting for interest on the debt
instrument of the convertible preference shares 1,636 60.7 1,664 49.2 553 17.4 580 17.4
Represented by:
Continuing operations 643 19.9 671 19.8 442 13.9 469 14.1
Discontinued operations 993 30.8 993 29.4 111 35 111 33
Add back/{deduct):
Net financing (credit)/charge on pensions, post tax (33) (33) 1 1
Uplift on acquired inventories, post tax - - 34 34
Market value movements on derivatives, post tax 55 55 3 3
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, post tax 79 79 60 60
Impairment of goodwill ) a2 32 45 45
Underlying earnings 1,769 54.9 1,797 531 696 21.9 723 21.7
Represented by:
Continuing operations 767 238 795 235 585 18.4 612 18.4
Discontinued operations 1,002 311 1,002 29.6 111 3.5 111 3.3
1,769 549 1797 53.1 896 21.9 723 21.7
Underlying earnings excluding profit on disposal of
Airbus SAS (£925m) 844 26.2 872 25.8 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Represented by:
Continuing operations 767 23.8 795 235 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Discontinued operations 77 2.4 77 23 n/a n/a n/a n/a
844 26.2 872 25.8 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Mlllions Millions Millions Millions
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating basic
earnings per share 3,225 3,225 3,183 3,183
Add:
Incremental shares in respect of employee share schemes 32 21
Incremental shares in respect of convertible preference shares 125 128
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating diluted
earnings per share 3,382 3,332

Undertying earnings per share is presented in addition to that required by IAS 33 Earnings per share as the directors consider that this gives
a more appropriate indication of underlying performance.

Financial statements
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11. Intangible assets

Goodwill Other Total
£m £m im
Cost or valuation
At 1 lanuary 2005 8,059 206 B,265
Additions: :
Acquired separately - 10 10
Internally generated - 7 7
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,263 443 2,706
Adjustments to provisional fair values ’ (5) - (5)
Disposals (810) - (810)
Reclassified as non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale (52) (i4) {66)
Exchange adjustments 267 26 293
At 31 December 2005 9,722 678 10,400
Additions:
Acquired separately - 25 25
Internally generated - 2 2
Acquisition of subsidiaries 4 - 4
Adjustments to provisional fair values {8) 3 (5)
Disposals ‘ {6} {(2) (8)
Reclassified to eguity accounted investments (28) - (28)
Exchange adjustments (480) (49)  (529)
At 31 December 2006 9,204 657 9,861
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2005 2,132 18 2,150
Disposals (79) -~ {79)
Amortisation charge? - 77 77
Impairment charge 45 -~ 45
Reclassified as non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale (8} (2) (1)
At 31 December 2005 2,020 93 2,183
Disposals {5} (2) (N
Amortisation charge? - 105 105
Impairment charge 32 2 34
Exchange adjustments (46) (3 (49}
At 31 December 2006 2,071 195 2,266
Net book value
At 31 December 2006 7,133 462 7,595
At 31 December 2005 7.632 585 8,217
At 1 lanuary 2005 5,927 188 6,115

1 ather intangibles includes internally funded development costs and intangible assets recognised on acguisition of subsidiary companies, of which the most significant are in respect
of the acquired order book and of on-going programme relationships
2 amertisation is included in operating costs in the income statement

The Group has na indefinite life intangible asset other than goodwill. The Group has allocated its goodwill across approximately 20 cash-
generating units. Other than the goodwill allocated to the US operaticns within the Land & Armaments business group acquired as part of the
acquisition of United Defense Industries, Inc. in 2005 of £1.284m, none of the cash-generating units has allocated goodwill exceeding 10%
of the Group's total goodwill balance.

The Group's approach to goodwill impairment testing is set out in the accounting policies on page 76.

The key assumption underpinning the Integrated Business Plan projections for the US operations within the Land & Armaments business
group is that US government defence spending will remain stable in the foreseeable future and that there wiil be no material reduction in the
businesses’ share of programmes in which it currently participates. The directors have not identified any reasonable possible changes in key
assumptions for this business that would cause the carrying value of recognised goodwill to exceed its recoverable amount.

Beyond the assumptions that US and UK government defence spending remains stable there are no individually significant assumptions
made in relation to the other cash-generating units where reasonably possible changes to key assumptions would ¢ause the carrying value
of recognised goodwill to exceed its recoverable amount.

The result of the review of the carrying value of goodwill across the Group is an impairment charge of £32m.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and
buildings machinery Aircraft Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2005 1,216 2,253 418 3,887
Additions 50 168 100 318
Acquisition of subsidiaries 63 138 - 201
Transfers from inventories - 6 - 6
Transfers fram investment property 32 - - 32
Transfers to investment property (89) - - (89)
Reclassified as non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale (55) (32) - (87)
Reclassification between categories 12 (12} - -
Disposals (33) (181) {4) (218)
Disposals as a result of disposal of businesses (10) {251} - {261)
Exchange adjustments 47 31 34 112
At 31 December 2005 1,233 2,120 548 3,901
Additions 214 184 113 511
Transfers from inventories - 1 - 1
Transfers to inventories - (3) - 3
Transfers from investment property 2 - - 2
Reclassification between categories 2] (9) - -
Disposals (80} {(147) (1) (228)
Exchange adjustments (65} (68) (54) {187)
At 31 December 2006 1,313 2,078 606 3,997
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2005 380 1,682 Q9 2,141
Depreciation charge for the year (includes £6m related to discontinued operations) 54 158 39 251
Impairment loss for the year - 5 141 146
Transfers from investment property 20 - - 20
Transfers to investment property (9) - - (9}
Reclassified as non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale {13) (17) - {30}
Reclassification between categories 5 (5) - -
Disposals (17) (167) (2) (186)
Dispesals as a result of dispesatl of businesses (8) (159) - (165)
Exchange adjustments 14 10 5 29
At 31 December 2005 408 1,507 282 2,197
Depreciation charge for the year 49 149 28 226
impairment loss for the year - - 53 53
Transfers 10 inventories - (1} - (1)
Transfers from investment property 1 - - 1
Reclassification between categories 2 (2} - -
Disposals (18) {(132) 1) (151)
Exchange adjustments (9) {41) {24) (74)
At 31 December 2006 433 1,480 338 2,251
Net book value
At 31 December 2006 880 598 268 1,746
At 31 December 2005 825 613 266 1,704
At 1 January 2005 856 571 319 1,746
The amounts above include:
The net book value of assets held as capitalised finance leases {including investment
property (note 13))

At 31 December 2006 1 17 15 33
At 31 December 2005 - 38 21 59
Assets in the course of construction {including investment property {note 13))
At 31 December 2006 148 68 - 216
At 31 December 2005 148 50 - 198
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Net book value of:
Land and Plant and

buildings machinery  Aircraft Total

£m £m £m £m

Freehold property 800 -~ - 800
Long teasehold property 51 - - b1
Short leasehold property 29 - - 29
Plant and machinery - 519 - 519
Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 79 - 79
Aircraft - - 268 268
880 598 268 1,746

The aircraft fleet that is held under capitalised finance lease arrangements is leased to airline companies under operating leases. The leases

have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

The future aggregate minimum lease income from the non-cancellable elements of operating leases for assets capitalised {including
investment property (note 13)} are as follows:

2008 2005
Receipts due: £m £m
Not later than one year 72 81
Later than ane year and not later than five years 185 204
Later than five years 63 161
320 446

Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable. Within the above is £25m (2005 £13m} where the Group is also

the lessee of the asset.

13. Investment property

£m
Cost
At 1 January 2005 216
Capitalised subsequent expenditure 12
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 89
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (32)
Transfers from inventories 2
Disposals (15)
At 31 December 2005 272
Transfers to property, plant and equipment {2}
Disposals (103}
At 31 December 2006 167
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2005 61
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 9
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (20)
Depreciation charge for the year 5
Disposals (1)
At 31 December 2005 54
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (1)
Depreciation charge for the year 4
Disposals (13)
At 31 December 2006 44
Net book value of investment property
At 31 December 2006 123
At 31 December 2005 218
At 1 January 2005 155
Fair value of investment property
At 31 December 2006 218
At 31 December 2005 378
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13. Investment property (continued)

The fair values above, which are based on market values, were prepared by in-house professionals and are predominantly supported by
the external independent valuations from Attis Real Weatherall and CB Richard Ellis prepared within the last two years. These valuations
are considered to reflect current values. Other valuations were prepared by in-house professionals. All valuations were prepared by those

having an appropriate professional qualification with recent experience in the relevant location of the property being valued.

2006 2005
£m £m
Rental income from investment property 19 32
14. Equity accounted investments
Carrying value of equity accounted investments
Share
of net Purchased Carrying
assets  goodwill value
£m £m £m
At 1 January 2005 616 1,623 2,239
Share of results after tax — continuing operations 74 - 74
Share of results after tax — discontinued operations (note 9) 139 - 139
Acquired through acquisition 23 - 23
Disposal 140 (136) 4
Reduction in shareholding (62) (68) (130}
Dividends . (88} - (88}
Market value adjustments in respect of derivative financial instruments, net of tax (470} - {470}
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes, net of tax (47} - {47}
Foreign exchange adjustment (8} (15) (23)
At 31 December 2005 317 1,404 1,721
Share of results after tax — continuing operations 113 - 113
Share of results after tax — discontinued operations (note 9} 70 - 70
Acquired through acquisition (62} 66 4
Reclassified from intangible assets - 28 28
Disposal {239} (1,083) (1,302
Dividends {145) - (145)
Market vailue adjustments in respect of derivative financial instruments, net of tax 144, - 144
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes, net of tax 59 - 59
Revaluation of net assets acquired by equity accounted investments® 5 - 5
Foreign exchange adjustment {24) (2) (26)
At 31 December 2006 238 433 671

1 The revaluation gain has arisen as a result of MBDA SAS acquiring control of LFK GmbH, which was previously accounted for as a trade investment. The £5m gain reflects a fair
vaiue uplift in respect cf the carrying value of the original investment. The gain has been reflected as a credit to equity (note 27).

On 13 October 2006 the sale of the Group's shareholding in Airbus SAS to EADS was completed. In accordance with IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements and IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the results of Airbus are reclassified
as arising from discontinuing operations, rather than continuing operations in the consolidated income statement, consolidated cash flow
statement and notes to the Group accounts.

Included within purchased goodwill is £113m (2005 £47m) relating to the goodwill arising on acquisitions made by the Group’s equity
accounted investments subsequent to their acquisition by the Group.

The market value of the Group's sharcholding in Saab AB at 31 December 2006 was £350m {2005 £278m).

Share of results of equity accounted investments by continuing business group

Restated
2006 2005
£m £m

Share of results excluding finance costs and taxation expense:
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 1 5
Land & Armaments - (1)
Programmes 1 1
Customer Solutions & Support 28 18
integrated Systems & Partnerships 90 68
HQ and other businesses 7 9
127 100
Financial income 21 8
Taxation expense (35) (34)
113 74
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14. Equity accounted investments (continued)
Share of the assets and liabilities of equity accounted investments
2006 2005
im £m
Assets:
Non-current assets 856 3,453
Current assets 2633 5,764
3,489 9,217
Liabilities:
Nor-current liabilities (5682) (3,550)
Current liabilities (2,236) {3,946)
(2,818) (7,496)
Carrying value 671 1,721
Principal equity accounted investments
‘ Principally Country of
loint ventures Principal activities gperates in incorporation
Air Astana JSC (49%) Commercial aerospace activities Kazakhstan Kazakhstan
{Held by BAE Systems (Kazakhstan) Limited)
Eurofighter Jagdflugzeug GmbH (33%) Management and cantrol of Eurofighter Typhoon programme Germany Germany
(Held by BAE Systems pic)
Flagship Training Limited (50%) Supply of naval training and support services UK England and
(Held via BAE Systems Electronics Limited) Wales
Fleet Support Limited (50%) Engineering and facilities management support 10 the UK  England and
(Held via BAE Systems Marine (Holdings) Limited) Royal Navy Wales
Gripen International KB {50%) Marketing and selling of Gripen fighter aircraft Sweden Sweden
‘(Held via BAE Systems (Operations) Limited}
MBDA SAS (37.5%) Development and manufacture of guided weapons Europe France
{Heid via BAE Systems Electronics Limited and
BAE Systems (Overseas Holdings) Limited)
Panavia Aircraft GmbH {42.5%) Management and control of Tornado programme Germany Germany
(Heid via BAE Systems pic)
Saab AB (20.5%) Defence and commercial aerospace activities Sweden Sweden
{Held via BAE Systems (Sweden) AB)

15. Other investments

2006 2005

£m £m
Non-current
Available for sale financial assets
Equity securities 7 9
Term deposits 4 -
n 11 9
§ Current
% Leans and receivables
§ Term deposits 503 35
3
3; Assets at fair value through profit or loss
e Designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition
Exchange Property - 599
503 634
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15. Other investments (continued)

Reconciliation of movements

2006 2005
£m £m

Non-current
At 1 January 9 66
Additions 5 17
Acquisitions of subsidiaries - 2
Disposals (1) (30
Transfer 10 subsidiary undertakings - (48)
Creation of impairment provision (2) (2)
Fair value movements - 4
At 31 December 11 g
Current
At 1 January 634 763
Additions 499 31
Disposals (588) (85)
Fair vatlue movements recognised in finance costs 42) (75)
At 31 December 503 634
Exchange Property
The Group's shareholding in Vodafone Group Plc (Exchange Property) was disposed of during the year.
The Group had designated the Exchange Property as at fair value through profit or loss. Accordingly, movements in the fair value of the
Exchange Property to disposal of £42m are recognised in finance costs in the income statement (2005 £75m).
16. Trade and other receivables

2006 2005

£m £m

Non-current
Amounts owed by equity accounted investments - 10
Other receivables 496 869
Pension prepayment (note 22) 66 20
Prepayments and accrued income 7 13

569 912
Current
Long-term contract balances 4,440 4,315

Less: attributable progress payments

(4,027} (3,914)

Amounts due from contract customers 580 440
Amounts due from customers for contract work 993 841
Trade receivables 631 608
Amounts owed by equity accounted investments 218 52
Other receivables 225 242
Pension prepayment (note 22) 5 -
IPrepayments and accrued income 181 134
2,253 1,877
2006 2005
|included within amounts due from customers for contract work: £m £m
Retentions outstanding against long-term contracts 1 10
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17. Other financial assets and liabilities

2008 2006 2005 2005
Assets Liabilties  Assets Liabilities

£m £m Em £m
Non-current
Cash flow hedges - foreign exchange contracts 30 {43) 31 (41)
Other foreign exchange/interest rate contracts 21 2) 34 (4)
51 (45) 65 (45)
Current
Cash flow hedges - foreign exchange cantracts 36 (36) 39 (72)
Other foreign exchange/interest rate contracts 14 (14) 15 (6}
Embedded derivatives - - - (3)
50 (50) 54 (81)

Debt-related financial instruments
Other foreign exchange/interest rate derivatives 6 (243) 12 (147)

The debt-related financial instruments are presented as a component of loans and overdrafts {note 20).
18. Inventories

2006 2005

£m £m

Short-term work-in-progress 205 222
Raw materials and consumables 100 146
Finished goods and goods for resale 90 117
395 485

The Group recognised £20m (2005 £26m) as a write down of inventories to their net realisable value in 20086.
19. Disposal groups

The balances in 2005 represented the assets and liabilities related to the Atlas Elektronik GmbH and UK Aerostructures businesses
disposed of in 2006 (note 9).

2006 2005
£m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets - 56
Property, plant and equipment - 57
Other receivables - 5
- 118
Current assets
Inventories - 78
Trade and other receivables - 211
T - 289
g Assets of disposal groups - 407
%
"8 Non-current liabilitles
% I Trade and other payables - (2)
z Retirement benefit obligations - (67)
Deferred tax liabilities - (5)
Provisions - (1)
- {75)
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables - (177)
Provisions - (18)
' - (195)
Liabilities of disposal groups - (270)
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20. Loans and overdrafts

2006 2005

£m £m
on-current
US$200m 7% bond, repayable 2007 - 116
US$500m floating rate note, repayable 2008 - 290
Euro-Sterling £150m 11%% bond, repayable 2008 150 150
European Investment Bank loan, final instalment 2009 11 18
Alvis loan notes, redeemable 2009 1 2
Debt instrument of the convertible preference shares, redeemable 2010 242 240
US$500m 4.75% bond, repayabie 2010 249 284
US$1bn 6.4% bond, repayable 2011 515 530
Class B and Class G certificates, final instalments 2011/2013 599 784
Euro-Sterling £100m 1034% bond, repayable 2014 99 a9
US$750m 5.2% bond, repayable 2015 382 434
US$500m 7.5% bond, repayable 2027 253 288
Bank loans 28 34
Obligations under finance leases 31 70
Debt-related financial instruments 216 135
2,776 3,534
Current

Bank loans and overdrafts 33 a2
Exchangeable £676m 3.75% Bond - 667
US$200m 7% bond, repayable 2007 102 -
European Investment Bank loans, final instalment 2009 7 26
Class B and Class G certificates, final instalment 2011/2013 82 82
Cbligations under finance leases 23 38
Debt-related financial instruments 21 -
Eurofighter GmbH loan 66 -
334 a05

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

Less Between More
than 1 and than

1year bHyears 5years Total
£m £m im £m
At 31 December 2006 ) 334 1578 1,198 3,110
At 31 December 2005 905 1,610 1,924 4,439

The US$200m 7% bond, repayable 2007 was converted at issue to a sterling fixed rate bond by utilising a cross-currency swap and has an
effective interest rate of 7.62%.

The Group exercised its option to redeem the US$500m floating rate note during September 2006.

The European Investment Bank borrowing consists of three sterling denominated loans, twe of which matured during 2006 whilst the third
matures in 2009, The coupon rate on the outstanding loan is fixed with an interest rate of 6.86%.

For more information on the debt instrument of the convertible preference shares refer to note 1.

The US$500m 4.75% bond, repayable 2010 was converted on issue to a floating rate bond by utilising an interest rate swap giving an
effective rate during 2006 of 5.71%.

The US$1bn 6.4% bond, repayable 2011 has been partially converted to a fioating rate bond by utilising a series of interest rate swaps with
different tenors; US$500m has been swapped until maturity of the bond in 2011 and US$250m has been swapped until December 2007.
This has been overlayed by US$300m of floating to fixed interest rate swaps that fix the interest payments at a lower rate than the original
coupon. The effective interest rate during 2006 was 6.35% with an interest rate split on the bond at 31 December 2006 being US$550m
fixed and US$450m floating.

The Class B and Class G certificates are repayable in 2011 and 2013 respectively with fixed US$ coupon rates of 7.156% and 6.664%,
giving a weighted average interest rate of 6.879%. At 31 December 2006, the gross outstanding principal due is US$1,306m. Of this
balance, US$4214m has been converted to a sterling floating rate bond by utilising a cross-currency swap which resulted in an effective
interest rate during 2006 of 5.59% on this element.

- Findncial statemeénts:”

The US$500m 7.5% bond, repayable 2027 was converted at issue to a sterling fixed rate bond by utilising a cross-currency swap and has
an effective interest rate of 7.73%.
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20. Loans and overdrafts (continued)

The debt-related financial instruments represent the market value of certain interest rate and cross-currency derivatives which are specifically
hedging loans disclosed within the above note. These derivatives have been entered into specifically to manage the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange or interest rate risk.

Exchangeable £676m 3.75% Bond
The bond was redeemed at par on maturity during July 2006 following some minor conversions into the Exchange Property.

Eurofighter GmbH loan
The loan represents surplus cash lent by Eurofighter GmbH to its shareholders. The loan incurred interest at LIBOR minus 10bp and was
repaid in January 2007.

Finance lease obhligations
The Group has a number of non-cancellable finance lease arrangements predominantly in respect of aircraft. The maturity of these lease
liabilities from the balance sheet date is shown below.

2006 2008
£m £m
Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payments due;
Not later than one year 24 456
Later than one year and not later than five years 37 77
Later than five years - 1
61 124
Future finance charges on finance leases (7} {16)
Present value of finance lease liabilities 54 108
Present value of finance lease liabilities — payments due:
Not later than one year 23 38
Later than one year and not later than five years 31 69
Later than five years - 1
54 108

Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable.

The intergst rate inherent in these finance leases is fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term. The average interest rate on finance
lease payables at 31 December 2006 was 7% (2005 7%).

21. Trade and other payables

2006 2005
im £m
Non-current
Amounts due to long-term contract customers 113 120
Cash received on customers’ account for long-term contracts 43 46
Amounts owed to equity accounted investments 10 10
- Other payables 287 241
E Accruals and deferred income 12 15
2 ' 465 432
g Current
"5 Amounts due to long-term contract customers 3,836 3,452
o Amounts due to other customers 153 155
@ Cash received on customers’ account:
Long-term contracts 16 2
Cthers 3 5
Trade payabtes 638 606
Amounts owed 10 equity accounted investments 616 1,256
Other taxes and social security costs 34 26
Other payables 343 357
Accruals and deferred income 1,078 1,147
6,717 7,006
2006 2005
Included above: £m £m
Amounts due to long-term contract customers 4,008 3,620
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22. Retirement benefit obligations

Pension plans

BAE Systems plc operates pension plans for the Group's gualifying employees in the UK, US and other countries. The principal plans in the
UK and US are funded defined benefit plans and the assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The plans in other countries are
unfunded. Pension plan valuations are regularly carried out by independent actuaries to determine pension costs for pension funding and to
calculate the 1AS 19 deficit.

The disclosures below relate’to post-retirement benefit plans in the UK, US and other countries which are accounted for as defined benefit
plans in accordance with IAS 19. The valuations used for the 1AS 19 disclosures are based on the most recent actuarial valuation undertaken
by independent qualified actuaries and updated to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the deficit of the plans at
31 December each year. Plan assets are shown at the bid value at 31 December each year.

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions

The Group alsc operates a number of non-pension post-retirement benefit plans, under which certain employees are eligible to receive
benefits after retirement, the majority of which relate to the provision of medical benefits to retired employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the US. The latest valuations of the principal plans, covering retiree medical and life insurance plans in certain US subsidiaries, were
performed by independent actuaries as at 1 January 2008. The methed of accounting for these is similar to that used for defined benefit
pension plans.

The financial assumptions used to calculate liabilities for the principal plans were:

UK Us

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

% % % % % %

Inflation rate 3.0 2.8 2.7 3.0 3.0 3.0
Rate of increase in salaries 4.0 3.8 3.7 58 5.8 5.8
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 2930 2628 2530 - - -
Rate of increase for deferred pensions 3.0 2.8 2.7 n/a n/a n/a
Discount rate 5.2 4.8 5.3 59 5.8 59
Long-term healthcare cost increases n/a n/a n/a 5.7 5.7 5.7

The assumptions used are estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the timescale covered, may not
necessarily occur in practice. The bid value of plan assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to
significant change before they are realised, and the present value of plan liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over long
periods and thus inherently uncertain, as at 31 December are shown in the tables below.

For its UK pension arrangements the Group has, for the purpose of calculating its liabilities as at 31 December 2008, used PA 92 medium
cohort tables based on year of birth (as published by the Institute of Actuaries) for both pensioner and non-pensioner members in conjunction
with the results of an investigation into the actual mortality experience of plan members. For its US pension arrangements the montality
tables used for pensioners and non-pensioners are RP 2000 projected to 2010 {2005 RP 2000 projected to 2006). For the pension and
healthcare arrangements the post-retirement mortality assumptions allow for expected increases in longevity. The current life expectancies
underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the main UK and US plans range from 18 to 22 years for current male pensioners at age 65
and 21 to 25 years for current female pensioners at age 65.

The Group has a number of healthcare arrangements in the US. The long-term healthcare cost increases shown in the table above are based
on the assumptions that the increases are 10% in 2006 reducing to 5% by 2015 for pre-retirement and 10% in 2006 reducing to 5% for
post-retirement.

A summary of the movements in the retirement benefit obligations is shown below. The full disclosures, as required by IAS 19, are provided
in the subsegquent information.

Additional disclosure — summary of movements of the retirement benefit obligations

USs and
UK other Total
£m £m £m
Deficit in defined benefit pension plans at 1 January 2006 (4,659) (647) (5,306)
Acquisitions and disposals - 66 66
Actual return on assets above expected return ’ 421 100 521
Decrease/{increase) in liabilities due to changes in assumptions 499 (26) 473
One-off contributions 679 54 733
Recurring contributions over service cost 108 23 131
Curtailment gains 52 61 113
Other movements 34 68 102
Deficit in defined benefit pension pians at 31 December 2006 (2,866) (301) (3,167}
S healthcare plans - (35) (35)
Total IAS 19 deficit (2,866) (336) (3,202)
Allocated to equity accounted investments and other participating employers 774 - 774
Group's share of 1AS 19 deficit excluding Group’s share of amounts allocated to equity accounted investments
and other participating employers (2,092) (338) (2,428)
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22. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Amounts recognised on the batance sheet

2006 2005
UK defined Us and UK defined  US and
benefit other us benefit cther us
penslon pension  healthcare pension pension healthcare
plans plans plans Total plans plans plans Total
£m £m £m £Em £m £m im fm
Present value of unfunded obligations - (80) (15) (95) - (145) - (145)
Present value of funded obligations (15,445) (1,931} (111) (17,487} (15,492) (2,130} (144) (17,7686)
Fair value of plan assets 12,579 1,710 91 14380 10,833 1628 92 12,5563
Total IAS 19 deficit, net (2,866) (301} (35) (3,202) (4,659) (647} (52) (5.358)
Allocated to equity accounted investments and other
participating employers® 774 - - 774 1,210 - - 1,210
Group's share of (AS 18 deficit, net (2,092) {301) (35) (2,428) (3,449) (647) {52) (4,148)
Group's share of 1AS 19 deficit of equity accounted
investments (83) - - (83 (303) - - (303)
Represented by:
Pension prepayments (within trade and other receivables) 35 25 11 71 — 20 — 20
Retirement benefit obligations (2,127) (326) (46) (2,499) (3,449) (600) (52 {4,101)
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale - - - - - (67) - (B7)
(2,127) (326) (46) (2,499) (3,449) (667) 52y (4,168)
Group's share of IAS 19 deficit, net (2,092) {301} (35) (2,428) (3,449) (647) (52) (4,148)

1 Certain of the Group's equity accounted investments participate in the Group's defined benefit plans as well as Airbus SAS, the Group's share of which was disposed of during the
year. As these plans are multi-employer plans the Group has allocated an appropriate share of the 1AS 19 pension deficit to the equity accounted investments and to Airbus SAS
based upon a reasonable and consistent allocation method intended to reflect a reasonable approximation of their share af the deficit. The Group's share of the IAS 19 pension
deficit allocated 1o the equity accounted investments is included in the balance sheet within equity accounted investments.

Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Defined benefit pension plans ) £m £m £m £m £m
Defined benefit obligations (17,456) (17.767) (14,482) (12,386) {11,252)
Plan assets? 14,289 12,461 10,143 9305 §,127
Total deficit before tax and allocation {0 equity accounted investments and other

participating employers (3,167) (5,308) (4,339) (3.081) (3,125)
Actuarial gain/{loss) on plan liabilities 473 (2,100 (1,221) (788) (408)
Actuarial gain/{loss) on plan assets 521 1,138 265 827 (2,048}

2 at bid value from 2003 and at mig-value for prior years

Assets of defined benefit pension plans

2006
UK us Total
Expected Expected
£m % return % £m % return % £m %
Equities 8,232 65 8.0 1,324 77 8.75 9,656 67
Bonds 2,735 22 4.8 260 15 55 2,995 21
Property 1,255 16 6.25 - - n/a 1,255 9
QOther 357 3 5.0 126 3 7.0 483 3
Total 12,579 100 7.0 1,710 100 85 14,289 100
2005
UK Us Total
Expected Expected
£rm %  return % £m % retumn % £m %
Equities 7,489 69 8.0 1,270 78 8.75 8,759 70
Bonds 2,276 21 4.3 231 14 55 2,507 20
Other (mainly property) 1,068 10 6.0 127 8 7.0 1,195 10
Total 140,833 100 7.0 1,628 100 8.5 12461 100
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22. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
When setting the overall expected rate of return on plan assets, historical markets are studied and long-term historicat relationships
between equities and bonds are preserved. This is consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with higher
volatility generate a greater return over time, Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before expected
return assumptions are determined for each asset class. The overall expected return is established with proper consideration of
diversification and rebalancing. Peer data and historical returns are reviewed to check for reasonableness and appropriateness.
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
UK defined us and
benefit cther us
pension pension  healthcare
plans plans plans Total
£m £m £m £m
Value of plan assets at 1 lanuary 2005 9,199 a44 39 10,182
Assets acquired on acquisitions - 433 43 476
Expected return on assets . 667 104 5 776
Actuarial gain/(loss) 1,151 (13) (9) 1,133
Actual return on assets 1,818 91 - 1,909
Contributions by employer 252 71 10 333
Members' contributions {including DWP? rebates) 129 10 - 139
Currency gain . - 152 7 159
Benefits paid (565) {(73) (n (645)
Value of ptan assets at 31 December 2005 10,833 1,628 92 12,553
Assets acquired on acquisitions - 4 - 4
Expected return on assets 779 132 5] 917
Actuarial gain 421 100 3 524
Actual return on assets 1,200 232 9 1,441
Contributions by employer a60 137 10 1,107
Contributions by employer in respect of salary sacrifice arrangements 86 - - 86
Members' contributions (including DWP? rebates) 42 11 - 53
Currency loss - (214) (12) (226)
Benefits paid (542) (88) (8) (638}
Value of plan assets at 31 December 2006 12,579 1,710 91 14,380
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations before allocation to equity accounted investments and other participating
employers are as follows:
UK defined US and
benefit other us
pension pension  healthcare
plans plans plans Total
£m £m £m £m
Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 2005 (13,074) (1,408) {108) (14.590)
Liabilities assumed on acquisitions - {(522) (40) (562)
Current service cost (160} (58) (2) (218)
Members' contributions (inctuding DWP? rebates) (129) {10) - (139)
Past service cost (17} (1) 9 {9 %
Actuarial (loss)/gain on liabilities (2,054) (46) 11 (2.089) €
Curtailment gains 62 - - 62 |
Interest expense (685) (98) (8) (791) 4
Currency loss - (207) (13) (220) g
Benefits paid 565 73 7 645 £
Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2005 (15,492) {2,275} (144) (17,911)
Net liabilities {(assumed)/transferred on acquisitions/disposals® - 62 - 62
Current service cost (173) (60) (2) (235)
Contributions by employer in respect of salary sacrifice arrangements (86) - - (86}
Members’ contributions (including DWP? rebates) (42) {11) - (53)
Past service cost (7) (2) - (9)
Actuarial gain/{loss) on liabilities 499 (26) 2 475
Curtailment gains 52 61 - 113
Interest expense (738} {118) (8) (864)
Currency gain - 270 18 288
Benefits paid 542 88 8 638
Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2006 (15,445) (2,011) (126) (17,582}

3 Department for Work and Pensions
4 this includes liabilities of £67m transferred on the disposal of Atias Elektronik GmbH
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22. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Contributions

The Group contributions made to the defined benefit plans in the year ended 31 December 2006 were £1,020m (2005 £260m). Of this
amount, £733m were special contributions towards funding the deficit and £287m were regular contributions. In 2007, the Group expects
to make regular contributions at a similar leve! to those made in 2006. The Group also incurred a charge in respect of the cash contributions
of £67m (2005 £41m) paid to defined contribution plans for employees. It expects to make a contribution of £56m to these plans in 2007,

The amounts recognised in the income statement after allocation to equity accounted investments and other participating employers are
as follows:

2006 2005
UK UK
defined US and defined Us and
benefit other us henefit other us
pension pension healthcare pension pension hezlthcare
plans ptans plans Total plans plans plans Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m m £m
Included in operating costs:
Current service cost {(129) (60} (2) (191) (123) (56) (2) (181)
Past service cost (5) (2} - {7} (12) (1) 9 {4)
(134) (62) (2) (198} (135) (57) 7 (185)
Included in other income:
Curtailments and settlements® 49 61 - 110 - - - -
Included in finance costs:
Expected return on plan assets 601 132 6 739 523 104 5 632
Interest on obligations (568) {(118) (8) (694) (527) (98) (8) (633)
33 14 (2) 45 (4} 5] (3) (1)
Included in share of results of equity accounted investments:
Group's share of equity accounted investments’
operating costs (7) - - (7 (11) - - (11)
Group's share of equity accounted investments’ finance costs - - - - (4) - - (4)

© includes a curtailment gain of £11m in respect of the UK Aerostructures business disposed of in 2006

A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One percentage One percentage

point increase point decrease

£m £m

Effect on the aggregate of service cost and interest cost 0.2 0.2
Effect on defined benefit obligations 3 2

In June 2006, the Group announced it had agreed a programme of measures to address the funding deficit in its principal UK pension plans.
The measures inctuded one-off contributions of £679m and agreed changes to the members’ benefits to reduce future liabilities.

The one-off contributions of £679m includea certain properties vatued at £242m, the right to receive a share of the deferred consideration
under the put/call option arrangement arising from the Eurosystems transaction in 2005 and valued at £238m, and £199m in cash. The
properties were sold to the scheme at market value, generating a profit on disposal of £100m. Within EBITA, this profit on disposal was
offset by an operating charge of £103m relating to various funding arrangements with the Group’s equity accounted investments. In addition,
there was a one-off cash contribution to US pension schemes of $100m (£54m).

The curtailment gains arising in the period were a result of certain benefit changes made. The Group's share of the £113m curtailment gains
shown above is £110m after allocation to equity accounted investments and other participaling employers. Of this £110m gain, £61m
related to the reduction in the net pension liability arising from the changes to the calculation of the final US pensionable salaries and £11m
arose as a result of the disposal of the UK Aerostructures husiness in March 2006. The remainder is partly offset by an increase in UK
current service costs in the period due to the movement in discount rates.

The following analysis summarises how these items have been reflected in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated cash
flow statement:

Income statement items

£m
Included within operating costs of £11,763m (103)
Included within other income of £371m:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and investment property 100
Pension curtailment gains 99
Profit on dispesal of businesses ) 11
Curtailment gains within share of results of equity accounted investments excluding finance costs and taxation expense 1
EBITA 108
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22. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Cash flow statement items:

£m
Profit for the year 108
Share of results of equity accounted investments (1)
Gain on disposal of property {(35)
Gain on disposal of investment property {65)
Gain on disposal of business — continuing operations (11)
Decrease in liabilities for retirement benefit obligations {706)
Decrease in working capital:

Trade and other receivables 215
Cash outflow from operating activities {495)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 242
Operating business cash outflow ) (253)
23. Provisions

Legal costs,

Aircraft Warranties and Reorganisations — environmental
financing after-sales senvice ongoing cperations and other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Non-current 55 a0 13 217 375
Current 53 64 50 176 343
At 1 January 2006 108 154 63 393 718
Created 35 72 . 33 199 339
Released {9) (37) {17) (61) (124}
Utilised (75) (34) {26) {(72) (207
Provisions and fair values arising on acquisitions - - - 2y . (2)
Discounting - - 1 7 8
Exchange adjustments (7} {7} (1) {22} {(37)
Other provision movements - {1} (1) 2 -
At 31 December 2006 52 147 52 444 695

Represented by: ‘

Nen-current - 82 14 175 271
Current 52 65 38 269 424
52 147 52 444 695

Aircraft financing
The provision includes probable exposures under residual value guarantees issued by the Group on previous sales transactions, Further
information is provided in note 24. Such costs are generally incurred within five years.

Warranties and after-sales service
Warranties and after-sales service are provided in the normal course of business with provisions for associated costs being made based
on an assessment of future claims with reference to past experience. Such costs are generally incurred within three years postdelivery.

Reorganisations — ongoing operations .
The costs associated with the reorganisation programmes are supported by detailed plans and based on previous experience as well as
other known factors. Such costs are generally incurred within one to three years.

Legal costs, environmental and other provisions
The Group holds provisions for expected legal, environmental and other costs that it expects to incur over an extended period. These costs
are based on past experience of similar items and other known factors and represent management’s best estimate of the likely outcome.

Included within legal costs, environmental and other is £82m (2005 £80my) in respect of the cash-settled elements of certain of the Group's
share option schemes (note 26). The costs in respect of this liability are expected to occur over the next five years.
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24, Contingent liabilities and commitments

Alrcraft financing contingent liabilities
Included within the aircraft financing provision of £52m (note 23) is an exposure of £27m as discussed below:

31 December 2006 31 Becember 2005

£m £m

Patential future cash flow payments in respect of aircraft financing obligations 191 460
Anticipated aircraft values (159) (391)
Adjustments to net present values (5) {4)
Net exposure provided 27 65

The Group has provided residual value guarantees {(RVGs) in respect of certain commercial aircraft sold. At 31 December 2006 the Group’s
exposure 1o make future payments in respect of these arrangements was £191m (2005 £460m). Certain of these arrangements are covered
by a Financial Risk Insurance Programme (FRIP) under which the Group would place reliance on insurance cover for the anticipated aircraft
values if the guarantees were called.

After taking account of the FRIP and independent appraisal valuations the directors consider that the Group's net exposure to these
Buarantees is covered by the provisions held and the residual values of the related aircraft.

The Group is also exposed to actual and contingent liabilities arising from commercial aircraft financing and RVGs given by Saab AB.
Provision is made against the expected net exposures on a net present value basis within the accounts of Saab. The Group's share of such
exposure is limited to its percentage shareholding in Saab.

The reduction in the net exposure reflects the settlement of the commitment in respect of 47 RVGs in the period.

Guarantees and performance bonds
The Group has entered into a number of guarantee and performance bond arrangements in the normal course of business. Provision is made
for any amounts that the directors consider may become payable under such arrangements.

Operating lease commitments - where the Group is the lessee
The Group leases various offices, factories, shipyards and aircraft under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases and associated future minimum sublease income
are as follows:

2006 2005
Payments due: £m £m
Not later than one year 121 66
Later than one year and not later than five years - 393 273
Later than five years 731 552
1,245 891
Total of future minimum sublease income under non-cancellable subleases 212 118
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the accounts is as follows:
l 2006 2005
] £m £m
§. Property, plant and equipment 133 a3
ry intangible assets 5 8
g 138 101
:
& Treasury contingent liabilities

Treasury contingent liabilities are set out in note 32.
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25. Share capital

Equity Nan-equity Tota!
Ordinary shares Special Share
of 2.5p each of £2
Number of  Nominal Numberaf  Nominal Nominal
shares value shares value value
m fm £ £m
Authorised
At 1 January 2005 3,850 96 1 1 96
Authorised in the year 600 15 — - 15
At 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 4,450 111 1 1 111
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2005 3,080 77 1 1 77
Placing of shares 160 3 - - 3
Exercise of options 9 - - - -
At 1 January 2006 3,219 80 1 1 80
Exercise of options 24 1 - - 1
Conversion of preference shares 3 - - - -
At 31 December 2006 3,246 81 1 1 81

Treasury shares

In connection with the disposal of its interest in Airbus, the Company stated its intention to return up to £500m to ordinary shareholders by
way of on-market purchases of ordinary shares using authorities granted at the 2006 AGM and to hold the repurchased shares initially in
treasury. The Company commenced this buyback programme on 26 October 2006 and, as at 31 December 2006, 28,675,000 2.5p ordinary
shares with an aggregate nominal value of £1m were held in treasury.

Special Share

One Special Share of £1 in the Company is held on behalf of the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry (the Special Shareholder). Certain
parts of the Company's Articles of Association cannot he amended without the consent of the Special Shareholder. These articles include the
requirement that no foreign person, or foreign persons acting in concert, can have an interest in more than 15% of the Company, the
requirement that the majority of the directors are British, and the requirement that the Chief Executive and any executive chairman are British
citizens. The effect of these requirements can also be amended by regulations made by the directors and approved by the Special
Shareholder.

The Special Shareholder may require the Company at any time to redeem the Special Share at par or to convert the Special Share into one
ordinary voting share. The Special Shareholder is entitled to receive notice of and to attend general meetings and class meetings of the
Company’s shareholders but has no voting right, nor other rights, other than to speak in relation to any business in respect of the Special Share.

Preference shares

The Company also has in issue 260 million (2005 266 million) 7.75p (net) cumulative redeemable preference shares of 25p each which
have been convertible into ordinary shares of 2.5p each at the option of the holder on 31 May in any of the years since issue up to 2007, on
the basis of 0.47904 ordinary shares for every preference share. During the year 6,116,123 shares were converted for 2,929,867 ordinary
shares. 2007 will be the final year in which shareholders can elect to convert their shares. As a result of the share repurchases during 20086,
the conversion rate has decreased to 0.47554 ordinary shares for every preference share at 31 December 2006. In accordance with the
Articles of Association the preference share conversion rate will be adjusted further as a result of share repurchases made after

31 December 2006. The Company may redeem all of the remaining preference shares at any time after 1 July 2007 and, in any case, will
redeem any remaining shares on 1 January 2010, in each case at 100p per share together with any arrears and accruals of dividend. The
maximum redemption value of the preference shares, ignoring any arrears or accruals of dividend, is therefore £260m {2005 £266m).

In accordance with IAS 32 the convertible preference shares are considered to be a compound financial instrument consisting of both a debt
element and an equity component which require separate accounting treatment. Under IAS 32, the equity option component of preference
shares of £76m {2005 £78m) is included as a separate reserve within equity (note 27). The debt element is recognised within loans and
overdrafts (note 20).

The preference shares carry voting rights at a general meeting of the Company only where the preferential dividend is six months or more

in arrears, or where a motion is to be proposed which abrogates, varies or modifies the rights of the preference shareholders, or where a
motion is to be proposed for the winding up of the Company. On a winding ug, holders of the preference shares are entitled, after repayment
of the capital paid up on the Special Share and in priority to any payment to any other class of sharehotder, to the return of amounts paid
up or credited as paid up on the preference shares together with a premium of 75p per share, and all arrears of preferential dividends.
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26. Share-based payments
Details of the terms and conditions of each share option scheme are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 51 to 65,

Executive Share QOption Scheme {(ExS05)
Equity-settled options

2006 2005

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number of  exercise Number of  exercise

shares price shares price

‘000 £ ‘000 £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 71,399 278 63,475 2.76

Granted during the year 6,082 428 10,569 2.89

Converted during the year 8,641 215 - -

Exercised during the year {13,353} 240 (992) 1.65

Expired during the year {16,567} 3.23 (1,853) 3.35

Qutstanding at the end of the year 56,202 280 71,399 2.78

Exercisable at the end of the year 16,269 2.86 2,350 3.18
Cash-settled share appreciation rights

2006 2005

Weighted Weighted

average average

Numberof  exercise Number of  exercise

shares price shares price

000 £ '000 £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 69,129 2.88 61,957 2.90

Granted during the year - - 8,946 271

Converted during the year (8,641) 215 -~ -

Exercised during the year (4,843) 229 (5} 2.40

Expired during the year (19,840) 3.45 (1,769 2.68

Cutstanding at the end of the year 35,805 282 69,129 2.88

Exercisable at the end of the year 11,736 3.01 - -

In 2006 the terms of settlement for unvested ExSOS Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) were modified and a determination made that 8.6m
SARs should be settled on exercise by way of shares (equity-settled) rather than cash {cash-settled). The fair value of these modified options
was calculated based on the value of the equivalent equity options issued at the same time.

2006 2005
Equity-settled Cash-settled Equity-settled Cash-settled
Range of exercise price of outstanding options (£) 1.72 - 4.87 1.72-421 1.72 - 4.87 1.72-4.21
Weighted average remaining contracted life {years) 7 6 7 7
Weighted average fair value of options granted (£) 130 - 1.00 1.62
Expense recognised for the year (£m) 9 18 G 27

Perfarmance Share Plan (PSP)
Equity-settled awards

2006 2005
Number of Number of

shares shares

‘000 000

Cutstanding at the beginning of the year 18,917 14,462
Granted during the year 4,055 5,261
Converted during the year 5,669 -
Exercised during the year (2,495) -
Expired during the year (538) (8086)
Outstanding at the end of the year 25,608 18,917

Exercisable at the end of the year - -
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26. Share-based payments (continued)
Cash-settled awards
2006 2005
Number of Number of
shares shares
‘000 *000
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 21389 16,076
Granted during the year - 5,822
Converted during the year (5,669) -
Exercised during the year (2,188) -
Expired during the year ) (831) (509)
Quitstanding at the end of the year 12,701 21,389
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,071 -
In 2006 the terms of settlement for unvested PSP Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) were modified and a determination made that 5.7m
SARs should be settled on vesting by way of shares (equity-settted) rather than cash (cash-settled). The fair vaiue of these modified options
was calcutated based on the value of the equivalent equity options issued at the same time.
2006 2005
Equity-settled Cashsettled Equity-settled Cash-settled
Weighted average remaining contracted life (years) 5 4 5 5
Weighted average fair value of options granted (£) 1.88 - 1.48 277
Expense recognised for the year (£m) 8 22 6 25
The exercise price for the PSP is £nil (2005 £nil).
Restricted Share Plan (RSP)
All awards are equity-settled.
2006 2005
Number of Number of
shares shares
‘000 ‘000
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 1,047 799
Granted during the year 303 481
Exercised during the year (9) -
Expired during the year (3) 20)
Released during the year - (213)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 1,338 1,047
Exercisable at the end of the year - -
2006 2005
Weighted average remaining contracted life (years) 1 2
Weighted average fair value of options granted (£) 3.89 2.38
Expense recognised for the year (£m) 1 1 P
[=
(13
The exercise price for the RSP is £nil (2005 £nil). %
®
Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) t_g
Equity-settied options §
2006 2005 =
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Numberof  exercise
shares price shares price
000 £ ‘000 £
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 33,651 1.80 54,214 2.10
Exercised during the year (11,215) 196 (7,372) 2.51
Expired during the year (1,262) 1.74 (13,191) 2.62
Qutstanding at the end of the year 21,174 171 33651 1.80
Exercisable at the end of the year 128 1.74 - —
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26. Share-based payments {continued)

Cash-settied share appreciation rights

2006 2005
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise
shares price shares price
‘000 £ ‘000 £
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 14,388 270 16,924 2.486
Granted during the year - - 4,424 3.56
Exercised during the year {4,361) 2.48 (557) 2.56
Expired during the year {1,104) 291 (6,403) 2.66
Qutstanding at the end of the year 8,923 276 14,388 2.70
Exercisable at the end of the year 1,592 1.74 3,093 2.71

2006 2005

Equity-settled Cash-settled Equity-settled Cash-settled
Range of exercise price of outstanding options (£) 093-3.21 172 - 356 0.93-3.21 1.72 - 3.56
Weighted average remaining contracted life {years) 2 2 2 2
Weighted average fair value of options granted (£} - - - 1.15
Expense recognised for the year (£m) 3 7 3 9
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Details of options granted in the year

The fair value of equity-settled awards granted in the year has been measured using the weighted average inputs below and the following

valuation models:

PSP — Monte Carlo

RSP - Dividend valuation model
ExS05 & SAYE — Binomial model

2006 2005
Range of share price at date of grant {£) 4,18 2.62-3.85
Exercise price (£) 0-428 0-3.56
Expected option life (years) 3-5 3-5
Volatility 27 - 38% 27 - 42%
Spot dividend yield 2.5% 2.6%
Risk free interest rate 4.4% 4.1 -4.2%

Volatility was calculated with reference to the Group's weekly share price volatility, after atiowing for dividends and stock splits, for the

greater of 30 weeks or for the period until vest date,

The average share price in the year was £3.96 (2005 £2.94),

The liability in respect of the cash-settled elements of the schemes shown above and reported within provisions at 31 December 2006 is

£82m {2005 £80m).
The intrinsic value of cash-settled options that have vested at 31 December 2006 is £14m (2005 £3m).
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27. Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

Attributable to equity halders of the parent

Equity
Issued option of
share Share preference Other  Retained Minority Total
capital  premium shares reserves  eamings Total interests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2005 77 412 78 6,014 (3,504) 3,077 10 3,087
Reclassification? - - - (636) 636 - - -
Total recognised income and expense - - - {658} 295 (363) 2 (361)
Share-based payments - - - - 16 16 - 16
Shares issued 3 370 - - - 373 - 373
Other - - - - - - 4 4
Ordinary share dividends - - - - (315) {315) - {315)
At 31 December 2005 - 80 782 78 4,720 (2,872) 2,788 16 2,804
Total recognised income and expense - - - 476y 2177 1,701 3 1,704
Share-based payments?® - - - - 46 46 - a6
Share options:
Proceeds from shares issued 1 52 - - - 53 - 53
Purchase of own shares by ESOP . - - - - {12) (12) - {12)
Ccnversion of preference shares - 7 (2) 6 (8) 5 - 5
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - (112) {112) - (112)
Release of unrealised gain on the sale of Atlas Elektronik - - - (11) - {11) - {11)
Revaluation of net assets acquired by equity accounted
investments (note 14) - - - - 5 5 - 5
Reclassification - - - 91 {91) - - -
Other - - - - - - (2) (2}
Ordinary share dividends - - - - (3486) (348) - (346)
At 31 December 2006 81 841 76 4330 (1,211) 4,117 17 4,134

Other reserves includes a merger reserve of £4,589m (2005 £4,589m), a statutory reserve® of £202m (2005 £202m), a translation reserve
of £259m debit (2005 £85m debit) and a hedging reserve of £27m {2005 £225m).

1 At 31 December 2004, the fair value reserve of £636m represented the unrealised gain on the Group's holdings in the shares of Vodafone Group Pic that arose on uplifting the
shares from historical cost to market value at that date. On adopstion of IAS 32, and in accordance with IFRS 1. the Group’s holding in these shares was designated as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss. As a result, ffom 1 January 2005 movements in the market value of these shares are recerded through the income statement. Accordingly,
this was reclassified into retained earnings.

2 The credit in respect of share-based payments for the year ended 31 December 2006 comprises £21m in respect of equity-settled share-based payment schemes, £21m relating
to a change in the terms of certain share-based payment schemes from cash-settied to equity-settled and £4m relating to discontinued operations.

3 Under section 4 of the British Aerespace Act 1980 the statutory reserve may only be applied in paying up unissued shares of the Group to be allotted to members of the Group as
fully paid bonus shares.

Own shares held
Own shares held, including treasury shares and shares held by the ESOP Trust, are recognised as a deduction from retained earnings.

BAE Systems ESOP Trust Limited
Own shares with a weighted average cost of £8m (2005 £5m) comprise a holding of 2,382,835 (2005 1,748,945) ordinary shares of 2.5p
each in BAE Systems ple, listed on the London Stock Exchange, and are held by BAE Systems ESOP Trust of which IFG Trust {Jersey) Limited i

are the trustees. Information on the market value and allocation of these shares to the Group’s various share option schemes is as follows: : %
2006 2005 @3
Market value £m £m ‘ ‘g
Under option 10 4 w
Not yet allocated to share option schemes - 3
10 7 KS
2006 2005
Number of Number of
Allocation shares shares
Held under Restricted Share Plan
Executive directors: under option 199,573 384,524
Cther employees: under option 1,138,671 661,940
Held under Perfarmance Share Plan
Executive directors: under option 470,952 -
Other employees: under option 573,639 -
Not yet allocated to share option schemes - 702,481
2,382,835 1,748,945

Dividends on the shares held in the ESOP Trust have not been waived. Finance costs and other administrative charges are included in the
income statement on an accruals basis. :
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28. Reconciliation of operating business cash flow

Restated
2006 2005
Em im
Cash inflow from operating activities 778 2,099
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {419) (318)
Capital expenditure on investment property - (12)
Additions to intangible assets {27) (17
Proceeds from the sale of property. plant and equibment 135 30
Proceeds from the sale of investment properny 174 54
Proceeds from the sale of non-current other investments 1 30
Purchase of nor-current other investments (5) (17)
Dividends received from equity accounted investments 145 8|8
Operating business cash flow 782 1,937
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 273 323
Land & Armaments 137 168
Programmes 173 285
Customer Solutions & Support 289 850
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 158 17
HQ and other businesses {225) (79)
Discontinued operations {23) 373
Operating business cash flow 782 1,937
29. Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group
2006 2005
£m £m
Term deposits — non-current 4 -
Other investments -~ current 503 634
Cash and cash equivalenis 3,100 2581
3,607 3,215
Loans - non-current (2,776) (3,534)
Loans - current (308)y (815)
Overdrafts - current (26) {80)
Loans and overdrafts — current (334) (905
Cash received on customers’ account” (included within payables) (62) (53)
(3,172) (4,492)
Closing net cash/({debt) as defined by the Group 435 (1,277)
Movement in net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group
2006 2005
£m £m
Cpening net debt as defined by the Group (1,277 (668)
Adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 ~ {283)
Restated opening net debt as defined by the Group (1,277y (951)
Operating business cash flow 782 1,937
Interest and preference dividends 207y (152)
Taxation (85) (27)
Free cash inflow 490 1,758
Acquisitions and disposals 1,330 (1,548)
Debt acquired on acquisition of subsidiary undertaking - (288)
Proceeds from issue of share capita! 53 373
Equity dividends paid {346) (315)
Other noncash movements (5) (52)
Purchase of treasury shares (112) -
Purchase of own shares by ESOP (12) -
Foreign exchange 323 (219)
Movement in cash received on customers’ account (9) (35)
Closing net cash/(deht) as defined by the Group 435 (1,277)

1 cash on customers’ account is the unexpended cash received from customers in advance of delivery which is subject to advance payments guaraniees unrelated (o

company performance

110 BAE Systems Annual Report 2006




30. Dividends

2006 2005

£m £m

Equity dividends
Prior year final 6.3p dividend per ordinary share paid in the year (2005 5.8p) 203 186
Interim 4.4p dividend per ordinary share paid in the year (2005 4.0p) 143 129
346 315

After the balance sheet date, the directors proposed a final dividend of 6.9p (2005 6.3p). The dividend, which is subject to shareholder
approval, will be paid on 1 June 2007 to shareholders registered on 20 April 2007, The ex-dividend date is 18 April 2007.

Shareholders who do not at present participate in the Company's Dividend Reinvestment Plan and wish to receive the final dividend in shares
rather than cash should complete a mandate form for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan and retumn it to the registrars ne later than 10 May 2007.

31. Acquisition of subsidiaries

On 16 October 2006 the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of National Sensor Systems, LLC. for $8.7m (£5m) in cash.
The company specialises in the development of electro-optical sensor systems for aerospace and defence applications. In addition, the
Group paid deferred consideration of £7m in respect of its acquisition, in May 2005, of OMC Group.

32. Financial risk management

A discussion of the Group’s treasury objectives and policies and the use of financial instruments can be found in the operating and financial
review and the directors’ report. Financial instruments comprise net debt (note 29) together with other financial assets and other financial
liabilities and other instruments deemed to be financial instruments under 1AS 32 including non-current receivables, non-current payables and
nan-current provisions.

Hedging instruments
The notional, or contracted, amounts of derivative financial instruments are shown below, analysed between foreign exchange contracts and
interest rate contracts, classified by year of maturity.

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Between Between
Not 1 year More Not 1 year More
exceeding and than exceeding and than
1vyear Syears 5years Total 1year 5Syears b5ygars Total
Foreign exchange contracts £Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Net forward {sales)/purchase contracts
US dollar (1,498) 25 (38) (1,511) (1.,406) 93 (35) (1,348)
Euro 643 10 3 656 1,240 (59) 2 1,183
Other 36 2 - 38 20 136 - 156
(819) 37 (35) (817) (146) 170 (33) (9)
31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Between Between
Not 1 year More Not 1 year Mare
exceedIng and than exceeding and than n
1year Gyears 5 years Total lyear 5Syears b5years Total =
Interest rate contracts £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £
Interest rate swap contracts E
US dollar 128 664 - 792 - 437 466 303 %
Sterling 26 99 53 178 12 73 31 116 g
2]
154 763 53 970 12 510 497 1,019 E
31 December 2008 31 December 2005
Between Between
Not 1 year Maore Not 1 year More
exceeding and than exceeding and than
lyear 5Syears 5years Total lyear bHyears 5years Total
Cross currency swap contracts £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Net forward (sales)/purchase contracts
US dollar 143 252 301 696 21 277 460 758
Euro - - - - - (98 - (95)
Other - (137) - {137) - {135) - {135)
143 115 301 559 21 47 460 528
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32. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price at which one party would assume the rights and/or duties of another party.

The fair values of financial instruments have been determined based on available market information at the batance sheet date, and the

valuation methodologies listed below:

- the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts are calculated by discounting the contracted forward values and translating at the
appropriate balance sheet rates; ’

— the fair value of both interest rate and cross-currency swaps are calculated by discounting expected future principal and interest cash flows
and translating at the appropriate balance sheet rates;

- the fair value of loans and overdrafts has been estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using appropriate
market-based interest rates prevailing at 31 December.

Due to the variability of the valuation factors, the fair values presented at the balance sheet date may not be indicative of the amounts the
Group would expect to realise in a current market environment.

The following table compares the estimated fair values of certain financial assets and liabilities to their carrying values at the balance
sheet date®.

Net Net
carrying Estimated carrying Estimated
amount fair value amount  fair value
2006 2006 2005 2005

£m £m £m £m
Assets
Non-current
Other investments 4 4 - -
Other receivabies? 569 569 912 912
Other financial assets 51 51 65 65
Current
Other investments . 503 503 634 634
Other financial assets 50 50 54 54
Cash and cash equivalents 3,100 3,100 2581 2,581
Liabilities
Non-current
Loans (2,776) (2,964) (3,534) (3,825)
Other financial tiabilities (45) 45) (45) (45)
Current
Loans and overdrafts (334) (339) (205) (905)
Other financial liabilities {60) (50) (81) (81)

1,072 879  (319) (610)

1 the estimated fair values of the remaining financial assets and liabilities are consistent with their carrying values at the balance sheet date
2 net carrying amount approximates to estimated fair value as there is no active market

Interest rate risk
Based on contracted maturities and/or repricing dates, the following amounts are exposed to interest rate risk over the future as shown below:

Beyond
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
£m £m £m £m im £m
Assets
Non-current
Trade and other receivables 115 - - - - _
Current
Other investments 503 - - - - _
Cash and cash equivalents 3,100 - - - — _
Liabilities
Nonh-current
Loans (764 (636) (608) (573) (281) (141)
Current
Loans and overdrafts (112) - - - - -
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32. Financial risk management (continued)

Collateral

s shown above, the Group has entered into a number of financial derivative contracts to hedge certain long-term foreign currency and
nterest rate exposures. Cash collateral payments can be required to be made periodicatly to the counterparty dependent on the market value
bf these financial derivatives. Cash deposited in this way is treated as a non-current receivable and at 31 December 2006 totalled £115m
2005 £80m).

Committed undrawn borrowing facilities

I\t 31 December 2006 the Group had a revelving credit facility (RCF) of £1.5bn, which expires in more than two years but less than five years
2005 £1.5bn which expires in more than two years but less than five years). The RCF was originally contracted for five years until 2010.
However, it has been extended by the agreement of two one-year extensions until 2012, although the available amount for the final year has
heen reduced from £1.5bn to £1.3bn. The RCF remained undrawn throughout the year.

Interest rate fluctuations

[The objective of interest rate risk management is to reduce the exposure to interest rate fluctuations on borrowings and deposits. This is
achieved through varying the proportion of fixed rate debt relative to floating rate debt over the forward time horizon by utilising derivative
instruments, mainly interest rate swaps. The Group's current interest rate management policy is that a minimum of 25% (2005 25%) and a
maximum of 75% (2005 75%) of debt is maintained at fixed interest rates. At 31 December 2006, the Group had 72% (2005 70%) of fixed
rate debt and 28% (2005 30%) of floating rate debt based on a gross debt of £3.1bn (2005 £4.4bn).

The floating rate debt has been predominantly achieved by entering into interest rate swaps which swap the fixed rate US dollar interest
payable on debt into either floating rate sterling or US dotlars. At the end of 2006, the Group had a total of $1.6bn (2005 $1.7bn} of this
type of swap outstanding with an average duration of 3.6 years (2005 4.5 years). In respect of the fixed rate debt the weighted average
period in respect of which interest is fixed was six years (2005 six years).

Given the level of short-term interest rates during the year, the average cost of the floating rate debt was 5.8% on both US dollars and
sterling (2005 5.3% — 5% on US dollass and 6.1% on sterling); the cost of the fixed rate debt was 7.0% {2005 6.8%). A 1% change in short-
term rates applied to the year end fixed/ floating mix and level of borrowings would vary the interest cost to the Group by £8m (2005 £13m).

In respect of cash deposits, given the fluctuation in the Group's working capital requirements, cash is generally invested for short-term
periods based at floating interest rates.

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents

The Group is exposed to ¢redit risk on its cash and cash equivalents to the extent of non-performance by its counterparties in respect of
financial instruments. However, the Group has policies in place to ensure credit risk is limited by placing concentration limits. BAE Systems
has a credit limit system to manage actively its exposure to treasury counterparties. The system assigns a maximum exposure based on the
counterparty’s FT composite rating. These limits are regularly monitored and updated.

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are invested in non-speculative financial instruments which are usually highly liguid such as
overnight deposits and money market funds. The Group, therefore, believes it has negligible exposure to price risk.

33. Related party transactions

The Group has a retated party relationship with its directors and key management {as disciosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 51 to
65 and in note 7), its equity accounted investments {note 14) and the pension plans (note 22).

Transactions occur with the equity accounted investments in the normal course of business and are priced on an arm's-length basis and
settled on normal trade terms. The more significant transactions are disclosed below:

For the year ended 31 December 2006

Lease
Purchases  Amounts income/ ‘”ﬁ%
Sales to from owed by Amounts  (expense) F’é
related related related owed to  with related [
party party party related party party Other {’,g
Related party £m £m £m £m £m £m ;g
Airbus SAS 50 - - - 15 - E“ -
Eurofighter Jagdflugzeug GmbH 1,212 - 97 66 - - t'f-.f‘
Flagship Training Limited - 2 - 16 - - B :
. Fleet Suppont Limited i 8 - 2 - - N
Gripen International KB - - 103 115 - -
MBDA SAS 124 12 14 482 2 -
Panavia Aircraft GmbH 75 53 2 - - -
Saab AB 4 2 - - -
CTA International 1 - - - - -
Silicon Sensing Systems - - - 7 - -
Xchanging Procurement Services 16 101 2 - -
Xchanging MR Services - 26 - 2 - -
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33. Related party transactions (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2005

Lease
Purchases Amounts Amounts income/
Sales 10 from owed by owed to (expense}
related related related related  with related
party party party party party Cther
Related party £m £m £m £m £m £m
Airbus SAS 177 - - 745 17 -
AMS NV 2 - - - 1 -
Eurofighter Jagdfiugzeug GmbH 1242 - 18 - - -
Flagship Training Limited - 2 - 13 - -
Fleet Support Limited - 9 - - - -
Gripen International KB - - 4 24 - -
MBDA SAS 106 14 27 478 2 -
Panavia Aircraft GmbH 24 79 2 3 - 3
Saab AB 4 3 1 - - -
Xchanging Procurement Services 14 22 1 - - -
Xchanging HR Services - 8] 2 - - -
1 transactions with Airbus SAS up to the date of disposal in October 2006
34. Group entities
Principally Country of
Principal subsidiary entities Principal activities operates in incarporation
BAE Systems (Operations) Limited Defence and commercial aerospace UK Engiland and
(Held via BAE Systems Enterprises Limited and activities Wales
BAE Systems (Hofdings} Limited)
BAE Systems Australia Limited Defence support and avionics Australia Australia
(Held via BAE Systems Australia Holdings Limited)
BAE Systems Electronics Limited Naval prime contracting UK England and
{Held via Meslink Limited) Wales
BAE Systems Marine Limited* Shipbuilding UK England and
{Held via BAE Systems Marine (Holdings) Limited) Wales
BAE Systems Integrated System Technologies Limited Defence systems UK England and
{Held via BAE Systems Electronics Limited) Wales
BAE Systems Inc. Defence systems Us us
(Held via BAE Systems Holdings inc.)
BAE Systems Land & Armaments Inc. Manufacture and support of military US & Sweden us
(Held via BAE Systems Inc.) vehicles and ship repair
BAE Systems Land Systems (Munitions & Ordnance) Limited Manufacture of ammunition and UK England and
(Held via BAE Systems (Holdings) Limited) weapon systems Wales
BAE Systems Land Systems {Weapons & Vehicles) Limited Design, manufacture, supply and UK England and
(Held via BAE Systems Land Systems (Finance) Limited and support of armoured vehicles Wales
Alvis Limited)
Alvis Limited Manufacture and support of military UK England and
(Held via BAE Systems (Holdings} Limited) vehicles Wales
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The above list sets out the principal subsidiaries within the Group accounts, It does not represent a full list of subsidiaries. All holdings

represent 100% of ordinary share capital.

*  Company subject to specific Office of Fair Trading undertakings. Copies of its accounts may be obtained from the Company Secretary, BAE Systems plc.

35. Events after the balance sheet date

On 17 January 2007, the Group completed the sale of its 50% interest in HR Enterprise Limited to Xchanging HR Services for a cash

consideration of £10m.
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2006 2005

Notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 2 9 19
Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 3 4,979 4,978
4,988 4,997
Current assets
Stocks 4 2 pi
Debtors due within one year 5 4,599 6,115
Debtors due after one year 5 144 121
Investments 6 491 599
Other financial assets due within one year 7 82 152
Other financial assets due after one year 7 85 57
Cash at bank and in hand 2,714 1,332
8,117 8,378
Liabilities falling due within one year
Loans and overdrafts 8 (123) {748)
Creditors 9 (8,903) (9,707)
Other financial lighilities 7 (87) (167)
(9.113) (10,622)
Net current liabilities {996) (2,244)
Total assets less current liabilities 3,992 2,753
Liabilities falling due after one year
Loans 8 (913) (938)
Creditors g (1) (1)
Other financial liabilities 7 (76) (42)
{990) (979}
Provisions for liabifities and charges 10 {12 {3)
2,990 1.771
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 12 81 80
Equity option of convertible preferences shares 12 76 78
Share premium account 13 841 782
Statutory reserve 14 202 202
Qther reserves 13 101 49
Profit and loss account 13 1,689 580
Equity shareholders’ funds 2,990 1,771
Approved by the Board on 21 February 2007 and signed on its behalf by:
M J Turner G W Rose
Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statementis have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments} at fair value through profit or
loss. and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in
the United Kingdom (UK GAAP). The going concern basis has been
applied in these accounts.

In the Company’'s accounts, all fixed asset investments (including
subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures) are stated at cost (or
valuation in respect of certain listed investments) less provisions

for impairments. Dividends received and receivable are credited to
the Company's profit and loss account. In accordance with section
230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 the Company is exempt from the
requirement to present its own profit and loss account. The amount
of profit for the financial year of the Company is disclosed in note 13
to these accounts.

Relief under sections 131 and 133 of the Companies Act 1985 is
taken wherever possible. Accordingly, where such relief is available,
the difference between the fair value and aggregate nominal value
of shares is not recognised in either shareholders’ funds or cost

of investment.

Cash flow statement

The Company is exempt under the terms of Financial Reporting
Standard 1, paragraph 5a. from the requirement to publish its

own ¢ash flow statement, as its cash flows are included within
the consolidated cash flow statement of the Group.

Forelgn currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
fiabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. These exchange
differences are recognised in the profit and loss account unless they
qualify for hedge accounting treatment, in which case the effective
portion is recognised directly in a separate component of equity.

Tangible fixed assets

Depreciation is provided, normally on & straight-line basis, to write
off the cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets over their estimated
useful economic lives to any estimated residual value using the
following rates:

Buildings up to 50 years, or the lease

term if shorter

Computing equipment, motor 3 to 5 years
vehicles and short life works

equipment

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets in the
coursg of construction,

Impairment reviews are undertaken if there are indications that the
carrying values may not be recoverable.

Leases

Assels obtained under finance leases are included in tangible fixed
assets at cost and are depreciated over their useful economic lives,
or the term of their lease, whichever is shorter. Future instalments
under such leases, net of finance charges, are included within oans.
Rental payments are apportioned between the finance element,
which is charged as interest to the profit and loss account, and the
capital element, which reduces the outstanding obligation for future
instalments, so as to give a constant rate of charge on the
outstanding obligation.

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the profit
and loss account on a straight-line basis in arriving at operating profit.

Investments
The Company's investment in shares in group companies are stated
at cost less provision for impairment.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost, inctuding all relevant
overhead expenditure, and net realisable value.

Tax

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes
account of taxation deferred because of timing differences between
the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.
Deferred tax is recognised on an undiscounted basis in respect of
all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but not
reversed by the batance sheet date where there is an obligation

to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, in the future.

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Company contributes to Group pension plans operated in the
UK. Details of the principal plans and the financial assumptions
used are contained in the consolidated accounts of BAE Systems
plc. As permitted by Financial Reporting Standard 17 Retirement
Benefits (FRS 17). the plans are accounted for as defined
contribution plans, as the employer cannot identify its share of
the underlying assets and liabilities of the plans. The employer's
contributions are set in relation to the current service period and
also to fund a series of measures which were agreed during the
year {o address the pension scheme deficits.

Share options and own shares held

The Company issues equity-settled share options to employees. In
accordance with the requirements of FRS 20 Share-based payment
(FRS 2Q), the Company has applied FRS 20 to all equity-share
options granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of

1 January 2005, Equity-settled share options are measured at fair
value at the date of grant using an option pricing model. The fair
value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Company's estimate of the number of shares that wilt
actually vest.

In accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 25 - National
insurance contributions on share option gains (UITF 25} the Company
provides in full for the employer’s national insurance liability
estimated to arise on the future exercise of share options granted,
except where the employee has agreed to settle the employer's
national insurance liability as a condition of the grant of the options.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption offered in
Urgeni Issues Task Force Abstract 17 - Employee share schemes
(UITF 17) from charging to the profit and loss account the 20%
discount offered to employees partaking in such Company operated
SAYE schemes.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

As required under Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 38 -
Accounting for ESOP trusts (UITF 38) the cost to the Company of own
shares held is shown as a deduction from shareholders’ funds within
the profit and loss account. Consideration paid or received for the
purchase or sale of the Company’'s own shares in the ESOP trust is
shown separately in the reconciliation of movements in
shareholders’ funds.

Preterence share capital

The Company has in issue 7.75p (net) cumulative preference shares
of 25p each that are convertible into the Company's ordinary shares
of 2.5p each at the option of the holder on 31 May in any of the
years up to 2007, on the basis of 0.47904 ordinary shares for every
preference share. As a result of the share repurchases during 2006,
the conversion rate has decreased to 0.47554 ordinary shares for
every preference share at 31 December 2006. In accordance with
the Articles of Association the preference share conversion rate will
be adjusted further as a result of share repurchases made after

31 December 2008. From 1 July 2007 to 1 January 2010, the
Company may redeem any outstanding shares at 100p per share,
together with any arrears and accruals of dividends.

In accordance with FRS 25 the preference shares are considered a
compound financial instrument and accordingly, have been split into
an underlying debt instrument, classified within lpans and overdrafts,
and an equity conversion option, classified within equity.

The underlying debt instrument is presented on an amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the preference
shares.

The equity conversion option is presented at its historic fair value,
based on the date of original issue of the preference shares. On
conversion of a preference share into ordinary shares, the
attributable amount of the equity component is reclassified to share
capital and share premium. From 1 July 2007, the option to convert
into ordirary shares is extinguished, and accordingly the remaining
balance on the equity conversion option will be transferred to the
profit and loss reserve,

Dividends thereon are recognised in the income statement as
finance costs.

Dividends
Equity dividends on ordinary share capital are recognised as a
liabitity in the period in which they are declared.

www.baesystems.com
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2. Tangible fixed assets

Land and Plant and

huiidings equipment Total
£m £m Lm

Cost
At 1 January 2006 26 40 66
Additions 50 - 50
Disposals (62) - (62)
At 31 December 2006 14 40 54
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2006 13 34 47
Bepreciation - 1 1
Disposals (3) — (3)
At 31 December 2006 10 35 45
Net book value
At 31 December 2006 4 5 9
At 31 December 2005 13 6 19

The amounts above at 31 December 2006 include:
tand and Plant and

buildings eguipment Total
£m £m £m
Capitalised finance leases
Cost - 24 24
Accumulated depreciation - 24 24
Assets let under operating leases
Cost . - - -
Accumulated depreciation - -
Net book value of:
Freehold property - - -
Long leasehold property 4 - 4
Short leasehold property - — -
Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 5 5
4 5 9

Land and buildings comprise:

- freehold and long leasehold land and buildings owned by the Company as at 30 June 1996, excluding certain overseas properties,
revalued at that date. The majority of the Group’s operational properties at that time were valued on a depreciated replacement basis,
owing to their specialisation, with the remainder on an existing use value basis. Other non-operational properties were valued on the basis
of open market value;

- short [easeholds at cost;

- additions subsequent to 30 June 1986 at cost; and

- land and buildings owned by subsidiary undenakings acquired since 30 June 1996 at fair value at the date of acquisition.
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3. Fixed asset investments

Subsidiary
undertakings Other Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 5,042 - 5,042
Impairment provisions
At 1 January 2006 64 - 64
Released - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2006 64 (1) 63
Net carrying value
At 31 December 2006 4,978 1 4979
At 31 December 2005 4978 - 4978
4. Stocks
2006 2005
£m £m
Development properties 2 2
5. Debtors
2006 2005
£m £m
Due within one year
Corporation tax recoverable 32 32
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 4,500 5,988
Amounts owed by Group joint ventures 1 7
Other debtors 33 72
Prepayments and accrued income 33 16
4599 6,115
Due after one year
Amounis owed by Group joint ventures - 7
Other debtors 143 113
Prepayments and accrued income 1 1
144 121
Other debtors includes cash collateral of £115m (2005 £80m}.
6. Current asset investments
2006 2005
£Em £m
Exchange Property - 599
Other securities 491 -
491 599
Exchange Property represented the Company's shareholding in Vodafone Group Plc which was sold during the year.
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7. Other financial assets and liabilities

2006 2006 2005 2005
Assets  Liabilitles Assels Liabilities
£Em £m £m £m
Due within one year
Cash flow hedges - foreign exchange contracts 3 (36) 35 (70)
Other foreign exchange/interest rate contracts : 51 {51) 117 (94}
Embedded derivatives - - - (3)
82 (87) 152 {167)
Due after one year
Cash flow hedges - foreign exchange contracts 30 (42) 28 (38)
Other foreign exchange/interest rate contracts 55 {34) 29 (4)
85 (76) 57 (42)
Full disclosures relating to the Group’s other financial assets and liabilities and financial risk management strategies are given in the
financial review and note 32 to the Group accounts.
8. Loans and overdrafts
20086 2005
Em im
Due within one year
Bank loans and overdrafts 85 44
European Investment Bank loans, final instalment 2009 7 26
Debt-related financial instruments 19 -
SYSTEMS 2001 Asset Trust:
Option Aircraft bond 12 11
Exchangeable £676m 3.75% Bond - 667
123 748
Due after one year
Euro-Sterling £150m 11%4% bond, repayable 2008 150 150
European Investment Bank loan, final instalment 2009 11 18
Eure-Sterling £100m 10%% bond, repayable 2014 99 a9
SYSTEMS 2001 Asset Trust:
Option Aircraft bond, final instalment 2013 192 287
Permitted Investment bond, repayable 2010 - 1
Debt instrument of the convertible preference shares, redeemable 2010 242 240
Debt-related financial instruments 217 139
Alvis loan notes, redeemable 2009 2 2
913 936
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Bank loans and overdrafts are at a floating rate of interast.

The European Investment Bank borrowing consists of three sterling-denominated loans, two of which matured during 2006 and the th
matures in 2009. The coupon rate on the outstanding loan is fixed with an interest rate of 6.86%,

ird

The SYSTEMS 2001 Asset Trust bonds are at a floating rate of interest, having been converted to a sterling floating rate bond by utilising a

cross-currency swap which resulted in an effective interest rate during 2006 of 5.59%.

Exchangeable £676m 3.75% Bond
The bond was redeemed at par on maturity during July 2006 following seme minor conversions into the Exchange Property.

Loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:

2006 2005

£m £m

In one year or less 123 748
Between one and two years 180 81
Between two and five years 317 484
In later years 416 361
1,036 1,684

The total amount of loans repayable by instalments, where any instalment is due after five years, is £203m (2005 £299m).
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9, Creditors

2006 2005

£m £m

Due within one year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 8125 B8.268
Amounts owed to Group joint ventures 605 1,246
Other creditors 134 162
Accruals and deferred income 39 31
8,903 9.707

Due after one year

Other creditors 1 1
1 1

10. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Contracts and other

£m
At 1 January 2006 3
Created 13
Utilised {4)
At 31 December 2006 12
Provisions created relate to onerous property leases.
11. Contingent liabilities and commitments
Company guaranteed borrowings
Borrowings by subsidiary undertakings totalling £2,182m (2005 £2,868m) which are included in the Group’s borrowings have been
guaranteed by the Company.
12. Share capital
Equity Non-equity Total
Ordinary shares Special Share
of 2.5p each of £1
Number of  Nominal Number of  Nominal Nominal
shares value shares value value
m £m £ £m
Authorised
At 1 January 2005 3,850 213 1 1 a6
Authorised in the year 600 15 - - 15
At 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 4,450 111 1 1 111
Issued and fully paid ]
At 1 January 2005 3,060 77 i 1 77 -
Placing of shares 150 3 - - 3 | E
Exercise of options 9 - - ~- - 1]
At 1 January 2006 3,219 80 1 1 80 @&
Exercise of options 24 1 - - 1
Conversion of preference shares 3 - - - - E
At 31 December 2006 3,246 81 1 1 81 =
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12. Share capital (continued)

Treasury shares

In connection with the disposal of its interest in Airbus, the Company stated its intention to return up to £600m to ordinary shareholders

by way of on-market purchases of ordinary shares using authorities granted at the 2006 AGM and to hold the repurchased shares initially in
treasury. The Company commenced this buyback programme on 26 October 2006 and, as at 31 December 2006, 28,675,000 2.5p ordinary
shares with an aggregate nominal value of £1m were held in treasury.

Special Share

One Special Share of £1 in the Company is held on behalf of the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry (the Special Shareholder). Certain
parts of the Company’s Articles of Association cannot be amended without the consent of the Special Shareholder. These articles include
the requirement that no foreign person, or foreign persons acting in concert, can have an interest in more than 15% of the Company, the
requirement that the majority of the directors are British, and the requirement that the Chief Executive and any executive chairman are
British citizens. The effect of these requiremenis can also be amended by regulations made by the directors and approved by the Special
Shareholder.

The Special Shareholder may require the Company at any time to redeem the Special Share at par or to convert the Special Share into one
ordinary voting share. The Special Shareholder is entitled to receive notice of and to attend general meetings and class meetings of the
Company's shareholders but has no voting right, nor other rights, other than to speak in relation to any business in respect of the Special
Share.

Preference shares

The Company alsc has in issue 260 million (2005 266 million) 7.75p (net) cumulative redeemable preference shares of 25p each which
have been convertible into ordinary shares of 2.5p each at the option of the holder on 31 May in any of the years since issue up to 2037, on
the basis of 0.47904 ordinary shares for every preference share. During the year 6,116,123 shares were converted for 2,929,867 ordinary
shares. 2007 will be the final year in which shareholders can elect to convert their shares. As a result of the share repurchases during 20086,
the conversion rate has decreased to 0.47554 ordinary shares for every preference share at 31 December 20086. In accordance with the
Articles of Association the preference share conversion rate will be adjusted further as a result of share repurchases made after 31
December 2006. The Company may redeem all of the remaining preference shares at any time after 1 July 2007 and. in any case, will
redeem any remaining shares on 1 January 2010, in each case at 100p per share together with any arrears and accruals of dividend. The
maximum redemption value of the preference shares, ignoring any arrears or accruals of dividend, is therefore £260m (2005 £266m).

In accordance with FRS 25 the convertible preference shares are considered to be a compound financial instrument consisting of both a debt
element and an equity component which require separate accounting treatment. Under FRS 25, the equity option compenent of preference
shares of £76m (2005 £78m) is included as a separate reserve within equity. The debt element is recognised within loans and overdrafts
(note 8).

The preference shares carry voting rights at a general meeting of the Company only where the preferentia! dividend is six months or more

in arrears, or where a motion is to be propesed which abrogates, varies or modifies the rights of the preference shareholders, or where a
motion is to be proposed for the winding up of the Company. On a winding up, holders of the preference shares are entitled, after repayment
of the capital paid up on the Special Share and in priority to any payment to any other ciass of shareholder, to the return of amounts paid up
or credited as paid up on the preference shares together with a premium of 75p per share, and all arrears of preferential dividends.

13. Reserves

Share premium Other Profit and

account reserves loss account

£m im Im

At 31 December 2005 782 49 580
Retained profit - - 1,617
Dividends paid . - - (346)
Share-based payments - - 25
Exercise of options 52 - -
Conversion of preference shares 7 - -
Purchase of own shares by ESOP - - (12)
Purchase of treasury shares - - (112)
Rectassification - 80 (80)
Other movements - (18) 17
Movements in hedging reserve - (1) -
At 31 December 2006 841 101 1,689

Other reserves

Other reserves for the Company comprise: capital reserve £24m (2005 £24m); hedging reserve £9m dehit (2005 £79m debit): and non-
distributable reserve arising from property disposals to other Group undertakings £86m (2005 £104m). The non-distributable reserve arising
from property disposals to other Group undertakings relates to the revaluation surplus realised by the Company on properties which were
sold to other Group companies as part of operational reorganisations in prior years. Amounts within this reserve will be transferred to the
profit and loss account as distributable when the related properties are disposed of outside the Group, or written down following impairment.
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13. Reserves (continued)

Own shares held

Within the profit and loss aceount of the Company there are deductions for the value of own shares held of £8m (2005 £5m) which comprise
a holding of 2,382,835 (2005 1,748.945) ordinary shares of 2.5p each in the Company, listed on the London Stock Exchange and are held
by the BAE Systems ESOP Trust of which IFG Trust (Jersey) Limited are the trustees.

Information on the market value and allocation of these shares to the Company’s various share option schemes is as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m
Market value
Under option 10 4
Not yet allocated to share option schemes - 3
10 7
2006 2005
Number of Number of
shares shares
Allocation
Held under Restricted Share Plan
Executive directors: under option 199,573 384,524
Other employees: under option 1,138,671 661,940
Held under Performance Share Plan
Executive directors: under option 470,952 -
Other employees: under option 573,639 -
Not yet allocated to share option schemes - 702,481
2,382,835 1,748,945

Dividends on the shares held in the ESOP Trust have not been waived. Finance costs and other administrative charges are included in the
profit and loss account on an accruals basis.

Company profit
The Company's profit for the financial year was £1,617m (2005 £728m).

14. Statutory reserve

Under section 4 of the British Aerospace Act 1980 this reserve may only be applied in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be
allotted to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

15. Other information

Employees
The total number of employees of the Company at 31 December 2006 was 596 (2005 478). Total staff costs, excluding charges for share
options, were £67m (2005 £59m).

Total directors’ emoluments, excluding company pension contributions, were £9,647.000 (2005 £7,730,000). These emoluments were paid
for their services on behalf of the BAE Systems Group. No emoluments related specifically to their work for the Company.

Company audlt fee
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts totalled £1,023,000 (2005 £1,110,000).

Financial statements
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2003 2002
2006 2005 2004 UK UK
IFRS IFRS IFRS GAAP'  GAAP!
£m Em Em £m £m
Income statement*?
Sales including Group’s share of equity accounted investments
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 4,007 3,697 3,063 - -
Land & Armaments 2,115 1,270 482 - -
Programmes 2,927 2,819 2,219 2,374 2,060
Customer Solutions & Support 3180 2,923 2,856 2,042 2,133
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 1,748 1,834 2,022 -~ -
Commercial Aerospace’ - - - 29804 2716
HQ and other businesses 295 471 464 281 300
Avionics® - - - 650 727
North America - - - 2636 2,561
Internaticnal Partnerships - - - 1,685 1.648
Intra-business group sales (807) (433} (417) -~ -
13,7656 12,581 10,689 12,572 12,145
EBITA®
Electronics, Intelligence & Support 429 324 256 - -
Land & Armaments 168 42 (8) ~ -
Programmes 167 133 10 56 69
Customer Solutions & Support 477 419 497 411 454
Integrated Systems & Partnerships 113 109 95 - -
Commercial Aerospace® - - - 204 195
HQ and other businesses (147) (118) (50) - (18)
Avionics* - - - 12 66
North America - - - 232 247
International Partnerships - - - 65 {11)
1,207 a0g 800 980 1,002
Amortisation and impairment (139) (122} (110) (518) (615)
Exceptional items (UK GAAP only) (2 (797)
Finance costs including share of equity accounted investments (174) (196} (132) (220) (2086)
Profit/{loss) before taxatlon 894 591 558 233 (6186)
Taxation expense including share of equity accounted investments (248) (147) (219) (225) (70)
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 646 444 339 8 (686)
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations 993 111 (336) - -
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,639 555 3 (686)
Balance sheet
Intangible assets 76595 8,217 6,115 6,000 6,417
Property, plant and equipment, and investment property 1,869 1,922 190t 1693 1,709
Non-current investments 678 1,730 1,535 1,710 1.515
Inventories 395 485 498 775 768
Payables (excluding cash on customers’ account) less receivables {4,298) (4,596) (3,891) (3,126) (2,887)
Other financial assets and liabilities 6 (7) - - -
Retirement benefit obligations (2,499) (4,101) (3,210) 362 315
Provisions (695) (718) (491) (749) (858)
Net tax 648 1,012 876 (195) 4
Net cash/(debt) 435 (1,277} (668) (870) (1,298)
Disposal groups held for sale - 137 - - -
Minority interests {17) (16} (10) {15) (20)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

4117 2,788 2665 5591 5665
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2003 2002
2006 2005 2004 UK UK
IFRS IFRS IFRS GAAP! GAAP?
Movement in net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group £m £m £m £m £m
Cash flow from operating activities 7718 2,098 2,350 836 136
Net capital expenditure® {(141) (250) (289) {248} {183}
Dividends from equity accounted investments 145 88 69 37 78
Operating business cash flow 782 1,937 2,134 625 31
Acquisitions and disposals 1,330 (1,836) (630) (62} 41
Finance costs (207) (152) (179) (117} (150)
Tax and dividends (431) (342) (312) (227} {391)
Other noncash movements (5) (52) 9 121 {136)
(Purchase}/issue of equity shares (71) 373 - - 32
Exchange movements 323 (219) 129 72 o7
Net increase/{decrease} in net funds 1,721 (291) 1,151 412 {476)
Movement in cash on customers’ account (9) (35) {13) 16 9
Movement in net cash/{debt) 1,712 (326) 1,138 428 {467)
Opening net debt (1,277) (668) (870) (1.298) (831)
impact of IFRS adoption - (283) (936) - -
Closing net cash/(debt) 435 (1,277) (668) (870) (1,298)
Other information 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Basic earnings/(loss) per share - total 50.7p 17.4p (0.6)p (0.9)p (23.2)p
Basic eamings per share — underlying’ 238p 184p 13.6p 16.6p 17.3p
Dividend per ordinary share 11.3p 10.3p 9.5p 9.2p 9.2p
Number of employees, excluding share of employees of equity accounted investments,
at year end 79,000 80,000 73,300 68,400 68,100
Capital expenditure including leased assets £538m £347m £359m £243m £274m

Order book including the Group's share of equity accounted investments

£31.7bn £30.8bn £29.5bn £46.0bn £42.5bn

To aid comparison, certain presentational changes have been made to the IFRS amounts in 2004 and 2005.

1 for the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2003, the information is presented on a UK GAAP basis

2 for the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2003, the business group information presented under UK GAAP has not been restated to reflect the changes made {0 the business

groups in 2005 and 2006

3 for the years ended 31 December 2004 to 20086, Airbus SAS is presented as a discontinued gperation under IFRS and the remaining Commaercial Aerespace business group

is reported within HQ and other businesses

4 for the years ended 31 December 2004 and 2005, the Avionics business group is presented as discontinued operations under IFRS

5 tor the years ended 31 December 2004 to 2006 this is defined as earnings before amontisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense.
for the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2003, this is defined as profit before interest and tax, excluding goodwill amortisation and impairment, and exceptional items

§ includes expenditure on property, plant and equipment, investment properly, intangible assets and other investments

tor IFRS, underlying earnings is presented for continuing eperations after adjusting for amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, non<ash finance mevements on

-~

pensions and financial derivatives, and uplift on acquired inventories. For UK GAAP, underlying earnings is presented after adjusting for goodwill amortisation and inpairment,

and exceptional items,
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Reglstered office

6 Carlton Gardens

London

SW1Y SAD

United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 (11252 373232
Company website: www.baesystems.com

Registered in England and Wales,
No. 1470151

Registrars

Ltoyds TSB Registrars {0140)

The Causeway, Worthing

West Sussex BN99 6DA

United Kingdom

Telephone: 0870 600 3982

{(+44 121 415 7058 from outside the UK)

if you have any queries regarding your
shareholding, please contact the registrars.

shareview

www.shareview.co.uk

Shareview service

The Shareview service from our registrar,

Lioyds TSB Registrars, gives shareholders:

- direct access t0 data held on their behalf
on the share register including recent
share movements and dividend details;
and

- the ability to change their address or
dividend payment instructions on-line.

To sign up for Shareview you need the
‘shareholder reference’ printed on your proxy
form or dividend stationery. There is no
charge to register.

When you register with the site, you can
register your preferred format (post or e-mail)
for shareholder communications. If you
select ‘e-mail’ as your mailing preference,
you will be sent shareholder
communications, such as proxy forms and
annual/interim results by e-mail instead of
post, as long as this option is available.

If you have your dividends paid straight to
your bank account, and you have selected
‘e-mail’ as your mailing preference, you can
also collect your tax voucher electronically.
Instead of receiving the paper tax voucher,
you will be notified by e-mail with details of
how to download your electronic version.

However, if you choose ‘post’ as your
preference, you will be sent paper
documents as usual.

Visit the website for more details:
www.shareview.co.uk

Details of software and equipment
requirements are given on the website.

Shareholder dealing service

Hoare Govett Limited offers a low cost
postal dealing service enabling UK resident
shareholders to buy or sell BAE Systems plc
shares. Basic commission is 1%, subject to
a minimum charge of £15.00. If you require
further information please contact:

Hoare Govett Limited on
Telephone: +44 {0)20 7678 8300

This notice has been approved by Hoare
Govett Limited which is authorised and

regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

ShareGift

The Orr Mackintosh Foundation operates a
charity donation scheme for sharehoiders
with small parcels of shares which may

be uneconomic te sell. Details of the
scheme are available from ShareGift at
www.sharegift.org or by telephone on

020 7828 1151.

Share price information

The middle market price of the Company's
ordinary shares on 31 December 2006 was
425.75p and the range during the year was
329p to 449.75p.

Daily share prices are available in the UK on
the FT Cityline service on 0906 843 0000.
At the menu foflowing the FTSE 100 index,
select option 2 for share prices and the
relevant four-digit code shown below:

BAE Systems plc ordinary shares —
enter the four-digit code 1890

BAE Systems plec preference shares -
enter the four-digit code 5174

Calls are charged at 60p per minute at
all times.

Alternatively you can view teletext or a
similar service.

Dividend reinvestment plan

The Company offers holders of its ordinary
shares the option to elect to have their
dividend reinvested in shares purchased

in the market instead of cash. If you would
like to make this election, please request a
dividend reinvestment plan mandate from
our registrars:

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway, Worthing

West Sussex BN99 GDA

Telephone: 0870 241 3018

Telephone number from outside the UK:
+44 121 415 7058

American Depositary Receipts

The BAE Systems plc American Depositary
Receipts (ADRs) are traded on the Over The
Counter market (OTC}) under the symbol
BAESY. One ADR represents four

BAE Systems plc ordinary shares.

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is the
depositary.

If you should have any queries; ptease
contact:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
JPMorgan Service Center

PO Box 3408

South Hackensack NJ 07606-3408
USA

Toll free telephone number:

800 990 1135

Telephone number from outside the US:
+1 201 680 6630

Website: www.adr.com
Email: jpmorganadr@mellon.com
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I Financial calendar

Financial year end

31 December

Annual General Meeting 9 May 2007
Preference shares conversion date (final opportunity) 31 May 2007
2006 final ordinary dividend payable 1 lune 2007
2007 half yearly preference dividend payable 2 July 2007

2007 interim results announcement

9 August 2007

2007 interim ordinary dividend payable

30 November 2007

2007 full year results — preliminary announcement
— report and accounts

February 2008
April 2008

2007 final ordinary dividend payable

June 2008

Analysis of share register at 31 December 2006

Ordinary shares of 2.5p

Preference shares of 25p

Accounts Shares Accounts Shares
Number Number Number Number
‘000 %  millien % ‘000 %  million %

By category of shareholder
Individuals 117.3 93.0 116.2 ~ 36 2.1 63.3 8.9 3.4
Nominee companies 7.7 6.1 2997.1 a2.3 1.1 349 2361 a0.8
Banks - - 25.5 0.8 - - Q.7 3.8
Insurance and pension funds - - 0.1 - - - - -
Other 1.1 0.9 1073 3.3 0.1 1.8 5.3 2.0

126.1 100.0 3,246.2 100.0 3.3 1000 2600 1000
By size of holding
1-99 25.7 20.4 1.3 - - - - -
100 - 499 35.4 28.1 9.6 0.3 0.1 2.8 - -
500 - 999 26.6 21.0 18.9 0.6 0.2 5.1 0.1 0.1
1,000 - 9,999 35.8 28.3 84.9 2.6 25 78.0 9.0 3.5
10,000 - 99,999 1.6 1.3 40.7 1.2 0.4 11.0 7.9 30
100,000 - 999,999 0.7 0.6 2493 7.7 0.1 2.1 19.3 7.4
1,000,000 and over 0.3 0.3 2,841.5 87.6 - 1.0 2237 86.0

126.1 100.0 3,246.2 100.0 3.3 1006 260.0 100.0
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AGS

Advanced Gun System: a 155mm gun
system being developed under the
DD(X) programme.

ASTRAEA

Autonomous Systems Technology Related
Airborne Evaluation & Assessment: a
programme that focuses ¢n the
technologies, systems, facilities and
procedures that will allow autonomous
vehicles 1o operate safely and routinely

in the UK,

ATAM
Air-To-Air Mistral (a very short-range air
defence missile system).

ATTAC
Availability Transformation:
Tornado Aircraft Contract.

8v206
Armoured all-terrain vehicle,

BONUS
A sensor fused 155mm munition.

Bradley

Tracked armoured fighting vehicles, which
fulfil critical infantry, cavalry, fire support,
hattle command and engineer rotes for the
US Army.

C4ISR

Command. Control, Communications and
Computing (C4), Intelligence, Surveillance
and Reconnaissance (ISR); systems that
provide a precise picture of the battlefield in
‘realtime’, optimising the information
available for decision making.

CIfPE
Centre for Performance Excellence.

Cv30

An armoured infantry fighting vehicle
developed by BAE Systems Land Systems
Haggiunds to meet international demand.

CVF
The UK's future aircraft carrier.

DDG-1000
A next-generation destroyer for the US Navy.

DIS

The Defence Industrial Strategy, published
by the UK government in December 2005
following consultation with industry,
recognises the skills and capabilities that
will be needed to equip and support the UK
armed forces and ensure the UK defence
industry remains world-leading.

DoD
United States Department of Defense.

EW
Electronic Warfare.

F-22A Raptor
An advanced tactical fighter aircraft in
service with the USAF,

FALCON
An information infrastructure system for the
British Army.

FCS
Future Combat System.

FRES

Future Rapid Effect System: The UK
Ministry of Defence (MoD) programme
to provide the British Army with a family
of medium-weight, network-enabled,
air-deployahle armoured vehicles,

FV430 Bulldog
An armoured personnel carrier.

ALH
Advanced Light Helicopter: a multi-role,
multi-mission helicopter.

iDIQ

Indefinite-Delivery/ Indefinite-Quantity: a
US government contract allowing flexibility
for orders.

15014001

The standard for environmental management
published by the Intemational Standards
Organisation, which specifies the actual
requirements for an environmental
management system.

IT
Information Technology.

LCM

Lifecycle Management: a process and control
environment within which the Company's
projects are executed.

LRLAP

Long Range Land Attack Projectile:
a system being developed under the
DD(X) programme.

MS8S8 Hercules
A fully-tracked, armoured recovery vehicie.

mMi113

Armoured personnel carriers, medical,
command and control, and engineering
mortar launching vehicles.

M777
A lightweight 155mm field howitzer.

Milan ER
An extended range anti-armour missile.

MoD
UK's Ministry of Defence.

NEC
Networked Enabled Capability.

Nimrod MRA4
The replacement Maritime and Patrol Attack
aircraft for the UK's Royal Air Force.

PAAMS

Principal Anti-Air Missile System. Aster
PAAMS: a mediunyrange anti-aircraft vertical
launching missile system based on the
Aster 15 and Aster 30 antimissile missiles.

PCL

Performance Centred Leadership: a
leadership and performance management
system used throughout the Company.

RAF
The UK’s Royal Air Force.

RSAF
The Royal Saudi Air Foree.

RG-31, RG-32 and RG-33
Mine protected armoured personne! carriers.

SAMP/T
A land-based air defence system
incorporating the Aster 30 missile,
developed by MBDA.

SEP
A modular multi-role vehicle system.

SETAC
System Engineering and Technical
Assistance Contract.

SHE
Safety, Health and Environment.

SUAV(E)}
Strategic Unmanned Air Vehicle {Experiment).

Stingray Mod 1
A lightweight torpedo.

T93 radar
Type 93 Air Defence Radar.

UAV
Unmanned Air Vehicle.

UCAV
Unmanned Combat Air Vehicle.

USAF
United States Air Force.

uuv
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle.

VLS
Vertical Launching System.
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- Goed financial performance

Strategy underway

- Continued growth from US businesses
- Implementation of UK Defence Industrial

£13,765m 88,600

Sales for 2006 Number of employees,

including share of employees
of equity accounted investments

(CustomergSolutions)
EISUppont

IntegratedfSystems!
&

HO¥andlothedbUsinesses)

> 2

in the UK
- Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Arabia continues
= Australian Hawk support
contract secured

Provides partnered, throughdife
support and capability solutions to the
UK MoD and manages the businesses
in Saudi Arabla and Australla.

.
| 9 e
N 1y [P
5 N ol
= Vo N
! LA
A Voo
7 VS

UK/Europe, Middle East, Australia

/ a £3,180m

- Tornado ATTAC agreement signed

modernisation programme underway
- Investment In Kingdom of Saudi

A porttolio of high-technclogy defence
systems businesses comprising the

wholly-owned Integrated System

Technologies and Underwater Systems

businesses, together with a 37.5%

interest in the pan-European MBDA
Joint venture, a 20.5% Interest in Saab
of Sweden and a 50% interest In the

Gripen International joint venture.

UK/Europe

£1,748m
) 12%

- European portfolio restructuring

complete

- Major Insyte communication system

wins in UK

- MBDA programme milestones

achieved

- Saab’s acquisition of Ericsson

Microwave Systems complete

Comprises the regional aircraft asset
management and support activities,
head office and UK shared services
activity, Inctuding research centres

and property management.
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UK

£295m
2%

- Aerostructures sale completed
- UK penslon funding deflcit
addressed

Principal
operations

Main operating
locations

Major markets

Share of 2006

Group sales
(before elimination
of intra-group sales)

Key points
from 2006




BAE Systems is the premier global defence and
aerospace company delivering a full range of products
and services for air, land and naval forces as well

as advanced electronics, information technology

solutions and customer support services.

Electronicsy :
IntelligenceJ&ESupponty

FandfdJAtmaments)

Principal
operations

Main operating
locations

Major markets

Share of 2006
Group sales

(before elimination
of intra~-group sales)

Key points
from 2006

Provides a variety of military
communications, electronic
Identification, navigation and guidance
systems, network-centric warfare
solutions and a broad range of
support solutions, Including major
ship repair activitles for the US Navy.

US, Global

N ) £4,007m
/7 28%

- Strong demand for electronic
warfare systems

- Key support solutions business wins

- Group-wide capabllities combine
to win FastTrack contract

- Key Federal information technology
solutions awards

Provides design, development,
production and through-life support
and upgrade of armoured combat
vehicles, naval guns, misslle
launchers, artillery systems and
intelligent munitions.
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US, UK, Sweden, South Africa

7N\ £2,115m

\// 5%

- Benefiting from high volume of reset
and upgrade activity

- Good progress in next-generation
technology programmes

- Accelerated rationallsation in the
UK business

- Wheeled armoured vehicle

sugcesses

Comprises the Group's air systems,
naval ships and submarines actlvities,
with the UK MoD Its principal
customer.

UK, Globa!

\\ £2,927m
 21%
4

)

- Good schedule and cost adherence

- Programmes transitioning from
development to production

- Hawk and Nimrod production
orders secured

- UAV technology agreements secured




Cover image: BAE Systems, with Its partners,
is dellvering the Type 45 antl-alr warfare
destroyet. The Group has responslbility for
the deslgn, development and delivery for the
class. The throughlfe support arrangements
are now under discussion, with Inltial
packages on contract.
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esults in brief

Restated®
sults from continuing operations 2006 2005
ales? £13,765m £12,581m
BITA? £1,207m £909m
perating profit £1,054m £761m
nderlying earnings® per share 23.8p 18.4p
asic earnings per share’ 19.9p 13.9p
rder book® £31.7bn £30.8bn
her results including discontinued operations
ividend per share 11.3p 10.3p
Lash inflow from operating activities £7_1-8'frﬁf £2,099m
let cash/(debt) as defined by the Group £435m £(1,277)m

dighlights

Outlook

Good financial performance
+ Continued growth from US businesses

+ Implementation of UK Defence
Industrial Strategy underway

- European business portfolio
restructuring completed

UK pension funding deficit addressed
- Airbus sale completed

- Underlying earnings® per share
up 29.3% at 23.8p

Dividend increased 9.7% to
11.3p per share for the year

"

including share of equity accounted investments

basic earnings per share in accordance with International Accounting Standard 33

restated following the sale of Airbus SAS

Looking forward to 2007 we anticipate

a further year of good growth led by our
US businesses, in particular from the Land
& Armaments sector, and from further
progress in the Programmes business.

We anticipate good operating cash flow

again in 2007.

eamings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
earnings excluding amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, noncash finance movements on pensions and financial derivatives, and uplift on acquired inventories

including share of equity actounted irvestments’ order books and after the elimination of intragroup orders of £0.8bn (2005 £0.9bn)

www . baesystems.com 1
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2006: a successiul year
for BAE Systems

Good operational
performance and effective
implementation of a well-
defined, soundly based
strategy are combining to
deliver real performance.

Dick Olver
Chairman

AR
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® \

The focus of the Group's strategy in recent
years has seen a drive to improve returns
and eliminate excessive risk in the UK-
based operations, alongside the expansion
of the Group’s presence in the US. This
twin approach is transforming the Group's
performance in the UK market and has
established BAE Systems as one of the
major US defence companies.

Notable achievements in 2006 included

the resolution of the approach to funding the
deficit on the Group's pension schemes, the
completion of the sale of our 20% interest in
Airbus and good progress towards securing
further significant business in Saudi Arabia.
Underlying these individual achievements
has been a broad-hased improvement in
performance across the Group.

In addition to continuing to pursue the
development of the Group in iis two largest
defence and aerospace markets, the UK
and the US, the Group's strategy recognises
opportunities in the other home markets

in which BAE Systems has a local presence
and capability; Australia, Saudi Arabia,
South Africa and Sweden.

Alongside the development of the Group

in these six home markets, BAE Systems
will continue to nurture a high performance
culture. The delivery of continuous
performance improvement remains key

to the twin objectives of delivering cost-
effective capability to our customers and
maximising returns for our shareholders.

The Group’s strategy is reviewed regularly
as part of the Group's annual business

planning process. This review tests the
continued relevance of the current strategy.
The adaptations made to the strategy are
set out on page 6 and reflect the progress
made over the past 12 months.

With the transiticn of the Group from
recovery to sustained performance growth,
we have looked hard at the composition
of the Board to ensure it continues to
provide the most effective leadership of
the Group's development.

BAE Systems has a Board with a wealth

of coifective experience. That experience
includes not just defence and aerospace
domain knowledge but brings learning from
other international contracting businesses
and finance backgrounds. In addition to the
three new non-executive directars appointed
in 2005, we welcomed Sir Nigel Rudd to
the Board on 10 September 2006. Michael
Lester and Mark Renald retired from the
Board on 31 December 2006. Both have
made major contributions to the Group and
this industry, throughout long careers.

At the start of 2007 | was pleased to
welcome to the Board Walt Havenstein, as
Chief Operating Officer. with responsibility for
our US-led operaticns, and lan King, as Chief
Operating Officer, with respansibility for the
Rest of World, including UK, businesses.

In February we agreed retirement dates for
Sue Birley and Ulrich Cartellieri, They have
afforded the Group great service through
their contribution to both the Board and its
committees. The Group has benefited from
their wise counsel and we thank them for this.

The Board now comprises approximately
60% non-executive directors.

The changes in the composition of the
Board have enabled us to strengthen the
Board committees that provide oversight
to executive remuneration, succession
planning, audit and corporate responsibilit

BAE Systems has a highly skilled and
dedicated workforce. Our people have
demonstrated that they can rise to the
challenge of delivering performance in a
challenging technological industry and

| am gratefui to them for their contribution
o the Group's progress.

In December 2006, a decision was reache
by the Serious Fraud Office to conclude
its investigation related to the activities of
the Groug in Saudi Arabia. Our policies for
conducting ethical business are clear and
unambiguous. with established processes
to ensure compliance.

The Group's corporate responsibility
performance is summarised on pages 26
and 27 and also detailed in an important
separately published report. Like all high
performance companies, our policies

are kept consiantly under review, and

we are committed to take action wherever
necessary to maintain the highest standard
of corporate gavernance.

The Board is recommending an increased
final dividend of 6.9p per share, making
a total of 11.3p for the year. At this level,
having taken account of the sale of Airbus,
the annual dividend is covered 2.1 times
by underlying earnings from continuing
operations (2005 1.8 times). Subject to
shareholder approval at the 2007 Annual
General Meeting, the dividend will be paid
on 1 June 2007 to holders of ordinary
shares registered on 20 April 2007.

7

Dick Olver
Chairman

21 February 2007
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strong platiorm
or future performance

BAE Systems delivered
another year of good
financial performance,
underpinned by programme
schedule and cost
adherence across the Group.

Mike Turner
Chief Executive

jar in review

AE Systems delivered another year of

od financial performance, underpinned
programme schedule and cost adherence
ross the Group and reflecting the benefits
w flowing from our world-class Lifecycle
Bnagement and Perfoermance Centred
adership processes.

e performance of the US businesses

s again been excellent with the Group's
pansion in the US market over recent
ars generating good returns. Good
ogress has continued in the UK
Isinesses with programmes on track

d meeting their key milestones.

number of export opportunities have also
ogressed, most notably in the Kingdom
Saudi Arabia where, under an agreement
btween the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and
e UK government, the Group is working
modernise the Saudi armed forces
cluding progressing towards a contract

r 72 Typhoon aircraft.

e have continued to divest those
isinesses that were non-core to our
rategy. In May the Group initiated the

hle of its 20% shareholding in Airbus,

he decision to sell the Airbus stake was
bnsistent with our strategy of maximising
ilue from that business, recognising it was
icing an increasing number of challenges.
e sale was completed in October following
hareholder approval. The proceeds will be
rected to developing the core business

1d a repurchase of up to £500m of the
roup's shares is underway.

The sale of the Aerostructures business
was completed in March and the sale of
Atlas Elektronik was completed in August.

A big concern for the Group in recent

years has been the funding of its pension
schemes. Agreements were cencluded
during 2006 to address funding deficits.
The revised funding plan in the UK schemes
includes a combination of higher company
and employee contribution rates, reductions
in future benefits for employees and one-off
cash and asset contributions by the Group.
This shared approach has achieved a

good outcome for all parties. The Board

is in consultation with the trustees of the
Group’s pension schemes to consider the
implication of the Airbus sale on pension
scheme funding.

US businesses

In the US, the integration of the former
United Defense activities into BAE Systems
has been completed successfully. The land,
armaments and ship repair activities that
comprised the acquired United Defense
business are performing well.

The Electronics, Intelligence & Support
business continued to achieve growth
ahead of the addressable US Department
of Defense (DoD) budget, with like-for-like
sales up 6%. Centributing to this growth
was strong demand for electronic protection
systems. The business continues to lay the
foundations for sustained performance with
new business wins, including substantial

contracts for Common Missile Warning
Systems to protect aircraft.

A number of significant new support
business wins include the award of a prime
contract to provide software development
and management support services to the
Department of Homeland Security.

BAE Systems continues to look for
opportunities to grow its US business

by acquisitian following the successful
additions to the Group cver recent years.
Progress has been slowed by sustained
high valuations of businesses that would
align with the Group’s strategy. Further
acquisitions will have to continue to meet
our strict value creation criteria. In the
meantime, organic growth in the US
businesses continues.

The focus on current cperations in
Afghanistan and Iraq is generating a high
level of armoured vehicle reset aclivity

such as the return of Bradley vehicles 1o ‘as
new' condition, Substantial funding for such
reset activities has been available through
supplemental budgets in support of current
military operations. Supplemental spending
is expected to continue in the near term but
the Group's business plans are based on
more prudent longerterm assumptions.

BAE Systems is a leader in electronic
warfare technology including electronic
protection systems. Such advanced
protection systems are expected to
continue to be a funding priority.

Equipment modernisation is also expected
to continue and the Group is actively
involved in current and new generation

land systems, including Future Combat
System variants. In addition, the digitised,
A3, version of the Bradley is a core element
of the modernisation and modularisation

of US forces.

BAE Systems is a high technology
business and a major participant in force
transformation activities including new
generation Intelligence, Surveillance and
Reconnaissance programmes.

As a result of strong positions in these priority
areas, and notwithstanding expectations

for a flattening of growth in overall defence
spend, organic growth in the US businesses
is expected to continue at a level above the
underlying DoD addressable budget growth.

www. baasystems.com 3
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Executive Committee 2007 Top Ten objectives:

for 2007.

1. Financial targets
Meet our 2007 financial targets and
through the rolling five year Integrated
Business Planning process set
business plans that are both realistic
and challenging

2. Application of mandated business
processes
Ensure application of the mandated
pusiness processes

3. Programme execution
Further increase management focus
on meeting our contracted schedule
and cost commitments

4. US businesses
Continue to grow our US businesses

5. UK businesses
Continue to implement DIS with focus
on throughdife capability management
in the air, land and sea domains to
deliver cost and capability benefits to
our customers and acceptable profit
levels to cur shareholders

In support of the Group's strategy, the Executive Committee has agreed the top ten objectives

6. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Progress the business strategy with
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

7. Exports
Focus on key export oppertunities

8. Partnering
Demcnstrate a commitment to
partnering across the business to
maximise business-winning opportunities

9. Develop existing and new home markets
Maximise development and growth
in existing and new home markets

10. Leadership
Demonstrate leadership at all levels
towards achieving a world-class high-
performance culture that helps deliver
the strategy and objectives

UK businesses
The performance on targe complex weapon
system programmes in the UK has been

good and is expected to continue to progress

as mare programmes move to production.

Deliveries of Typhoon continue to schedule.
113 aircraft have been delivered to the four
partner nations including 38 now in service
with the UK's Royal Air Force (RAF).

Flight development of the Nimrod MRA4
programme continues and the formal
production contract was received in July for
nine aircraft together with an option for the
conversion of the three aircraft currently in
flight development to production standard.

In QOctober, a production order for 28 Hawk
MKk128 aircraft for the RAF was secured.

Following the iaunch of the first of class
Type 45 destroyer, outfitting is progressing
to programme. The second ship was
launched on 23 January 2007 and major
steel sections are also well underway for
the third and fourth ships. The planned build
efficiencies from one ship to the next are
being met or exceeded. Following successful
risk reduction, a small amount of profit has
been recognised on the programme.

Both of the Landing Ship Dock (Auxiliary)
ships originally contracted to BAE Systems
for the UK's Royal Fleet Auxiliary were

completed. The Group was asked to assis
with completion of the fourth ship in additi
to taking over lead yard responsibility for t
ship class.

Development and assembly of the first of
class Astute submarine progressed well.
A key 2006 mitestone, electrical power
to switchboards, was achieved enabling
commissioning activity on the boat to
commence. Work on the second boat,
Ambush, is also proceeding well with majo
milestones, such as the closure of the
reactor compartment, demonstrating
significant schedule advance compared
with the first boat. Pricing discussions on
hoats two and three, together with the initi
phase of boat four, are well advanced.

In addition to UK weapon system
procurement programmes, the developme
of the support business continues.

BAE Systems is delivering a reduction in t
UK Ministry of Defence’s (MoD) in-service
cost, improving equipment availability and
consequently front-line capability for the
armed forces. Further opportunities for
valuable support business growth remain,

Pioneering work that BAE Systems previcu
undertook through a series of small pilot
support programmes, in partnership with t
UK Defence Logistics Organisation, is now
being applied across the MoD's fixed wing
aircraft fleet. In December the Group sighe
a ten-year availability based partnership
agreement providing all support up to the
front-line far the UK's Tornado aircraft.

Within the land sector, the successful
intreduction of the armoured fighting vehicl
partnering arrangement is underway with
the in-service date achieved, on schedule,
for the upgraded FV430 Bulldog armoured
fighting vehicle. In addition, progress
continues towards the transformation of
arrangements for the supply of munitions.

At the end of 2005 the UK government
published its Defence Industrial Strategy

Performance Centred Leadership (PCL)
The Groups PCL framework was
designed and developed using best
practice from around the globe. I drives
business success by linking individual
goals with the wider goals of the
organisation, enabling employees to
understand how their own suscess
contributes to the success of the

whole business.

Lifecycle Management (LCM)

The delivery of the Group's strategy is
dependent upon the successful winning
and execution of projects. The application
of our world-class LCM process is critical
to our capability to deliver these projects
to schedule and cost. LCM is a powerful
and flexible process which promotes the
application of best practice programme
execution and facilitates continuous
improvement across the Group.

4 BAE Systems Annual Review 2006




). DIS is & very significant change
gramme for both industry and the UK

D. \t will help determine the future level of
Systems' involvement in the UK defence
ustrial base as it is implemented.

intended that long-term partnering
eements. currently being discussed with
UK MaD in all three air, land and sea
tors, will form the basis for much of
implementation of DIS. These long-term
nering agreemenis will specify the future
abilities and requirements for each

tor, enabling both the UK MoD and
ustry 10 make long-term investment
isions with a greater degree of certainty
n has been possible previously.

UK MoD has committed to a complex
apon long-term partnering agreement that
| preserve capabilities antd business within
MBDA guided weapons joint venture,

integral part of DIS is the identification
those technologies that are fikely to remain
to the future capability of the UK armed
ces and that need to be retained on-shore.
ood early example was the launch of an
manned Combat Air Vehicle technology
monstrator programme in December.

the heart of this strategic framework is the
ognition that industry has to demonstrate
d daliver value for money and through-life
pability for the UK armed forces, whilst

o generating appropriate retuns for
areholders. BAE Systems is well positioned
address these reguirements.

response to encouragement from

, BAE Systems has been considering
portunities for a more integrated UK naval
pability. Such considerations included
cussions with VT Group regarding the
ssihility of a bid for Babcock. These initial
cussions were not taken forward but
portunities for consolidation of the UK
val industry continue to be explored,

d, in December, the Group announced
cussions with VT Group with a view to
egrating the naval surface ship activities.

Other markets

In addition to its strong positions in the
UK and US markets, BAE Sysiems has a
significant presence in the other important
markets of Australia, Saudi Arabia, South
Africa and Sweden.

In all six countries, BAE Systems is
recognised as an important on-shore
defence and aerospace supplier. The
Group continues to look for opportunities
to strengthen its position as part of the
defence industrial base of those countries.

A major growth opportunity is the Group's
rale in supporting the partnership between
the UK government and the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia to update the capability of

the Kingdom’s armed forces. A key feature
of this agreement is also to assist the
Kingdom in developing its defence industrial
base and the training of its workforce.

BAE Systems has been pursuing a strategy
to transition its Saudi business from a
UK-centric operation to a major in-Kingdom
presence. Consistent with this strategy
BAE Systems continues to invest in

the Kingdom.

Recognising that the security and welfare
of the 4,600 employees and their
dependants in Saudi Arabia is paramount,
a major construction programme is well
underway to create two new residential
and workplace facilities.

These investments establish a significant
industrial foatprint in Saudi Arabia with

a growing in-Kingdom technical capability.
This will enable the Group to satisfy
many of its Saudi customer's needs from
on-shore companies.

Industrialisation is a key feature of

the modernisation programme and the
commitment to Typhoon will atlow us to
build on the established Tornado support
activity. Opportunities for new business
in other areas of the Kingdom's armed
forces are also being considered.

As in the UK, Typhoon and Tornado are
expected to operate side by side for many
years and these incountry investments are
expected to generate returns for shareholders
over many decades.

In summary, BAE Sysiems is progressing
well. The Group's strategy is delivering a
facused, high performing, defence and
aerospace business with good positions in
key markets around the globe, As a result.
the Group has a robust plan to deliver
profitable growth for our shareholders.

WM

S

Mike Turner
Chief Executive

21 February 2007

Managing Major Subeontractors

Successful relationships with our partners and
subcontractors across the supply chain are key
to our performance. We have distilled best
practice from within the Group and other world
class organisations into a 'Gold Standard for
Managing Major Subcontracts’. Roll-out of this
best practice across the Group will accelerate
our learning and improve performance in this
strategically important capability.

[ChieHEXecutivesireview]
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Our Group strategy is ‘to deliver sustainable growth in shareholder value by being
the premier global defence and aerospace company’. We deliver this through our
Group strategic objectives, business portfolio actions and integrated business plans.

Delivering on our strategy

Group strategy

premier global defence and aerospace company

To deliver sustainable growth in shareholder value by being the

H

Group strategic objectives

Continue to embed a high-performance cufture across the Company

Further enhance our programme execution capabilities

Increase sharing of expertise, technology and best practice between our global businesses
Develop a partnership approach to meet our customer requirements

Develop our capabilities in emerging growth markets

[ L

ﬂ |

Business portfolio actions

Establish in the UK
sustainably profitable
through-life
husinesses in

Air, Land and Sea

Grow our business
in the United States
both organically
and via acquisitions

Implement the home
market strategy and
grow in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia

Grow our global land
systems business

Grow our global
support, soluticns
and services
businesses

Grow our export
business from our
home markets

Integrated business plans

The five Group strategic objectives are
owned by the Executive Committee and
apply across the Group. The business
portfolio actions are championed by the
relevant Executive Committee members
and are delivered by the businesses either
separately or jointly.

Group strategy

The significant progress made in 2006 has
been reflected by the evolution of our Group
strategy. We have refocused our strategy
to be “to deliver sustainabte growth in
shareholder value by being the premier
global defence and aerospace company’
where previously the emphasis was just
transatlantic. This recognises the renewed
emphasis on growing our six home markets
(UK, US, Australia, Saudi Arabia, South
Africa and Sweden) and on generating
exports from these established home
markets. We will also now consider
opportunities in new high-growth markets.

We have reviewed and updated the Group
strategic objectives. We have also made a
number of changes to the business portfolic
actions to reflect recent progress.

Customers’ requirements increasingly
demand the ability to offer ‘through-life’
and ‘capability’ solutions. We now identify
portfolio actions that, consistent with our
customers’ requirements, will support
the detivery of our strategy. Increasingly
husinesses must find ways to work together
across traditional business boundaries

to deliver these actions. As a result

our husinesses may now support more
than one portfolio action. The updated
actions also reflect the Group's revised
organisational structure,

Business portfolio actions

The drive to build sustainable, profitable,
through-life businesses in the air, land and
sea sectors of the UK market continues,
building on the good progress last year.

We continue to seek growth in the US
through continuing to target above-market
organic growth from the Group’s established
business activities, and by looking for value-
enhancing acquisitions.

Foilowing our success in recent years in
establishing a global land systems business
we continue to pursue growth opportunities
in this market sector.

The Group will continue to target growth

in support, solutions and services activity i
our global markets, reflecting the increasinrl
focus of customers to procure capability o
a through-life basis.

The sale of the Group's 20% interest in

Airbus successfully delivered the action of
maximising the value from our Airbus stakef
and that action has now been removed.

Good progress made in 2006 to address
non-core activities within the Group throughp
business disposals has enabled this action
to be removed.

Two new actions have been introduced.

Building on a relationship that spans severg
decades we will pursue opportunities to
grow our business in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. Our focus will be the transition
of the relationship from one of an export
market to the implementation of 2 home
market strategy.

Export sales are an important source of
growth for the Group and we look to genera]
export business from our home markets,

[} BAE Systems Annual Review 2006




obal defence procurement expenditure* continued to rise with a 7% real increase

ong the 15 largest military nations. With customers in over 100 countries and strong
sitions in the UK, US, Australia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa and Sweden, BAE Systems
well placed for further growth in both new and established defence markets.

ur globbal markets

e defence industry in the UK and
has consolidated over recent

rs resulting in fewer, larger, defence
mpanies. The nature of the defence
ustry today is such that many

these industry constituents are
ppliers. customers and partners

well as competitors.

E Systems is one of the world's
ding defence companies and is

e of only four companies with global
fence sales in excess of $20bn. It
Europe’s largest defence company
d ranks number seven within the

b defence industry.

TE Systems is reliant upon the levels

funding committed by the domestic
vernments of the countries in which
e Group's operations are based and
se to which the Group exports.

BAE Systems home markets

e
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M BAEC Systems home markets

1 last avatlable data 2005

lobal defence spend

recast defence expenditure by major region
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BAE Systems’ market position
Top 10 defence companies in 2006

(Defence revenue US$ bilion)

Global equipment market

2007 forecast defence procurement
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Research Technology Development & Engineering

e US represents around 45%

the total forecast global defence
vend (inctuding equipment, personnel
hd operating costs) to 2010,

surce: BAE Systems internal analysis

Lockheed Martin . General Dynamics
Boeing . EADS

The US accounts for over 45% of 6
7
Northrop Grumman a8 L3
9
1

forecast total global procurement
in 2007,

BAE Systems . Thales
Raytheon Q. Haliiburton

arLNE

Saurce: BAE Systems internal analysis Source: Defense News
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The Group’s US bhusiness now delivers over US$9bn
(£5bn) of annual sales and employs approximately

40,000 people in 36 states.

Delivering growth in the US

BAE Systems is both a prime contractor

to the US government and a supplier of
major sub-systems to the other large prime
contractors. The Group is a market leader

in the provision of electronic warfare
systems. many of which have application

on airborne programmes. BAE Systems has
a substantial business supporting network
systems and IT for US government agencies
and provides technical support services to
the US Navy, US Army, NASA and the FAA.
In land systems, the Group is one of the two
largest suppliers of armoured vehicles in the
US and the wider accessible global market.

The US defence market accounts for

over 45% of global defence spending and
remains one of BAE Systems’ key markets,
offering programme scale and high levels of
investment in research and development. US
defence spending has increased substantially
over recent years, including the Procurement
and Research and Development budgets from
which the defence industry derives much

of its business. This high level of funding

is expected to sustain further growth in the
near term, but with a levelling out anticipated
towards the end of the decade.

In addition t¢ the underlying defence spend,
the US market has seen large supplemental
budget allocations to fund overseas
operations. This supplemental spend includes
the cost of resetting equipment to combat
readiness foflowing heavy operational

use. BAE Systems has benefited from this
funding, which is expected to continue in

the near term but then reduce as current
overseas deployments of armed forces

decrease. Although growth in US defence
spending is expected to slow, the Group i
well placed to support the US Department
of Defense’s likely continued emphasis
on force sustainment and readiness.

Sharing between our global businesses
The 57mm Mk 110 Mod 0 Naval Gun
System has currently been selected
for both versions of the US Navy's
Littoral Combat Ship and as the main
armament to go aboard the US Coast
Guard's National Security Cutter. The
system is currently manufactured in
Sweden, but plans are underway to
transfer assembly to a US facility.

8 BAE Systems Annual Review 20086
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Meeting the customer's needs -
Bradley combat vehicles have been

.playlng a crucial rdle in traq, providing
outstanding survivability, mobility -
and lethallty In all types of combat.

BAE Systems has joined forces with

the US Army to create a first-of-its-kind,
national level reset programme to help
remanufacture and upgrade the vehicles.




BAE Systems is the largest defence prime contractor in
the UK with strong positions in the design, development,
manufacture and support of air, land and sea systems.

Long-term partnerships
are key to growth in the UK

The Group also provides command and
communications infrastructure. Business is
generated in other defence markets around
the globe through the export of UK-derived
weapon system programmes, subject to UK
government regulation.

The publication in December 2005 by the
UK government of its Defenge Industrial
Strategy (DIS) was significant in shaping the
future UK defence market. A key element
of the industrial strategy is the farmation
of long-term partnering agreements between
industry and the UK Ministry of Defence

For some years the UK government has
encouraged competition in the defence
market from off-shore suppliers and, despi
the Group's strong presence in the UK, th
market remains highly competitive.

(MoD). A good start has been made in
implementing such agreements and other
elements of DIS.

BAE Systems now has a well-established,
growing and successful through-life capability
husiness in the air sector working closely with
the UK MoD and the Royal Air Force. Progress
has also been made in the land systems
sector with the development of a similar
armoured vehicle through-life partnership.

Despite a substantial forward programme

of new equipment requirements, the UK
defence procurement budget has been
pacing inflation with only limited real growth.
BAE Systems has successfully grown its
participation in UK defence suppart activity
which has, in turn, generated savings for
the customer that are being passed through
to enhance equipment procurement.

The UK Defence Industrial Strategy
highlighted the importance of
developing UAV capability within the
UK industrial base, BAE Systems has
developed, built and flight tested UAV
demaonstration systems in as little as
six months, only a quarter of the time

The new generation Type 45 destroyer
wil] deliver leading-edge capability whilst
cutting operating costs by 37%. Daring
was launched on 1 February 2006 and
Dauntless’ faunch followed

in January 2007.

usually needed.
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Tornado ATTAC

BAE Systems is to provide availabillty
support to the Tornado platform for the
Royal Air Force (RAF), known as ATTAC
{Availability Transformation: Tornado Aircraft
Contract). ATTAC will see BAE Systermns
partnering with the UK MoD and the RAF,
reflacting the alms and objectives of the
UK's Defence Industrial Strategy.
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The Electronics, Intelligence & Support business group,
with 31,700 employees* and headquartered in the US,
is a provider of defence and aerospace systems,
sub-systems and services. It comprises two operating
groups: Electronics & Integrated Solutions and
Customer Solutions.

Financial highlights

- Organic sales growth of 6% over 2005

- Return on sales improved to 9.2% (excluding one-off accounting gain)

- Good conversion of EBITA? to operating cash flow

2006 2005 2004
Sales? £4007m £3,697m £3,063m
EBITA? £429m £324m £256m
Return on sales 10.7% 88% 8.4%
Cash inflow® £273m £323m £190m
Order intake! £4311m £3,659m £3,310m
Order book® £3.4bn £3.5bn £3.1bn

Key points

- Strong demand for electronic warfare systems

- Key support solutions business wins

- Group-wide capabilities combined to win FastTrack contract
- Key Federal information technology solutions awards

Looking forward

Defence spending in the US continues to be robust for the near term, however fiscal pressures
may make the budget environment more challenging in subsequent years. Customers will need
to balance priorities to equip effectively the current fighting force, whilst developing capabilities
to transform the future force.

BAE Systems will cantinue to focus on offering tailored, mission-enabling support solutions
and lifecycle services to the US defence, intelligence, Federal and civilian markets.

The business is positioned to capitalise on recent organisational and integration actions to
reduce costs. Reducing costs will make the business more competitive and enable further
investment in new business opportunities to drive topline growth.

During 2006, Electronics, Intelligence &
Support achieved EBITA? of £429m (2005
£324m) on sales' of £4,007m (2005
£3,697m} and generated an operating ca
inflow® of £273m (2005 £323m).

2006 EBITA? includes a £61m accounting
gain relating to & revision to pension
benefits arising from changes to the
calculation of final pensionable salaries.

A one-off cash contribution of $100m
(£54m) was made to the principal US
pension fund at the end of the vear.

The Ship Repair business of United
Defense, acguired in June 2005, contribut
full year sales' of £316m (2005 £164m)
and EBITA? of £23m (2005 £15m).

Electronics & Integrated Solutions (E&IS)
E&IS designs, develops and produces
electronic systems and sub-systems for

a wide range of military and commercial
applications, The business focuses on
five primary capabilities: electronic warfare
{EW), incluging information operations;
communications, with emphasis on
integrated C4ISR® and tactical networking;
avionics, flight and engine controls; senso
systems, providing remote sensing
technology, mission sub-systems and
missile seekers; and intelligence systems.

E&IS delivered the first EW system for the
Joint Strike Fighter F-35 Lightning Il aircraft
and received funding for the system’s Low
Rate Initial Production. E&IS also delivered
the first production digital EW system for t
US Air Force F-22A Raptor. Current
production quantities are for 183 aircraft,
taking F-22A production through to 2011.

The National Geospatial-intelligence Agenc
selected E&IS to lead the team to develop
a web-based surveillance and targeting
system, Global Net-Centric Surveillance

Share of Group sales* Share of Group EBITA%S

28% 32%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amertisation and impairment of
intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure {net) and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and cther businesses

6 Command, Control. Communications and Computing,
Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance
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Targeting, which will rapidly identify
tlefield targets to speed up decision-
king by intelligence analysts and
itary personnel.

E Systems continues to hold a leadership
ition in the development of Advanced
eat Infrared Countermeasure (ATIRCM)
tems, In 2006, E&IS began phase three
a Department of Homeland Security
gramme to develop a commercial version
the ATIRCM system. JETEYE™, which

ks to defeat the threat of shoulder-fired
i-aircraft missiles.

E Systems was selected to develop the
ive inceptor system for the US Army's
-60M Black Hawk helicopter programme.
Black Hawk will be the first production
licopter to combine active inceptor
hnology with a fly-by-wire system that

es weight and provides pilots with
uitive tactile cues for easier aircraft
naling and reduced workload.

E Systems is the world's leading supplier
hybrid propulsion systems for urban
nsit buses. New orders received in 2006

llimetre-wave, and laser technologies for
ssile seekers, guided munitions and
get designators. Using a BAE Systems’
eker. the THAAD (Terminal High Altitude
a Defense) missile system successfully
tected and intercepted an incoming
Ilistic missile target. This demonstration
‘a bullet hitting a bullet’ was a key
lestone in the development of this
fence against missile-borne weapons
mass destruction.

e US Army fully funded the Thermal

eapon Sight (TWS) at $285m (£146m)

th full preduction to produce and deliver

B.600 units by mid-2008. In 2006, more
an 4,500 TWS units were delivered

Iviime or ahead of schedule to meet
itical fielding.

alled 415 HybriDrive® propulsion systems,

1S is a supplier of state-of-the-art infrared.

To increase focus on through-life product
and logistics suppart, E&IS opened its first
Readiness & Sustainment centre adjacent
to Robins Air Force Base, Georgia. E&IS also
signed partnership agreements with the US
Army's Tobyhanna Depot in Pennsylvania

to enhance communications and electronics
lifecycle management and with the US Air
Farce's Open Air Logistics Center, Utah,

10 support aircraft sustainment.

Customer Solutions
Customer Solutions comprises three
businesses:

— BAE Systems Information Technology {IT)
- Technology Solutions and Services (TSS)
— BAE Systems Ship Repair

BAE Systems IT capabilities include
enterprise-wide managed IT operations,
mission-critical application development
and lifecycle support information analysis
and assured delivery. TSS provides services
including system engineering and technical
assistance, system and sub-system
integration, operations and maintenance.
Ship Repair is the US's leading non-nuclear
ship repair company and also provides
conversion and modernisation services,
principally in the home ports of the US Nawvy.

Customer Solutions integrates
communications systems, builds and
maintains precision tracking radars, and is
one of the largest service providers to the
US Navy. The business is also a leader in
air and missile defence systems and is
one of the world's largest manufacturers
of explosives,

During 2008, significant contract wins were
secured, underpinning the future growth in
the Customer Solutions business.

BAE Systems was awarded a prime contract,
worth approximately $250m (£128m), from
the Department of Homeland Security 1o
improve efficiency and reduce IT costs. The
business also received an estimated $250m

Common Missile Warning System (CMWS}

Under 2 CMWS contract, potentially warth $1.4bn
(£0.7bn), the US Army has the flexibility to order
at various times any number of systems, E&IS
increased production from 30 to 50 systems a
month to outfit all US Army helicopters in
Afghanistan and Iraq.

{(£128m) award from the US Army under the
Information Technoliogy Enterprise Solution —
2 Services confract. This contract provides
IT services to support the Army’s enterprise
information infrastructure requirements and
goals. BAE Systems IT was also successful
in 100% of its recompetes in 2006.

TSS won the US Air Force Space
Command’s potential 12-year, $509m
(£260m) contract for operation and
maintenance of the Solid State Phased Array
Radar Systems at five radar sites worldwide.
The US Army Space and Missile Defense
Command’'s Future Warfare Center signed
an agreement with BAE Systems worth up to
$482m (£246m) under the Concepts and
Operations for Space and Missile Defense
Integration Capabilities contract.

BAE Systems Ship Repair provides a full
array of ship repair services in support of
US Navy vessels. In 2006, the Ship Repair
business was awarded a service contract
for guided missile cruiser class ships home
ported in Norfolk, Virginia, potentially valued
at $169m (£86m}. A second muiti-ship,
multi-option contract was awarded for repair
and maintenance of all US Navy surface
ships home ported in Hawaii, potentially
valued at $270m (£138m).

Transatiantic partnership delivers on a FastTrack

By leveraging its experience and expertise found
around the world, the BAE Systems FastTrack
team demonstrated speed. agility and Group-wide
collaboration to win a new contract with the

US Navy valued at up to $450m (£230m) over
saven years. Under this contact, BAE Systems

will reengineer and remanufacture aircraft parts
to optimise the US military's ageing aircraft,

www.bacsystems.com 15
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Land & Armaments business group, with 11,600
employees® and headquartered in the US, is a leader in
the design, development, production and through-life
support and upgrade of armoured combat vehicles,
naval guns, missile launchers, artillery systems and
intelligent munitions.

Financial highlights During 2006, Land & Armaments achieve
EBITA? of £168m (2005 £42m) on sales!
- Sales of £1.4bn from acquired United Defense business of £2,115m (2005 £1,270m} and generat

- improvements in UK business performance an operating cash inflow” of £137m

(2005 £168m).

- Order book growth .
The United Defense Land & Armaments
business, acquired in June 2005. contribut

full year sales* of £1.354m (2005 £625m)

2006 2005 2004 and EBITA? of £146m (2005 £45m).
1
Sales £2115m £1,270m £482m Following raticnalisation activity in 2005
EBITA? £168m £42m £(8)M  and further announcements in 20086, the
Return on sales 7.9% 2.3% (1.7)% UK-managed business returned to profit
. a year ahead of pfan.
Cash inflow/{outflow)? £137m £168m £60m United §
H 1 nited States
Order intake £2,964m £1,541m £869m The US business has substantial US Army
Order book? £4.9bn £4 . 4bn £2.2bn  contracts for the refurbishment and upgrad
of Bradley, M88 Hercules improved recover
. vehicles and M113 fighting vehicles. These
Key points contracts involve restoring current systems
. ] — to combat-ready condition following extensi
- Benefiting from high volume of reset and upgrade activity operational use and upgrading them to mor
- Good progress in next-generation technology programmes advanced configurations.
- Accelerated rationalisation in the UK business Following the final US FYO7 Defense

Appropriations Bill, Land & Armaments
reached agreement with the US Army
in November 2006 for contracts for 610

~ Wheeled armoured vehicle successes

Looking forward reset/upgraded Bradley vehicles, 113 M88
Hercules vehicles and upgrade of 447 M11
In the near term, US Land & Armaments operations are expected to continue to benefit fighting vehicles at a total value of
from operational requirements in Iraq and Afghanistan. In the longer term, the business $1.6bn (£0.8bn).
may be impacted by increased pressure on defence budgets. In May 2006, BAE Systems was awarded
UK operations will continue their emphasis on performance Improvements, securing a its first wheeled vehicle contract in the US
leadership rote on the Future Rapid Effect System (FRES) programme and on reaching to manufacture the Iragi Light Armoured

resolution on a mutually beneficial, sustainable munitions contract with the UK MoD. Vehicle, designed to protect Iragi armed
forces against roadside bombs and mine
blasts. Under this $187m (£86m) contract,
Land & Armaments will supply an initial
378 vehicles for Iragi forces. If all contract
options are exercised, delivery orders could
total 1,050 vehicles.

The businesses in Sweden and South Africa aim to deliver growth through both new domestic
government business and building on thelr track record of securing export opportunities.

Progress on the Future Combat Systems
programme continues with the successful

Share of Group sales? Share of Group EBITAZ® 1 including share of equity accounted investments
~ - = - —_— 2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of

intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense
150/ 120/ net cash inflow from operating activities after capitat
0 0 expenditure (net) and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 pefore elimination of intra-group sales
5 excluding HQ and other businesses

W
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pletion of preliminary design and
mencement of system functional

iews and critical design reviews on

nned ground and armed robotic vehicles.

gration of the first Non-Line of Sight-

non (NLOS-C) prototype system

menced with the mission module testing
ng tactical software in Minneapolis,
hnesota, and chassis fabrication in York,
hnsylvania. The NLOS-C firing platform was
beiled during ceremonies in September.
b platform was delivered to the US Army's
ma Proving Ground ahead of schedule
H successfully fired its first live test round
fOctoher, beginning two years of live fire
bting. The US Army has ordered two
ditional prototypes for a total of eight
Ibe delivered by early 2009.

velopment of the 155mm Advanced Gun
T,tem {AGS) and the Long Range Land
ack Projectile (LRLAP) for the US Navy's
hw destroyer, DDG-1000, continues. In live
B testing, the AGS achieved a sustained
ng rate of ten rounds per minute at
hges of up to 63 nautical miles with
fcuracy well within US Navy requirements.
September 2006, Land & Armaments
Feived a $251m {£128m) contract for
LAR In addition, Land & Armaments is
signing and testing a new Vertical
unching System that will enable the
DG-1000 ship to launch a wide range
missiles.

the medium-calibre naval gun system
ena, the BAE Systems 57mm gun has
en selected for the DDG-1000, the US
bvy's Littoral Combat Ship and the Coast
hard’s Deepwater programme.

hited Kingdom

itial production deliveries of the M777
phitweight Artillery System ¢ the US Army
hd Marine Corps have been completed, and
|| rate production has begun. The M777
stem has also been ordered by Canada

hd fielded in Afghanistan.

Engineering Tank Systems deliveries continue
on schedule with 17 bridge-laying Titan
vehicles and 17 Trojan obstacle-clearing
vehicles delivered to the British Army.

During 2006, the British Army identified
urgent operational requirements for FV430
Bulldog armoured personnel carriers to
support requirements in lraq. In total, Land
& Armaments received orders for Fv430
vehicles vaiued at £36m.

A Framework Partnering Agreement is the
current basis for the supply of munitions

to the UK MoD. BAE Systems and the UK
MoD are evaluating a follow-on Munitions
Acquisition Supply Solution in order to build
a sustainable munitions business and
provide long-term savings to the customer.

The Land & Armaments businesses in

the UK and Sweden are co-operating to
establish a strong position to develop the
FRES programme. The Swedish Modular
Armoured Tactical Vehicle Programme (SEP)
is the basis of one of the proposals from
BAE Systems.

Sweden

During 20086, the Land & Armaments
Swedish businesses {Hagglunds and Bofors)
were combined under one newly created
company called BAE Systems AB. This

will leverage strengths of the individual
businesses in engineering and production,
while alse allowing BAE Systems to become
a more effective solutions provider.

BAE Systems AB was awarded a £19m
contract for an additional 52 Bv2065
armoured all terrain vehicles from the
Swedish government. The company has
manufactured more than 11,000 Bv206
vehicles, which have been sold to nearly

40 countries, including customers in France,
Germany, Sweden, Netherlands, UK, Italy
and Spain.

In the area of intelligent munitions for
artillery and mortar systems, the US Army
has declared Excalibur ready for formal

testing prior to accelerated fielding to US and
Canadian forces in lrag and Afghanistan early
in 2007. A major milestone was achieved
when a guided firing of the 155mm Excalibur
from an Archer self-propelled artillery
platform was successfully completed.

Through December 2006, deliveries of
155mm BONUS Mk 2 munitions to the
Swedish government continued to schedule,
BONUS is also being evaluated by the LS
and UK governments.

South Africa

The growing international need for mine-
protected vehicies has continued to generate
new orders for the four-wheeled RG-31 and
RG-32 from the business in South Africa.

In October, Land & Armaments successfully
unveiled the RG-33L Mine Protected Vehicle
at the Association of United States Army
trade show. A seven-month collaborative
effort between operations in the US and
South Africa produced the RG-33L mine-
protected vehicle that has the potential to
meet urgent mine protection needs of US, UK
and coalition forces in Afghanistan and Iraq.

Businessierouplreviews

ILAV win

In May, BAE Systems received an initial
order for 378 Iraqi Light Armoured
Vehicles (ILAV). The 4x4 ILAV leverages
proven designs and includes a Y-shaped
hull designed to deflect the force of
explosions away from passengers. The
first ILAVs were delivered to Iraq

20 days after contract award.

Swedish future ground systems

The Swedish Modutar Armoured Tactical
Vehicle Programme (SEP) is the latest
in the line of innovative products from
BAE Systems AB in Sweden which
in¢ludes the CV90, Bv206 and By510.

www.baesystems.com 17
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The Programmes business group, with 17,900
employees® and based in the UK, comprises the Group’s
air systems, naval ships and submarines activities, with
the UK Ministry of Defence its principal customer.

Financial highlights

- Sales growth of 4% over 2005
- Margin further improved

- EBITA? up 26%

- Good cash performance

2006 2005 2004
Sales? £2927m £2,819m £2,219m
EBITA? £167m  £133m £10m
Return on sales 5.7% 4.7% - 0.5%
Cash inflow* £173m  £285m £442m
Order intake! £2772m £2,101m £5,264m
Order book! £121bn  £12.3bn  £13.0bn

Key points

~ Good schedule and cost adherence

- Programmes transitioning from development to production
- Hawk and Nimrod production orders secured

- UAV technology agreements secured

Looking forward

The future of Programmes Is ¢losely linked to UK MoD funding hoth to meet future
requirements of the UK's armed forces and to subsequently generate export business.

For Alr Systems, growth in the short term is dependent upon anticipated higher activity,
as UK development programmes move to production, and on potential Hawk and Typhoon
export sales.

Naval Ships expects to be involved in the implementation of the Defence Industrial Strategy
In the maritime sector. Growth prospects include the UK's Future Carrier (CVF) programme
and the MARS (Military Afloat Reach and Sustainability) programme.

The Submarines business is expected to grow with increased activity on the Astute programme
and the anticipated build of a major block of the Future Carrier. Completion of pricing of boats
2 and 3 and securing orders for Astute boats 4 to 7 is key in retaining the necessary shkill base
in order to design and build the next-generation nuclear deterrent submarine.

During 2006, Programmes achieved EBIT
of £167m {2005 £133m) or sales® of
£2,927m (2005 £2,819m) and generated
an operating cash inflow® of £173m
{2005 £285m).

Air Systems

The Air Systems group is responsible for
delivering five major programmes: Typhoo
Nimrod MRA4, Hawk, F-35 Lightning Il
{JSF) and Autonomous Systems & Future
Capability (Air).

Deliveries of Typhoon aircraft to the air
forces of the four partner nations continue
with a further 40 aircraft delivered in the
year. BAE Systems continues to provide
support to the UK's Royal Air Farce (RAF}
training and operational build up, with
aircraft operating in three squadrons in
the UK. Negotiations to establish ongoing
integrated logistics support contracts
continue. In addition, the UK MoD has
awarded an initial contract combining
scheduled maintenance work with
upgrade activity.

Final assembly of the first of 236 Tranche
aircraft is underway, in addition to the first
of 18 aircraft for Austria.

Further export possibilities are being
pursued, including the supply of Typhoon
aircraft to Saudi Arabia.

During the year the UK MoD awarded the
Nimrod MRA4 production contract, signatlin
renewed confidence in the pregramme

and in the capability the aircraft will deliver
The design and development programme

is on target to achieve the product maturity
contained within the production bid
assumptions. Activities are now concentrat:
in developing, jointly with the customer, an
innovative support solution for the first five
years of service.

Share of Group sales* Share of Group EBITA25

21%

13%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash inflow frem operating activities after capital
expenditure (net) and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses

18 BAE Systems Annual Review 2006




velopment of the UK's Hawk Advanced
[ Trainer proceeded to plan and helped
lcure the production order for 28 Hawk
128 aircraft from the UK MoD. Hawk is
Il positicned to meet continued market
mand for training aircraft, including
sting Hawk customers who wish 1o
|grade their fleet.

six Hawk aircraft for Bahrain were
llivered on time. the India contract is
bceeding to plan, with the first flight of
Indian Hawk achieved in December,
d 15 aircraft have been delivered
South Africa.

E Systems is partnered with Lockheed
brtin and Northrop Grumman on the JSF
peramme, having responsibility for the
sign and manufacture of the rear fuselage
d empennage and for the supply of

rtain air vehicle systems.

e first flight of the System Development
d Demonstration aircraft was achieved
December.

07 wiil see the substantial completion
the detailed design for each of the

BS vanants and the acceleration of the
bnufacture and delivery of major units for
e remaining development aircraft in the
stem Development and Demonstration
ase of the programme. Low rate initial
oduction is expected to commence in
PO7 . Discussions between the UK and

b governments on appropriate levels of
chnology sharing on the 1SF programme
ogressed during the year.

e medium-altitude long-endurance
hmanned Air Vehicle (UAV) system (HERTI)
hs unveiled in 2006 and the ASTRAEA
ogramme was launched — a multi-faceted
{ programme working towards creating the
‘ht conditions for operating unmanned
rcraft in UK airspace.

sk reduction activities were completed
r the Strategic Unmanned Air Vehicle

{Experiment) (SUAV(E})) project with the UK
MeD and, in December, a follow-on technofogy
demonstration programme, Taranis, 1o support
MoD evaluation of unmanned air combat
vehicle technologies, was secured.

The business is focused on working with the
UK MoD to deliver the SUAV(E} and Taranis
demonstration contracts to establish the
role of UAVs/WUCAVs in the future force mix
and transitioning the HERTI demonstration
system into a production programmae.

Naval Ships

The second of the originally contracted
Landing Ship Dock (Auxiliary) ships, RFA
Cardigan Bay, was handed over in August.
The ¢onrtract was expanded as the UK
MoD contracted to Naval Ships the
responsibility for cormpletion of the final
vessel, Lyme Bay, together with class
design and warranty authority.

With four Type 45 ships in various stages
of production, a high level of activity

and resource load has been reached.

Te meet this demand, over 500 new staff
joined the business in 2006, largely in
production areas.

Whilst the major focus remains on the
setting-to-work and commissioning of the
Type 45 first of class, Daring, in readiness
for sea trials in the second half of 2007,
excellent progress was made on the second
and third ships, with build efficiency targets
met or exceeded.

Miiestone achievements cortiue to plan
and these, combined with successful risk-
reducing system integration work in the
Maritime Integration Support Centre, have
enabled initial profit recognition on the
programme in 2006.

The Group is currently working with the
customer to restructure the existing contract
around a new six ship proposal to provide

a cost-effective solution that ensures timely
delivery of agreed capability across the

class under a jointly managed risk profile.
This is expected to conciude in mid-2007.

The Carrier Alliance has established a

set of contracts with the various alliance
partners for the demonstration phase

of the CVF programme. One of the key
components to this work has been to
prepare full cost, schedule and programme
inputs in support of the UK MoD Main
Gate Review for the approval of the

whole programme. BAE Systems, holding
significant responsibilities across the
total CVF scope of work, is cammitted

to working with the other alliance partners to
secure a successful outcome.

The arbitration process over the acceptance
of the three offshore patrol vessels for
Brunei continues.

A letter of intent was signed with the
government of Malaysia for two frigates.
Negotiations continue to convert this
agreement into a contract.

Submarines

The construction of the first of class boat,
Astute, is largely completed with the test
and commissioning activities now the
major focus.

The Astute programme continued its
improved performance with nine of its ten
key milestones achieved in the year, eight
being achieved ahead of plan and one
behind plan. The remaining milestone
was achieved early in 2007. The launch
of Astute has been brought forward hy
three months to June 2007,

Productivity improvements are being
addressed through inngvative build
strategies. These include increased use

of modular assembly and vertical autfitting
of full sections, in addition to investment
in facilities, simplification of processes,
systems and design to reduce cost. These
measures are aimed at reducing the cost of
production following the first of class boat.

Business group reviews

i

Astute class submarine - reducing costs
BAE Systems is actively looking at ways
to work in partnership with its supply
chain. The Submarines business has set
up a ‘suppliers club’ which, together with
innovative build strategies, is helping to
drive down casts on the Astute programme.

Typhoon development programme

The Typhoon development programme
continued through the year with a series
of releases of UK Paveway 1l Laser
Guided Bombs, demonstrating its abllity
to perform the air-to-ground role - a
step towards ensuring that Typhoon
provides the cornerstone of NATO's
defence capability for the next 30 years.

www.haesystems.com 19
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The Customer Solutions & Support (CS&S) business
group, with 14,600 employees?, provides partnered,
through-life support solutions and capability to

the UK MoD and manages the Group's business

in Saudi Arabia and Australia.

Financial highlights

- Sales growth of 2% over 2005

- Return on sales maintained at ¢.15%
- Cash flow includes £130m incurred on Saudi infrastructure

2006 2005 2004
Sales! £3,180m £2,923m £2,856m
EBITA £477m  £419m  £497m
Return on sales 15.0% 14.3% 17.4%
Cash inflow? £289m £850m  £1,102m

Qrder intake!

£4367m £3,280m £3,543m

Order book?

£6.0bn £5.0bn £4.6bn

Key points

- Tornado ATTAC agreement signed in the UK

- Kingdom of Saudi Arabia modernisation programme underway
- Investment in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia continues

- Australian Hawk support contract secured

Looking forward

CS&S will continue to seek to sustain its long-term presence in Saudi Arabia through developing
new business and delivering on current support commitments.

CS&S will continue to work with the UK customer to provide smarter, more integrated support
and capability solutions on customer bases. Development of these solutions will be underpinned
by the migration of the Availability Transformation: Tornado Aircraft Contract (ATTAC) model

to other future UK platforms.

During 2006, CS&S achieved EBITA2

of £477m {2005 £419mj on sales’ of
£3.180m (2005 £2,923m) and generated
an operating cash inflow®* of £289m
(2005 £850mj).

Saudi Arabia

BAE Systems has a major presence in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia where it acts as
prime contractor for the UK government-to-
government defence agreement. Over the
last two decades the programme has
inciuded the provision of aircrafi, associat
hardware. support, infrastructure and
manpower training for the Royal Saudi Air
Force {(RSAF). On 21 December 2005 the
UK and Saudi Arabian governments signed
an Understanding Document outlining plan
to modernise the Saudi armed forces.
Modernisation activities are now underway.
Under the terms of the signed document,
Typhoon aircraft will replace Tornado Air
Defence Variant aircraft and others current
in service with the RSAF. Detailed
negotiations are continuing to progress the
Understanding Document towards a contra
for the delivery of Typhoon aircraft.

Around 4,600 people are employed by the
Group in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. of
whom more than half are Saudi nationals.
The business is continuing to develop its
presence in Saudi Arabia and is helping to
develop a greater indigenous capability in
the Kingdom. The security of employees

is the highest priority and progress on new
residential and office facilities as well as
increased security measures continues.
Occupation of the first new residential
compound and new office facilities began
on schedule in late 2006.

Performance on the Saudi support
programme in 2006 has progressed well.
Margins have stabilised following increased
indigenous Saudi content in repair and
overhaul work.

Share of Group sales*

Share of Group EBITA2S

22%

35%

1 including share of equity accounted investmernits

2 earnings before amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets, finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash inflow from operating activities after capital

expenditure {net} and financial investment, and

dividends from equity accounted investments

before elimination of intra-group sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses

da

20 BAE Systems Annual Review 2006




ited Kingdom

the UK, C5&S continued to develop
successful partnering arrangement
h the UK MoD's Defence Logistics
anisation focusing on through-life
pability management and value for
ney in line with the UK’s Defence
ustrial Strategy (DIS).

ey message from DIS is the need
investment in supply chain skills,

pabilities and technologies. BAE Systems

s estabiished a supply chain capability
ject to further develop its suite of
h-guality support processes across
business.

air support, performance under the
rnado Combined Maintenance and
bgrade contract remains strong with

| aircraft returned to frontline service
hce contract award in December 2005.

Decemhber, the Tornado ATTAC contract

s signed. The contract offers a full
rnado availability service for the next ten
ars with an initial value of £947m. ATTAC
Il deliver reduced costs and increased
erational efficiencies with improved

craft availability to the front-line.

perience of the ATTAC bid is being used
progress a similar availability contract

F the Harrier aircraft, with negotiations

an initial risk reduction package well
vanced. The Harrier Jloint Upgrade and
intenance Praogramme at RAF Cottesmore
already helping to meet urgent operational
quirements for the frontline in Afghanistan
ile at the same time maintaining the GR9
grade programme.

September, the in-service date for the
rrier GR9 upgrade was achieved on
hedule. The GRS upgrade is carried
t in a partnered arrangement with the
MoD based at RAF Cottesmore. The
ogramme has delivered cost savings and
duced aircraft ‘downtime’ from 52 to 35
eks during the upgrade.

The ATTAC model should also provide the
blueprint for future suppart arrangements
on Typhoon.

In support of the Hawk programme a
bid was submitted to provide availability
support to the RAF's TMK1 aircrafi.

An extension to the existing Nimrod
Integrated Support contract was received
in June.

Naval

In the naval domain, the reactivation of
three ex-Royal Navy frigates for the Chilean
Navy is progressing. The handover and
commissioning of Almirante Cochrane on
22 November was a significant milestone
in the programme. The first of a series of
Memoranda of Understanding with the
customer with respect to delivering a
support solution for the vessels was
signed in October.

The naval joint ventures performed well.
BAE Systems has 50% interests in Fleet
Support Limited (FSL) and Flagship Training

Limited (FTL). In parallei with the naval base

review announced by the UK Secretary of
State for Defence in September 2006, FSL
has been involved in a number of cost-
saving initiatives.

In October, FSL signed a Memorandum of
Understanding {McU} between FSL, DML
and Babcock and the Minister of Defence

Procurement in support of the Surface Ship

Support Alliance. This activity will develop
throughout 2007 to jointly identify a more
effective model for the support of surface
ships with projected savings of £90m

per year.

The results of the UK MoD naval base
review are expected in 2007.

The delivery of high-guality training
solutions continues, primarily through FTL
which, building an the strong partnering
relationship with the Royal Navy, was
awarded a £45m contract for the planning

and delivery of a number of courses for
existing and future naval personnel.

FTL formed part of the MC3 Training bid

for the Defence Training Review programme.
However, in January 2007, it was announced
that this programme was to be awarded to
the competing consortium led by QinetiQ.

The business was unsuccessfut in its bid
for an integrated through-life support
contract to support the Victoria Class
submarines in Canada.

Australia

CS&S Australia performed well in 2006
securing a number of contracts and
strengthening its position as a through-life
capability partner to the Austraiian
Defence Force.

Negotiations for a five-year A$343m (£138m)
support contract for the Australian Hawk
Lead-In Fighter aircraft were successfully
completed, and the business is also a key
supplier in providing a new airborne early
warning system to South Korea.

hid

- =y

s By

Business group reviews

Support Council

A support councit has been created
to share best practice and co-ordinate
support activities and processes
across the Group with the objective

of optimising through-life support,

nat only for in-service equipment, but
also for platferms under development.

Ship reactivation

BAE Systems is prime contractor for
the reactivation of former Royal Navy
warships for overseas customers
including preparation of the vessels
and training of crews,
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The Integrated Systems & Partnerships business group,
with 10,500 employees?, is a portfolio of high-technology
defence systems businesses comprising the wholly-owned
Integrated System Technologies and Underwater Systems,
together with a 37.5% interest in the pan-European MBDA
joint venture, a 20.5% interest in Saab of Sweden and a
50% interest in the Gripen International joint venture.

Financial highlights

- Results reflect further portfolio restructuring in the year

~ Margin further improved to 6.5%

2006 2005 2004
Salest £1,748m £1,834m £2,022m
EBITA? £113m £109m £95m
Return on sales 6.5% 5.9% 4.7%
Cash inflow/(outflow)? £158m £17m £59m
Order intake? £1,655m £1,516m £1,756m
Crder book! E£5.8bn £5.9bn £7.0bn

Key points

- European portfolio restructuring complete

- Major Insyte communication systems wins in UK

- MBDA programme milestones achieved

- Saab’s acquisition of Ericsson Microwave Systems complete

Looking forward

implementaticn of the UK's Defence Industrial Strategy (DIS) is material to the UK activities
of the Integrated Systems & Partnerships business group.

Growth is anticipated from the Insyte business, building on the UK naval systerms market

position and recent success in land systems.

For Underwater Systems, the follow-on activities from DIS will play an important role in shaping

the future position of the business.

The anncuncement in 2006 by the UK MoD of the creation of ‘Team CW’ (Complex Weapons)
led by MBDA represented a significant step forward in the implementation of DIS in this sector.

During 20086, Integrated Systems &
Partnerships achieved EBITA? of £113m
(2005 £109m) on sales® of £1,748m (20
£1,834m) and generated an operating cas
inflow® of £158m (2005 £17m). This resui
follows the significant restructuring of the
Group's portfolio of European defence
businesses in 2005,

In August the Groug dispoesed of its wholly-
owned Atlas Flektronik business for €149
(£103m), generating a profit on disposal
of £3m.

In addition to its main businesses, the
results of which are explained in more
detail below, the Group has a 25% interest]
in Selex Sensors and Airborne Systems Sp
This is subject to a put option at an agree
value of £268m exercisable by BAE Syste
in the three-month period from the beginni
of June 2007 and a call option by
Finmeccanica at any time to August 2007.

Integrated System Technologies (Insyte)
The Insyte business comeleted its first full
year of trading as a wholly owned subsidia
Order book grew primarily on receipt of
the FALCON Increment A contract (£267m).
FALCON will provide the British armed force
with a new mobite, high-capacity, secure
information system infrastructure at the
operational and tactical levels of command.

The business secured its first significant
national security contract in 2006 and
was contracted as the mission system
prime contractor on the CVF programme
and was also awarded the T93 Radar
Replacement contract to support the

UK Air Defence Systems.

The business has a number of key
pregrammes. Sampson radar, the Comman
Management System and Long Range Rad
Development and Production contracts for
the Type 45 destroyers, and the Seawolf

Share of Group sales?

Share of Group EBITA%®

12%

8%

1 including share of equity accounted investments

2 eamings before amortisation and impaimment of
intangible assets. finance costs and taxation expense

3 net cash inflow from operating activities after capital
expenditure {net) and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 before elimination of intragroup sales

5 excluding HQ and other businesses
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dlife Upgrade for Type 22 and 23
stroyers all achieved their key milestenes
the year.

derwater Systems

e Sting Ray lightweight torpede main
duction order for the UK MoD is
gressing an schedule with the second
tch of torpedoes being accepted in
cember 2006.

e Archerfish product was selected as

e Common Mine Clearance Neutraliser

r the US Navy and is to be used on three
erent programmes,

lisman, which is a Group-funded
manned Underwater Vehicle, achieved
at is believed to be a world first by
unching and controlling another weapon

hile itself operating at a distance from

e mother ship. This successful test was

bserved by potential customers.

e business continues discussions with
e UK MoD on a long-term partnering
reement to sustain capability for the
nger term.

BDA (37.5%)
BDA performed well with increases in both
hles and EBITA? as 4.000 missiles were
oduced and delivered, including the Storm
hadow and Scalp airborne cruise missiles,
ica airto-air weapon, Exocet anti-ship
issile, and the Taurus cruise missile. The
bw Customer Service & Support division
50 reported successfui sales and orders
the year.

number of export orders were secured in
he year, including a €450m (£303m) order
om the UAE (Exocet Blocks 2 and 3), a
bntract from Saudi Arabia for the Mistral

r defence system, an order from India for
he ATAM missile system for the new ALH
elicopter, as well as orders from Chile for
he new Seawolf Block 2 naval missile and
xocet, Domestic orders remained strong
nderpinned by the Aster/PAAMS

programme, a contract from France for the
new Scalp Naval cruise missile and an order
from Germany for the Pars 3 next-generation
anti-armour weapon for the Tiger helicopter.

MBDA has been setected by the UK MoD
to lead the UK's Complex Weapons sector
under the Defence Industrial Strategy,
working with the UK MoD to develop a
Strategic Partnering Agreement which will
underpin the sovereign UK capability in
complex weapons technologies, design,
development and manufacturing for the
future. It is anticipated that 2007 will

see this work brought to fruition.

tmportant progress has been made

during the year on MBDA's development
programmes. Significant milestones included
the successful airlaunched demonstration
firings of the new Meteor beyond visual
range air-to-air missile, the first system
qualification of the Franco-ltalian
Aster/PAAMS (E) naval air defence system
and qualification firings of the SAMP/T
land-based system. In addition, the PAAMS
programme for the Royal Navy's Type 45
destroyer is now progressing through
integration and testing following deliveries
of the Sampson radar. MBDA also achieved
development successes with the first firing
of the new Exocet Block 3 coastal attack
missile, completion of development of the
Marte Mk2/S helicopter-launched anti-ship
weapon and Milan ER anti-armour missile.

The acquisition of the German missile
company LFK was completed in March
20086, with integration well advanced.

Financial perfermance of the acquired
business has exceeded expectations

to date.

Saab (20.5%)

Sales rose by 9% to SEK21bn (£1.55bn),
of which 65% is attributable to sales
outside Sweden. Qperating income rose
to SEK1,745m (£129m), producing an
operating margin after restructuring costs

Technology delivered to the battlefield
FALCON is a mobile, high-capacity
information infrastructure that brings
the latest all-internet protocol
technology to the battlefield. It is a
rapidly deployable, truck-mounted
system that allows troops and battlefield
commanders to communicate quickly,
securely and reliably with each other
and with other levels of command,

of 8.3%. Order intake is substantially
improved compared with 2005, mainly
attributable to the SEK5.5bn (£411m) order
from Pakistan for an airborne surveillance
system together with a SEK1bn (£75m)
order from the Swedish government for

the continued development of the

Gripen system.

The acquisition of Ericsson Microwave
Systems for SEK3.75bn (£280m) was
completed on 1 September. This acquisition
added radar and sensor operations te
Saab’s existing portfolio in the areas of
defence, aviation, space and civil security.

Saab's order book at the end of the year
was SEK51bn (£3.8bn).

Gripen International (50%)

The first Gripen test aircraft arrived in South
Africa and has commenced the integration
and development test programme. Deliveries
of aircraft to Hungary commenced in the
year and the contractual offset obligations
to both Hungary and the Czech Republic are
being met.

Business group reviews

Talisman launches a world first

Talisman, the BAE Systems’ developed
unmanned underwater vehicle (UUV), has
achieved its latest capability breakthrough,
by becoming the first UUV to successfully
fire and control weapons at sea during trials,
Talisman is an example of BAE Systems’
approach to rapid prototyping, with
concurrent design, development and testing.
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HQ and other businesses, with 2,300 employees?,
comprises the regional aircraft asset management
and support activities, head office and UK shared

mmgﬁmé@

services activity, including research centres and

property management.

Financial highlights and key points

- Total Regional Aircraft loss gf £114m

- Cash outflow from Regional Aircraft of £66m
- Aerostructures sale completed

- UK pension funding deficit addressed

During 20086, HQ and other businesses
reporied a loss of £147m (2005 £118m)
and had an operating cash outflow® of
£225m (2005 £79m). Of this, the reported
loss for Regional Aircraft was £114m (200
£95m), and operating cash outflow was
£66m (2005 £73m).

Regional Aircraft

2006 Res?;%d; Resg’é%‘z The regional aircraft leasing market continu
to be impacted by high oil prices and over
Sales? £295m £471m £464m  sypply of aircraft. The leasing team was
EBITA? £147m  £(118)m £(50)m  successful lin securinﬁ gxtc;n;;ions in Qt?f')i
- to existing leases with both large establishe
Cash (outflow)/inflow* £(225)m £(79)m £57m operatorsgm Europe as well asgnew busines
Order intake? £267Tm £398m £264m  in India, Nepal and the Middle East. Leases
Order hook® £0.3bn £0.6bn £0.5pn were also secured for a number of aircraft

Looking forward

The regional aircraft leasing market remains challenging with new markets fikely to be

dominated by higher risk customers. Support revenues are dependent on maintaining aircraft
in service and conversion of new customers to managed services such as power-by-the-hour
contracts. Losses are expected to continue in this difficult market, aibeit at levels lower than

in the preceding two years.

converted to freighter configuration with
further demand expected. Other leasing
opgortunities continue to emerge although
markets remain highly competitive.

Support revenues grew with a number of
orders secured during the year for power-by
the-hour contracts and aircraft modification

The majority of the leasing business is
underpinned by the Group’s Financial Risk
Insurance Pragramme (FRIP) which makes
good shortfalls in actual lease income
against originally estimated future income.

The Regional Aircraft results for the year
include £37m for costs incurred in managin
the |eased aircraft portfolio and supporting
the fleet, and £77m for provisions taken.

Aerostructures

In March 20086, the sale of the UK
Aerostructures business to Spirit
AeroSystems Inc. was completed, for a
cash consideration of £80m. This disposal
generated a profit of £11m arising from the
resuttant reduction of pension liabilities.

1 in¢luding share of equity accounted investments

2 eamings before amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets. finance costs and taxation expense

3 et cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities after
capital expenditure (net} and financial investment, and
dividends from equity accounted investments

4 restated following the sale of Airbus SAS
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psults for the year - continuing operations
hles! increased 9% from £12,681m to
13,.765m. Organic growth was 5%. Sales
the full year from the former United
Efense activities, acguired in June 2005,
Ere £1,670m (2005 £789m).

BITA? increased 33% to £1,207m (2005
B09m). The growth inciudes the benefit of
full vear's trading from the former United
efense activities, acquired in June 2005,
hich contributed EBITA? of £169m {2005
B0m) in the year. As reported at the half
bar, included within EBITA? is a £61m
he-off accounting gain in the Electronics,
telligence & Support business group
ising from a reduction in the net pension
bbility following the changes to the
blculation of final US pensicnable salaries.
psses at Regional Aircraft amounted to
114m, these are reported within HQ and
fher businesses.

leturn on sales (EBITA? adjusted for uplift on
Cquired inventories expressed as
percentage of sales) for the Group
creased from 7.6% to 8.8%. Return on
bles excluding the one-off pension gain
bferred to above was 8.3%.

rder hook' increased to £31.7bn, primarily
n US contract awards in the Land &
rmaments business and on securing

e Tornado ATTAC contract in CS&S.

inance costs

inance costs, including the Group's share
f the finance costs of equity accounted
westments, were £174m (2005 £196m).
he underlying interest charge of £157m
2005 £191m) was increased by a net
harge of £17m {2005 £5m) arising from
ension accounting, marked-to-market
avaluation of financial instruments and
reign currency movements.,

nderlying interest cover based on EBITA?
icreased from 4.8 times to 7.7 times,

Taxation

The Group's effective tax rate for continuing
operations for the year was 26% (2005 22%).
The increase in the rate arises principally
due to recognition in 2005 of an Australian
deferred tax asset previously unrecoghised.

Earnings per share

Underlying earnings® per share from
continuing gperations for 2006 increased
by 29% to 23.8p compared with 2005.

Basic earnings per share, in accordange with
IAS 33 Earnings per Share, from continuing
operations, increased by 43% to 19.9p
(2005 13.9p).

Basic earnings per share in respect of
discontinued operations amounted to 30.8p,
primarily arising from the gain made on the
disposal of the Group’s 20% interest in
Airbus to EADS.

Dividend

The Board is recommending a final dividend
of 6.9p per share (2005 6.3p), brinding the
total dividend for the year to 11.3p per
share {2005 10.3p), an increase of 9.7%.

The proposed dividend is covered 2.1 times
by earnings® from continuing operations
(2005 1.8 times) which is consistent with
the policy of growing the dividend whilst
maintaining a long-term sustainable
earnings cover of approximately two times.

Discontinued operations

On 13 October 2006, the Group disposed
of its shareholding in Airbus SAS to EADS
for €2.75bn (£1.8bn) in cash, generating
a profit on disposal of £925m. The Group's
share of the results of Airbus SAS for the
year of £68m together with the profit on
disposal of £525m have been classified
as a discontinued operation and the 2005
consclidated income statement has been
restated accordingly.

Cash flows

Cash inflow from operating activities was
E£778m (2005 £2,099m), which includes
£441m one-off contributions into the UK
pension schemes, representing cash of
£199m and proceeds from the sale of
property of £242m. A one-0ff contribution
of $100m (£54m) was aiso made into the
US pension schemes in December 2006.

Good conversion of EBITA? 1o operating
business cash flow was delivered across
the Group.

There was an cutflow from net capital
expenditure and financial investment of
£141m {2005 £250m). This inctudes the
receipt of £242m from the disposal of
Group property to fund the additional
contributions made 1o the UK pension
funds. Excluding this item, the underlying
net capital expenditure and financial
investment cash outflow was £383m
(2005 £250m).

The resulting operating business cash
inflow of £782m (2005 £1,937m) gave
rise to free cash inflow, after interest,
preference dividends and taxation, of
£490m (2005 £1,758m).

The net cash inflow from acquisitions and
disposals was £1,330m including the
receipt of net praceeds of £1,212m from the
October disposal of the Airbus shareholding.

Net cash of the Group at 31 December
2006 was £435m, a net inflow of £1,712m
from the net debt position of £1,277m at
the start of the year.

Accounting policies

Detailed guidance on the Group's critical and
significant accounting policies ¢an be found
in the Annual Report 2006 on our website,
www.baesystems.com.

including share of equity accounted investments

earnings before amartisation and impairment of intangible
assets, finance costs and taxation expense

earnings excluding amortisation and impairment of intangible
assels, non-cash finance movements on pensions and
finangial derivatives, and uplift on acquired inventories

Exchange rates
The principal exchange rates impacting the
Group are as follows:

2006 2005
£/€ - average 1467 1.462
£/% - average 1.844 1.819
£/€ —year end 1.484 1.455
£/% — year end 1957  1.718
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BAE Systems recognises its responsibilities to its
shareholders, the people it employs, its customers and
suppliers, the wider community and the environment.

Highlights of our progress and performance
across all areas of our social, ethical and
environmental responsibilities during 2006
are detaited below. Further information

and supporting data can be found in our
Corporate Responsibility Report or on

our website www.baesystams.com.

Strategy and direction

Corporate Responsibility (CR) in BAE Systems
is based on good business practice and
continual improvement. Our CR framework
has been developed through analtysis of
potential risk to our business, key stakeholder
interest and feedback, and the extension

and evaluation of existing practices.

A sustainable CR agenda must be based
upan both the communication and effective
deployment of our policies and practices
and continual improvement, consistent with
Group strategy. which is to be the premier
global defence and aerospace company.

The implication of this global agenda on
our CR strategy is to broaden the number
of companies against which we benchmark
our performance and to look wider than
local impacts to develop our position on
global issues.

Key development areas for 2007 will be
our response to climate change and a more
formal approach to product stewardship.

Governance of CR
The board of directors has overali
responsibility for the governance of CR

matters within the Group. Specific
responsibility has been assigned to
the CR Committee of the Board.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing
and monitoring the processes the Group
uses to manage social, erwironmental and
ethical risk, as well as supporting the Board
in the approval of strategy and policy in this
area. The Committee’s role and progress in
2006 can be found in our full CR report.

Monitaring our performance

We monitor our CR performance through
sector benchmarking. In 2006 BAE Systems
maintained its position in both the Dow
Jones Sustainability World Index and

the pan-Eurcpean Dow Jones STOXX
Sustainability Index. Our total score for
2006 was 77%. this being the highest score
reached in our specific industry sector.

With the continued growth of our US
business we also monitor our performance
within the Pacific Sustainability Index, which
analyses and ranks the environmental and
sustainability reporting of all the companies
in the aerospace and defence sector tisted
on the Fortune Global 500 and Fortune
1000 list. BAE Systems was ranked third
of the 18 companies in that sector.

Hey performance indicators (KPls)
We use a range of nonfinancial performance
indicators to measure the Group's
performance over time. Performance against

Naval Ships held Learning at Work Days at
our Filton and Govan sites where employees
were given health advice. learned new
skills and were encouraged to take up
new hobbies.

They also launched an Everyday Skills
programme which offers courses on basic
IT. communication, literacy and numeracy.

Qur Customer Solutions & Sugport business
group this year achieved the international
health and safety standard OHSAS 18001
for all its UK businesses. New safety, health
and environment (SHE) ‘passport’ training
was introduced for all employees, as well
as SHE training specifically for senior
executives. A distance learning health

and salety course was atso put in place

fot our Sauwdi employees.

these key indicators can be found in
both the Annual Report 2006 and the
full CR Repont.

Our performance

Workplace

The Group employs 79,000 people in

its wholly-owned businesses across five
continents, the majority being based in the
UK and the US, with a significant presence
in Australia. Saudi Arabia, South Africa
and Sweden.

To deliver the products and services our
customers require we need to attract and
retain a highly talented workforce. We do
this with a focus on a high performance
culture which, in addition to setting out
goals and objectives, also defines the
behaviours we expect of our employees.

In 2006 two workplace-related objectives
were set as part of the leadership objectiv
for the Group’s senior executives: to reflec
gender diversity on leading university
courses in our choice of graduate trainees
through a focused recruitment plan; and
to resolve 75% of employee grievances

in the UK at local level.

We met our target to recruit at least an
equal proportion of female graduates to tha
seeking a career in engineering. Over the
year, 12% of our UK and 20% of our US
engineering graduate recruits were women.
97% of employee grievances in the UK wer
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olved at a local level during 2006. Only
e complaint required a corporate level
estigation under the Group’s Respect
Work policy. This indicated improved
nagement and resolution of issues

a local level.

hics

are committed to meeting the highest
hical standards in our relationships
th others. We will not tolerate unethical
haviour or attempts to improperly influence
e decisions of customers or suppliers.

2006 two objectives specifically relating
ethics were set within the leadership
jectives: to meet the standards defined
our internal assurance statement; and
develop, pilot and roll out ethics training
all employees in the UK and Australia,

meet the standards defined in our internal
surance statement we have training and
vareness pragrammes 10 ensure employees
hderstand our policies and the standards
kpecied of them. We provide training on our
hti-bribery programme to managers from
arketing, commercial, procurement, finance,
Ristomer support and other functions.

the US, all employees completed
fresher training on our workplace
brassment, ethics policies, and ethical
bcision making. In addition in 2006 all
Inployees viewed a new ethics video called
aying With Fire: Abuse and Intimidation in
e Workplace. During 2006 we also held
thics training for the Board and Executive
ommittee, debating and agreeing the

le of leadership in ensuring high ethical
fandards throughout the Group.

survey of UK employees undertaken in
005 showed that although our employees
bgard the Group as ethical, awareness of
ur ethical standards and helpline was low.
2006 we introduced new online training
br all UK employees. By the end of 2006
0% of UK employees had successfully
bmpleted the training. Plans are in place

to ensure the remaining 20% complete the
training early in 2007. We also intend to roll
out the training to our employees in Australia,
Saudi Arabia. South Africa and Sweden.

Safety, health and environment

The health and safety of our employees,
contractors and engagement with the
communities around our facilities is of
primary importance to BAE Systems, We
recognise the risks associated with the
variety of operations we conduct and aim
to minimise these as far as possible.

Qur environment policy and framework

is focused on preventing or controlling
environmental impacts and minimising
waste. All our major manufacturing sites are
certified to the international environmental
management standard (ST 14001.

We recognise the role of leadership in
driving high standards of safety, health and
environment performance and, accordingly,
set a number of leadership objectives in
2006 related to this area. These were {0
meet our safety, health and environment
targets and to exceed the safety performance
commitments made to the UK Health and
Safety Executive (HSE).

Targets were set against individual business
issues and all businesses included safety,
health and environment in their quarterly
husiness reviews. The overall performance
on safety reflects the good performance
against these targets. Compared with 2005
both the overalt number of accidents and
the number of serious accidents decreased
i 2006. The majority of our businesses
continue to demonstrate improvements (i.e.
reducticns) in the days lost to work-related
injuries indicating both a reduction in the
number of accidents and length of time for
rehabilitation back into the work place.

The commitments made as part of the UK
government's ‘Revitalising Health & Safety’
initiative have been exceeded; we have
already met targets for performance. In
addition, we continued our partnership

Electronics & Integrated Systems is
working with the US Federal Transit
Administration {FTA) to develop hydrogen
fuel cell technology for city buses. Fuel
cells generate electricity cleanly and
quietly, like a battery. Fuelled by
hydrogen, their only by-products are
water and heat, so they do not contribute
to climate change.

project with the UK HSE and other large UK
manufacturers. The project, named Large
Organisation Partnership Pilot {LOPPs),
aims to raise safety standards in UK
manufagturing sites.

Education and community

Education, specifically in the fields of
science and engineering, is extremely
important to the future sustainability
of our business.

The number of students enrolling in
engineering and technology courses has
fallen considerably in recent years. We are
concerned that in the future there will be too
few candidates with the skills our business,
and the engineering sector in general,
needs. We therefore invest worldwide in

a range of programmes which support

and encourage young people into science
and engineering.

We also have a structured programme

for support to charities and encourage

our employees to support their local
communities through fundraising and
volunteering. In the 18 months 10
September 2006, our globa!l employee
fundraising scheme, Charity Chailenge,
raised £8m. This was donated primarily

to the Stroke Association in the UK, the
National Heart Foundation in Australia and
the American Cancer Society in the US. Over
the same period, employees volunteered
10,500 days of their own time.

In 2006 our total global community
investment was £8,223,160. This figure
includes cash and in-kind donations as
well as our direct support for education.

— — Corporate-responsibility --

p—gpel —

Platform Solutions is helping to prepare
young people for life after school by
partnering with the Medway Education
Business Partnership (MEBP), a charlty
working to improve the links between
schools and businesses. Our employees
donate money and time and this year
11 employees mentored students

trom schools.
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Chairman

1. Dick Olver FREng >*

Appointed Chairman on 1 luly 2004. A

civil engineer, Dick Olver joined BP in 1973
where he held a variety of senior positions
culminating in his appointment to the board
of BP p.l.c. as CEC of Exploration and
Production in 1998. He was subsequently
appointed deputy group chief executive of BP
in 2003, stepping down from that position
when he assumed the chairmanship of

BAE Systems. Dick Olver chairs the Board's
Nominations Committee and the Non-
Executive Directors' Fees Committee, He is
a non-executive director of Reuters Group ple,
a Fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering
and a member of the Royal Academy and the
Trilateral Commission.

Appointed: 2004 Age: 60

1 member of the Audit Committee
2 member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee
3 member of the Nominations Committee
4 member of the Non-Executive Directors’
Fees Committee
5 member of the Remuneration Committee

Executive directors

2. Mike Turner CBE *

Chief Executive

Appointed Chief Executive in 2002, having
been a Chief Operating Officer since 1999,
He is a non-executive director of Lazard
Limited and a former non-executive director
of Babcock International Group Plc and The
Perinsular and Oriental Steam Navigation
Company {P&O).

Appointed: 1994 Age: 58

3. Chris Geoghegan

Group Executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 2002 as a Chief
Operating Officer he is now Group Executive
Director responsible for Businesses. He was
formerly responsible for the Group’s Airbus
operations and, in 2000, was appointed
Group Managing Director of the Avionics
business. He is President of the Society

of British Aerospace Companies.

Appointed: 2002 Age: 52

4. Walt Havenstein *

Chief Operating Officer, US

Appointed to the Board on 2 January 2007,
he is President and CEQ of BAE Systems,
Inc. He was previcusly President of the

Company's US-based Electronics & Integrated

Solutions business. He was President of the
Sanders defence electronics business prior
to it being acquired by the Company from
Lockheed Martin in 2001. A graduate of

the US Naval Academy, he served 12 vears
in the US Marine Corps.

Appointed: 2007 Age: 57

5. lan King

Chief Operating Officer, UK and Rest of Wo
Appointed to the Board on 1 January 2007
he was previously Group Managing Director
of the Company's CS&S business and, priof
to that, Group Strategy and Planning Directd
Immediately prior to the BAe/MES merger
he was Chief Executive of Alenia Marconi
Systems, having previously served as
Finance Director of Marceni Electronic
Systems and of Marconi Defence Systems.
He is a non-executive director of Rotork plc
Appointed: 2007 Age: 50

6. Steve Mogford

Group Executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 2000 as a Chief
Operating Officer he is now Group Executive
Director responsible for leading the Compan
drive for the restructuring of the Naval Ships
and Submarines industry in line with the
Defence Industrial Strategy. He has held a
number of senior positions within the Group.
He is a non-executive director of Carillion plc
Appointed: 2000 Age: 50

7. George Rose

Group Finance Director

Appointed Group Finance Director in 1998,
Prior to joining the Company in 1292, he
held senior positions in the Rover Group an
Leyland DAF. He is a non-executive director
of Saab AB and Nationa! Grid Transco plc,
and a member of the Financial Reporting
Review Panel,

Appointed: 1998 Age: 54
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n-executive directors

Professor Sue Birley 2%

rmerly Professor of Entrepreneurship
Imperial College, University of London,

d has held a number of academic posts
INSEAD, London Business School and
anfield Institute of Technology. She was
rmerly a non-executive director of National
stminster Bank plc. Professor Birley chairs
e Board's Remuneration Committee.
pointed: 2000 Age: 63

Phil Carroll 2
pointed to the Board in 2005, Phil Carroll
a former chairman and chief executive
Fluor Corporation and a former president
d chief executive of Shell Gil Company Inc.
was appointed by the US Department of
fense in 2003 to serve as the first Senior
viser to the Iragi Ministry of Oil. He is a
rmer non-executive director of Scottish
wer plc.
pointed: 2005 Age: 69

. Dr Ulrich Carteilieri !
rich Cartellieri served as a member of the
anaging and subsequently the Supervisory
ard of Deutsche Bank AG for over
years until 2004, He was also a member
the International Advisory Committee of
e Federal Reserve Bank of New York. He
currently a director of Robert Bosch GmbH
d is a past chairman of Karstadt AG and
past deputy chairman of Siemens AG.
ppointed: 1999 Age: 69

11. Michael Hartnall *

Formerly finance director of Rexam plc.
prior to which he held senior positions with
a number of manufacturing companies. He
is also a non-executive director of Lonmin
plc and a former non-executive director of
Elementis plc. Michael Hartnali chairs the
Board's Audit Committee. He is a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales.

Appointed: 2003 Age: 64

12. Sir Peter Mason KBE -2

Non-executive chairman of Thames Water
and a non-executive director of Acergy S.A.
Formerly chief executive of AMEC pilc,
executive director of BICC plc, chairman and
chief executive of Balfour Beatty Limited and
chief executive of Norwest Holst Group PLC.
Sir Peter Mason has been nominated the
Board's Senior Independent Director.
Appointed: 2003 Age: 60

13. Roberto Quarta *

Appointed to the Board in 2005, Roberto
Quarta is a partner in the private equity firm
Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, in connection with
which he serves as chairman of Rexel SA
and ltaltel. He was previously chairman and
chief executive of BBA Group, an executive
director of BTR plc and a non-executive
director of PowerGen plc and Equant NV.
Appointed: 2005 Age: 57

14, Sir Nigel Rudd *®

Appointed to the Board on 10 September
20086. Currently chairman of Alliance Boots
Group PLC and Pendragon plc and deputy
chairman of Barclays PLC. Until recently,
he was chairman of Pilkington plc. He
also holds a number of other public
appointments including chairman of the
CBl's Boardrecom Issues Group. He is

a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales,
Appointed: 2006 Age: 60

15. Peter Weinberg *°

Appointed to the Board in 2005, Peter
Weinberg is a partner at Peretta Weinberg
Partners, a financial services firm, He was
previously chief executive officer of Goldman
Sachs International and co-head of the
Partnership Committee, and prior to that was
co-head of the Global Investment Banking
Division. He joined Goldman Sachs in 1988
and became a partner in 1992, Peter
Weinberg chairs the Boeard's Corporate
Responsibility Committee.

Appointed: 2005 Age: 49

Each of the eight non-executive directors
listed above is considered to be independent
for the purposes of the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance.

Company Secretary
David Parkes
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Combined Code compliance

As required by the UK's Combined Code
on Corporate Governance (the 'Combined
Code’) all companies that have a stock
market listing in the UK are required

to make disclosures in relation to
corporate governance.

The Board has considered the Company's
compliance with the provisions of the
Combined Code and confirms that it was
compliant with all provisions throughout
2006 and to the date of this report.

Summarised remuneration report

The Remuneration Committee

The Board has delegated to the
Remuneration Committee responsibility

for remuneration policy and determining
the specific packages for the Chairman and
the executive directors; the Committee also
agrees the framework for the remuneration
of certain other members of the executive
management team. The Committee's terms
of reference conform with the requirements
of the Combined Code, and can be found
on the Company's website or obtained from
the Company Secretary.

Remuneration principles
The Committee’s remuneration strategy
is to provide a remuneration package that:

— helps attract, retain and motivate the
highest calibre executives:

- is aligned to shareholders’ interests to
create sustainable long-term shareholder
value;

- is competitive against the appropriate
market, providing median reward for
median performance and upper quartile
reward for upper quartile performance;

— encourages and supports a high
performance culture whilst providing
a balance between fixed and variable
reward; and

—is fair and transparent and can be applied
consistently throughout the Group,

Remuneration Policy

The Committee’s executive remuneration
policy continues to be to set hasic salaries
at median competitive levels whilst seeking
to reward upper guartile performance with
potential upper quartile remuneration
through the use of bonus schemes and
share-based incentives. The Committee
intends to continue with the executive
remuneration policy as detailed in this report

in 2007 and subsequent years, and will
continue to consult on material changes
with principal shareholders.

Remuneration of executive directors
consists typically of basic salary, & bonus
based on annual performance. participation
in employee share schemes and retirement
benefits. The Committee reviews the split
between basic salary and the performance-
related elements of remuneration each year
in order to incentivise properly executive
directors, and helieves that a significant
propertion of remuneration should be
based on schemes that encourage them

to perform at the highest level. Through
this arrangement, it is possible for those
individuals who ceontribute to sustained high
levels of company performance to receive at
least a similar level of reward from variable
compensation to that received from fixed
compensation. At median performance,
variable remuneration represents
approximately 50% of the remuneration
package as shown in the chart below:

Target Performance (median)

M salary 34%
"1 Pension 17%
[J Bonus 17%
W Longterm

incentive rewards 32%

The package of the Chief Executive is more highly
geared with almest 60% of the remuneration being
performance related.

At upper guartile performance variable
remuneration represents significantly
more than 50% of the total package.

Base salary

Executive directors’ base salaries are
reviewed each year by the Committee
and adjusted to reflect performance and
the competitiveness of salaries relative
to the market. Information on the market
for comparable management positions is
obtained from independent sources and
is provided to the Committee so that it
can form a view as to where to position
basic salaries and benefits relative to
comparable companies.

The methodology used is to construct
appropriate comparator groups for the
individual positions of Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director, and Chief Operating
Officer taking account of company size. scate
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of operations and breadth of role. The medi
and upper guartile positions are then analys
for base salary, total cash reward (base sal
plus annual bonus), total direct reward (total
cash reward plus long-term incentives) and
total reward including pension. This gives th
Committee a view on the competitiveness o
the individual packages.

The Committee also reviews the trends

in the elements of remuneration to ensure
that the structure of the package stays in
line with market practice, and also takes
account of the performance of the individua|
the Company as a whole and the pay and
conditions of Group employees,

Fotlowing the change in roles for the two
Group Executive Directors, the Committee
reviewed the data relating to the expected
salary trends for FTSE B0 directors in 200
and, taking account of their performance
and contribution, awarded a salary increas
in line with the expected trend.

Annual Bonus Plan

The executive directors and other senior
executives participate in a cash bonus
plan that rewards those individuals if
pre-determined targets are met. The target
are derived from the Integrated Business
Plan (IBP), which is agreed by the Board an
which implements corporate strategy on a
groupwide basis by ensuring that business
plans which support the strategy are
integrated across alt businesses. The

IBP is used to set the ohjectives for senior
management including the base and stretct
targets for the financial measures used

for the executive directors in the Annual
Bonus Plan.

Non-financial targets comprise key
objectives relevant to the individual
and/or business and also take account
of behavioural performance.

The maximurn bonus potential for 2007
remains the same as for 2006 at 100%

of base salary (150% for the US-based
executive director, Walt Havenstein, and th
Chief Executive, with at (east one-third of th
Chief Executive’s bonus being compulsorily
deferred into the Share Matching Plan).

Share option plans and longterm
incentive plans

Through the use of sharebased incentive
plans the Committee seeks to align the
interests of the executive directors with
those of other shareholders. The Company
operates a combination of options and




are awards for executive directors within
framework set out below which is broadly
line with similar plans operated by other
SE 50 companies.

view of share-based long-term

entive plans

2006 the Committee reviewed the
mpany's share-based long-term incentive
ns, taking account of centinuing changes
market practice and investors’ comments
llowing the shareholder consultation earlier
at year. Part of the review specifically
nsidered the performance conditions

r the various share-based incentive plans,
nchmarking the performance conditions
ainst market practice.

e Committee concluded from the review
at the Company’'s current approach
ovides a good balance of short-term and
ng-term reward, potentially more weighted
wards long-term rewards than a number of
her companies, but consequently aligned
and consistent with the long-term nature
F the Company’'s business. The Committee
so concluded that the performance
hnditions for the individual plans remained
pbpropriate. The Committee has therefore
Etained the current long-term incentive
frangements.

fetails of the individual plans to operate
2007 are as follows:

options granted under the Executive

Share Option Plan are set at a maximum of
1.5 times base salary (2.25 times base
salary for the Chief Executive), Vesting

of gptions is subject to the achievement

of real earnings per share (EPS) growth
targets aver a three-year performance
period. There will be no retesting after

the three-year performance period for
options to be granted in 2007,

awards under the Performance Share Plan
to be set at 1 times base salary (1.5 times
hase salary for the Chief Executive). The
median level of vesting for the 2007
awards will be 25% of the shares under
award if the company's total shareholder
return {TSR) performance (share price
growth plus dividends) over a three-year
performance period is in the top 50%

of the TSR comparator group. with 100% of
the shares under award being released if
the TSR is in the top 20%. Intermediate
positions will be calculated on a straight
line pro-rata basis. Vesting will also be
subject to the Committee being satisfied
there has been a sustained improvement in

underlying financial performance. The TSR
comparator group comprises 18 other
major defence and aerospace companies
operating in the international arena.

in 2007 executive directors will be able

to participate in the new Share Matching
Plan {(SMP). approved by shareholders in
2006, which replaces the Restricted Share
Plan. The SMP is structured as a stand-
alone share investment plan. Participants
will be invited to acquire shares up to

an amount not exceeding the net amount
of any discretionary annual bonus the
individual received for the previous
financial year (Investment Shares). The
participant will be granted a conditional
award of Matching Shares under the SMP
against the gross bonus invested; for
executive directors the match will be in the
ratio of 1:1. The Matching Shares will be
subject to the same performance condition
as that applied to the Executive Share
Option Plan as outlined above.

In determining the performance criteria

of the three plans, the Committee took the
view that EPS is a key indicator of long-term
financial performance and value creation
and that TSR is an indication of earnings
and capital growth relative to the industry-
specific comparator group.

The UK-based executive directors are also
entitled to participate in the Company's
Share Incentive Plan, an all-employee plan,
under which the award of free shares is
subject to company performance.

Post-retirement benefits

The executive directors of the Company
are members of Group pension schemes
and pay contributions at the same rate
as all other employees participating in
the schemes.

Following consultation with employees

in 20086, a number of changes were made
to the pension schemes in respect of
benefits accruing from 6 April 2006 as

a means of funding the deficits disclosed
in the schemes. These changes apply

to executive directors in the same way
as 1o other employees and include the
introduction of the Longevity Adjustment
Factor, a reduction in the maximum level
of pension increases and a change in the
definition of Pensionable Pay.

The Commitlee undertook a review of UK
executive pension arrangements prior to

the tax rules which came into effect from
April 2006 which introduced the concept of
a Lifetime Allowance (LTA}, i.e. the maximum
amount of pension savings that can benefit
from tax relief. The Committee decided

to maintain its current arrangements for
existing executives and the Company will not
compensate individuals, including directors,
for the tax changes: instead it will offer
choices that are broadly cost neutral to the
Company but which may better suit the needs
of the individuals affected. For UK executives
reaching the LTA these choices are:

- remain in the pension scheme and pay
any additional tax charge; or

— opt out of the pension scheme (and
so earn no further pension benefits
in respect of future service) and instead
receive a taxable salary supplement; or

— restrict scheme benefits to the value of
the LTA with the remainder being provided
directly from the Company as an unfunded
promise (which on retirement can be taken
as pension or commuted in full for a
taxable lump sum).

These arrangements were revisited by the
Committee in early 2007 in the light of
developing market practice and the Committee
believes that they remain appropriate.

Other benefits

Other benefits provided to the executive
directors include a car allowance, the taxable
henefit of any private use of a chauffeur, and
a cash allowance for medical examination.

Executive directors’ service contracts

It is the Remuneration Committee’s policy
that executive directors should normally
have service contracts that provide for the
Company to give the individual 12 months’
notice of termination. This policy has been
c¢hosen because it provides a reasonable
balance between the need to retain the
services of key individuals and the need

to limit the liahilities of the Company in
the event of the termination of a contract.
Walt Havenstein's US contract provides for
three months' notice of termination from
the Company to the individual, but the
Company is generally obliged to pay him

a sum equivalent to 12 months’ salary and
18 months continuation of medical benefits
in the event of a termination.

As previously disclosed, Mark Ronald, the
outgoing US Chief Operating Officer who
retired from the Board at the end of 2008,

alue at 31 December 2006 of £100
nvestment at 31 December 2001

£200
£150
[£100

£50

b BAE Systems e FTISE 100

This graph shows the value, by 31 Deccmber 2006, of £100
invested in BAE Systems on 31 December 2001 compared with
the value of £1C0 invested in the FTSE 100 Index. The other
points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends,

The graph, which has been produced in accordance with the
reguirements of Schedule 74 to the Companies Act 1985,
shows the total shareholder retumn for a holding in the Company's
ordinary shares for the period 2001-2006 relative to a holding of

shares representing the FTSE 100. The FTSE 100 is considered
10 be an appropriate comparator for this purpose as it is a broad
equity market index. As BAE Systems is a constituent member of
the FTSE 100, it was deemod to be the most appropriate
general UK equity index.
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was entitled inter alia to the contractual
payment of a lump sum equal to one year's
salary if his one-year rolling contract was
not renewed at the end of its term and this
amount is included in the Remuneration
Tahle opposite.

Chairman and non-executive directors

Dick Olver was appointed Chairman on

1 July 2004 and is required to devote

at least two days a week to his duties

as Chairman. His appointment is for an
initial fixed three-year term with effect from
17 May 2004 (the date of his appointment
to the Board) unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, or by either party giving to the
other not less than six months' prior written
notice. His fee, which has been set by the
Committee at £500,000 per annum, will
not change during the initial three-year term.

Non-executive directors are paid a fee
reflecting the time commitment required of
the director. The fee level for the chairmen
of the individual commitiees and the
Senior Independent Director reflects their
additional responsibilities and workload.
Fees paid to non-executive directors in
2006, together with the fee structure

for 2007, are detailed opposite.

The Chairman and non-executive directors
do not have service contracts but do have
letters of appointment detailing the basis
of their appointment.

Directors’ remuneration

2006 20/
Basic
salary Fees Bonus Benefits  Other pay Total Tol
£'000 £'000 £000 £006 £'000 £000 £0
Chairman
R L Olver - 500 - 3] - 506 B
Executive directors
C V Geoghegan ! 468 - 444 31 105 1,048 8
M Lester * 568 - 556 27 - 1,151 1.1
S L Mogford * - 468 - 463 25 - 256 9
M H Renald "2 542 - 773 31 643 1,989 1,2
G W Rose 42 230 - 519 27 - 1,076 1,0
M J Turner * 870 - 1,305 31 196 2,402 16
Non-executive directors
Prof S Birley - 73 - - - 73
P J Carroll - 70 - - - 70
Dr U Cartellieri - 58 - - - 58
M J Hartnall - 78 - - - 78
Lord Hesketh ™ n/a n/a nfa n/a n/a n/a
Sir Peter Mascn - 73 - - - 73
Rt Hon M Portillo - - 17 - - - 17
R Quarta - 58 - - - 58
Sir Nigel Rudd ™ - 15 - — - 15 n
P A Weinberg - 77 - - - 77
3,446 1,019 4,060 178 944 9,647 7,73

* retired during or at the end of 2006
**  appointed during 2006
*** retired in 2005

1 accruing retirement benefits under defined benefit schemes at 21 December 2006
2 accruing benefits under meney purchase arrangements at 31 December 2008

All emoluments and compensation paid to directors during the year are shown in the table, Where the individual was appainted durin

the year the amount shown is for the period from appointment.

The other pay received by Mark Renald, the US-hased executive director, is in relation to salary in lieu of unused holiday ($185,000)
and his contractual termination payment of $1m (as previously disclosed), which relates 1o the 20086 financial year but will be later p.

in 2007 in accordance with US law.

The other pay received by Chris Geoghegan and Mike Turner is in respect of a cash supplement payable from opting out of future acc

under the Company pension schemes.

The aggregate amount of gains (realised
and unrealised) made by directors on share
options was £1,395,166 in 2006 and the
aggregate net value of assets received

by directors from long-term incentive plans
was nil. The aggregate amaunt of company
contributions paid in respect of money
purchase retirement benefits for directors
in 2006 was £339,528 being (i) a payment
of £2,871 to Mark Ronald's 401(k) plan;
and (ii} a payment of £336,657 to George
Rose’s FURBS arrangement.

2006 was another very successful year,
building on the excellent performances

in 2004 and 2005. All the major business
groupings achieved their stretch targets

on profit and cash and, as a result, all the
financial targets within the 2006 Annual
Bonus Plan for executive directors were met
at the stretch level. In addition, excellent
progress was made against all the key non-
financial objectives and, accordingly, bonus
payments for 2006 which are set out in
the table above range from 95% to 100%
of the maximum bonus.

As a result of the detailed salary review
undertaken by the Committee in 20086,

the base salary of the executive directors
with effect from January 2007 is as
follows: Chris Geoghegan: £490,000; Walt
Havenstein: $750,000; lan King: £530,000
Steve Mogford: £490,000; George Rose:
£560,000; and Mike Turner; £945,000.

The Non-Executive Directors' Fees
Committee has agreed the following fee
structure for the non-executive directors

in 2007: Chairman of the Audit Committee:
£77,500; Chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Responsibility
Committee, and the Senior Independent
Director: £72,500; and each of the other
non-executive directors: £57,500. In
addition, a transatlantic meeting allowance
of £4,000 per meeting is paid to European-
based non-executive directors attending
board meetings in the US and to US-based
non-executive directors attending board
meetings in Europe.
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Restated' Restated
Total Total
2006 2006 2005 2005
- £m gmo L Em_ Em
ntinuing operations
mbined sales of Group and equity accounted investments 13,765 12,581
ss: share of equity accounted investments {1.432) o (1,562)
venue 12,333 11,019
erating costs {11,763) (10,579)
her income 371 247
Group operating profit excluding amortisation and impairment
of intangible assets 1,080 809
Amortisation (105) {77
Impairment (34) (45)
oup operating profit 941 687
Share of results of equity accounted investments excluding finance costs
and taxation expense 127 100
Financial income of equity accounted investments 21 8
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments (35) (34)
are of results of equity accounted investments 113 o 74
Earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, a -
finance costs and taxation expense (EBITA) 1,207 209
Amortisation {105) (77
impairment (34 (45)
Financial income of equity accounted investments 21 8
Taxation expense of equity accounted investments (35} (34}
perating profit 1,054 761
nance costs
Tnancial income 1,330 1,224
nancial expense (1,525) (1,428)
(195) (204)
rofit before taxation T 859 o 557
pxation expense
K taxation (97) (37)
verseas taxation (116) (76)
o (213) R ¢ £
rofit for the year from continuing operations 646 444
rofit for the year from discontinued operations 993 111
rofit for the year 1,639 555
pttributable to:
BAE Systems shareholders 1636 553
Minority interests . _ I 2
1,639 555
arnings per share
bontinuing operations:
Basic earnings per share 19.9p 13.9p
Diluted earnings per share 19.8p 14.1p
Discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share 30.8p 3.5p
Diluted earnings per share 29.4p 3.3p
otal:
Basic eamings per share 50.7p 17.4p
49.2p 17.4p

Diluted earnings per share

restated following the sale of Airbus SAS
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2006

£Em
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 7,695
Property, plant and equipment 1,746
Investment property 123
Equity accounted investments 671
Other investments 11
Other receivables 569
Other financial assets 51
Deferred tax assets 1,077
11,843
Current assets
Inventories 395
Trade and other receivables including amounts due from customers for contract work 2,253
Current tax 3
Other investments 503
Other financial assets 50
Cash and cash equivalents 3,100
o ) 6,304
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale -
6,304
Total assets 18,147
Non-current liabilities
Loans (2,776)
Trade and other payables (465)
Retirement benefit obligations (2,499)
Other financial liabilities (45)
Deferred tax liabilities (15)
Provisions (271)
(6,071)
Current liabilities
Loans and overdrafts (334)
Trade and other payables (6,717)
Other financial liabilities (50)
Current tax {417)
Provisions (424)
’ i (7,942)
Liabilities directly associated with non<urrent assets and disposal groups held for sale -
o i (7,942}
Total liabilities (14,013)
Net assets 4,134
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 81
Share premium 841
Equity option of convertible preference shares 76
Other reserves 4,330
Retained eamings (1,211)
Total equit)} attributable to é&uify_halaers of the parent 4',_117
Minority interests 17
Total equity 4,134

Approved by the Board on 24 February 2007 and signed on its behalf by:
M J Turner G W Rose
Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Restated*

2006 2005
_ - . £_m_ o im
ofit for tmear - -
Continuing operations 646 444
Discontinued operations o _ 993 . 111
1,639 555
xation expense (includes £4m (2005 £1m) from discontinued operations) 217 114
are of results of equity accounted investments (includes £70m (2005 £139m}
from discontinued operations) (183) (213}
t finance costs {includes income £2m (2005 expense £3m} from discontinued operations) 193 207
preciation, amortisation and impairment 422 524
ain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (60) 2
in on disposal of investment property (84) (43}
ain)/loss on dispgsal of business — continuing operations (13) 4
ain)/loss on disposal of business - discontinued operations (925) 8
pairment of other investments 2 2
st of equity-settled employee share schemes 21 16
OVEMENLS in provisions a7 99
crease in liabilities for retirement benefit obligations (834) (98)
crease/(increase) in working capital:
Inventories 28 b4
Trade and other receivables (187) (4)
Trade and other payables _ . o . 49% 872
sh inflow from operating activities 778 2,099
terest paid (315} (213)
terest element of finance lease rental payments {11y {17
yxation paid ) L _ . (89 B (27)
et cash inflow from cperating activities o o 367 1.842
vidends received from equity accounted investments (including £88m (2005 £64m)
from discontinued operations) 145 88
terest received 139 99
rchases of property, plant and equipment {(419) (318)
pital expenditure on investment property - 12
rchases of intangible assets (27) an
oceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1356 30
oceeds from sale of investment property 174 54
oceeds from sale of noncurrent other investments 1 30
rchase of non-current other investments (5) an
rchase of subsidiary undertakings (12) (2,262)
et cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings - 128
rchase of equity accounted investments {4) -
oceeds from sale of subsidiary undertakings 174 460
ash and cash equivalents disposed of with subsidiary undertakings {40) 1
roceeds from sale of equity accounted investments 1,212 125
roceeds from sale of Exchange Property 557 -
et proceeds from (purchase)/sale of other deposits/securities . (468) 45
et cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities o o d5s5e2 _ {1,566}
apital element of finance lease rental payrﬁénts - - ('45) (8B9)
ﬂroceeds from issue of share capital 53 373
urchase of treasury shares {112) -
urchase of own shares by ESOP 12) -
quity dividends paid (346) (315)
ividends paid on preference shares (20) (21)
ash inflow from loans 66 1.00%
ash outflow from repayment of loans B ~ _ (921) ) (357)
et cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities j _ (1337) 596
et increase in cash and cash equivalents ' B ) 592 872
ﬂash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2,491 1,650
ffect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents B [¢2)) L ) (31)
ash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3,074 2,491
omprising:
ash and cash equivalents 3,100 2,581
pverdrafts o (28 (90
bash and cash equivatents at 31 December T 3,074 2.491

restated following the sale of Airbus SAS
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£m
Currency translation on foreign currency net investments: - T - T

Subsidiaries (162)

Equity accounted investments (26) (
Amounts credited/(charged) to hedging reserve 221 (3]
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes:

Subsidiaries 692 (6

Equity accounted investments 72 {
Current tax on items taken directly to equity 21
Deferred tax on items taken directly to equity:

Subsidiaries (227) 1

Equity accounted investments (92) 2
Recycling of cumulative currency translation on disposal:

Continuing operations 3

Discontinued cperations 11
Recycling of cumulative net hedging reserve on disposal — discontinued operations (448)

Net iﬁcohe/(exﬁpglsé)ﬁéﬁgn@d&d’i;ecrtly in equity ' ) " 65 (6

Profit for the year 1,639 5

Total recognised income and expense i T o T 1,704 T

Adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 - 4
) B 1,704

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders 1,701 (3

Minority interests _ o L - 3 _

} B T 1,704 (3

Auditors’ statement

Statement of the independent auditors to
the members of BAE Systems plc pursuant
to section 251 of the Companies Act 1985
We have examined the summary financial
statement set out on pages 30 to 36,
which comprises the summarised directors’
remuneration report, the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated
balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow
statement, and the consolidated statement
of recognised income and expense.

This statement is made solely to the
Company's members, as a body, in
accordance with section 251 of the

Companies Act 1985. Qur work has

been undertaken so that we might state
to the Company’'s members theose matters
we are required to state to them in such
a statement and for no other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by law,

we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and
the Company's members as a body, for
our work, for this statement, or for the
opinions we have formed.

SEEED (ERE)

Respective responsibilities of directors

and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Review in accordance with
appticable United Kingdom law. Qur
responsibility is to report to you our opinion
on the consistency of the summary financial
statement within the Annual Review with
the full annual financial statements, and
the directors’ remuneration report, and its
compliance with the relevant requirements
of section 251 of the Companies Act 1985
and the regulations made thereunder.

We also read the other information
contained in the Annual Review and
consider the implications for our report

if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies
with the summary financial statement.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accoerdance with
Builetin 1999/6 ‘The auditor’'s statements
on the summary financial statements’
issued by the Auditing Practices Board for
use in the United Kingdom. Our report on
the Group's full annual financial statement
describes the basis of our audit opinion
on those financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the summary financial
statement is consistent with the full annual
financial statements and the directors’
remuneration report of BAE Systems plc
for the year ended 31 December 2006 and
complies with the applicable requirements
of section 251 of the Companies Act 1985
and the regulations made thereunder.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
London

Registered Auditor

21 February 2007
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istered office

arlton Gardens

hdon

1Y 5AD

ited Kingdom

ephone: +44 (0)1252 373232

mpany website: www.baesystems.com
gistered in England & Wales, No.1470151

gistrars

vds TSB Registrars (0140)

e Causeway, Worthing

kst Sussex BN99 6DA

ited Kingdom

ephone: 0870 600 3982

H4 121 415 7058 from outside the UK)

ou have any queries regarding your
areholding, please contact the registrars.

shareview

w.Shareview. co . uh

areview service
e Shareview service from our registrar,
pyds TSB Registrars, gives shareholders:

direct access to data held on their behalf
on the share register incluging recent
share movements and dividend details;
and

the ability to change their address or
dividend payment instructions on-line.

sign up for Shareview you need the
hareholder reference’ printed an your
pxy form or dividend stationery. There
no charge to register.

hen you register with the site, you can
Jister your preferred format (post or
nail) for shareholder communications.,
yau select ‘e-mail’ as your mailing
ference, you will be sent shareholder
mmunications, such as proxy forms and
nual/interim results by e-mail instead of
st, as long as this option is available.

you have your dividends paid straight to
ur hank account, and you have selected
mail’ as your mailing preference, you can
30 collect your tax voucher electronically.
stead of receiving the paper tax voucher,
u will be notified by e-mail with-details of
w 10 download your electronic version.

weever, if you choose 'post’ as your
zference, you will be sent paper
cuments as usual.

sit the website for more details:
vw.shareview.Co.uk

Detaiis of software and equipment
requirements are given on the website.

Shareholder dealing service

Hoare Govett Limited offers a low cost
pastal dealing service enabling UK resident
shareholders to buy or sell BAE Systems plc
shares, Basic commission is 1%, subject to
a minimum charge of £15.00. If you require
further information please contact:

Hoare Govett Limited
Telephone: +44 (0)20 7678 8300

This notice has been approved by Hoare
Govett Limited which is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

ShareGift

The Orr Mackintosh Foundation operates a
charity donation scheme for shareholders
with small parcels of shares which may be
uneconomic to sell. Details of the scheme are
available from ShareGift at www.sharegift.org
or by telephone on Q20 7828 1151.

Share price information

The middle market price of the Company's
ordinary shares on 31 December 2006
was 425.75p and the range during the
year was 329p to 449.75p.

Caily share prices are available in the UK
on the FT Cityline service on 0906 843
{000, At the menu following the FTSE 100
index, seiect option 2 for share prices and
the relevant four-digit code shown below:

BAE Systems plc ordinary shares -
enter the fourdigit code 1890

BAE Systems plc preference shares -
enter the four-digit code 5174

Calls are charged at 60p per minute
at al! times.

Alternatively you can view teletext
or a similar service.

Dividend reinvestment plan

The company offers holders of its ordinary
shares the option to elect to have their
dividend reinvested in shares purchased

in the market instead of cash. If you would
like to make this election, please request
a dividend reinvestment plan mandate from
our registrars:

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway, Worthing

West Sussex BN9S 6DA

Telephone: 0870 241 3018

Telephone number from outside the UK:
+44 121 415 7058

American Depositary Receipts

The BAE Systems plc American Depositary
Receipts (ADRs) are traded on the

Over The Counter market (OTC) under

the symbol BAESY. One ADR represents
four BAE Systems plc ordinary shares.

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is the
depositary.

If you should have any queries,
please contact:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
JPMorgan Service Center

PO Box 3408

South Hackensack NJ 07606-3408
Usa

Toll free telephone number:

800 990 1135

Telephone number from outside the US:
+1 201 680 6630

Website: www.adr.com
Email: jpmorganadr@mellon.com

Financial calendar

Financial year end 31 December

Annual General Meeting 9 May 2007
Preference shares conversion

date (final opportunity) 31 May 2007
2006 final ordinary

dividend payable 1 June 2007
2007 half yearly preference

dividend payable 2 July 2007

2007 interim results

announcement 9 August 2007

2007 interim ordinary

dividend payable 30 November 2007

2007 full year results
— preliminary announcement February 2008

- report and accounts April 2008
2007 final ordinary
dividend payable June 2008

Q“ Mixed Sources
Product graup Irom well-manayed
forwits. controlsa yources and
recytiad moad o fibar

FSC_Imsmimms ™

: paper used in this document contains a minimum
30 per cent post consumer waste. [ afso has FSC
tification and is sourced from well managed forests
tified in accordance with the rules of the Forest
wardship Council.

Important note

This Anpual Review is 8 summary of the information in the full Annual Report of BAE Systems plc. It does

not centain sufficient information to allow a full understanding of the results of the Group and state of affairs

of the Company or of the Group, and of their pelicies and arrangements concerning directors’ remuneration.

For further information, the full Apnual Repert should be consulied. This can be found on the Company’s website,
www. baesystems.com. Alternatively, copies are available, free of charge. from:

The Company Secretary, BAE Systems pic, 6 Carlton Gardens, London SWLY SA0

If in future years you wish to receive the full Annual Report you should write to the Company's registrars,

Lloyds TSB Registrars, at the address shown above.
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DTe iy - 82-03138
BAE SYSTEMS plc e

Copies of each of the following documents:

Annual Report and Accounts 2006

Annual Review 2006 and Summary Financial Statement
Notice of 2007 Annual General Meeting

Proxy card

have been submitted to the Financial Services Authority and will shortly be available for
publication at the UK Listing Authority’s Document Viewing Facility which is situated at:

Financial Services Authority
25 The North Colonnade
Canary Wharf

London E14 SHS

Tel: (020) 7066 1000.

At the Annual General Meeting on 9 May 2007 it is proposed that the Company’s Articles of
Association be amended as a result of the new regime regarding electronic communications
with shareholders. The proposed amendments are set out in the Notice of Meeting and the
revised Articles of Association are available for inspection at One Silk Street, London EC2Y
8HQ.

3 April 2007
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fcount Number

It you do not wish or are unable 10 attend the meetling bul wish 1o
have your vote cast, you may use the form below to appoint a proxy

to vote for you. It must be signed and sent to Lioyds TSB Registrars,
who must receive it at least 48 hours before the start of the meeting.
Notes on how to complete the Form of Proxy are shown on the reverse
of this card.

If you are attending the Annual General Meeting

If you wish to attend the meeting, please bring this card with you to show
it as evidence of your right to be admitted to the meeting. You should keep
the card with you throughout the meeting so that you can use it to vote on
the resolutions. At the end of the meeting you should sign the card and
deposit it in one of the ballot boxes provided,

Even if you are attending the meeting you can, if you wish, still submit

a proxy card. Simply complete the card below in accordance with the
details shown. If you do this please bring this top section of the card
with you to show as evidence of your right to be admitted to the meeting.
You will still be able to vote on the resolutions at the meeting.

Please Detach Here

PRM OF PROXY/POLL CARD

ference Number Card ID

use at the Annual General Meeting on 9 May 2007 to be

d at the Queen Elizabeth Il Conference Centre, London SW1

e, the undersigned (see note 1 overleaf), being a member/members
BAE Systems plc hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting or

BLOCK LETTERS - see note 2 overleaf) as my/our proxy to vote for
us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on

BARE SYSVEWS

-+

Account Number

Wednesday 9 May 2007 and at any adjournment thereof. |/We request
my/our proxy to vote in the manner indicated below {see notes 3 and 4).

Where my shares are held via SHAREport, the corporate nominee, this
voting instruction is directed to Lloyds TSB Registrars Corporate Nominee
Limited, the SHAREport Nominee (see note 1 overleaf).

You may register the appointment of a proxy efectronically by logging
onto www.sharevote.co.uk and using the numbers above or, if you are a
CREST member, by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual.

Vote Vote
olutlon(s) For Against Withheid Resolution(s) For Against Withheld
Reports and Accounts 3 (-] [ 12to 17 Authority for political expenditure up to
ified limits:
Remuneration Report D D D specified limits
- O 0O O BAE Systems plc 1 - —
Finat Dividend .
. o D D D BAE Systems Marine Limited E |:| E
Re-elect Ulrich Cartellieri BAE & a . . D D EI
Re-elect Michael Hartnall = = _ e SYStems f_a p:r:tlons) Limited
ystems Land Systems (Munitions
Re-elect George Rose _ E % E and Ordnance) Limited 1 1 D
Elect Walter Havenstein BAE Systems Land Systems (Weapons
Elect lan King —_ I ] and Vehictes) Limited (I ] E]
Elect Sir Nigel Rudd - O (| BAE Systems Hagglunds AB — 1 d
Re-appointment of auditors D E E 18 Authority to allet new shares D D E
Remuneration of auditors D |:l CI 19 Disapplication of pre-emption rights* E D E
20 Purchase own shares* E D D
21 Electronic communications * D D D
* Special Resolution
ature Date
2007

0140-038-8




Regijstrars Corporate Nominee Limited) {“the Nominee"). Where shares are held via

SHAREport, references on this card to “Form of Proxy™ shoutd be read as “Form of

Direction”.

. If you wish to appoint someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy,
you may delete the reference to the Chairman, and insert in block letters the name

of the person you wish 1o appoint in the space pravided and initial the aiteration.

A proxy need not be a member.

. Please indicate how you wish your proxy te vote by placing an X’ in the appropriate

boxes. The persan appointed proxy will exercise his/her discretion as to how he/she

votes or whether he/she abstains from vating on any particular resolution, if {a} no

instruction is given in respect of that resolution, or (b) it is a proper amendment to

a resolution listed on the Form of Proxy, or {c} itis a procedural resolution not listed

on the Form of Proxy.

. The 'Vote withhe!d' opticn overleaf is provided 1o enable you to abstain on any

particular resolution, however, it should be noted that a 'vote withheld’ is not

avote in law and will not be counted in the calcutation of the proportion of votes

'For’ and 'Against’ a resolution,

. Ifthe appointer is a corporation, the Farm of Proxy must be under its common seal

or under the hand of an officer or attomey duly authorised in writing.

. in the case of joint holders the signature of any one of them will suffice. The vate of

the senicr party tendering a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted

1o the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority

shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect

of the joint holding.

. Tobe effective the Form of Proxy, together with the power of attorney or other authority

West Sussex BNOJ 6ZP, nat less than 48 hours before the time for which the meeti
is convened.

8. Ifthecard is posted inthe UK, IOM cr Channel Islands there is no postage to pay.

If you do not wish your voting instructions to be seen by anyone except the Compan:
the Registrar and (where applicable) the Nominee, you should place it in an envelop
and post it to: Lloyds TSB Registrars, FREEPOST (SEA10848), The Causeway,
Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6ZP.

9. Ifyou are posting your completed Proxy from outside the UK, I0M or Channel Island

please place it in an envelope, address it to: Lioyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway.
Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6ZP, United Kingdom, and affix the relevant postage
50 as 1o be received no later than 48 hours before the time for which the meeting
is convened.,

10.You may register the appointment of a proxy electronically by logging onto
www.sharevote.co.uk and using the Reference Number, Card ID and Account
Number given averleaf. If you are a CREST member you may also register a proxy
electronically by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. Electronic
proxy appointments will not be accepted unless received no later than 48 hours
before the time for which the meeting is convened.

11.The Company, pursuant 1o Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulatio
2001. specifies that only those Ordinary Shareholders registered in the register of
members of the Company as at 6.00 pm on 7 May 2007 shall be entitled to attend
or vote at the Annual General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registere
in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the share register after 6.00 pm
on 7 May 2007 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attel
and vote at the meeting.

Please Detach Here

BUSINESS REPLY SERVICE
Licence No. SEA10848

Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway
WORTHING

West Sussex

BN99 6ZP
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Chairman’s letter

Dear Shareholder

Annual General Meeting — 9 May 2007

1 am delighted to invite you to attend BAE Systems plc's Annual General Meeting on 9 May 2007 at the Queen Elizabeth 1l Conference Centre,
London.

This booklet includes the formal Notice of Meeting in which we have set out the resolutions that shareholders are being asked to consider and
vote on. These resolutions are a very important part of the governance of the Company and | urge all shareholders to vote, whether they are
able to attend the meeting or not. The Board supports all of the resolutions to be put to the AGM.

It is good practice for companies to take a poll on all resolutions put to shareholders. This allows all shareholders to have their votes
recognised whether or not they are able to attend the meeting. We have used such polls for a number of years and have enclosed a Proxy/Poli
card for you. How you use this depends on whether you are attending the meeting or not:

1f you will be attending the AGM — bring the card with you and at the end of the meeting use it as a poll card to vote on the resolutions.

if you are unable to attend the meeting — you can cast your votes by proxy by completing and posting the card, As an alternative, you can vote
electronically by logging onto www.sharevote.co.uk and using the Reference Number, Card ID and Account Number given on your Proxy/Poll
Card. Full details on how to vote can be found on the card.

The results of the voting on the resolutions will be posted on the Company’s website after the meeting.

You will also find enclosed a copy of the Annual Report or a summarised version of this, the Annual Review. Both of these documents can be
found on our website, www.baesystems.com, where you can also find more information on the Company including our Corporate Responsibility
Report.

| look forward to seeing many of you at the meeting in May.

Yours sincerely

7

Dick Olver
Chairman
3 April 2007
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

To BAE Systems plc Ordinary Shareholders and,
for information only, to holders of Convertible Preference Shares.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of BAE Systems pic will be held at
the Queen Elizabeth || Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, London SW1P 3EE
on Wednesday 9 May 2007 at 11.00 am for the purpose of transacting the following business:

'Fo conslder, and If thought fit, to pass the
following Resolutions which will be
proposed as ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS:

RESOLUTION 1 - Receipt of the Report and
Accounts

THAT the audited accounts of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2006 and
the Directors’ Reports and Auditors’ Report
thereon now laid before this meeting be and
they are hereby received.

RESOLUTION 9 — Election of Director

THAT Sir Nigel Rudd retiring pursuant to
Article 91 be and is hereby elected a Director
of the Company.

RESOLUTION 10 - Reappointment of
Auditors

THAT KPMG Audit Plc be and are hereby
reappointed Auditors of the Company to hold
office until the next General Meeting at which
accounts are laid before the Company.

RESOLUTION 2 - Approval of the Directors’
Remuneration Report

THAT the Directors’ Remuneration Report for
the year ended 31 December 2006 be and is
hereby approved.

RESOLUTION 11 - Authority to agree
Auditors’ remuneration

THAT the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors be and is hereby authorised to
agree the remuneration of the Auditors.

RESOLUTION 3 - Authorisation and payment
of the final dividend

THAT the final dividend for the year ended

31 December 2006 of 6.9 pence per ordinary
share be and is hereby declared payable on

1 June 2007 to Ordinary Shareholders whose
names appeared on the Register of Members
at the close of business on 20 April 2007.

RESOLUTION 4 - Re-election of Director
THAT Ulrich Cartellieri retiring pursuant to
Article 85 he and is hereby re-elected a
Director of the Company.

RESOLUTION 5 — Re-election of Director
THAT Michael Hartnall retiring pursuant to
Article B5 be and is hereby re-elected a
Director of the Company.

RESOLUTION 6 — Re-election of Director
THAT George Rose retiring pursuant to Article
85 be and is hereby re-elected a Director of
the Company.

RESOLUTION 7 - Election of Director

THAT Walter Havenstein retiring pursuant to
Article 91 be and is herehy elected a Director
of the Company.

RESOLUTION 8 - Election of Director

THAT lan King retiring pursuant to Article 91
be and is hereby elected a Director of the
Company.
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The following resolutions numbered 12-17
authorise the Company and certaln of its
subsidiaries to incur political expenditure up
to specific limits.

RESOLUTION 12 - The Company

THAT the Company be and is hereby

authorised:

(i} to make Daonations to EU Political
Organisations; and

(i} to incur EU Political Expenditure,

Provided that:

{a) the authority conferred by this resolution
shall commence on the date on which itis
passed and expire on 9 August 2008 or, if
earlier, the day before the Company's
Annual General Meeting in 2008, being
the period determined by the Directors of
the Company;

{b} The aggregate amount of such donations
and expenditure made by the Company
and any other company authorised by a
resolution of the shareholders of the
Coempany to make such donations and
expenditure shall not exceed £100,000;
and

(¢} in this resolution the expressions
“Donations”, “EU Political Organisations”
and “EU Political Expenditure” have the
meanings set out in Part XA of the
Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the
Political Parties, Elections and
Referendums Act 2000).

RESOLUTION 13 - BAE Systems Marine

Limited

THAT BAE Systems Marine Limited be and is

hereby authorised:

{i} to make Donations to EU Political
Organisations; and

{ii) to incur EU Palitical Expenditure,

Provided that:

{a) the authority conferred by this resolution
shall commence on the date on which it is
passed and expire on 9 August 2008 or, if
earlier, the day before the Company’s
Annual General Meeting in 2008, being
the period determined by the Directors of
the Company;

(b) the aggregate amount of such donations
and expenditure made by BAE Systems
Marine Limited and any other company
authorised by a resolution of the
shareholders of the Company to make
such donations and expenditure shall not
exceed £100,000; and

(c) in this resolution the expressions
“Donations”, “EU Political Organisations”
and “EU Political Expenditure” have the
meanings set out in Part XA of the
Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the
Political Parties, Elections and
Referendums Act 2000).

RESOLUTION 14 - BAE Systems
(Dperations) Limited

THAT BAE Systems (Operations) Limited be
and is hereby authorised to make Donations
to EU Political Organisations and to incur EU
Political Expenditure on the terms set out in
Resolution 13 in the Notice of the Annual
General Meeting dated 3 April 2007,
replacing the words “BAE Systerms Marine
Limited” with *BAE Systems (Operations)
Limited™.

RESCLUTION 15 - BAE Systems Land
Systems (Munltions & Ordnance) Limited
THAT BAE Systems Land Systems {Munitions
& Ordnance) Limited be and is hereby
authorised to make Donations to EU Political
Organisations and to incur EU Political
Expenditure an the terms set out in
Resolution 13 in the Notice of the Annual
General Meeting dated 3 April 2007,
replacing the words “BAE Systems Marine



Limited” with “BAE Systems Land Systems
{Munitions & QOrdnance) Limited”.

RESOLUTION 16 — BAE Systems Land
Systems (Weapons & Vehicles) Limited
THAT BAE Systems Land Systems (Weapons
& Vehicles)} Limited be and is hereby
authorised to make Donations to EU Political
Organisations and to incur EU Political
Expenditure on the terms set out in
Resolution 13 in the Notice of the Annual
General Meeting dated 3 Aprit 2007,
replacing the words “BAE Systems Marine
Limited” with “BAE Systems Land Systems
{Weapons & Vehicles) Limited™.

RESOLUTION 17 - BAE Systems
Hagglunds AB

THAT BAE Systems Hagglunds AB be and is
hereby authorised to make Donations to EU
Political Organisations and to incur EU
Politicat Expenditure on the terms set out in
Resolution 13 in the Notice of the Annual
General Meeting dated 3 April 2007,
replacing the words “BAE Systems Marine
Limited” with “BAE Systems Hégglunds AB".

RESOLUTION 18 - Authority to allot new
shares

THAT the authority conferred on the Directors
by Article 12 (B)(i) of the Articles of
Association of the Company be and is hereby
renewed for the period ending on 8 August
2008 or, if earlier, on the day before the
Company's Annual General Meeting in 2008
and that for such period the Section 80
Amount shall be £26,664,742,

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the
following Resclutions which wiil be
proposed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:

RESOLUTION 19 - DisappHlication of
pre-emption rights

THAT the power conferred on the Directors by
Articles 12(B) {ii) of the Articles of
Association of the Company be and is hereby
renewed for the period ending on 8 August
2008 o, if earlier, on the day before the
Company’s Annual General Meeting in 2008
and that for the pericd the Section 82 Amount
shall be £4,000,111.

RESOLUTION 20 - Authority to purchase

own shares

THAT the Company be and is hereby

unconditionally and generally authorised for

the purposes of Section 166 of the

Companies Act 1985 to make market

purchases, as defined in Section 163 of that

Act, of ordinary shares of 2.5p each in the

capital of the Company provided that:

(i) the maximum number of crdinary shares
that may be purchased is 320,008,915;

{ii) the minimum price which may be paid for
each ordinary share is 2.5p;

(iii)the maximum price that may be paid for
each ordinary share is an amount equal to
105 per cent. of the average of the middle
market quotations of the Company’s
ordinary shares as derived from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List
for the five business days immediately
preceding the day on which such ordinary
share is contracted to be purchased; and

{(iv)this authority shall expire on the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting
of the Company held in 2008 or, if earlier,
9 August 2008 (except in relation to the
purchase of ordinary shares the contract
for which was concluded before the expiry
of such authority and which may be
executed wholly or partly after such expiry)
unless such authority is renewed prior to
such time.

RESOLUTION 21 - Approval of electronic

and website communications and

consequential amendments to the Articles

of Association

THAT

(i) the Company be authorised, subject to
and in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2008, the Disclosure
and Transparency Rules published by the
Financial Services Authority and the
Articles of Association, to send, convey or
supply all types of notices, documents or
information to the members by means of
electronic equipment for the processing
(including digital compression), storage
and transmission of data, employing
wires, radio optical technologies, or any
other electromagnetic means, including,
without limitation, by sending such
notices, documents or information by
electronic mail or by making such nctices,

documents or information available on a
website; and

(i) the Articles of Association of the Company
be and are hereby amended as detailed in
the Appendix accompanying this Notice of
Annual General Meeting dated 3 April
2007 (a copy of which is presented to the
meeting and signed by the Chairman for
the purposes of identification) with effect
from the end of this meeting.

By Order of the Board

David Parkes
Company Secretary

3 April 2007

6 Carlton Gardens
London SW1Y S5AD

BAE SYSTEMS Notice of meeting 2007 3




Notice of Annual General Meeting

Proxies

A member entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting may appoint one or more proxies to
attend and, on a poll, to vote instead of him or
her. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company. A form of proxy is enclosed.
Subject to the provisions for proxies and
corporate representatives, only registered
holders of ordinary shares of the Company
are entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting.

The form of proxy should be completed,
signed and returned to the Registrar, Lloyds
TSB Registrars, in accordance with the
instructions on the form of proxy so as to be
received no Jater than 48 hours before the
start of the meeting. Alternatively, the
appointment of a proxy may be registered
electronically by logging onto
www.sharevote.co.uk and using the
Reference Number, Card 1D and Account
Number stated on the form of proxy.

Electronic proxy appointment through CREST
CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy
or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy
appointment service may do so for the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 9 May 2007
and any adjournment(s} thereof by using the
procedures described in the CREST Manual.
CREST Personal Members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST
members who have appointed a voting
service provider(s), should refer to their
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s),
who will be able to take the appropriate action
on their behalf,

In order for a proxy appeintment or instruction
made using the CREST service to be valid, the
appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy
Instruction™) must be properly authenticated
in accordance with CRESTCo's specifications
and must contain the information required for
such instructions, as described in the CREST
Manual. The message, regardless of whether
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it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is
an amendment to the instruction givento a
previously appointed proxy must, in order to
be valid, be transmitted so as to be received
by the issuer's agent (ID 7RAO1) by the latest
time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments
specified in the Notice of Meeting. For this
purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to
be the time (as determined by the time stamp
applied to the message by the CREST
Applications Host) from which the issuer's
agent is able to retrieve the message by
enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by
CREST. After this time any change of
instructions to proxies appointed through
CREST shouid be communicated to the
appointee through other means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors or voting service providers
should note that CRESTCo does not make
available special procedures in CREST for any
particular messages. Normal system timings
and limitations will therefore apply in relation
to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. 1t is
the responsibility of the CREST member
concerned to take, or, if the CREST member is
a CREST personal member or sponsored
member or has appointed a voting service
provider(s), to procure that his CREST
sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)
such action as shall be necessary to ensure
that a message is transmitted by means of
the CREST system by any particular time. In
this connection, CREST members and, where
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting
service providers are referred, in particular, to
those sections of the CREST Manual
concerning practical limitations of the CREST
system and timings.

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST
Proxy Instruction in the ciscumstances set out
in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001.




Appendix

This is the appendix referred to in Resolution 21 of the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 3 April 2007, and sets out amendments to be
made to the Articles of Association of BAE Systems plc.

Article Amendment

2

69(a)
69(b)

69

89

123

132

In the definition of “The Statutes” following “affecting the Company”, at the end of the definition, insert “{including the Companies Act
2008)".

In the definition of “In writing” following “Written or produced by any substitute for writing”, insert “(including anything in electronic
form)” and delete “including (but only to the extent that (a) the Directors so resolve, either generally or in relation to particular
categories of documents, and (b) the recipient (if not the Company) has requested or agreed) electronic communication”.

In the first paragraph following the definition of “Year™ delete “, in relation to electronic communication” and “such communication”
and replace “such communication” with “sending or receiving notices, documents or information by electronic means and/or by
means of a website”. )

Between the third and fourth paragraphs following the definition of “Year” insert as two separate paragraphs:

“The expression “Companies Acts” shall have the meaning given thereto by Section 2 of the Companies Act 2006 but shall only
extend to provisions which are in force at the relevant date.

The expression “Company Communications Provisions™ shall have the same meaning as in the Companies Acts.”

Amend the existing fourth paragraph following the definition of “Year™ so that it states: “The expressions “hard copy form"”, “electronic
form” and “electronic means” shall have the same respective meanings as in the Company Communications Provisions.”

Delete “comply” and replace with “authenticated in accordance”.

Delete “comply” and replace with “authenticated in accordance”.

Amend the second paragraph so that it states: "Any signature on or authentication of such appeintment need not be witnessed.
Where an appointment of a proxy is signed or authenticated in accordance with Article 141 on behalf of the appointor by an attorney,
the power of atiorney or a copy thereof certified notarially or in some other way approved by the Directors rnust (failing previous

registration with the Company) be submitted to the Company, failing which the appointment may be treated as invalid.”

Following “lodged at the Office notice in writing signed” insert “or authenticated in accordance with Article 141" and following “and
also notice in writing signed” insert “(or sufficiently authenticated to the satisfaction of the Directors)”.

Following “effective only if such document is signed” insert “or authenticated in accordance with Article 1417,

Delete the last sentence, “To the extent permitted by Statute and agreed by the member, the documents referred to in this Article may
be sent by electronic communication.”

Heading Prior to Article 136 delete the heading “NOTICES" and replace with “COMMUNICATIONS WITH MEMBERS".

136

Delete Article 136 and replace with:
“136.

(A} The Company may, subject to and in accordance with the Companies Acts and these Articles, send or supply all types of notices,
documents or information to members by electronic means and/or by making such notices, documents or information available
on a website.

(B) The Company Communicaticns Provisions have effect for the purposes of any provision of the Companies Acts or these Articles
that authorises or requires notices, documents or information to be sent or supplied by or to the Company.

(C) Any notice, document or information (including a share certificate) which is sent or supptied by the Company in hard copy form, or
in electronic form but to be delivered other than by electronic means, and which is sent by pre-paid post and properly addressed
shall be deemed to have been received by the intended recipient at the expiration of 24 hours (or, where first ¢lass mail is not
employed, 48 hours) after the time it was posted, and in proving such receipt it shall be sufficient to show that such notice,
document or information was property addressed, pre-paid and posted.
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Article Amendment

(D} Any notice, document or information which is sent or supplied by the Company by electrenic means and/or by means of a website
shall be deemed to have been received by the intended recipient at 9.00 am on the day following that on which it was transmitted,
and in proving such receipt it shall be sufficient to show that such notice, document or information was properly addressed.

{E) Any notice, document or information which is sent or supplied by the Company by means of a website shall be deemed 1o have
been received when the material was first made available on the website or, if later, when the recipient received (or is deemed to
have received} notice of the fact that the material was available on the website.

(P The accidental failure to send, or the non-receipt by any person entitled to, any notice of or other document or information relating
to any meeting or other proceeding shall not invalidate the relevant meeting or proceeding.

{G) The provisions of this Article shalt have effect in place of the Company Communications Provisions relating to deemed delivery of
notices, documents or information.”

Retain the left margin reference “Notices”, which applies to Article 136.
137 Delete Article 137 and replace with:

“137.

{A) Anything which needs to be agreed or specified by the joint holders of a share shall for all purposes be taken to be agreed or
specified by all the joint holders where it has been agreed or specified by the joint holder whose name stands first in the register in
respect of the share.

(B} Any notice, document or information which is authorised or required to be sent or supplied to joint holders of a share may be sent
or supplied to the joint holder whose name stands first in the register in respect of the share, to the exciusion of the other joint
holders. For such purpose, a joint holder having no registered address in the United Kingdom and not having supplied an address
within the United Kingdom for the service of notices may, subject to the Statutes, be disregarded.

{C) The provisions of this Article shall have effect in place of the Company Communications Provisions regarding joint holders of
shares.”

Retain the left margin reference “Netices to joint holders™, which applies to Article 137.
138 Delete Article 138 and replace with:
“138.

{A) A person who claims to be entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or otherwise by operation of
law shall supply to the Company:

(i} such evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share,
(ii) an address at which notices may be sent or supplied to such person,
whereupon he shall be entitled to have sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or information to which the
said member would have been entitled. Any notice, document or informaticon shall for all purposes be deemed to be duly sent or
supplied to all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claiming through or under him) in the share,

(B) Save as provided by paragraph 138(A), any notice, document or information sent or supplied to the address of any member in
pursuance of these Articles shall, notwithstanding that such member be then dead or bankrupt or in liquidation, and whether or
not the Company has notice of his death or bankruptey or liquidation, be deemed to have been duly sent or supplied in respect of

any share registered in the name of such member as sole or first-named joint holder.

(C} The provisions of this Article shall have effect in place of the Company Communications Provisions regarding the death or
bankruptcy of a holder of shares in the Company.”

Retain the left margin reference “Notices to persons entitled to shares”, which applies to Article 138,
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Article Amendment

139

140

Amend Article 139 so that it states “Subject to the Statutes, the Company shall not be required to send notices, documents or
information to a member who (having no registered address within the United Kingdom) has not supplied to the Company an address
within the United Kingdom for the service of notices.”

Amend Article 140 so that it states “If at any time by reason of the total suspension or curtailment of pastal services within the United
Kingdom the Company is unable to give notice by post in hard copy form of a General Meeting, such notice shall be deemed to have
been given to all members entitled to receive such notice in hard copy form if such natice is advertised in at least two leading daily
newspapers {at least one of which shall be a London newspaper} and such notice shall be deemed to have been given at noon on the
day when the advertisement appears. In any such case, the Company shall (i) make such notice available on its website from the date
of such advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting or any adjournment thereof and (i) send confirmatery copies of the notice
by post to such members if at least 48 hours prior to the meeting the posting of notices again becomes practicable.”

Heading Prior to Article 141 amend the heading so that it states “SIGNATURE OR AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS SENT BY ELECTRONIC

141

142

MEANS".

Amend Article 141 so that it states “Where these Articles require a notice or other document to be signed or authenticated by a
member or other person then any notice or other docurment sent or supplied in electronic form is sufficiently authenticated in any
manner authorised by the Company Communications Provisions or in such other manner as may be approved by the Directors. The
Directors may designate mechanisms for validating any such notice or other document, and any such notice or other document not so
validated by such mechanisms shall be deemed not to have been received by the Company.”

Delete Article 142 and the heading “ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS™ and replace with:

“142. Nothing in any of the preceding six Artictes shall affect any provision of the Statutes that requires or permits any particular
notice, document or information to be sent or supplied in any particular manner”

Insert in the left margin, as a reference to the contents of Article 142 “Statutory provisions as to notices”.
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Shareholder information

Registrars

Shareholder dealing service

Lloyds TSB Registrars (0140)

The Causeway, Worthing

West Sussex, BN99 6DA

United Kingdom

Telephone: 0870 600 3982

(+44 121 415 7058 from outside the UK}

If you have any queries regarding your
shareholding, please contact the registrars.

shareview

Shareview service

The Sharcview Service from our registrar,

Lloyds TSB Registrars, gives shareholders:

- direct access to data held on their behalf
on the share register including recent
share movements and dividend details;

— the ability to change their address or
dividend payment instructions on-line.

To sign up for Shareview you need the
‘shareholder reference’ printed on your proxy
form or dividend stationery. There is no
charge to register.

When you register with the site, you can
register your preferred format (post or e-mail)
for shareholder communications. If you select
‘e-mail” as your mailing preference, you will be
sent shareholder communications, such as
proxy forms and annual/interim results, by
e-mail instead of post, as long as this option
is available.

If you have your dividends paid straight to
your bank account, and you have selected
*e-mail’ as your mailing preference, you can
also collect your tax voucher electronically.
Instead of receiving the paper tax voucher,
you will be notified by e-mail with details of
how to download your electronic version.

However, if you choose ‘post’ as your
preference, you will be sent paper documents
as usual.

Visit the site for more details:

www.shareview.co.uk. Details of software and
equipment are given on the website.
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Hoare Govett Limited offers a fow cost postal
dealing service enabling UK resident
shareholders to buy or setl BAE Systems plc
shares. Basic commission is 1%, subjectto a
minimum charge of £15.00. If you require
further information please contact:

Hoare Govett Limited
Telephone: +44 (0)20 7678 8300

This notice has been approved by Hoare
Govett Limited which is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

ShareGift

The Orr Mackintosh Foundation operates a
charity donation scheme for shareholders
with small parcels of shares which may be
uneconomic to seil. Details of the scheme
are available from ShareGift at
www.sharegift.org or by telephone on
0207828 1151.

Dividend reinvestment plan

The Company offers holders of its ordinary
shares the option to elect to have their
dividend reinvested in shares purchased in
the market instead of cash. If you would like
to make this election, please request a
dividend reinvestment plan mandate from our
registrars whose contact details are given
above.

Financial calendar

Financial year end

Annual General [Vl'eeting_i o
Preference shares conversion date (final opportunity)
2006 final ordinary dividend payable

2007 half yearly preference dividend payable

2007 interim results announcement

2007 interim ordinary dividend payable

2007 full yearresults - preliminary announcement

- report and accounts
2007 final ordinary dividend payable

31 December
9 May 2007
31 May 2007
1 June 2007

2 July 2007
9 August 2007
30 November 2007
February 2008
April 2008

June 2008
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NOTIFICATION OF TRAN SACTIONS OF PERSONS DISCHARGING MANAGERIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES OR THEIR CONNECTED PERSONS

1. Notification made in accordance with Section 324 (as extended by Section 328) of the
Companies Act 1985 and Disclosure rule 3.1.4R(1)(a) of the Disclosure Rules.

The Company was today notified by the trustee of the BAE Systems Share Incentive Plan,
Hill Samuel ESOP Trustees Limited, that on 21 March 2007 the following Persons
Discharging Managerial Responsibility ("PDMRs") purchased ordinary shares of 2.5 pence
each in BAE Systems plc under the Partnership Shares element of the BAE Systems Share
Incentive Plan at a price of 452 pence per share and were also awarded ordinary shares of
2.5p at nil consideration under the Matching Shares element of the same share plan. The
transactions took place on the London Stock Exchange. The shares are held in the name of
Lloyds TSB Registrars Corporate Nominee Limited.

The number of shares purchased or acquired by PDMRs is as follows:

Name of PDMR Number of BAE Systems plc | Number of BAE Systems plc
Ordinary shares purchased — | Ordinary shares acquired —
Partnership Shares Matching Shares

Steve Mogford 28 3

lan King 28 3

2. Notification made in accordance with Disclosure rule 3.1.4R(1)(b) of the Disclosure
Rules.

The Company was yesterday notified by the trustee of the BAE Systems Share Incentive
Plan, Hill Samuel ESOP Trustees Limited, that the trustee has a balance of 99,575 ordinary
shares of 2.5 pence each in BAE Systems plc in Lloyds TSB Registrars Corporate Nominee
Limited AESOP2 (unallocated shares).

Each of the executive directors, are deemed, along with certain other group employees, to
have an interest in the aggregate balance of 99,575 shares now held by Lloyds TSB
Registrars Corporate Nominee Ltd AESOP2 (unallocated shares).

3. Notification made in accordance with Section 324 (as extended by Section 328) of the
Companies Act 1985 and Disclosure rule 3.1.4R(1)(a) of the Disclosure Rules.

The Company was today notified by the trustee of the BAE Systems ESOP Trust, IFG Trust
(Jersey) Limited, that the following PDMRs purchased ordinary shares of 2.5p each in BAE
Systems plc at a consideration of 456.5 pence per share (“Investment Shares”) under the BAE
Systems Share Matching Plan on 22 March 2007. The transaction took place on the London
Stock Exchange and the shares are held in the name of IFG Trust (Jersey) Limited. The same




PDMRs were concurrently awarded a contingent interest in ordinary shares of 2.5p each in
BAE Systems plc at nil consideration (“Award Shares”) also under the BAE Systems Share
Matching Plan. The number of shares acquired were as follows:

Name of PDMR

Number of Investment
Shares acquired (beneficial

Number of Award Shares
acquired (contingent interest)

interest)
Walt Havenstein 11,156 18,947
[an King 27,327 46,410
Mike Turner 64,492 109,529
Philip Bramwell 7,433 12,623
Nigel Whitehead 5,465 9,282

22 March 2007
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NOTIFICATION OF TRANSACTIONS OF PERSONS DISCHARGING MANAGERIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES OR THEIR CONNECTED PERSONS

Notification made in accordance with Section 324 (as extended by Section 328) of the
Companies Act 1985 and Disclosure rule 3.1.4R(1)(a) of the Disclosure Rules.

The Company was notified on 27 March 2007 by the trustee of the BAE Systems ESOP
Trust, [FG Trust (Jersey) Limited, that Matching Shares (being ordinary shares of 2.5p each
in BAE Systems plc) were released under the BAE Systems Restricted Share Plan on 26
March 2007 to the following Persons Discharging Managerial Responsibilities (PDMRs) in
line with the schedule set out below. No consideration was paid for the acquisition of these
shares. Some of the shares were subsequently disposed of on 26 March 2007, as set out
below, in order to fund the tax and national insurance payable on release. The relevant shares
were disposed of at a consideration of 455.75 pence per share and these transactions took
place on the London Stock Exchange

Name of PDMR Number of Number of released | Number of released
Matched Shares Matched Shares sold | Matched Shares
released retained

Chris Geoghegan 19,994 8,219 11,775

lan King 37,677 15,487 22,190

George Rose 14,996 6,164 8.832

Mike Turner 99,974 41,092 58,882

Mike Rouse 24,993 10,273 14,720

28 March 2007
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NOTIFICATION OF TRANSACTIONS OF PERSONS DISCHARGING MANAGERIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES OR THEIR CONNNECTED PERSONS

1. Notification made in accordance with Rule 3.1.4(1)(a) and Rule 3.1.4(1)(b) of the
Disclosure Rules

The Company was notified on 30 March 2007 that Chris Geoghegan, a Person Discharging
Managerial Responsibilities, sold 4,500 ordinary shares of 2.5 pence each in BAE Systems
plc on 30 March 2007 at 461.25 pence per share, and that Rosemary Geoghegan, a person
connected to Chris Geoghegan, sold 27,500 ordinary shares of 2.5 pence each in BAE
Systems plc on 30 March 2007 at 461.25 pence per share. These transactions took place on
the London Stock Exchange.

2, Notification made in accordance with Rule 3.1.4(1)(a) and Rule 3.1.4(1)(b) of the
Disclosure Rules

(i) The Company was notified on 30 March 2007 that the following Persons Discharging
Managerial Responsibilities (PDMRs) exercised options over ordinary shares of 2.5 pence
each in BAE Systems plc under the BAE Systems Executive Share Option Plan at
consideration of 201 pence per share on 30 March 2007.

Some of the shares deriving from the above exercise of options were subsequently disposed
of on 30 March 2007 as indicated below. These transactions took place on the London Stock
Exchange.

Name of PDMR No. of shares No. of shares sold | Price per share
under option at which sold
exercised

Walt Havenstein* 67,167 67,167 457.5 pence

Alastair Imrie 220,149 204,452 456 pence

Steve Mogford 315,447 315,447 456 pence

George Rose 345,149 246,586 456.75 pence

Mike Turner 544,776 544,776 456 pence

Nigel Whitehead 149,253 127,970 456 pence

* In the case of Walt Havenstein, the exercise relates to an award under the Stock
Appreciation Rights (SAR) schedule to the BAE Systems Executive Share Option Plan for
which the SAR reference price for the calculation of the profit was 201 pence per share,

(i) The Company was notified on 30 March 2007 that the following Persons Discharging
Managerial Responsibilities (PDMRs) exercised options over ordinary shares of 2.5 pence
each in BAE Systems plc under the BAE Systems Performance Share Plan at nil

consideration on 30 March 2007. Some of the shares were subsequently disposed of on 30




March 2007 as indicated below. These transactions took place on the London Stock
Exchange.

Name of PDMR No. of shares No. of shares sold | Price per share
under option at which sold
exercised

Chris Geoghegan 78,048 38,091 459 pence

Chris Geoghegan 70,099 34,212 "~ | 459 pence

Walt Havenstein* 26,454 26,454 457.5 pence

Alastair Imrie 48,924 42,662 456 pence

lan King 60,533 29,543 456 pence

Steve Mogford 70,099 70,099 456 pence

George Rose 76,699 37432 456.75 pence

Mike Turner 121,061 121,061 456 pence

Nigel Whitehead 33,168 24,678 456 pence

* In the case of Walt Havenstein, the exercise relates to an award under the Stock
Appreciation Rights (SAR) schedule to the BAE Systems Performance Share Plan.

3. Notification made in accordance with and Rule 3.1.4(1)(a) and Rule 3.1.4(1)(b) of the
Disclosure Rules

The Company granted the following options to the following Persons Discharging
Managerial Responsibility (“PDMRs™) on 30 March 2007:

(1) BAE Systems Executive Share Option Plan:

Name of PDMR Number of shares granted under
option
Philip Bramwell 114,879
Chris Geoghegan 160,831
Walt Havenstein 125,315
Alastair Imrie 119,803
lan King 173,960
George Rose 183,807
Mike Rouse 111,597
Mike Turner 465,262
Nigel Whitehead 114,879
Alison Wood 103,391

The above options granted on 30 March 2007 are over ordinary shares of 2.5p each in BAE
Systems plc at an option price of 457p per share and are exercisable between 30.03.10 and
30.03.17 subject to the attainment of performance conditions.

(ii) BAE Systems Performance Share Plan:




Name of PDMR Number of shares granted under
option
Philip Bramwell 76,586
Chris Geoghegan 107,221
Walt Havenstein* 125,315
Alastair Imrie 79,869
Ian King 115,973
George Rose 122,538
Mike Rouse 74,398
Mike Turner 310,175
Nigel Whitehead 76,586
Alison Wood 68,927

The above contingent awards of options granted on 30 March 2007 are over ordinary shares
of 2.5p each in BAE Systems plc at nil consideration. The options are exercisable between
30.03.10 and 30.03.14 subject to the attainment of performance conditions.

* In the case of Walt Havenstein, a conditional award of shares was granted on 30 March
2007 over ordinary shares of 2.5p each BAE Systems plc at nil consideration as set out
above. The award vests between 30.03.10 and 30.03.14 subject to the attainment of
performance conditions.

4. Notification made in accordance with Rule 3.1.4R(1)(a} and Rule 3.1.4(1)(b) of the
Disclosure Rules.

The Company was notified on 30 March 2007 by the trustee of the BAE Systems Share
Incentive Plan, Hill Samuel ESOP Trustees Limited, that the trustee (i) purchased 2,427,004
ordinary shares of 2.5 pence each in BAE Systems plc on 29 March 2007 at a price of 460.52
pence per share and (ii) purchased 665,663 ordinary shares of 2.5 pence each in BAE
Systems plc on 30 March 2007 at a price of 460.19 pence per share. The transactions took
place on the London Stock Exchange. The shares were purchased for participants under the
Free Shares element of the BAE Systems Share Incentive Plan and its Australian equivalent.
The shares are held in the name of Lloyds TSB Registrars Corporate Nominee Limited.

Awards of shares under the Share Incentive Plan were granted on 30 March 2007 to eligible
employees including the following PDMRs:

Name of PDMR Number of BAE Systems plc
Ordinary shares acquired
Chris Geoghegan 91
Alastair Imrie 91
[an King 91
Steve Mogford 91
George Rose 91
Mike Rouse 91

Mike Turner 91




Nigel Whitehead 91

Alison Wood 91

No consideration was paid for the grant of the award.

2 April 2007
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Directorate Change

Steve Mogford, an executive director of BAE Systems plc, will be leaving the Company to
take up an appointment with Finmeccanica. Consequently, he will retite from the BAE
Systems Board immediately after the Company’s Annual General Meeting to be held on 9
May 2007.

Chairman, Dick Olver, said, “Steve has enjoyed an outstanding career with BAE Systems and
we thank him for the contribution he has made to the Company. I would, in particular, like to
thank him for the part he has played in our continual drive to improve programme
management performance and the major roles he has successfully undertaken on the Typhoon
and re-baselined Nimrod MR4A and Astute submarine programmes.”

3 April 2007
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7.75p (net) Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preference Shares of 25p each
(“Convertible Preference Shares”)

FINAL OPPORTUNITY TO CONVERT AND CONVERSION RATE

Holders of the above security (“Preference Shareholders”) will have one final

opportunity to convert the above security into Ordinary Shares of 2.5p each in BAE
Systems plc ("Ordinary Shares”) on 31 May 2007.

A notice reminding Preference Shareholders of their conversion rights will be sent to

registered Preference Shareholders during April 2007 detailing the conversion rights
procedure.

BAE Systems confirms that the preference share conversion rate on 2 April 2007
was 0.47904 Ordinary Shares for every Convertible Preference Share and does not
expect this conversion rate to change prior to the conversion date of 31 May 2007.

3 April 2007

Enquiries: Ann-Louise Holding, Assistant Company Secretary (tel: 01252 383185).
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